# ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE AND INFORMATION SYSTEMS IMPLEMENTATION: A CRITICAL PERSPECTIVE

# Kathy M. McGrath

**Information Systems Department** 

**London School of Economics and Political Science** 

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

March 2003

# **ABSTRACT**

This research explores how information systems (IS) implementation is accomplished when cultural change of an organisation is attempted and what this accomplishment means for those touched by it. Efforts of this kind are being made in the UK National Health Service (NHS), where modernisation programmes involving technological rationalisation and change are aiming to make the NHS more responsive to contemporary public demands. This study focuses on the ambulance services and specifically on a history of IS implementation efforts over 20 years at the largest and most appraised of the English services, the London Ambulance Service (LAS).

A perceived need for cultural change involving the use of advanced information technologies is pervasive in managerial and ministerial discourses about modernising the health service. Yet the way that ambulance services are regulated and monitored has given rise to a modernisation programme in which cultural change and IS implementation have been conceived largely instrumentally in terms of achieving performance targets. Moreover, goals to which the modernisation efforts aspire are at most partially realised. Organisational change is uneven, and the performance improvements achieved are contradictory, and this is not only true in London but elsewhere in the UK.

Drawing from organisational theory and critical social theory, past IS implementation efforts at the LAS are reinterpreted in light of recent developments, with contributions to theory and practice in mind. The theoretical contribution rests in exploring how emotion as well as rationality may be conceptualised to examine historically and culturally constituted working practices. Implications for practice address how IS implementation can give rise to cultural fragmentation, and also how professional identity can constrain IS innovation. Finally, the research contributes to a current debate about the future for ambulance services and the mechanisms used to evaluate their performance.

# **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This thesis is dedicated to my mother, who sat up with me the first time I burnt the midnight oil writing an essay. On that occasion I was 10 years old, doing a summer project – on *Police and Their Work* – on the last day of the holidays. Again I am writing about public servants, I continue to be most productive when a deadline looms large, and now I am grateful to many others who inspire me to write. These people include the staff of the London Ambulance Service (LAS). I conversed with over 150 of them during interviews and my observations of their work, and I learnt from many more, just by having an opportunity to see them at work. I thank them all, and especially Ian Tighe, who supported this study from the outset, Avril Hardy, who facilitated it in numerous ways, and Lynn Sugg and Pat Driscoll, who allowed me to squat in their office on so many occasions.

When I enrolled for a Masters degree at the London School of Economics (LSE) I was sceptical of Ian Angell's claim at the induction meeting for students that 'this place will change you'. I had 17 years' experience as an IS practitioner, the research papers I had read so far seemed to oversimplify that experience, and I taught my students to question them as I did. So I became a changed person at LSE when I realised that change did not mean accepting mainstream thought – it meant getting better at questioning it. Staff and fellow students in the Information Systems department inspired and supported me in different ways. I thank especially Chrisanthi Avgerou, who never lets me get away with a sloppy argument, Steve Smithson, for providing a contrasting take on many issues, and Shirin Madon, for supporting me through a time of conflicting priorities, especially in the early stages of my doctoral studies.

# **CONTENTS**

CHAPTER 1 Introduction	7
AIMS AND MOTIVATIONS OF THIS RESEARCH	7
THE CHAPTERS TO COME	14
CHAPTER 2 Literature Review	18
APPROACH TO THE REVIEW	18
THEORIES OF TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE	19
CONCEPTS OF ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE	32
CHAPTER 3 Adopting a Critical Framework	49
ASPECTS OF CRITICAL THEORY	49
THE FULL CONTEXTUALIST MODEL	71
THE RESEARCH QUESTION	77
CHAPTER 4 Research Methodology and Setting	79
MY RESEARCH PHILOSOPHY	79
APPROACH TO DATA COLLECTION	83
APPROACH TO DATA ANALYSIS	88
OVERVIEW OF THE CASE	91

CHAPTER 5 The Rise of an Internal Market	_ 98
CHALLENGING A PUBLIC SERVICE MODEL OF ORGANISING	98
THE LASCAD PROJECT	_ 110
REVIEWING THE LASCAD PROJECT	_ 129
CHAPTER 6 The Route to NHS Trust Status	_ 134
HOW REGIMES OF TRUTH WERE CONSTITUTED FOLLOWING LASCAD_	_ 134
THE CTAK PROJECT	_ 145
REVIEWING THE CTAK PROJECT	_ 154
REVISITING LASCAD	_ 161
CHAPTER 7 The Emergence of Priority Dispatch	_ 166
HOW REGIMES OF TRUTH WERE CONSTITUTED DURING 1997/98	_ 166
HOW REGIMES OF TRUTH WERE CONSTITUTED DURING 2000	_ 179
CALL PRIORITISATION AND THE PRIORITY DISPATCH PROJECT	_ 188
THE PRINTERS ON STATIONS (POS) PROJECT	_ 207
POSTSCRIPT	_ 214
CHAPTER 8 Discussion	_ 216
ON A THEORY-FIELDWORK INTERACTION	_ 216
ON HOW IS IMPLEMENTATION IS ACCOMPLISHED	_ 220

THE CONSEQUENCES OF MODERNISATION EFFORTS	230		
SUMMARY OF CHAPTERS  CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE RESEARCH			
		ON THE FUTURE FOR AMBULANCE SERVICES	257
		REFERENCES	263
APPENDIX A Key moments and the discourses about them	296		

# **CHAPTER 1** Introduction

'Anniversaries ... are occasions to take stock ... an activity that is often a complex mixture of appreciation, wariness, anticipation, regret, and pride, all fused into thoughts of renewal' (Weick, 1996, p. 301). In the 40<sup>th</sup> publication year of *Administrative Science Quarterly*, Weick remembered the founding values of its first editor and explored them in a story of organising and the death of 27 firefighters at Mann Gulch and South Canyon. "Drop your tools or you will die" is the image he examined.

Weick uses the image of dropping one's tools and the occasion of an anniversary to explore a theme of modernisation – a process of simultaneously accepting change and renewing or regenerating remembered values. This thesis also has a theme of modernisation and it contains stories of what happened when people held on to their tools and when they dropped them. These are stories of organising in which people are told to change their working practices and renew their values around the tools of information technology. In one of the stories, 20 people die. That event occurred 10 years ago, the occasion was the implementation of the LASCAD (London Ambulance Service Computer Aided Dispatch) project, and the account presented here takes up the theme of renewal. It remembers the past in order to explore the possibilities for the future. It is critical, in the Foucauldian sense that we need to understand how we got to where we are today, so that we can examine the transgressions available and thereby raise the possibility of being otherwise. Or, in Weick's much lighter way of arguing, we need to ask why people hold on to their tools, so that we can connect the past to the present and modernise remembered values in a process of renewal.

#### AIMS AND MOTIVATIONS OF THIS RESEARCH

Being modern is a claim made by many organisations. In these discourses, they strive to show the efficiency of their operations, the quality of service they provide, and the benefits for staff and consumers of their adoption of perceived leading edge technologies. On the surface, a call to modernise that embodies such goals is acceptable to many. However, quality of service and efficiency of operations may be evaluated in

diverse ways, and even one individual's interpretation of both might suggest a conflict in achieving the two simultaneously. Moreover, leading edge technologies do not have properties that of themselves produce benefits. In an established way of organising and providing a service, some stability will have been achieved among conflicting views on key issues such as these. A call to modernise can then surface old tensions as well as presenting new challenges. Proponents of the modernisation programme examined in this study argue that cultural change is necessary and that the introduction of information systems is essential to the proposed changes. This research examines what is being attempted and achieved in these IS implementation efforts, focusing on exploring how they are accomplished.

This study is concerned with modernisation efforts in the UK National Health Service (NHS), in which technological rationalisation and change in health care organisations is aiming to make the NHS more responsive to contemporary public demands. It focuses on the ambulance services and examines their efforts to exploit information and communication technologies (ICTs) to improve the service they provide. In these efforts, information systems are intended to change working practices for ambulance service staff so that accepted discourses about what it means to be responsive are altered, thereby giving rise to cultural change.

UK governments, past and present, have been prime movers in these developments. Through a diverse collection of consultative groups, professional advisors, surveys and opinion polls, successive governments claim to have understood contemporary demands on the health service, and have attempted to enact various strategies for responding to these demands. In the last 20 years, we have seen moves to introduce more professional management into the NHS (Department of Health, 1983), the establishment of an internal market (Department of Health, 1989) and, more recently, a proposal to replace the internal market with a system of integrated care (Department of Health, 1997). Each move has articulated a concern with patient care, but recent developments, including *The NHS Plan* (Department of Health, 2000b), 'reflect a trend towards a more "consumer-led" model of health care provision in which patients' needs and expectations are given higher priority' (Nicholl et al, 2001, p. 21). Increasingly in these moves, information technology is articulated as having a central role. So, after 20 years

of effort, we may ask why it is that the NHS, and specifically the ambulance service, is finding it so difficult to modernise. What characteristics of the discourses of modernisation and the discursive practices of ambulance workers make them reluctant partners?

Joint needs to change the culture of the NHS and to mobilise the potential of information technology are cited repeatedly in managerial and ministerial discourses about modernising the UK health sector. Although this research takes up both themes, it does so from a position that eschews the rationalistic perspective evident in the popular management literature that seems to inspire government policies and ministerial speeches. Rather, this research adopts a critical perspective, in the sense that it questions mainstream thought about the adoption of ICTs and the management of organisational change. In this way, the views that organisational culture can be changed in line with managerial objectives (Schein, 1985), and that particular technologies have properties that produce such effects, are seen as problematic. Attempts to change ways of organising or to implement technology to increase organisational effectiveness may not be readily accepted and may give rise to consequences that were not intended, which in turn may challenge the original objectives. This research explores these tensions and contradictions by asking:

How is IS implementation accomplished when cultural change of an organisation is attempted and what does this accomplishment mean for those who are touched by it?

#### The community of interest

There are 35 ambulance services in the UK, 32 regional services in England and a single national service in each of Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. Together these services employ about 23,000 uniformed operational staff and managers, of whom 17,000 are employed by the English services. Although plans to modernise the NHS affect all UK services, some variations apply in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland. This research focuses on ICT implementation and related cultural change efforts within the 32 English services, and specifically on the efforts of the largest, arguably the most

challenged and, in the IS literature in particular, the most severely criticised of the English services – the London Ambulance Service (LAS).

The ambulance services are often viewed as the "Cinderellas" both of the emergency services (Radio Four, 2002a) and of the health service (Ambex, 2000). Indeed, where the ambulance community belongs is an issue of much interest to its members, but the answer to this question is by no means clear. A recent study (Nicholl et al, 2001) reveals that ambulance service chief executives want the community to be perceived as the emergency arm of the health service rather than the health care arm of the emergency services, but messages from government are ambivalent on this point. *The NHS Plan* (Department of Health, 2000b) barely mentions ambulance services, the services are not represented on the main groups charged with implementing the plan but only on the subgroups, and the Health Minister acknowledged that ambulance services sense they are 'on the periphery' (Ambex, 2000). Nevertheless, since 1974, ambulance services have fallen under the remit of the Department of Health, whereas the police and fire services are accountable to the Home Office, so ambulance services can neither ignore government plans for the NHS nor risk not having a voice in them.

The ambulance services are a community in the sense that acting as providers of prehospital patient care grounds their identity. All are subject to the same government
monitoring mechanisms and each has access to public funds and other resources
relative, in principle, to the demands of the population it cares for. Moreover, as part of
responding to the needs and expectations of those they serve, each has adopted the same
or very similar types of ICTs, perceived as performance enhancing. In Foucault's
(1980a) sense, these mechanisms are the basis of a regime of truth for the ambulance
service community, and modernisation in line with government imperatives is a
discourse to which they are being applied. Still, the detailed working practices of each
service add further dimensions to this regime of truth, and the outcomes they achieve
may be seen as substantively different.

For nearly 30 years, the official measure for assessing whether ambulance services are responding to the demands of the public has been based on how frequently they get to emergency scenes within a predefined target time, set at national level. So:

If you get there in 8 minutes and the patient dies you've succeeded, but if you get there in 9 minutes and the patient lives you've failed (Director of Corporate Resources, Ambulance Service, quoted in Nicholl et al, 2001, p. 16).

#### In this way, many argue:

They are not real targets. The real targets are the ones that have clinical outcomes (quality assurance officer, LAS)

Notwithstanding the argument that only some patients are life-threatened and so clinical outcome performance targets are less appropriate in other cases, the view that clinical outcomes are the real measure of success is an increasingly pervasive discourse within the ambulance service community. The new ambulance performance standards (Chapman, 1996), fully effective since March 2001, may be seen as a medium for and an outcome of this discourse. On the one hand, the new standards emphasise the need to provide an 8-minute response for *life-threatened* cases, which the previous standards did not, so that now what the outcome for a patient might be is factored into assessments of service performance. On the other hand, the outcomes achieved (for example, the number of patients who leave hospital alive following out-of-hospital cardiac arrest) still do not form part of the performance measures for ambulance services. Indeed, hospital departments do not exchange information with ambulance services about the clinical outcomes achieved by emergency patients, so that ambulance performance figures are de-rooted from the context that would give them meaning. Such one-way traffic sustains the 1950s image of the ambulance service as 'glorified porters' (Radio Four, 2002a), and reinforces the sense among its members that they occupy a marginal position in NHS plans.

Whether or not the way to shake off this image is to modernise in line with government proposals is an open question. Either way, the Health Minister advised the ambulance services at their annual national conference of what they need to do:

We need to change the way the NHS works ... status quo is unacceptable ... public expectations have changed ... technology has advanced ... what we are about is treatment based on clinical need. ... We are not trying to create league tables ... however we do need to learn from each other. ... In the past there may have been a

culture where one trust competed with another ... but as far as this government is concerned, this is not the way. ... We need to teach the public to help themselves ... to make the service the same wherever you are ... to work together. ... Targets need to be met. (Health Minister at Ambex 2000).

At the heart of this research is a consideration of the professional identities of ambulance service staff and how they are challenged by changing societal attitudes, modernisation programmes within the NHS, and accompanying IS innovation efforts at a local level. I explore these issues in a detailed examination of a long term and ongoing organisational change effort at the LAS. I consider what is involved in telling members of the LAS to drop their tools – to forget neither who they are, nor where they came from, but to find some continuity between the past and the present so that the future does not seem meaningless.

#### The theoretical perspective

What value is there, some may ask, in studying an exceptional case – what general lessons may we learn? Moreover, is there anything left to say about an organisation that has featured in so much published work already? First, if the extent to which others draw upon an author's work is an indicator of value, then Foucault's studies of extreme examples of organising regimes have great value to management and organisation studies of many kinds. Although some have attempted to mobilise Foucauldian concepts to argue that certain communities should be given a greater voice, that is not the position I adopt here. Rather I suggest that there is much to learn from life on the periphery, where our ways of being in the world may be heightened. Such communities can experience earlier, more frequently or more intensely what others may experience later, increasingly often, and, if they deny the possibility, perhaps even crushingly. Indeed two public inquiries (Wells, 1995; House of Commons Select Committee on Health, 1995) into the performance of the LAS lobbied successfully for a national review of ambulance performance standards, recognising that the "extreme" events they examined could happen elsewhere. So the issues I raise in this research may be generalised to other settings or suggest that taken for granted discourses are reconsidered.

Second, most previous studies of the LAS have focused on the LASCAD project (for example, Beynon-Davies, 1995; Hougham, 1996; Introna, 1997; Silva and Backhouse, 1997), but ten years on there is more to say about the LAS than just to talk of 1992. Under the direction of a new senior management team, a programme of organisational change is in progress, in which information systems are being introduced incrementally, so that the position now represents a significant shift from the one that was evident in 1992. There are also different things to say about the LASCAD project. The above studies drew on the public inquiry report (Page et al, 1993) and so are secondary accounts. When I spoke to participants in the LASCAD project, they drew my attention to dimensions that previous studies have neglected. They prompted me to consider emotion within the organisation and not just a purely rational set of discourses. Moreover, their emotions surfaced again as I observed working practices during the course of my study.

In Foucault's work, "strong textualist" (Rorty, 1982) descriptions of historical and cultural contexts dominate. He disappears from view, and the subjects of his study say nothing about the way they think and feel. Yet such descriptions can 'result in the reader unilaterally imposing a meaning onto the text, a "grid" in Foucault's terminology' (Golden-Biddle and Locke, 1993, p. 596). If we accept that 'the author ... however disguised, is always present' (ibid.), then Foucault does the talking. He tells us how the subjects act and why, but they do not speak (Ball and Wilson, 2000). Introducing participants' commentaries, often at length, on what happens and why is a key aspect of this study and a move in which I aim to show how my initial theories were useful to explain some aspects of my findings but seemed not to illuminate others.

Notwithstanding anything I have said so far, some of it represents a rationalisation after the fact. When I made early decisions about the theory that would guide this research, I decided to adopt a Foucauldian perspective with the following considerations in mind. First, key aspects of Foucault's work seemed especially significant in the context of this research, including his concerns with history, with process, and with the importance of and interaction between institutionally framed knowledge and local memories in discursive practices. In the case of the LAS, parts of its history are a matter of public record (for example, Page et al, 1993; Wells, 1995; House of Commons Select

Committee on Health, 1995, 1996). That which has gone before influences not just the way that members of the LAS now act, but also the way that many of us respond when we hear a mention of the London Ambulance Service. These public inquiry reports have given LAS staff more reason than most groups of workers to reflect on the processes in which they have attempted IS-related change of the organisation, and journalists and academics have not been slow to present further arguments about why such processes need critical attention. Moreover, the LAS is an organisation funded from the public purse, so government initiatives frame discursive practices at the LAS and there is always scope for government intervention in the affairs of the LAS. So I adopted a Foucauldian framework as a broad theoretical vehicle with which to approach the research setting.

Second, I saw a broad framework as appropriate at the start of the research, when I knew very little about the nature of detailed working practices at the LAS. I could adopt further concepts as I came to learn more in the field, but a Foucauldian framework captured what I felt I did already know about the institutional context for ambulance services. Third, although I recognised that Foucault's way of arguing and his exploration of life on the margin might prompt me to present a rather dour interpretation, I also knew that some of the events I would examine were exceptional ones in which actors' experiences were heightened for a time. So a framework that could address both everyday practices and what happens at the extremities of them seemed appropriate in this case.

#### THE CHAPTERS TO COME

The chapters in this thesis explore the above ideas in a way that aims to present an unfolding argument, and also to demonstrate the process in which I arrived at it. In this way, I trace the incremental moves I made as a part of every chapter, rather than just describing them in a discrete section called *Research Methodology*. Thus I aim to demonstrate the reflection and questioning I engaged in throughout this research, and how I introduced further concepts as a response to these reflections.

In chapter 2, I review different theories of technological change and organisational culture. An implicit concern in my research question is with exploring how organisational culture and IS implementation shape and may reconfigure one another, but few studies consider both aspects of this interaction in detail. Rather there are two fairly distinct literatures that address, on the one hand, the nature and enactment of organisational culture without specific reference to IS implementation practices, and on the other, the IS implementation process without a very specific focus on how actors are constituted within specific organising regimes. Thus, I present the review in two parts, each with a number of subparts addressing the research agendas of different schools of thought on each topic. The first part of the review adopts a broad orientation as to the particular technology forms considered, but it focuses on studies that address how outcomes are contested in technological change efforts, rather than work that would ignore or smooth away such tensions. The second part of the review focuses on studies that see culture as an epistemological device with which to frame a study of organisation, rather than as a variable that can be shaped in line with managerial objectives. In each part, I consider the extent to which authors have attempted to produce critique and their motivations for doing so.

In chapter 3, I bring together my conclusions from reviewing two streams of literature to consider which concepts would be useful in a critical study of organisational culture and IS implementation in interaction. With this aim in mind, I discuss the sociological perspectives grounding the literature of critical theory. Challenging arguments that such a move involves examining the works of Habermas alone and that critical research must have emancipatory effects, I focus on the works of both Foucault and Habermas as major influences on the critical discourses that have developed in management and organisation studies and IS research. I present my argument for adopting a Foucauldian informed framework, and describe the concepts I selected and how they address the interaction I proposed to study. While adopting an initial framework to guide the study, I leave the research open to drawing upon further theoretical concepts, either to provide a more fine-grained analysis of detailed working practices or to reflect on the research findings.

In chapter 4, I provide details of the research approach adopted during this study. I explicate the philosophical standpoint that informs my research perspective and the research methods I used to collect and analyse the field data. Although I adopt a critical perspective, there is a lack of critical methods as such, and so my approach was informed by the work of researchers in an interpretive tradition, based on the view that we need to understand in order to be critical. In this way, I aimed, as a first step, to access the multiple perceptions of study participants about the organisational changes they had experienced while working for the LAS. This move helped to establish the discourses accepted by this community and the extent to which government imperatives might challenge them. Moreover, I argue that critical research may have different emphases, in which either insight or critique may predominate, and some measure of transformative redefinition may be attempted (Alvesson and Deetz, 2000). In this research, the emphasis is on providing insight with some complementary critical commentary in which taken for granted assumptions are questioned and the contradictory nature of social practices is revealed (Orlikowski and Baroudi, 1991).

At the end of chapter 4, I present a description of the research setting and outline the processes to be examined. This overview is no more than the bare bones of the story, a brief summary of the major events and initiatives in the history of IS implementation and organisational change at the LAS and an indication of the wider context in which the study is construed. These events and initiatives are examined in detail in subsequent chapters using the theoretical framework adopted for this study.

Chapters 5,6 and 7 are the analysis chapters. Each one presents a detailed examination of a specific period of IS-related cultural change effort at the LAS. The periods are distinct in that they are characterised by different ways of enacting the discourse of modernisation, but interrelated in so far as the outcomes achieved from earlier change efforts form a part of the medium in which subsequent efforts are attempted. These chapters examine the way that subjects are constituted within this community, the attempts that were made to change the constituting discourses, and the outcomes achieved by these change efforts. Alongside a desire to achieve a practical contribution from this research, a further aim was to explore the strengths and limitations of a Foucauldian framework. In this endeavour, I made a move that Foucault did not – I

introduce speaking subjects, and they give dimensions to this study that I did not anticipate in advance. In this way, I set the scene for a critical reflection on the achievements of this research.

Chapter 8 presents that reflection. In this discussion I consider what the theoretical concepts adopted reveal about IS-related cultural change efforts and how the case enhances our existing theoretical understanding. I introduce further concepts to interpret those dimensions that were not anticipated *a priori*. In this way, I am able to address some key questions: How useful was the theory with which I started? How did this analysis extend it? What insights does such an analysis contribute to our understanding of IS implementation in organisations and its social consequences?

In chapter 9, I present conclusions from the study. This chapter summarises the research and establishes its theoretical, practical and methodological contributions. I discuss its relevance to other settings and identify some areas that may be addressed by further work. Overall, this research contradicts two dominant views in the existing literature – that IS implementation can have homogenising effects on an organisational culture and that the value of information technology has been established for all professional groups so that IS innovation has acquired its own momentum. In this case, IS implementation has given rise to cultural fragmentation and the professional identity of some cultural members is constraining IS innovation. In these moves, the outcomes achieved by the change efforts are contradictory and the desired benefits are only partially realised.

# **CHAPTER 2** Literature Review

This research adopts a critical perspective that challenges mainstream thinking that organisational culture can be changed in line with managerial objectives and that particular technologies have properties that produce organisational effectiveness. So my main concern in reviewing the literature and selecting a framework to guide the analysis is to examine the options available for being critical, how they are challenged, and what can be achieved by adopting one of them.

#### APPROACH TO THE REVIEW

Addressing the joint themes of this research – IS implementation and cultural change of an organisation – I review the literatures of technological change and organisational culture. In focusing on those studies that make claims to being critical, I consider how the research addresses key issues of contextual focus, attitude to conflict, and orientation to change. These three aspects, in various incarnations, have formed the dimensions of several classification schemes for existing research work (Burrell and Morgan, 1979; Latour, 1993; Knights and Murray, 1994; Laughlin, 1995; Deetz, 1996; Hirschheim et al, 1996).

Contextual focus has longitudinal and vertical dimensions. The first is concerned with the extent to which a study establishes a historical context for the events and initiatives examined. The second addresses how much the research considers a global context, a local one, or both. Attitude to conflict reflects the way a study deals with tensions and struggles within the research setting, for example, ignores them or smoothes them away, considers them disruptive, or focuses on them. Orientation to change in research work reflects the degree to which a study challenges prevailing conditions; so for example, it may accept or reinforce the *status quo*, question it, or seek to disrupt it.

A critical theory would address a historical context and a multi-level social one, would focus on contradiction and conflict as endemic in social relations, and would shape a critique to raise questions about how and why things might be otherwise. In this way, I give

scant attention to work in schools of thought that do not have these as their guiding concerns.

#### THEORIES OF TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE

In this section, I review theories of technological change in terms of the interaction between the 'social' and the 'technical'. I explore whether and how researchers make such distinctions and the extent to which the boundary between them is thought to be negotiable (Bloomfield and Vurdubakis, 1994; Scott and Walsham, 1998). However, I do not limit the review to certain types or forms of technology or information system, for example enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems, the adoption of electronic commerce or the use of mobile telephony, since the technologies adopted by ambulance services are not the perceived mainstream ones. This exploration of concerns is conducted within a framework that refers to generally recognisable schools of thought, albeit ones that have shifting areas of concern.

#### **Business and management theory**

This stream of work seeks to develop generalised principles that organisations can adopt for deploying their resources to greater effect. Although some theories are more universalistic in orientation than others, each was developed as a method for prescribing how organisations or types of organisation could respond to environmental pressures. In the 1980s, studies focused on strategic information systems, designed to support a corporate strategy aiming to align an organisation with its environment to achieve effectiveness and competitive advantage (for example, Porter, 1980; Ives and Learmonth, 1984; McFarlan, 1984; Porter and Millar, 1985; Rackoff et al, 1985). At the time, this work found considerable favour in practitioner circles, despite ambiguous, and even potentially damaging, outcomes from its application (Vitale, 1986), as well as evidence that some of the most acclaimed examples of 'success' had occurred by chance (Ciborra, 1994).

Nevertheless, the search for new solutions to the issues of managing and organising for commercial success has continued. In the early 1990s, approaches based on business process reengineering (Hammer and Champy, 1993) and total quality management

[drawing on the work of Deming (1986) and others] gained a substantial following. In later years, ERP systems became fashionable as a means of integrating the diverse functions of an organisation and hence streamlining operations to achieve organisational effectiveness (for example, Lee and Lee, 2000).

Criticisms of these approaches arise from the way they ignore or claim to smooth away tensions and conflict in local settings in a desire to maintain the dominant discourses of managerial control and commercial success circulating in contemporary, industrialised society. This work has been described as socially or technologically deterministic, in the sense that it is thought to suggest that forms of organising or technology itself have autonomous effects, hence will automatically and inevitably lead to the desired goal (or undesirable outcomes). Although there is certainly evidence of these traits in this research, in general the concern is with prescribing ways in which organisations should respond to a range of environmental pressures, and so it may be argued that these studies reflect a contingency view rather than one that is strictly deterministic. Nevertheless, contingency theory has been criticised as overly simplistic when applied to particular cases (Willmott, 1990; Powell and DiMaggio, 1991). These criticisms address the limitations of the theory in attending to the cultural and political dimensions of specific organisations.

#### Systems theory

Systems theory addresses a broad range of concepts and ideas that span both different research traditions and different disciplines. Based on taking a holistic rather than a reductionist view of the world, it has developed in hard (based on mathematics and engineering), soft (based on exploring subjective meanings) and, more recently, critical forms (inspired by the works of Habermas). Overall, systems theory has made a mixed contribution to the development of approaches for implementing and managing information systems. Although soft systems approaches were developed as a response to issues raised by the value-free neutrality claimed by the hard approaches, they have not, even since Mingers (1992) argued it, resulted in a paradigm shift within the field. Rather the two strands have developed side by side, and in complementary discourses (Galliers et al, 1997), but with hard approaches still having the greater take-up by practitioners.

Checkland (1999) reviewed soft systems thinking, thirty years on. Although he makes a persuasive argument for the ways Soft Systems Methodology (SSM) has contributed to our understanding of problem situations and what is involved in intervening in them, the entirely retrospective nature of his review is disappointing. Even bearing in mind that SSM has been in a state of continuous refinement for thirty years, Checkland needs a more compelling argument if he hopes to draw attention to its potential for the future rather than just its contribution to the present. The pervasive nature of organisational politics and thus the inherent difficulties in undertaking and managing IS development projects are concerns that SSM does not address convincingly. Critical approaches (for example, Jackson, 1985, 1992; Mingers, 1992) are largely theoretical, with little empirical work done so far (Alvesson and Deetz, 2000). The lack of critical methods, as such, poses issues for researchers (University of Salford, 2001), even those who adopt the view that we need to understand in order to be critical, so that interpretive methods can help.

#### Socio-technical systems theory

The socio-technical systems approach is closely related to soft systems theory and to SSM in particular. This work, pioneered by researchers at the Tavistock Institute in London (Emery and Trist, 1960; Trist et al, 1963), identified the mediating role of workgroups and social relations on the process of technological change. These researchers conceived organisations as systems in which technical, social and environmental concerns are interrelated, and sought to reconcile these concerns with a view to improving organisational performance. Early work focused on the relationship between types of technology deployed and organisational form adopted, seeing the latter as a social choice that should take account of the needs of the workgroups involved.

The socio-technical approach has been developed and modified within the field of information systems by Mumford and colleagues in the UK (Mumford and Weir, 1979; Mumford, 1995) and by a number of researchers in the Scandinavian countries (Hedberg, 1980; Kyng and Mathiassen, 1982; Ehn and Sandberg, 1983; Kyng, 1998). As with soft systems thinking, the progress of the socio-technical systems movement

has recently been reviewed (Kyng, 1998; Mumford, 1999, 2000). Writers suggest that changing ideas on work organisation, together with a narrow focus in socio-technical approaches on both the scope of IS innovation and the context in which it takes place, makes the theory appear 'sociologically naïve' (Avgerou, 2002) in our current harsher commercial climate.

Zuboff (1988) brought together the ideas of organising for effective performance and democratisation of the workplace in her concept of informating. Although she suggests that whether organisations deploy information technology in a system of managerial 'imperative control' or to move to one of collaborative 'co-workers' is a matter of social choice, her vision of the informated organisation can seem overly optimistic. It is not tempered by a detailed consideration of how or why managers would be persuaded to relinquish control, or the related issue of how workers might react to an environment of continuous learning and information sharing.

### Processual and pluralist theory

Early work on socio-political approaches raised a number of important issues for the study of organisational and technological change. Processual theory (for example, Pettigrew, 1973; Mintzberg, 1978; Mintzberg and McHugh, 1985) has drawn attention to the importance of developing a historically situated account of the way actions and events unfold over time. This theory attends to the career struggles and political processes operating in organisations as actors engage in a variety of strategies in attempts to gain control over scarce material and symbolic resources. What is less obvious in these writings is a consideration of either the unintended consequences of action or the way prevailing norms favour some while disadvantaging others in the struggles taking place. These issues are more evident in the later critical literature of strategic change (for example, Knights and Morgan, 1991; Alvesson and Willmott, 1995; Knights, Noble and Willmott, 1997; Morgan and Sturdy, 2000).

Pluralist theory has highlighted information as one of the valued resources over which much conflict and struggle takes place, and hence has argued that IS development practices are the site of much political activity in organisations. Keen's (1981) call for a political

perspective in IS research prompted a number of responses (Markus, 1983; Markus and Pfeffer, 1983; Franz and Robey, 1984; Kling and Iacono, 1984; Markus and Bjorn-Andersen, 1987; Kling and Iacono, 1989). This literature aims to raise awareness of these struggles with a view to offering guidance on how they may be managed, emphasising a concern with making a practical contribution to knowledge. Nevertheless, it fails to explain the practices of IS development and management in the broader historical and societal contexts within which these practices are embedded [Kling and Iacono (1989), to some degree, excepted]. Demonstrating a rather limited conception of user resistance, this literature seems rooted in a view of systems development as a rational process, albeit one that needs to find ways of dealing with local contingencies and irrational behaviour. Or, as Knights and Murray (1994) have argued, 'while exposing the politics of organisation this literature seems oblivious to its own politics' (p. 16).

#### **Contextualist approaches**

The theory of contextualism is a development of Pettigrew's earlier work on processual theory in that it preserves the interest in providing a detailed, longitudinal account of the unfolding of the change process, but it also develops a vertical dimension, in which interdependent levels of context are explored. These layers of context, which may exist at macro (for example national or societal) level or micro (for example, organisational actor) level, are seen as both shaping the change process and being shaped by it. Contextualism addresses the macro and micro environments of organisational change through the outer and inner contexts. It combines a structural analysis with a processual analysis in a structurationist approach (Giddens, 1979), underpinned by a model of human behaviour that views organisations as cultural and political systems (Pettigrew, 1987).

Pettigrew's contextualist framework may be understood as a generic model for studying organisational change, in the sense that the processual and structural analyses, and the model of human behaviour that complements them, may be informed by any social theory that respects the contextualist principles outlined above. Thus, by drawing on insights available from the early socio-political approaches while attempting to attend to their limitations, a number of researchers have provided interesting contextualist (or, in

deference to the authors of one study, political processual) accounts of IS implementation, as follows.

Walsham (1993) describes several case studies grounded in a contextualist approach that draws upon the social theory of structuration (Giddens, 1979, 1984) to explain action from a cultural/political perspective. In a later study, Walsham and Sahay (1999) draw on contextualism and actor-network theory (Callon, 1986, 1991; Latour, 1987, 1996) to analyse the implementation of geographical information systems in India. Madon (1993) adopts a contextualist approach to studying IS implementation to support rural development planning in India, while Madon and Walsham (1995) complement the broad focus of the earlier work with a structurationist analysis addressing how human agents mobilised interpretive schemes, norms, and access to resources during the project. Knights and Murray (1994) present a political processual account of organisational and technological change in the British financial services industry. In this account, the global and local contexts of change are socially constructed and enacted in a political process of power-knowledge relations. The authors draw on social theory, in particular from the works of Foucault (1980a, 1980b) on the circular relationship between knowledge and power.

Other perspectives adopted within a contextualist framework draw from institutionalist theory (Powell and DiMaggio, 1991) and the sociology of translation (Callon, 1986; Latour, 1987). Avgerou's (2000, 2001) studies of IT innovation in a Mexican oil company and flexible specialisation in the furniture manufacturing sector of Cyprus are examples of the former approach, while McGrath's (2001) study of IS implementation in a UK ambulance service is an example of the latter. So, contextualist approaches in IS research may adopt different social theories as the 'motor' (Pettigrew, 1987) to the analysis to give the discussion a more (or less) critical orientation.

# Social shaping of technology

By focusing on issues of conflict and inequality in a historically constituted context of cultural, economic, and socio-political conditions, the social shaping approach draws attention to societal influences on the introduction and use of technology. Early work

(MacKenzie and Wajcman, 1985) drew upon Marxist and radical feminist writings, which present the world in a constant state of crisis owing to inequalities in class and gender respectively, hence it presents technology as an instrument inscribed with capitalist or patriarchal interests. Furthermore, some work reveals the contradictory nature of these interests, such as when Cockburn (1983) describes how men designed aspects of hand typesetting around the use of heavy mechanical equipment – in an effort to exclude female workers – only to find this work beyond their strength when they got older.

Recent work in a social shaping perspective (MacKenzie and Wajcman, 1999) continues the focus on gender relations, but deemphasises, while not abandoning, its challenge to technological determinism. A repositioning is undertaken in an effort to move from a high level of generality to one that examines details of the particular ways technology is socially shaped, and the particular outcomes that result. In this way, the social shaping approach aims to respond to earlier criticism that it neglects the emergent nature of technology innovation and the co-constitutive nature of technology and society. So MacKenzie and Wajcman's (1999) second edition reflects a more diverse interpretation of the technology-society relationship than the earlier volume. Contributions draw from the social construction of technology to address the interpretive flexibility of objects (Kline and Pinch, 1999), from actor-network theory to address the reciprocal relationship between society and technology (Strum and Latour, 1999), and from situated knowledge perspectives to argue against universalistic principles (Suchman, 1999; Haraway, 1999).

Some essays – such as those by Ceruzzi (1999) and Hofmann (1999) – are specifically concerned with information technology. Ceruzzi traces the emergence of personal computing, showing it as the convergence of social forces of a hobbyist computer culture and technical forces involving a series of diverse developments by chip manufacturers who 'did not really understand what to do with their products' (p. 82). Although he does not use the terminology, Ceruzzi tells a story of the convergence of an actor-network, and the extent to which personal computing has become irreversible (Callon, 1991).

Hofmann compares three kinds of word processing software – dedicated systems, early microcomputer systems, and the first graphical interface – to argue that the design of this software is based on an image of the user that shows gender bias. Although this is an interesting account of the evolution of a particular type of information system, it seems oblivious to the historical development of information systems in a wider sense. Many of the design features that Hofmann argues show gender bias – such as several levels of menu in the early designs imposing rigid structure on female secretaries – were pervasive features of most commercial IS applications of the period (late 1970s and early 1980s). An engineering bias in the designs of this period may be argued, but if so, that bias had implications for *all* commercial users, irrespective of gender.

While extending its range to provide more diverse coverage of socio-technical ideas, recent development of the social shaping approach has broadened its scope while diluting its strengths. It starts to blur into the two approaches discussed next, so that it is now more of an umbrella term for a range of approaches rather than a distinctive critical theory in its own right. This development could proceed in a number of different directions, the conditions of possibility for which will become more evident when the next two approaches have been discussed.

#### Social construction of technology

Social constructivists seek to explain how and why particular technologies arise and are adopted at particular times. They see the implementation and use of technology as a process of reality construction, in which different interpretations of a technology emerge and are negotiated by people within their social contexts. Technologies embody compromises; constraining or enabling effects are the outcome of local interpretive action. Thus, technology innovation is contingent upon the social world in which it takes place; in another world, things might have been otherwise.

Early work on the social construction of technology (SCOT) was guided by three interrelated concepts from the sociology of scientific knowledge – interpretative flexibility, relevant social groups and closure (Bijker et al, 1987). The first refers to the way different social groups attach different meanings to technical artefacts. When

interpretative flexibility is acknowledged, which meanings are accepted and incorporated within the design of technical artefacts (the concept of relevant social groups), and how long interpretative flexibility endures (affecting when closure is seen to happen), then become important issues.

Relevant social groups are emergent, but they are not always easy to identify empirically. For example, the views of a minority group may receive minimal representation, so that a shared meaning is not readily discernible, or powerful groups may take action to exclude the interests of others. So, while technologies embody compromises, they may do so in a way that privileges the interests of some groups over others, depending on the meanings sustained by the social context in which the technologies are developed. Bijker (1995) has introduced the concept of a 'technological frame' to understand the full range of interactions among the members of a relevant social group, and Kline and Pinch (1999) argue that this concept can be used to analyse neglected groups that one might expect on *a priori* grounds. Still, some groups are not necessarily identifiable *a priori*. So, although an amoral stance is not implicit in social constructivism (Bijker, 1993), this approach has done little to address the issue of social exclusion (Winner, 1993; Knights and Murray, 1994; Walsham, 1997), even though it claims to have the mechanisms for doing so.

Closure and stabilisation of technology take place because a particular form of a technical artefact appears to present fewer problems than others, and so it is increasingly accepted as the dominant form of the technology. Stabilising technology does not mean either that multiple forms of a technology cannot exist in parallel (for example, desktop and laptop computers) or that technology is fixed in a particular form so that it is no longer amenable to social shaping. New problems may emerge and interpretative flexibility can reappear (Kline and Pinch, 1999).

So, a current concern of social constructivists is how and in what circumstances the black box of technology may be reopened. This move represents a refinement of social constructivism from its early focus on the design of technology to a position of considering the way technology is shaped not only in its design but also in its use (Grint and Woolgar, 1997). This issue is of particular interest to IS researchers because of its

implications for the way software packages may be subject to further shaping in the contexts where they are implemented and used (Avgerou, 2002). Nevertheless, even these wider concerns sometimes neglect the way that technologies may transform social relations (Winner, 1993), although some studies say more about the reciprocal relationship between technology and society than others (see, for example, Bijker, 1992).

#### **Actor-network theory**

One view of actor-network theory might say that it shares the social constructivist concerns with understanding the origins, shaping and stabilisation of technologies, rather than assuming that a technology evolves in a natural and inevitable manner based on its material properties. Others might conclude, with Latour (1999a), that the question of "social construction" never was a pertinent question, and thus does not need to be mentioned. In other words, reflexivity on the part of its major proponents has given rise to early and later statements of actor-network theory.

Pursuing the early statements first, the sociology of translation (Callon, 1986; Latour, 1987) is an established collection of concepts within actor-network theory, which 'owe more than a little to the writing of Foucault' (Law, 1986b, p. 18). These ideas address how key players interact to build heterogeneous networks of human and non-human actors, forming alliances and mobilising resources as they strive to convert an idea into reality. Actors interrelate and define one another by bringing into circulation intermediaries, such as technical artefacts, texts, human skills and money (Callon, 1991). Translation refers to both the process and the result of action. It is achieved by displacements that require discourse and the exercise of power, and may or may not achieve the desired outcome. Moreover, networks are unstable, so that the extent to which desired outcomes are achieved depends on the degree to which translations are compatible and integrated (convergence of the network), and on the extent to which translations can withstand challenge and shape future translations (irreversibility of the network).

These are some of the early statements of actor-network theory, and they were made at a time when the agency-structure debate in the social sciences was gathering force. In a controversy that may be argued in terms of subject-object, local-global, social-technical, power-knowledge, human-nonhuman or other possible distinctions, Latour (1999a) suggests that actor-network came to be seen as just another variant. So, actor-network theory has found itself at the centre of these discussions, despite Latour's claims to have overcome them (Latour, 1991), to have bypassed them (Latour, 1999b), and never to have wanted involvement in them at all (Latour, 1999a). He argues for ignoring the agency-structure debate because expressions like power/knowledge (Foucault, 1980c), and by implication structuration (Giddens, 1979, 1984), are modernist settlements, which attempt to replace a dichotomy with a dialectic in the interests of the major players but with no concern for the audience (Latour, 1999b). In other words, modernist discussions about power and knowledge, politics and morality, cannot be resolved using distinctions based on a subject-object dichotomy.

The analytical position of symmetry between humans and non-humans in actor-network theory has been the subject of controversy, with critics finding it intellectually and morally problematic to make no distinction between human action and the behaviour of things (Collins and Yearley, 1992). In other variants of this argument, actor-network analyses have been criticised for adopting a localised focus (Knights and Murray, 1994; Harbers, 1995; Reed, 1997) and an amoral stance (Winner, 1993; Knights and Murray, 1994). First, the approach is seen to subscribe to a flat ontology, neglecting the enduring nature of institutions as a condition for network formation as well as a consequence of it. Second, by ignoring institutional sources of power and inequality, critics argue that actor-network theory has little to say about the systematic exclusion that prevents some social groups from having a voice in technology innovation.

Proponents of actor-network theory have responded to these criticisms. On the symmetry issue, they have argued that they accept the divisions and distinctions, but only when they are 'understood as *effects or outcomes*' (Law, 1999, p. 3, emphasis in the original); that they refuse to consider the distinctions *a priori* (Callon and Latour, 1992). In the local-global debate, they have been ambivalent about their position. Initially, they suggested that micro-level effects may eventually exhibit predictable behaviour and be

punctualised in new networks as single, macro-level nodes (Callon, 1991), as when a global network of British institutions – punctualised actors from previous translations – interacted with a local network during an aircraft design project (Law and Callon, 1992). Later, Latour in particular would eschew the established global-local, macro-micro vocabulary of the social sciences, arguing that its words cannot replace the rich vocabulary of the actor's practice, these actors to include researchers (Latour, 1999a).

Finally, Law (1991a) has argued that, although actor-network theory did not set out to have a moral agenda, it could adopt one, if researchers choose 'to think not only about heroes but also of victims and the differences between their fates' (p. 15). A number of studies have demonstrated this potential (Star, 1991; Boland and Schultze, 1996; Bloomfield et al, 1997; several chapters in Mol and Berg, 1998). Nevertheless, some repair work (Law, 1991a), including the introduction of new concepts within actor-network theory (Latour, 1999a) and the use of complementary concepts from other schools of thought, has been necessary to make this move (Walsham, 1997; Knights, Murray and Willmott, 1997; Hull, 1999).

Some observers have commented on these debates, with a view to clarifying key arguments for the audience (for example, Walsham, 1997). Nevertheless, actor-network theory 'is not a stable body of knowledge that can be drawn on by researchers in an unproblematic way, since its developers themselves have frequently revised or extended elements of it' (Walsham, 2001, p. 46). Such critical reflection is very healthy, but in rejecting the dichotomies and dialectics with which we have become familiar, Latour's (1999a, 1999b) nonmodern way of arguing requires some conceptual reorientation on the part of researchers. Later in this thesis, I explore his claims that discourses informed by concepts of power (Callicles), reason (Socrates), or a Foucauldian settlement between the two, are elitist. Rather than examining a Platonic dialogue, though, I discuss my own analysis of the LAS case, with a contribution to practice as well as research in mind.

#### **Technological change – conclusions**

Technological change is the subject of a considerable literature, of which this is a selective review. Of the approaches I have discussed, business and management theory, systems

theory, socio-technical approaches, processual and pluralist theories to a greater or lesser extent fail to recognise that a general consensus on technological change is not always possible. The theory of contextualism is a useful vehicle for studying the change process as historically and socially constituted. However, contextualism is a generic framework for studying organisational change. Therefore it needs a sensitising mechanism to act as the 'motor' to the analysis. Thus far in this review, the most promising theories to provide this mechanism would be informed by ideas from the social shaping of technology, social constructivism, and actor-network theory.

A social shaping approach highlights the broad, and often contradictory, context of political, economic and cultural conditions that shape technologies during their design and use. Social constructivism draws attention to the local and contingent nature of technology innovation, and hence to the way that technologies embody compromises, negotiated by people within their local contexts. Actor-network theory focuses on the mutually constitutive nature of society and technology, and the strategies that key actors employ to enrol and mobilise support for technology innovation. Although some researchers in these traditions stress their differences more than their similarities, they share a number of common concerns. United in their rejection of the view that technology evolves in a natural trajectory based on its functional attributes, these approaches seek to explain the emergence of technology as a product of social interaction.

Nevertheless, some social shaping and social constructivist accounts give little attention to how technology may transform social relations. Moreover, the moral and political agendas of the social shaping approach are sometimes narrowly focused on gender issues, rather than being set in a broader context of power and inequality. Social constructivist and some actor-network accounts may be criticised for neglecting moral and ethical issues. Finally, actor-network theory has moved on perhaps more significantly than the other two approaches, which presents opportunities as well as challenges for those who would adopt this way of arguing and acting. Recalling the declared aim of this research to examine IS implementation in the context of cultural change of an organisation, I turn now to review the literature of organisational culture.

#### CONCEPTS OF ORGANISATIONAL CULTURE

Anthropologists have been studying societal cultures for more than a century, but studies of organisational cultures have a much shorter history. Interest in taking a cultural perspective on organisations came to the fore in the late 1970s and early 1980s. Although several studies of organisational cultures pre-date this period (see for example, Clark, 1972; Crozier, 1964; Selznick, 1957), the dawn of the 1980s saw a surge of popular interest in new models of organising and managing, and with it an awakening of managerial interest in corporate culture. Much of the inspiration for the new focus on organisational culture came from Japan. Managers in the United States and Europe attempted to revitalise their operations by adopting the management practices of their successful Japanese counterparts. This section discusses the development of research streams associated with different concepts of organisational culture, focusing on the period since "the rebirth of culture" in the 1980s.

#### Normative and interpretive research on organisational culture

In a key paper within an issue of *Administrative Science Quarterly* devoted entirely to research on organisational culture, Smircich (1983a) traces the roots of different concepts of culture and discusses their relevance for organisational analysis. Drawing on concepts of culture from anthropology and concepts of organisation from organisation theory, she identifies five different themes that link these concepts in organisation and management research – cross-cultural (or comparative) management, corporate culture, organisational cognition, organisational symbolism, and unconscious processes and organisation. In the first two streams, culture is viewed as a critical variable, something an organisation *has*, and researchers are concerned with establishing its relationship with other variables to provide normative guidance to organisations about how culture may be managed. In the last three streams, culture is a root metaphor for organisation, something an organisation *is*, and researchers see it as an epistemological device with which to frame the study of organisation as a social phenomenon in a broadly interpretive discourse.

#### Cross-cultural or comparative management

From a comparative management perspective, culture is an independent variable brought into the organisation by its members. Many comparative management studies see culture as a factor or variable more or less synonymous with country, and they aim to locate similarities and differences among cultures so as to draw implications for organisational effectiveness (Hofstede, 1980, 1991; Ouchi, 1981; Pascale and Athos, 1982; Sekaran, 1986; Hampden-Turner and Trompenaars, 1993). For example, findings from Hofstede's (1980) study of IBM subsidiaries in 70 countries provide a basis for deciding whether a managerial practice that the organisation has adopted in one country is likely to be effective in another. This work is of interest to multinational corporations and any other organisation that needs to establish relationships across national boundaries. However, the research findings are averages only, which at best limits their applicability in specific settings. Indeed, from a critical perspective, it is easy to see how managers could mobilise such research to reinforce dominant discourses.

# Corporate culture

From a corporate cultural perspective, culture is viewed as an internal organisational variable, in much the same way as structure, size, and technology in use were seen as dependent variables in early versions of contingency theory (for example, Woodward, 1965). In this perspective, culture is something produced by an organisation, and researchers are concerned with establishing the relationship between cultural aspects of organisations, such as rituals, and other organisational variables thought to be key to organisational survival, including commitment, absenteeism, and financial performance. Studies of corporate culture, then, address the ways culture can be managed and hence changed in line with management values, to ensure organisational success (for example, Peters and Waterman, 1982; Deal and Kennedy, 1982; Barley, 1983; Wilkins and Ouchi, 1983; Schein, 1985; Barney, 1986; McDonald, 1991; Tushman and O'Reilly, 1996).

Several researchers have challenged the idea that organisational culture can be managed (see, for example, Fitzgerald, 1988). Indeed, notwithstanding the leader-centred perspective

in his 1979 study of how headmasters in British private education use rituals and stories to generate commitment to their schools, Pettigrew suggests that corporate culture is manageable only 'with the greatest difficulty' (1990b, p. 366). In a critical commentary about researching a culture-performance link, Siehl and Martin (1990) raise ethical and practical concerns First, they suggest that researching such a link may involve studying efforts by top management to indoctrinate staff in a value system that exploits them. Language, physical arrangements, stories, and other cultural forms can be used in subtle ways to control others, and organisational culture research has heightened public awareness of both the potential for their use and the consequences of it. Second, they argue that research that claims to have found a link between organisational culture and financial performance is conceptually limited, methodologically flawed, and, therefore, empirically inconclusive. Included in this research is their own contingency study of a cultureperformance link (Martin et al, 1988), in which they argue that a strong and appropriate organisational culture may lead to good performance; in particular, if organisational culture and business strategy are consistent, then organisational success may follow. Nevertheless, research on a culture-effectiveness link continued into the 1990s (Denison, 1990; Kotter and Heskett, 1992; Denison and Mishra, 1995), even if it was somewhat tempered by a consistent lack of supporting evidence for such a position.

Of the three perspectives that view culture as a root metaphor for organisation, a cognitive perspective sees culture as shared knowledge (Goodenough, 1971), a symbolic perspective sees culture as shared meaning (Geertz, 1973), while a structural perspective sees culture as a reflection of the mind's unconscious processes (Levi-Strauss, 1963). The presence of multiple cultures in organisations is acknowledged, and thus the questions that become interesting concern how organisation is achieved, when multiple, often conflicting interests are at work, and what it means to be organised in such an environment.

#### Organisational cognition

From a cognitive perspective, culture is a system of learned codes for perceiving and acting, located in the minds of the culture bearers and shared by them to varying

degrees. Smircich and Calas (1987) describe the researcher's aims in a cognitive perspective thus:

to gain an insider's understanding by tapping into the conceptual, ideational system of groups and analyzing the language used to make sense of their worlds. The assumption is that the semantic fields of language contain the natives' worldview and that what people do is related to what they think. This perspective treats organizations communicatively by focusing on language as a route to thought patterns that are maintained through communication (p. 240).

Gregory's (1983) study of the way Silicon Valley technical professionals make sense of their careers, involving an exploration of their native views, is a particularly well-known example of a cognitive perspective in organisational culture research. In general, however, this perspective is prevalent in research in the related areas of organisational learning and sensemaking (Argyris and Schon, 1978, 1996; Weick, 1979, 1995; Argyris, 1990). Ciborra (1999a) has done similar work, adding an IS focus. Drawing on Weick's (1993a, 1993b) research, and on concepts from Heidegger (1962) concerned with the inseparability of thinking and doing, he argues that we need to support impromptu behaviours and activity in organisations, despite the challenges that such improvisation presents to our concepts of decision making, management, and information systems. In a cognitive perspective, then, the researcher's concerns are with the communication rules that guide action, with how people make sense of their situation and with how that sensemaking facilitates or constrains coordinated effort (Smircich and Calas, 1987), rather than with interpreting the pattern of interaction as it manifests itself.

Some studies in a cognitive perspective adopt a central theme of ambiguity. Weick (1990) examines the confusion that complicated decision making one foggy night at Tenerife airport. Language difficulties, inadequate resources at the airport, and a threat for one crew of legal sanctions being imposed by their home airline created an environment in which a collision took place and over 500 people were killed. The ways different individuals construed the events of that night show no clear pattern of interpretation, but rather a collection of diverse and highly individualised experiences of them. Meyerson (1991) examines the "normal" ambiguity that an occupational culture of hospital social workers

routinely lived with. While a few workers seemed to enjoy the freedom such ambiguity allowed them, others disliked it, some just accepted it, and a number fluctuated among their reactions to it. This work demonstrates that ambiguity can pervade our working lives; that it is not a phenomenon confined to exceptional events such as the Tenerife air crash. Like Meyerson, Feldman (1991) also studied an occupational culture – the work of policy analysts in the Department of Energy at Washington, DC. Again, high levels of ambiguity pervaded this work, and policy analysts exhibited a diverse and shifting set of responses to it.

# Organisational symbolism

From a symbolic perspective, culture is a system of shared meanings and symbols, located not in peoples' minds but in the products of mind they share in interaction. In this way, culture is conceived as a pattern of symbolic discourse that needs interpreting, reading, or deciphering. Drawing on the work of Geertz, the pervasive theme is that organisational culture is experienced and understood in interaction, in which meanings and symbols are shared to varying degrees. The literature of organisational symbolism is concerned with the way organisation is created, negotiated, and maintained through such interaction. An early reader (Pondy et al, 1983) took organisational symbolism as its guiding theme. The readings demonstrate how cultural forms, such as symbols, language, and humour can contribute to a sense of organisation [see, for example, Boland and Hoffman (1983) on humour in a machine shop, and Smircich (1983b) on organisations as shared meanings]. Unlike the instrumental treatment of cultural forms in the corporate culture literature, research on organisational symbolism aims to interpret these forms as part of the symbolic dynamics of organisational life (Smircich and Calas, 1987).

Early work on organisational symbolism has been criticised for lacking an emancipatory interest, and thereby leaving itself open to being reclaimed in a technical interest by traditional powerholders (Stablein and Nord, 1985). At the time, even those studies acknowledging that values and meanings are not universally shared, tended to emphasise how conflict was contained (for example, Smircich, 1983b; Martin and Siehl, 1983). Although many organisational theorists who began working in this perspective

shifted to more critical perspectives from the late 1980s onwards, the ideas of organisational symbolism continue to be influential within related disciplines, including information systems.

Indeed, in the minds of many IS researchers, the study of shared symbols and meanings in organisations delineates organisational culture research. Some IS researchers implicitly adopt this position, others state a view of organisational culture as a system of shared meanings, but with little reference to the source of such a concept beyond citation of a standard textbook on organisational behaviour. The implication, then, in much IS research is that a view of culture as shared meanings is a given that we all understand and accept (Kendall and Wickham, 1999). Very often, though, these studies (as discussed later) owe more to the literature of corporate culture than to studies of organisational symbolism, confirming what Stablein and Nord predicted.

### Unconscious processes and organisation

From a structural perspective, culture is an expression of the unconscious infrastructure of the human mind. So, although the appearance and experience of social arrangements in particular cultures may differ, all are thought to be the product of hidden, universal dimensions of the human mind, and therefore all cultures must have some features in common. The researcher's concern is with uncovering these common features (see Smith and Simmons, 1983; Krefting and Frost, 1985; Lucas, 1987). This position differs from the subjectivist orientation of a cognitive perspective, in that the researcher 'needs to penetrate beneath the surface level of appearance to uncover the objective foundations of social arrangements' (Smircich and Calas, 1987, p. 244).

Sharing with the cognitive position a limited adoption in the organisational culture literature *per se*, a structuralist perspective has informed research on organisational theory, addressing, for example, the stakeholders of the organisational mind (Mitroff, 1983), and images and metaphors of organisation (Morgan, 1986; Tsoukas, 1991, 1993). Furthermore, a structuralist perspective has been adopted in research on organisational identity, in combination with insights from cultural linguistics (Fiol, 1991), and to explore the link between organisational identity and organisational

learning (Brown and Starkey, 2000). Brown and Starkey focus on five ego defences adopted by organisations to maintain collective self-esteem and continuity of their existing identity. They argue that organisational learning to promote critical reflection on identity can militate against dysfunctional defence mechanisms blocking organisational change.

Again, some scholars have given this research an IS focus. Drawing on Morgan's (1986) metaphor of organisations as psychic prisons, Wastell (1996) demonstrates how a structured systems development methodology (SSADM) was used as a social defence to contain anxiety during IS development. In a later paper (Wastell, 1999), he argues that transitional objects (entities that provide temporary emotional support) should be used to break down these defensive processes. Kaarst-Brown and Robey (1999) discuss five archetypal images of IT culture held by two organisations they studied, demonstrating how their findings lend support to Martin's (1992) multiperspective research on organisational culture. Finally, Ciborra's (1996) paper, analysing the global technology strategy of Olivetti over a ten-year period, combines insights from cognitive and structuralist perspectives. On the one hand, he draws from Weick to show how managers, rather than enacting a grand plan, engaged in a continuous process of improvisation, or bricolage (Levi-Strauss, 1966), to paste together the resources and routines at hand in various combinations, as 'here and now' responses to market pressures. On the other hand, he uses the concept of computer platform as a metaphor to capture the nature of organisational identity in the highly turbulent computer industry. He suggests a platform organisation may be thought of as a 'string', because of the variety of forms it can take and the temporal links between them.

Like Smircich, Allaire and Firsirotu (1984) also present a review of the way theories of culture drawn from anthropology influenced early notions of organisational culture that emerged in the organisation and management literature. Drawing on the work of Keesing (1974), they distinguish sociocultural theories, which view culture as a component of the social system, and ideational theories, which see culture as a system of ideas that is conceptually separate, but interrelated with, the social system. Sociocultural theories see culture as serving the social system by mechanisms, such as myths, rituals and symbols, that place human beings in a better position to cope with

their environments. Ideational theories see culture as a system of ideas and symbols that reflect and contribute to social reality. In the ideational view, the cultural system may develop in harmony or in tension with the social system's structure and formal processes. Discontinuity in the cultural and structural aspects of a social system can lead to instability in the system that may threaten its survival. The sociocultural and ideational theories of culture described by Allaire and Firsirotu may be seen as informing respectively the concepts of culture as an organisational variable and culture as a root metaphor for organisation described by Smircich.

# Critical and postmodernist developments in organisational culture research

The above discussion reveals that researchers not only disagree about why they should study culture, but also that there is no general consensus about how culture should be conceptualised. Moreover, from its high point in the 1980s, when interpretive researchers studying organisational culture felt excited and liberated as they challenged mainstream organisational theory in search of new insights (Martin and Frost, 1996), research in this field of inquiry metamorphosed in later years. In the late 1980s, Smircich and Calas argued that the organisational culture literature 'has become dominant (absorbed into the dominant discourse) but dead', and asked 'what of the opposition – is it in vain?' (1987, p. 248). They suggested that a cultured organisational literature – as postmodernist criticism – is how we should understand the way that organisational theorising had been transformed.

So the opposition literature developed, from a largely interpretive discourse, called organisational culture, concerned mainly with what happens within an organisation's boundaries, to a resistance literature with a more critical discourse called, *inter alia*, identity, gender and race, concerned with much broader debates in the world. The more critical discourse recognises that cultural systems may be oppressive, may marginalise certain groups, or may be a product of power relations that lack consensus. This section addresses critical and postmodernist research on organisational culture, adopting a usage of each term broadly in line with Deetz (1996), while deferring until the next chapter a consideration of how both perspectives may be called "critical". Here, then, critical research aims to unmask domination in the hope of transforming social

relations, while postmodernist work deconstructs texts to reveal silences and hidden sources of oppression and thereby to claim a space for lost voices.

Critical studies of organisational culture began to appear in the mid-1980s. For example, Rosen (1985) focuses on tensions between management and staff at the annual breakfast meeting of an advertising agency. He demonstrates how management used the setting of a luxury hotel and the commensality of a fine breakfast as the occasion to deploy rhetoric concerning the agency's benevolence as an employer, minutes before announcing a pay freeze. Rosen's argument is that these moves were attempts to mask apparently unbreachable conflicts of interest between management and staff, in which organisational culture was mobilised as a mechanism for social control.

Young (1989) describes how two different subcultures existed within a group of shop floor machinists which, at a more superficial level, appeared to be a collectivity united around rituals, such as the wearing of roses on St. George's Day. While focusing on the effort these two subcultures put into maintaining their distinctiveness, Young's analysis also addressed conflict arising from class differences between management and staff at the firm. Van Maanen (1991) studied the hierarchy of subcultures that exists among tour guides, operators, ground staff, and food and concession workers at Disneyland, and shows how expression at the "Smile Factory" is stage managed through the hierarchy. Bartunek and Moch (1991) describe the cultural heterogeneity that confronted consultants commissioned to improve productivity and quality of working life in a management-initiated intervention in a medium-sized commercial bakery. Here, the struggle is more complex than a straight contest between management and labour; divisions also reflect the way actors mobilise gender, race and functional specialism. Further work that emphasises the way the interests of women or minority groups are suppressed in organisational cultures dominated by white men includes research by Kanter (1977), Bell (1990) and Cox (1994).

Critical studies of organisational culture show that symbolic relationships and meanings that sustain organisation are not necessarily consensual (Riley, 1983; Lucas, 1987; Knights and Willmott, 1987, 1995; Alvesson, 1993; Deetz, 1996). In these studies conflict and power are the focus of attention, so that the concept of culture (particularly in its interpretive sense as a system of shared values and meanings) can seem incidental

to the argument. Work by Knights and colleagues illustrates this point. In a critical analysis of Pensco's (a pseudonym) culture, Knights and Willmott (1987) emphasise asymmetries of power over interpretive schemes in a structurational analysis of organisational culture. More markedly in later work (Knights and Murray, 1994), specific references to Pensco's organisational culture are barely discernible in the discussion of the political process in operation. These analyses adopt the view that organisational culture is a socially constructed aspect of organisations that is medium and outcome of a political process of power-knowledge relations.

Alvesson (1993) provides a detailed discussion of the characteristics that differentiate hermeneutically inspired studies of organisational culture from their critical counterparts. In effect, he argues that the former focus on symbolic manifestations of a culture, such as ceremonies, stories, and other expressive phenomena, which are often not related to the core aspects of organisational life. He calls for a cultural perspective on the labour processes and social practices that are the basis for reproducing the cultural attributes of certain groupings found in organisations, such as professional and social class groups.

Postmodernist studies of organisational culture started to emerge in the late 1980s. While sharing a concern with critical work to challenge modernist instrumental rationality, postmodernist accounts focus on disorder and contradictory interpretations in an attempt to give a voice to marginalised groups (Calas and Smircich, 1987; Linstead and Grafton-Small, 1992; Willmott, 1993). In addressing the way that reality is constructed through language and thought, these researchers use analytic techniques such as deconstruction to reveal the manufactured quality of organisational life (Czarniawska-Joerges, 1992). Some deconstructionists adopt a feminist stance (Martin, 1990; Calas and Smircich, 1991; Mumby and Putnam, 1992), others show how dominant voices create a sense of community by manipulating thought through language (Mills et al, 2001).

Postmodernist work draws from several different theoretical perspectives, so that postmodernism is viewed more appropriately as a discourse than a unified theory (Martin and Frost, 1996). Martin and Frost (1996) outline the benefits that a

postmodernist perspective on organisational culture could bring to the field of organisational analysis. They suggest that it could draw attention to the complex and constructed nature of organisational culture, reveal 'reality' as a series of fictions and illusions through deconstruction, and might encourage wider participation in organisational change initiatives by recognising that truth is 'a matter of credibility' (Alvesson and Berg, 1992).

## Organisational culture and information systems

Thus far, this review has focused on the nature and development of organisation culture research without very specific reference to the broad range of practices and symbols in organisations that were addressed by the studies cited. This section narrows the focus to review literature that has applied a cultural perspective to study IS development, management and use in organisations, and also to study high technology corporations and software consultancies as organisational cultures.

Several researchers have advocated the use of an organisational culture perspective for IS research (for example, Scholz, 1990; Hirschheim and Newman, 1991; Walsham, 1991, 1993; Robey and Azevedo, 1994; Avison and Myers, 1995; Dube and Robey 1999). Some argue that we can derive insights from anthropology to study IT and organisational culture (Avison and Myers, 1995; Green and Murphy, 1996). Others draw indirectly on anthropology, taking their immediate cues from cultural concepts and frameworks developed within the field of organisation studies by Martin and Schein amongst others (see, for example, Scholz, 1990; Robey and Azevedo, 1994; Dube and Robey, 1999). Related work has explored symbolism and metaphor in IS development and management (Hirschheim and Newman, 1991; Kendall and Kendall, 1993; Westrup, 1996; Kaarst-Brown and Robey, 1999) and the role of gendered genres in IT cultures (Harvey, 1997). Another group has been influenced by social theories, such as the theory of structuration (Giddens, 1979, 1984) and concepts of power-knowledge relations (Foucault, 1977, 1980c, 1982). Cultural analyses of IS implementation informed by these theories include those by Coombs et al (1992), Walsham (1993, 2001), and Nicholson and Sahay (2001).

Research on IS practices from a cultural perspective has conceptualised organisational culture in a variety of ways. Such concepts include organisational culture as a state that can be got "right" (Morieux and Sutherland, 1988), a system of shared meanings (Romm et al, 1991; Pliskin et al, 1993; Robey and Azevedo, 1994; Whitley, 1999), a mechanism for social control (Kunda, 1992; Grugulis et al, 2000) and a fragmented unity (Parker, 2000) cross-cut by multiple cultures (Gregory, 1983).

These studies display a range of different research perspectives. Since all examine the relationship between information systems and culture and symbolism in organisations, much of the analysis is focused at organisational and organisational actor levels. In the studies that view organisational culture as a system of shared meanings, these levels of analysis tend to predominate, so that the influence of socio-political and economic conditions receives little or no attention. Furthermore, these studies tend to neglect the shifting nature of social relations. For example, the study by Pliskin et al (1993) attributes the unsuccessful implementation of a management information system to a lack of cultural fit between the organisation and the system. Implicit in this analysis is an assumption that culture is a state rather than a process, and that successful implementation will occur when the state of the system "matches" the state of the organisation.

In the study by Morieux and Sutherland (1988), the way an organisation responds to its environment through its IT strategy and organisational culture is the focus of attention. Thus the authors argue that if IT strategy and organisational culture are aligned, then organisational effectiveness is likely to follow. In this way, they attempt to prescribe how organisations can get their responses to the environment "right", and in so doing they smooth away tensions inherent in the processual, contested and socially constructed nature of IT strategy adoption and organisational culture. So both of the above studies adopt the instrumental treatment of shared meanings evident in the corporate culture literature.

Dube and Robey (1999) adopt a multiperspective view. They undertook a cultural analysis of systems development practices that used Martin's (1992) three perspectives framework. Thus they developed three views of the same organisation, which highlight

unity, difference and ambiguity, rather than producing a single reconciled view. In this way, they were influenced by the three main streams of literature from which Martin (initially Meyerson and Martin, 1987) derived this framework – namely the literatures of corporate culture, organisational symbolism and organisational cognition. In Dube and Robey's account, as in others that have used the three perspective framework, including Martin's own analysis of OZCO, the fragmentation (or ambiguity) analysis is unconvincing. I want to question why there appears to be so much confusion and contradiction in the organisation when there seems to be no compelling explanation for it. A consideration of the power relationships within the organisation is avoided, perhaps because the authors state very clearly that their analysis attempts to be neither critical nor postmodern.

Other work clearly engages in a critical discourse. Kunda suggests that the management control strategy adopted by the technology company he studied produced 'a total institution of sorts' (1992, p. 224), a form of cultural engineering that 'prescribes not only [employees'] behaviour but runs much deeper, offering elaborate scripts for their cognitive and emotional lives' (1995, p. 229). In this way he suggests that managers sought not to engage their staff in an economic transaction based on pay and reward in exchange for labour, but in a moral one, based on high commitment to and strong identification with company goals, in return for material benefits. In this account I am less inclined to ask whether the engineering facility is a playground or a prison, as Kunda does, but rather to ask how the people who work in this corporation make sense of their lives. How do they reflect on the demands made of them, and how do they understand the relationship between their working and their personal lives? Grugulis et al (2000) draw on Kunda's work to critique the use of "company culture" as a means of normative control by managers in their study of a British software company. Again, I feel prompted to ask a similar question.

Some studies provide an account of organisations as both arenas of sensemaking for individual actors and collectives with links to other organisations and to social, political and economic contexts in which they are situated. Influences of this sort are a particular concern of studies informed by the social theories of Giddens and Foucault. Coombs et al (1992) draw on Foucault's concepts of power and subjectivity to demonstrate how

central government initiatives relating to the introduction of an internal market in the UK National Health Service stimulated tensions between doctors and hospital administrators during development of a resource management system. Nicholson and Sahay (2001) draw on a structurationist analysis (Sahay and Walsham, 1997) of the rules and resources that shape the agency of Indian managers and developers to demonstrate the influence of ethnicity in their study of a British software house using the resources of an Indian outsourcing firm. Walsham (2001) shows how discourses of globalisation and cultural contexts that transcend organisational boundaries are implicated in the adoption and use of particular ICTs in organisations. In earlier work (Walsham, 1993), he describes how changing markets and government policies in particular countries shape, and may be shaped by, the meanings that organisational actors ascribe to information systems. Walsham draws on a range of social theories in his work, but sympathies for Giddens' structurationist arguments and Foucault's concept of power-knowledge relations are underlying themes.

Structurationist arguments are also evident in the case studies analysed by Parker (2000). He suggests that in organisations there is unity and difference – the general and the specific – and that these opposites represent a duality rather than a dualism. Adopting a language based epistemology, he argues that there are 'multiple crosscutting dialects ... within an organization' (p. 94), and offers a definition of organisational culture as the 'contested local organization of generalities' (p. 188). Gregory raised the issue of cross-cutting cultures 20 years ago, but suggested that the way the terms "culture" and "organisation" are related 'would depend on the theoretical or empirical grounds for a particular study' (1983, p. 374). So the extent to which an author seeks a normative, explanatory or critical analysis influences the way that organisational culture is conceived.

Diversity, then, is clearly evident in the concepts of organisational culture adopted to study the practices of IS development, management and use. Many of these concepts take their roots from traditional anthropology and thus emphasise culture as something that is shared, whether it be knowledge, meaning or consciousness. Avison and Myers (1995), however, remind us of the contemporary anthropological view of culture 'as something which is contested, temporal and emergent' (p. 53). This dynamic view of

culture shares much with the social theories of Giddens and Foucault that have informed a number of the studies discussed above. The work reviewed also reveals the limitations of a concept of organisational culture that fails to look beyond an organisation's boundaries at the way political, economic and societal conditions are implicated in practices in organisations. Finally, studies with a critical orientation remind us that ICTs are often inscribed with Western values that reproduce existing inequities in society (Walsham, 2001), that these technologies may be implicated in surveillance regimes that seek to change working practices (Coombs et al, 1992), and that they may be developed in environments where social control mechanisms are already in place (Grugulis et al, 2000).

### **Organisational culture – conclusions**

Organisational culture is a field of study in which different research traditions have emerged in a public and highly contested manner over the last two decades. The organisational culture 'war games' (Martin and Frost, 1996) have been interpreted as contests where battle lines were drawn in terms of different anthropological themes (Smircich, 1983a) or sociological perspectives (Martin, 1992). Hence the war has been represented in two ways: first, as a struggle between views of culture as either a possession of, or a basic model for, organisation; and second, as a contest among perspectives that emphasise the homogeneous, the differentiated, or the fragmented nature of organisational life. Organisational culture research has also been shown to reflect technical, practical and emancipatory knowledge interests, and hence research programs have been represented as a struggle among epistemological interests (Stablein and Nord, 1985). Martin and Frost (1996) argue for a postmodernist perspective on organisational culture as an alternative to the struggle for intellectual dominance that has pervaded the field so far.

During the 1980s hundreds of cultural studies were conducted and published. While very many had a normative focus, hence attempted to show how organisational culture may be managed to produce organisational effectiveness, some studies addressed contested values and meanings and intergroup conflict in specific organisational contexts. Some of the latter were pluralist in orientation (for example, Martin and Siehl,

1983), while others adopted a critical perspective (for example, Rosen, 1985) that challenged taken for granted assumptions, by presenting alternative readings of dominant managerialist discourses. As postmodernist discourses emerged in the late 1980s, they emphasised confusion, contradiction and ambiguity in organisational life, with the aim of claiming a space for lost voices.

The concept of organisational culture has been adopted in the different ways outlined above to study the practices surrounding IS/IT implementation. While some studies define organisational culture as a homogeneous phenomenon broadly coterminous with an organisation's boundaries (for example, Whitley, 1999), others emphasise its fragmented nature as it is cross-cut by geographic, ethnic, occupational and other cultures (for example, Gregory, 1983; Parker, 2000; Nicholson and Sahay, 2001). This study is sympathetic to a fragmentation view, while acknowledging with others who adopt it that forces for unity exist in any organisation so that coordinated action can take place.

The late 1980s and early 1990s saw some key early contributors on organisational culture change their research positions. Writers such as Smircich and Martin began to question the unity and consensus implicit in their earlier positions, and instead began to focus on issues of fragmentation and conflict suppression associated with postmodernist and some feminist research interests. During the 1990s, the study of organisational culture declined from its high point in the 1980s, but also developed in a number of interesting directions. Thus its decline in popularity as a topic of research interest may be viewed positively. Organisational culture is no longer the latest management fad. Attempts to manipulate organisational culture with a view to improving organisational performance have been discredited (for example, Siehl and Martin, 1990). Although the organisational culture war games have been bitterly contested, particularly in the United States, there is still much to learn from studying organisational cultures. A critical perspective, very broadly defined, constitutes a promising vehicle for such research.

## Literature review - concluding remarks

In this chapter, I have reviewed the literatures of technological change and organisational culture and identified a number of possible ways of adopting a critical approach to studying these two phenomena. Drawing from the technological change literature, I argued that a critical approach could be adopted based on an interpretation of the social shaping of technology, construed in the very broad and inclusive sense of MacKenzie and Wajcman's (1999) second edition. The organisational culture literature suggested that both critical and postmodernist perspectives (as they appear to be understood in much organisation and management research) provide interesting ways to challenge the *status quo* in order to reveal hidden sources of power within social relations. Thus a review of two substantial streams of literature has suggested different ways of being critical about IS implementation on the one hand and organisational culture on the other. In the next chapter, I discuss how I made sense of the various options open to me to arrive at the critical perspective adopted in this thesis to explore their interaction.

# **CHAPTER 3** Adopting a Critical Framework

#### ASPECTS OF CRITICAL THEORY

Some indication of the range of interests addressed by contemporary critical work is given by the instructions to authors (Saren and Brownlie, 1999) prepared for one of the streams in a recent conference on critical management studies. While these instructions were intended to provide guidance for prospective marketing authors, they are indicative of critical research trends in several disciplines, including organisation studies and information systems.

By critical perspectives we mean modes of theorizing and research practices which regard marketing knowledge and its related technologies as socially constructed and enacted; which take those practices to be historically and culturally contingent; and which are understood to shape and be shaped by vested interests and power.

By critical theory we mean any approach drawing inspiration from the substantive critical traditions of, for example, feminism, Marxism, ethnography and symbolism, post-structuralism, hermeneutics, postmodernism and environmentalism. Such perspectives typically take a critical stance towards the possibilities and uses of marketing knowledge, relating it to expressions of power and vested interests.

The last chapter addressed how critical approaches to organisational culture and technological change have drawn on a number of the above traditions. Some of these traditions have research agendas where the marginalised or suppressed groups are identified *a priori*, for example, feminism, Marxism and environmentalism. Others adopt the view that which voices are lost is situational, hence these groups are revealed as part of a study. In this way, two different but not entirely distinct sociological perspectives ground the literature of critical theory. This chapter examines the German and French schools of critical thought as exemplars of each tradition, and shows how research influenced by both schools may make claims to being critical. This domain of critical theory has been described as a French-German schism (Burrell, 1994), a discursive space in which critical and postmodernist voices speak together (Alvesson

and Deetz, 1996), and as indicative of 'an essential tension in modernity ... between consensus and conflict' (Flyvbjerg, 1998, p. 185). This tension is highlighted in the works of Habermas and Foucault and was personified in the life-long controversy between them.

## The German and French schools of critical thought

Contemporary German critical theory emanates from the Institute of Social Research founded in Frankfurt in 1923. Despite some diversity in the positions adopted by members of the Frankfurt School, German critical theory has certain general characteristics that permeate the writings of its most prominent scholars. These have been summarised by Held (1980, p.15, quoted in Laughlin, 1987, p. 482) as follows:

At a general level it may be said that the founders of critical theory preserved many of the concerns of German idealist thought – concerns, for example, with the nature of reason, truth and beauty – but reformulated the way in which these had been previously understood. They placed history at the centre of their approach to philosophy and society. Yet the issues they addressed went beyond a focus on the past and embraced future possibilities. Following Marx, they were preoccupied, especially in their early work, with the forces which moved (and might be guided to move) society towards rational institutions – institutions which would ensure a true, free and just life. But they were aware of the many obstacles to radical change and sought to analyse and expose these. They were thus concerned both with interpretation and transformation.

So the Frankfurt School sought to develop a historically grounded social theory that could be used to practical effect in real world situations. These scholars were openly critical of the *status quo*, seeing the need to transform society to achieve a "better" life for all. They believed that conscious human action could bring about the required changes, albeit in a situation mediated by structural forces. A substantive criticism of this tradition would rest on the limited emancipatory achievements that have followed in the wake of development of the theoretical position. This is not to suggest that critique of the *status quo* is inappropriate, but rather to argue that the emancipatory enterprise is a product of space and time. Developed in the 1930s, of German provenance, the critical theory of the Frankfurt School sought to free human subjects

from oppressive regimes within societies and within the institutions that make them up. The optimistic, some would say utopian, nature of these narratives and their "totalising" tendencies (Alvesson and Willmott, 1992b) may be understood as a response to a Nazi regime, from which members of the School fled into exile in the United States in the mid-1930s.

Still, it is misleading to talk about the research endeavours of the Frankfurt School as though all of its members shared a common position about how the "critical" project should be pursued. In this sense, it is particularly appropriate to differentiate the approach of Habermas from theoretical positions adopted by other prominent members of the School, including Horkheimer, Adorno and Marcuse. This is not to imply homogeneity among the remaining members, but rather to account for the popularity of a Habermasian perspective in management studies research.

Habermas' approach is characterised by a concern with linguistic and hermeneutic issues, and therefore with the role of language in societal development, rather than with a critique *per se* of western industrial life, its consumerist logic or instrumental reason (Laughlin, 1987). Unlike his contemporaries in the Frankfurt School, Habermas does not compare society to a predefined ideal state, from which it is judged to fall far short. Rather he tries to define the ideal conditions in which such an evaluation may take place. Finally, Habermas provides considerable detail about the requisite conditions for ideal speech, and in this way his methodological approach is more comprehensive than the generalised critiques of western society provided by his colleagues in the German school.

Laughlin (1987) argues that these features of Habermas' work provide a promising vehicle for critical accounting research. Similarly, critical research in information systems dating from the same period emphasises the insights provided by a Habermasian perspective (see, for example, Lyytinen and Klein, 1985; Lyytinen and Hirschheim, 1988; Ngwenyama, 1991). Noticeable in these conceptions of what is meant by "critical" is an exclusive identification with the German school.

Prominent thinkers belonging to the French school of critical thought include Foucault, Derrida and Lyotard. Following Nietzsche, these scholars do not share the Frankfurt School's belief in human endeavour as a history of constant progress towards a better future. Rather members of the French school focus on paradox and indeterminacy, acknowledging the locally contingent nature of human relations and refusing any singular interpretation of them. History is important to them not as the basis for developing a grounded social theory that may be used to transform society, but as a mechanism for understanding the present and discovering our room for manoeuvre from such a position. These scholars, and Foucault in particular, provide a critique of the *status quo* by revealing how we became what we are today, examining the transgressions available and thereby raising the possibility of being otherwise (Foucault, 1984a; Flyvbjerg, 1998; Chan, 2000).

Substantive criticism of the French school rests on its apparent lack of interest in achieving practical outcomes (Laughlin, 1995). Certainly its members are unwilling to specify procedural conditions against which the validity of our communications may be judged. Nor do they adopt *a priori* a political or moral agenda that represents the interests of a particular community. Nevertheless, by exploring the limits of our present situation, these scholars open up the possibilities for action, without prescribing either the method to be used for the investigation or the action to be taken as a result. Marginalised voices of various persuasions have found resonance with analyses that draw on the ideas of French critical theory. The insights provided by this work appear to some readers less suspect than either the normative, and often exclusive, statements found in the concluding paragraphs of some papers espousing a practical interest, or the "totalising tendencies" revealed in theoretical positions claiming an emancipatory interest.

Foucault, Derrida and Lyotard have taken different directions within the French tradition and each has attracted his own particular followers among management and organisation studies researchers, with the works of Foucault becoming especially popular (Calas and Smircich, 1999). Although Foucault shares Habermas' concern with communication, he is opposed to the search for ideal states and the drive towards consensus, believing that such states are fabrications. Or, as other members of the French school would argue, society is a unity that is at the same time divided from itself (Derrida, 1973) and 'consensus is a horizon that is never reached' (Lyotard, 1984, p.

61). Furthermore, Foucault is reluctant to specify methods and techniques, as distinct from concepts, yet the last decade has seen a growing number of researchers draw on his genealogical mode of analysis (see Knights, 1992; Sewell and Wilkinson, 1992; Townley, 1993; Jacques, 1996; McGrath, 2000). In the same period, several researchers have adopted the complex and subtle concepts associated with Derrida's deconstruction approach (see Calas and Smircich, 1991; Kilduff, 1993; Beath and Orlikowski, 1994; Martin and Knopoff, 1997). Thus, it may be argued that the ideas of French critical theory derive their appeal from the alternative insights they can help to shed on human relations and the diverse range of research agendas in which they may be invoked, albeit agendas that are problematic to define *a priori*.

### The changing nature of "being critical"

The last section might be read as an attempt to emphasise how specific national heritages influence research agendas, but that was not my intention in writing it. Rather, it was a response to a significant literature in management and organisation studies, and information systems, that sometimes directly, but mostly by implication or absence, tends to reify research positions. Thus research drawing on the German tradition – specifically the works of Habermas – is called critical, while research drawing on the French tradition, including the works of Foucault, is called postmodernist. I referred to German and French schools of thought so that I could call both critical, albeit in different ways. This section explores the rationale for such a claim.

Deetz (1996) argued that contemporary research practices and debates may be understood in terms of four discourses – the normative, the interpretive, the critical and the dialogic (or postmodernist). These discourses are the product of two intersecting dimensions of contrast, the first dimension focusing on how and where research concepts and problem statements arise, and the second focusing on the relation of research practices to dominant social discourses within the community studied. Thus critical and postmodernist discourses are alike in that they challenge 'mechanisms of order maintenance to reclaim conflicts and tension' (p. 197), but unalike in that critical scholars produce dissensus in search of a better, more rational, and hence "already known", world, whereas postmodernists deconstruct dominant discourses to allow multiple "unknown" voices to emerge.

Interestingly, on these dimensions of contrast, Deetz (1996) argues that although 'not necessarily so, in practice researchers working from the later, more explicitly political and moral writings of Foucault engage in a critical discourse' (p. 203). This position is in line with views expressed elsewhere, arguing that Foucauldian genealogy should be understood as a critical epistemology (for example, Knights, 1992).

As a mechanism for understanding 'the same in the different', Deetz' conceptual framework is very helpful, hence it meets his declared objective, but as an aid to engaging with 'the same and the different' (Jeffcutt, 1993; Burrell, 1994; Parker, 2000), it has more obvious limitations. Like all n-dimensional spaces, the framework tends to divide more than it unites, but it provides a useful starting point for a discussion of work that attempts to span spaces.

Alvesson and Deetz (1996) draw on this framework to extend the discussion of critical theory and postmodernism in organisational studies. They evaluate the contribution of critical studies, as ideological critique, drawing on Marx, or as communicative action, drawing on Habermas. Similarly, they present the themes of postmodernism – emphasising the end of grand narratives, the indecidability of meaning, the crisis of representation, and the problematization of the subject and the author (Calas and Smircich, 1999) – in light of research that has drawn upon them. However, the most interesting aspect of their paper in the current context is its attention to work that spans the critical and postmodernist discursive spaces (as the authors interpret them).

For example, they suggest that Martin works with both critical and postmodernist themes without attempting synthesis in her deconstruction of an organisational story about an employee's Caesarean operation (1990), and in her analysis of the gendered organisation of exclusion in academic life (1994). In this way, they argue, she shows how local stories connect to grand narratives, and how deconstructionist techniques may be employed as part of a political or moral agenda. Other ways they suggest of working with both discourses involve conducting multiple interpretations of the same phenomenon (cf. McGrath and Smithson, 2001) or making space in texts for voices representing different perspectives to speak together in conversation (Alvesson and Willmott, 1996, chapter 7).

In an increasingly radical departure from separate discursive spaces, Alvesson and Deetz (2000) identify three concerns of the critical researcher – insight arising from hermeneutic understanding, critique produced through genealogy and deconstruction, and transformative redefinition to open up new ways of engaging the social world. They argue:

Critical research may have different emphases; interpretive work aiming for insight may be central, complemented by limited elements of critique and transformative redefinitions. Critique may also dominate, but if so the empirical case study is typically used for more limited, illustrative purposes. Transformative redefinition should not dominate empirical research. Texts dominated by this tend to be Utopian and this quality is not salient in studies with research ambitions (p. 153).

This description shares themes with the conclusions from a recent workshop on critical research in information systems (University of Salford, 2001). Contributors to the workshop, including authors of some of the early critical writings, favoured an inclusive definition of critical research. Indeed, Heinz Klein argued that – in addition to Habermas – Braverman, Bourdieu, Foucault and some postmodernists, for example, Lyotard, might be considered as working in a critical tradition.

The discursive moves described in this section trace a genealogy of the "critical" position through the works of some key researchers in management and organisation studies. Starting from a position of critical theory and postmodernism as different discourses with some similarities, they move through a consideration of how both discourses may be combined in empirical work, to a view of critical research as including both discourses – a series of shifts from either/or to both/and. In this way, then, there are a number of ways of being critical. These include drawing upon the works of scholars in the Frankfurt School, including Habermas, but also engaging in a postmodernist discourse, and specifically, adopting a Foucauldian perspective.

### Habermas, Foucault and the modernism-postmodernism debate

In 1988, the journal *Organization Studies* began a very useful series of papers about the modernism-postmodernism debate in organisational analysis. In the first of these papers, Cooper and Burrell (1988) introduce some basic concepts and ways of thinking that

demonstrate the concern in this debate with the nature of discourse and its role in social systems. Significant themes arising from this work address both sameness and difference in modernist and postmodernist discourses, and in particular how these discourses view the nature of organisation and the role of the human agent. Later papers in the series focus specifically on the works of Michel Foucault (Burrell, 1988) and Jurgen Habermas (Burrell, 1994) and their individual contributions to the field of organisational analysis. This section addresses each of these topics in turn.

# Overview of the modernism-postmodernism debate

In the modernist view, the human agent is the centre of reason and understanding, and so organisation is seen as a social tool and an extension of human rationality (Cooper and Burrell, 1988). The authors distinguish between systemic modernism (or instrumental rationality), with its focus on control and performance, and critical modernism (as espoused by Habermas), emphasising the suppressed capabilities of language for communicative rationality. Both views share a belief in a logical, rational world, albeit that systemic modernism engages with this view in a programme of social control, while critical modernism is concerned with liberation of the life-world, and so with uniting society in a universal, rational and consensual discourse.

In a postmodernist view, the fragmented nature of human experience is emphasised. Organisation, then, is less the extension of rational thought and planned action and more a defensive reaction to destabilising forces immanent in social life. In this view, the notion of *difference* – a self-referential form in which terms contain their opposites – is a key concept. For Foucault, the body, whether biological, social or political, is the organ of *difference*, and so his genealogies examine the body in its various forms to reveal the strange in the familiar, the extraordinary in the routine, the active in the reactive. Foucault is concerned with understanding how discourse, as the expression of power, structures a problem. In his rationality of 'problemizing', discourse is no longer the neutral means of achieving unity and rational consensus that Habermas would argue, rather discourse imposes order in the way it structures thought through language. So, organisation emerges as a process rather than a tool, and the interesting question

becomes less one of what organisation can help us perform and more one of how we perform organisation.

## The works of Jurgen Habermas

Burrell (1994) argues that Habermas attempts to be both a philosopher and a social scientist and leaves himself open to criticism from both disciplines. Bernstein (1985), on the other hand, describes him as 'a thinker who at once stands against many of the intellectual currents and self images of our time and speaks to our deepest aspirations and hopes' (p. 25). These two critiques highlight an essential paradox in Habermas' position, that in seeking a rational, consensual and more inclusive world, he falls into a gap between philosophy and social science that distances his work from both communities (Burrell, 1994). On the one hand, this distancing occurs because his critics question whether his work is philosophically grounded, while, on the other hand, his *a priori* assumption of a universal desire for rational consensus is, in social scientific terms, speculative until empirically tested.

Three key texts describe Habermas' hopes for us and the ways he proposed they be enacted (Habermas, 1972, 1979, 1984). In *Knowledge and Human Interests*, Habermas (1972) argues that knowledge serves three different types of human interest. Positive, or scientific, knowledge serves a technical interest, in which the desire is for control; the reflexivity of the subject, who examines his or her own claims to knowledge, is suppressed. Hermeneutic, or interpretive, knowledge incorporates a practical interest, in which the aspiration is mutual understanding as the basis for practical activity; the intersubjective nature of communication is so addressed. Critical knowledge pursues an emancipatory interest, in which the hope is for freedom from socially unnecessary constraints on human potential; a dialectic is proposed between the transcendental and the empirical, in which non-coercive communication becomes possible and can render possible a desired transformation. Habermas pursues an emancipatory interest in his work, and is especially critical of the grand narratives of positive knowledge and the way they have been invoked in the organisation of capitalism in modern society.

In *Communication and the Evolution of Society* (Habermas, 1979), Habermas suggests a way of achieving non-coercive communication in an 'ideal speech situation', for which he defines the procedural requirements of communicative action aimed at achieving mutual understanding or rational consensus. He argues:

In action oriented to reaching understanding, validity claims are "always already" implicitly raised. These universal claims ... are set in the general structures of possible communication. In these validity claims communication theory can locate a gentle, but obstinate, a never silent although seldom redeemed claim to reason, a claim that must be recognized de facto whenever and wherever there is to be consensual action (1979, p. 97).

These universal claims address the validity of what is said in four ways: in terms of its comprehensibility; its propositional nature or objective truth; its sincerity or the speaker's subjective truth; and its normative validity or appropriateness in the context in which it is uttered. Communication is deemed valid if a speaker can redeem these claims when challenged by other participants in the discourse. In this way, Habermas argues, non-coercive communication takes place since, in an ideal speech situation, nothing coerces anyone except "the force of the better argument". As the name implies, such a situation represents an ideal type. Its value rests in the way it suggests how things might be, or in the possibilities it provides for judging how far a current situation is from a notional ideal (Flyvbjerg, 1998). However, as a concept for exploring how events unfold over time, it lacks the mechanisms needed to analyse the distorters of communication that are present in our everyday, non-ideal communication.

A full account of Habermas' model of societal evolution is provided in the two volumes of *The Theory of Communicative Action* (Habermas, 1984, 1987). In this work, Habermas defines modern society in terms of three key concepts – life-worlds, systems, and steering media. Life-worlds are the symbolic spaces communicatively formed over time, in which individual actors make sense of their life experiences, secure a feeling of belonging, and develop a concept of personal identity. Systems are the organisational forms that are the functional expressions of these life-worlds, so they may be both complex in structure and diverse in nature. Systems are held together by steering media, such as money, power and law, and hence by the institutions that provide or maintain such mechanisms.

In Habermas' ideal model of social evolution, discursive processes in the life-world guide shifts in the steering media and ultimately in the systems that these steering mechanisms hold together. However, if the steering media get out of hand, as Habermas would claim they have in our modern capitalist society, then they can shift the system in ways that do not reflect life-world concerns. In this way, the steering media start to colonise the life-world and a growing crisis emerges, in which the stability of the life-world is threatened. Habermas argues that we need to remove the distorters of communication by instituting the conditions of ideal speech so that the life-world may regain its influence on the steering media. This argument neglects the power relations operating in the life-world and the constraints there may be to non-coercive communication. A less totalising enterprise may be a more promising approach to dealing with the situation, and such an enterprise would need to develop an understanding of how non-ideal communication takes place – issues with which Habermas is less concerned.

The themes of unity and division at the same time are an appropriate way to frame a discussion of Habermas' work. On the one hand, his desire for consensus and emancipation arrived at in a democratic process, and his method of linking the transcendental and the empirical in a philosophically informed social science (Burrell, 1994), are indicative of the inclusive and participative nature of his approach. On the other hand, his search for an intersubjective position may be set in the context of three great schisms – the theoretical-practical, modernism-postmodernism, and a transformed, but still divided, world. Of these divides, he attempted to bridge the first, he was in constant tension with the second, and he was overtaken by the third, as follows.

With respect to the knowledge-constitutive interests and in particular the attempt to speak to both philosophers and social scientists, Burrell (1994) argues that Habermas ventures into a space where organisation studies must sooner or later go. This argument may also be made for information systems, as another relatively new discipline without the established body of knowledge of some of the more long-standing ones. Critiques of Habermas' work show us some of the challenges we face. With regard to his defence of the modernist project, Burrell argues that Habermas has saliency for organisation theorists, as the debate develops about their role in all twentieth century holocausts. Nevertheless, he questions the way Habermas defends such a project without directly confronting its critics and their

detailed arguments. I would also argue that Habermas' rejection of postmodernism neglects the useful work of organisational theorists who have combined critical modernist and postmodernist discourses, does not sit easily with his desire for democratic participation, and overlooks how much we can learn from those who see things differently. Finally, Burrell argues that Habermas has not noticed how the world has changed, and questions how he 'will handle the unification of Germany and the forces this has unleashed' (1994, p. 16). I suggest that contemporary views of critical research may be understood as a response to our changing world in that they recognise more explicitly than Habermas the obstacles to an emancipatory project.

### The works of Michel Foucault

Burrell (1988) and others, including Dreyfus and Rabinow (1982) and Knights (1992), present a three-fold chronology of Foucault's work into archaeological, genealogical, and ethical periods. Foucault's search for sameness is brought out in the works of his archaeological period (Foucault, 1972, 1973a, 1973b, 1975), which seek to 'uncover those rules which regulate and govern social practices, and which are unknown to [or not easily perceived or penetrated by] the actors involved' (Burrell, 1988, p. 229). In these works, the subject is decentred, as Foucault focuses on the discourse alone and not on whom speaks it. An excavation takes place, in which the aim is to reveal the rules of formation common to such diverse discourses as biology, economics and linguistics; to uncover 'the same in the different'. In this way, archaeology as a method serves genealogy, for it enables Foucault to 'raise the genealogical questions: How are these discourses used? What role do they play in society?' (Dreyfus and Rabinow, 1982, p. xxi).

In his genealogical period, Foucault abandons the search for underlying laws and deep meaning. Things are what they appear to be, and so interest shifts to a concern with discursive practices more so than with the discourse *per se*. Small details, subtle moves and the singularity of surface events are the concerns of the genealogist (Burrell, 1988). In the genealogical method, the aim is to record the superficial, the accidental, and the base motives; the emphasis is on 'the different in the same'. We are all enmeshed in a

field of power 'even as we sit alone' (ibid. p. 228). What is interesting is how we act within it.

Bio-power, deriving principally from the army, seeks to control whole populations (Foucault, 1979), and lies at the heart of the formation and growth of institutions, such as hospitals, prisons, asylums, housing estates, universities and schools. Disciplinary power targets individuals, converting each one into a docile body that becomes 'more obedient as it becomes more useful, and conversely' (Foucault, 1977, p.138). The body is 'directly involved in a political field; power relations have an immediate hold upon it; they invest it, mark it, train it, torture it, force it to carry out tasks, to perform ceremonies, to emit signs' (ibid. p.25). Resistance is inscribed within power relations, but it does not threaten discipline. Rather discipline can increase its hold on the body, when resistance shows it where to direct its next effort (Burrell, 1988).

Drawing together these two strands of Foucault's work, Burrell argues that we find 'all organizations are unalike in terms of surface features, but are all alike insofar as one can understand their underlying dynamics' (1988, p. 232). In this view, organisations are both the same and different at any given moment in time, and so they need to be studied both archaeologically and genealogically. Foucault (1984a) argues for a mode of analysis that is 'genealogical in its design and archaeological in its method' (p. 46). In this sense, archaeological does not reflect his early concern with underlying laws or 'universal structures of all knowledge or of all possible moral action, but will seek to treat the instances of discourse that articulate what we think, say, and do as so many historical events' (ibid.). Here we see Foucault engaging in some refocusing of his archaeological concept in later work. He also refocused genealogy, as discussed next.

In his ethical period, then, Foucault argues that 'it is not power, but the subject, which is the general theme of my research' (1982, p. 209). He claims that his work has been to create a history of the different modes by which human beings are transformed into subjects. Thus, he articulates his work in terms of three modes of objectification of human practice, which address how individuals or organisations 'are represented and classified through knowledge, divided both internally and from one another through power, and transformed into selfdisciplinary subjects through ethics' (Knights, 1992, p. 529/30). So, he argues, he

has sought to produce a 'historical ontology of ourselves', in relation to truth, in relation to a field of power, and in relation to ethics (Foucault, 1984b, p. 351). He refers to the axes of truth, power and ethics as the three domains of genealogy (ibid.). So, we are led to a genealogical mode of analysis, in which we analyse and reflect upon our limits, while considering both the political, social and economic conditions of formation that underlie certain discourses and the human subjectivity conditions that make these discourses possible (Knights, 1992).

Reed (1997) critiques a Foucauldian perspective, suggesting that many researchers adopting it for organisational analysis subscribe to a 'flat ontology' that neglects enduring structures of material, social and political power (or institutions). He argues:

Certain aspects of Foucault's (1979, 1981, 1990)<sup>1</sup> work have been appropriated to formulate and defend a structural interpretation and analysis of long-term shifts in control regimes where punishment-centred and coercive systems gradually give way to therapeutic modes of self-surveillance (Reed, 1996a). Nevertheless, his writings have largely been exploited and appropriated to legitimate repeated deconstruction of the concept of organization into a miniaturized, decentred and localized discursive or representational practice (1997, p. 26).

As a comment on how Foucault's work has been exploited, this criticism expresses a valid concern. However, in the next paragraph, Reed criticises one of Foucault's own works (*The History of Sexuality, Volume 1: An Introduction*), and in particular the concept of bio-power, claiming that such an analysis is 'bereft of any enduring institutional rationale or structural embodiment' (1997, p. 27). Yet, bio-power is the force that accounts for the creation and growth of institutions, such as prisons, hospitals and schools (Foucault, 1979).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The first two works to which Reed refers are *Discipline and Punish* and *The History of Sexuality, Volume 1: An Introduction*, both of which are later editions of the Penguin texts I reference elsewhere. The third work appears to be Governmentality in *The Foucault Effect*, although the publication date in the main text of Reed's paper (as above) differs from the one in Reed's references.

Reed then cites from Burrell to argue that, in focusing on the dynamics of organisational life, 'Foucauldians' claim:

Institutional and organizational forms *can only* be described and interpreted within their local interactional settings or contexts if we are to gain any appreciation of their inherent [nature] (Reed, 1997, p. 27, my emphasis).

Burrell does no more than argue that a Foucauldian analysis would emphasise the dynamic nature of organisation, which is not the claim to intellectual dominance that Reed alleges. In both cases, nature means:

the complexity, contingency and fragility of organizational forms as transitory manifestations of relationships of dominance-subordination *and* as mere embodiments of an underlying relationship of forces' (Burrell, 1988, p. 231, original emphasis).

So Burrell argues for an investigation of organisations that emphasises how they are both contingent upon local action (a genealogical analysis that would look for the particular), *and* structural embodiments of a set of underlying forces (an archaeological analysis that would look for generalities). A processual interpretation and analysis is stressed, but a structural one is not excluded, anymore than it is in Foucault's own work.

Reed, then, tends to bracket Foucault and all of his followers, and apply the same critique to all, despite considerable variations in the achievements of the individuals concerned. In this way, he makes little distinction between Foucault's detailed historical accounts and, at the other extreme, work not reviewed here that would see every occasion of a security camera in the high street as a disciplinary mechanism designed to turn us into docile bodies (Kendall and Wickham, 1999).

### The adoption of Habermasian and Foucauldian perspectives in research studies

This section addresses the ways in which the works of Habermas and Foucault have been adopted by researchers in organisation and management studies. Interest focuses upon research in my own discipline, research within related disciplines where an interesting development of the perspective has occurred, and empirical work carried out in the health sector, as the application area to which this study is addressed.

### Habermasian perspectives in research work

Habermas' theories of cognitive interests (1972) and communicative action (1979, 1984, 1987) have provided a theoretical basis for the work of several researchers engaged in critical management research (see, for example, most of the chapters in Alvesson and Willmott, 1992a). Work of specific interest to this study has taken place within the disciplines of information systems and accounting. Within the IS field, this work (for example, Lyytinen, 1992; Hirschheim and Klein, 1994; Ngwenyama and Lee, 1997; Cecez-Kecmanovic, 2001; Janson et al, 2001) is starting to take on an empirical nature. For example, ten years ago, Lyytinen (1992) evaluated the major results to that date of applying a critical perspective – based on the works of Habermas – in IS research. He concluded that the results were modest, and called for more empirical studies, arguing that critical theory in the IS field needs to be made more practical by developing methodologies that recognise and support reflective development practices. In this argument, the possible complementary nature of the work of other critical theorists, including Foucault and Giddens, was acknowledged.

Hirschheim and Klein (1994) responded to the call, arguing that IS development methodologies only partially embrace emancipatory principles. They presented a theoretical argument for ETHICS (Effective Technical and Human Implementation of Computer Systems) as the most likely candidate to be extended or "reformulated" to achieve emancipatory ideals more comprehensively. They suggested that key features of the ETHICS methodology, such as its focus on participation, quality of working life, and ethical concerns, institutionalise the four conditions of rational discourse (or ideal speech situations) and that these features contribute to its emancipatory potential. By strengthening these features and moving them centre-stage, the authors claimed to develop a generic approach, applicable to other methodologies, in which organisations using the reformulated versions might make incremental progress advancing emancipation, while at the same time confronting limited resources and the presence of power and authority. Nevertheless, the development of critical methodologies in the IS field has so far failed to materialise.

Ngwenyama and Lee (1997) conducted an empirical investigation of an episode of managerial use of electronic mail. Their aim was to contribute to development of a

successor theory for information richness to inform the work of IS staff who design and manage information technology to support managerial communication. They derived and then applied a new definition of communication richness, and a social action framework, based on Habermas' theory of communicative action, arguing that a critical systems theory perspective highlighted relevant concerns in this context that would have escaped detection in either a positivist or an interpretive approach. Since this conclusion might be expected given the different interests served in each case, an interesting development of it would have been some comment by the authors on the implications of the new definition for designers and users of managerial communication systems.

Cecez-Kecmanovic (2001) used Habermas' theory of communicative action in a field study of the use of computer-mediated communication in a consultative process within a university. She shows how funding cuts by Government (the steering media) shifted the system (the university) in ways that ignored life-world concerns. In this way, the outcome was a colonisation of the life-world of staff by a process of systems rationalisation. She argues that the absence of rules and norms of conduct and argumentation in the electronic space (in other words, absence of the conditions of ideal speech) enabled distorted communication and deception of participants to the discourse by the President of the university. Yet the academic and general staff seemed to accept this "deception" rather easily. One is left wondering why the life-world seemed so powerless to act when it became clear that the President was not redeeming his validity claims. This kind of liminal exploration of transgressions available is one to which a Foucauldian perspective might be addressed.

Within the accounting field, development of a critical framework for empirical work has been a key area of activity for a number of researchers (for example, Laughlin, 1987; Arrington and Puxty, 1991; Power and Laughlin, 1992; Broadbent and Laughlin, 1994; Laughlin, 1995). In this field, Laughlin has been a key figure advocating a Habermasian perspective. Some of his work has been discussed already, but an interesting study in the health sector (Broadbent et al, 1991) in which he participated is addressed next.

Broadbent et al adapt Habermas' model of societal development to build an evaluatory framework to assess the NHS reforms of 1989, which established an internal market in the

UK health service. Having considered the mechanisms used by the UK government (the steering media) to steer the NHS (the system), the authors conclude that government is engaged in an attempt to colonise the life-world of the NHS, and that the process by which this is being attempted is becoming progressively more coercive. In addition to its health sector focus, an interesting aspect of this paper is the not insignificant amount of work the researchers engaged in to operationalise Habermas' model of societal development for use in an empirical context. Of note is the way they attempted to formulate, following Habermas, rules for judging whether the steering media had colonising potential or actuality. In a health sector study in New Zealand, Myers and Young (1997) draw on Broadbent et al's (1991) work to argue that information systems can be steering mechanisms, hence they also may have colonising tendencies.

Forester (1992) examines a fragment of conversation from a city planning staff meeting, drawing on Habermas' (1984, 1987) theory of communicative action. He questions the interpretation of Habermas' theory as 'predominantly ... metatheoretical, having little to do with empirical cases and having less to say about what we might explore in such cases' (p. 63). Yet Forester's claim that his analysis suggests 'dimensions of power to assess more closely' (p. 63) exposes Habermas' lack of engagement with this issue (Mingers, 1992).

Knights and Willmott (1987) address this concern by drawing on Habermas' theory of cognitive interests (1972), complemented with insights from structuration theory (Giddens, 1984), in a critical cultural examination of the format and content of a two-day management meeting. They claim that studies of culture are concerned with how 'organization is rendered subjectively meaningful (or meaningless) to those whose lives are touched by it ... [yet] analysts have generally failed to expose the relations of power that underlie various management and labor practices' (Knights and Willmott, 1987, p. 42). Knights and Willmott argue for a critical perspective in studies of culture that focuses on the inherent conflict and contradiction in social relations, with the aim that such scrutiny may reveal the presence of oppression to others. Thus, they adopt Giddens' concept of the asymmetries of power encapsulated in structuration theory to give their work a critical intent, in which 'the strategic and ideological character of organizational culture' (p. 59) is revealed.

#### Foucauldian perspectives in research work

Foucault's concepts of disciplinary power and the nature of the power-knowledgediscourse relationship (1977, 1979, 1980a, 1980b) have informed several studies of IS development and management (Orlikowski, 1991; Knights and Murray, 1994; Brigham and Corbett, 1997; Knights, Murray and Willmott, 1997; Doolin, 1998). Although some of these studies focus on disciplinary power and subjectivity (for example, Orlikowski, 1991; Brigham and Corbett, 1997), and hence on the individualising effects of power, others address the application of Foucault's concepts in a multidimensional context. For example, Knights and Murray (1994) apply Foucault's concept of power-knowledge relations to investigate the political process in which IS development and organisational change took place in a UK life insurance company. In this study, the authors investigate the conditions of possibility of such a process, focusing on socio-political and economic (or global) conditions, as well as organisational and individual subjectivity conditions, which both enable and constrain the action that takes place. Similar concerns are evident in Knights, Murray and Willmott (1997) who focus on the activities of a company set up to promote and develop an interorganisational network for electronic trading in the UK life insurance industry following changes in the market resulting from deregulation.

In a health sector setting, a study by Coombs et al (1992), discussed earlier in a cultural context, adopts a Foucauldian perspective to demonstrate how development of an internal market in the UK stimulated tensions between doctors and hospital administrators during development of an information system to support these reforms. A study by Doolin (1998) focuses on how information technology may act as a disciplinary technology. He argues for use of a Foucauldian perspective in IS research so that we engage in critical reflection on the role that information technologies play in maintaining social order and power relations in organisations. The argument is illustrated by reference to the deployment of casemix information systems in hospitals, in which the costs of clinical activity can be monitored on an individual basis. Doolin attempts no more than to outline the potential of a Foucauldian perspective in this paper, but he points to detailed studies that demonstrate this potential to support his argument.

A Foucauldian perspective has also informed a number of different discourses in organisation studies research (for example, Deetz, 1992; Townley, 1993; Ball and Wilson, 2000). Townley (1993) argues that human resource management may be understood as a discourse and set of practices that attempt to reduce the indeterminacy involved in the employment contract. She shows that aspects of human resource management, such as recruitment, appraisal and remuneration, are disciplinary practices that classify individuals and order the labour process. A Foucauldian perspective is sufficiently detailed 'to allow for the "micropolitics" of power to be addressed and, by providing examples of how the concern with "knowing" labor as a "population" can percolate down to its effects on the individual, allows for highly individualized practices to be related to an intelligible whole' (ibid. p. 541). In this way, she demonstrates, without using these words, how the concerns of bio-power and disciplinary power become fused together in the employment contract.

Ball and Wilson (2000) also reveal the fusion of individual and institutional discourses in their Foucauldian analysis of computer-based performance monitoring in two UK call centres. They reference a later, but unchanged, version of the Burrell passage I highlighted earlier in my discussion of Reed's (1997) critique of 'Foucauldians'. They suggest that Burrell (1998) follows Foucault in arguing that organisations may be seen simultaneously as 'transitory manifestations of dominance-subordination *and* as mere embodiments of an underlying relationship of forces' (p. 24, original emphasis), but that examples of such an analysis are rare. In this way, they lend support to the view that Foucault is often narrowly interpreted in research as concerned only with disciplinary power and subjectivity, rather than with recognising also 'the political and economic contextualization of organization' (Ball and Wilson, 2000, p. 543).

Ball and Wilson argue that their research addresses both of the above concerns, while demonstrating that 'it is possible to reveal the intertwining of individual and institutional discourses purely by examining technologies, practices and subjectivities in local organizational sites' (ibid. p. 539). In arguing that *it is possible* to gain access to both discourses in this way, they avoid Reed's (1997) critique that those who adopt a Foucauldian perspective believe '[i]nstitutional and organizational forms *can only* be described and interpreted within their local interactional settings or contexts' (p. 27, my

emphasis). Interestingly, though, their study challenges Reed's key arguments about 'Foucauldians' without citing his paper directly.

Deetz' (1992) analysis of disciplinary power in modern corporations examines how institutions are implicated in the identity construction of individuals with a stake in them. Moreover, Deetz addresses the weaknesses of a Habermasian perspective when applied to the same task. He argues that while '[i]deological critique can be useful to define [procedural conditions] (see Habermas, 1984) ... the politics of identity and knowledge construction requires a more complete understanding of discursive and non-discursive practices aided by the investigation of disciplinary power' (p. 43).

### **Critical theory – conclusions**

In recent years critical research has become more broadly defined, in particular to embrace work emanating from both the German and French schools of thought. Habermas and Foucault are exemplars of these positions and each has attracted a substantial following in information systems and organisation studies research. A few researchers have considered the similarities in motivation and complementary effects of both perspectives, rather than just stressing their differences, for example, Flyvbjerg (1998).

Overall, the work of Habermas, and his theory of communicative action (1984, 1987) in particular, has value as a means of providing normative guidance suggestive of how things might be, and as an evaluatory model that establishes the extent to which communication is distorted (Flyvbjerg, 1998). However, as a means of *questioning* how things got to be the way they are so that we may understand the limits of our present position, it has weaknesses when compared with Foucauldian theory.

Foucault (1977, 1979) presents detailed historical accounts of how we arrived at our present and reveals forms of asymmetry and domination in discursive practices. He attends to the way enduring structural embodiments of power shape and are shaped by action, and argues that power is not an essentially repressive force (cf. Zuboff, 1988) but rather a capacity to act that all subjects share to varying degrees. Foucault's genealogical method of analysis, in the three modes described earlier, can attend to

sameness and difference in organisations, and hence to unifying as well as dividing practices.

Foucault's 'contextualism' involves bottom-up thinking as regards both the process and content of political action (Flyvbjerg, 1998). In such an approach researchers may overlook institutions and structural issues, but that neglect is not an inherent feature of a Foucauldian perspective. Rather, Foucault's position is often narrowly interpreted in research, as being concerned only with disciplinary power and its individualising effects. Writers neglect Foucault's concern with bio-power, as a normalising and regulatory force operating on whole populations, and his careful work on how the techniques of bio-power and disciplinary power become fused together (for example, Foucault, 1979). Foucault's double bottom-up thinking has earned him a description as non-action oriented (Laughlin, 1995), but research does not need to demonstrate emancipatory effects to be critical. It may explore the limits of a current situation (Foucault, 1984a), and from this liminal position it may reveal the possibilities for being otherwise without trying to guide our ways of enacting them.

### The point of departure

My conclusions from a review of the organisational culture literature suggested that both critical and postmodernist perspectives provide possible ways of achieving the understanding and critique sought in this research. Adopting the arguments of this chapter that a postmodernist perspective is just another way to be critical, a Foucauldian perspective is a way of pursuing these aims. Some researchers might argue that concepts of power and concepts of culture prompt us to focus on different things in our fieldwork. This thesis suggests that to conceptualise organisational culture outside relations of power is at best utopian (as Habermas' critics would argue), is in practice a fabrication (Foucault, 1979), and is at worst disingenuous. Pushing this argument to its limits, we may ask if organisational culture is just the acceptable face we give to the patterns of the manifestations of power-knowledge relations in an organisation.

Smircich (1983a) raised this point in a more limited context 20 years ago when she suggested that we may 'question the extent to which the term corporate culture refers to

anything more than an ideology cultivated by management for the purpose of control and legitimation of activity' (p. 346). Certainly, organisational culture as a social control mechanism mobilised by management is now an established theme in organisation and management research (see, for example, studies by Rosen, 1985; Kunda, 1992; Grugulis et al, 2000, discussed earlier). Still, it is not just managers who mobilise culture in this way. Power is a relational concept, and this view is central to a Foucauldian perspective.

My conclusions from a review of the technological change literature suggested that contextualist approaches informed by an appropriate social theory may guide research work to achieve the varying degrees of insight, critique and transformative redefinition that are the concerns of a critical researcher (Alvesson and Deetz, 2000). Such a theory would need to address the broad, and often contradictory, context of political, economic and cultural conditions that shape technologies during their design and use, and the local, contingent and negotiated nature of technology innovation. A Foucauldian perspective, in its concerns with the fusion of bio-power and disciplinary power, can address these concerns. Furthermore, a Foucauldian perspective respects the structurationist principles implicit within a contextualist approach (Pettigrew, 1987).

Although Foucault's work refers to disciplinary mechanisms and technologies in a broad sense, concepts from actor-network theory are helpful to examining the type of heterogeneous networks of circulating entities and the movements in them (Latour, 1999a) that occur during IS implementation. Such concepts may be used in a complementary discourse to a Foucauldian perspective, as major proponents of an actor-network approach have acknowledged by citing Foucault's influence on their own theoretical positions (for example, papers by Law, Latour and Callon in Law, 1986a; also Law, 1991b; Law, 1999). So concepts from actor-network theory form part of the theoretical framework adopted to guide this research.

#### THE FULL CONTEXTUALIST MODEL

Pettigrew (1987) argues that a full contextualist model has four elements – a clearly delineated set of levels of analysis, a description of the processes under examination, a

model of human behaviour and a linkage mechanism between process and context. The scope and focus of a particular study determine the first two elements, and they will be described in detail in the next chapter. The social theory adopted provides the last two elements, and this study draws primarily from the social theories of Foucault on power and subjectivity (1977, 1979, 1980a). The remainder of this chapter describes how particular concepts were adopted to develop a contextualist model for a critical study of the interaction between organisational culture and IS implementation.

### Organisational culture as a regime of truth – a model of human behaviour

Foucault links power and knowledge through discourse. Power by means of discourse produces knowledge and knowledge drawn upon in discourse may reconfigure existing power relations. Foucault refers to this circular relationship as a *regime of truth*, so that:

Each society has its regime of truth, its "general politics" of truth: that is, the types of discourse which it accepts and makes function as true; the mechanisms and instances which enable one to distinguish true and false statements, the means by which each is sanctioned; the techniques and procedures accorded value in the acquisition of truth; the states of those who are charged with saying what counts as true (1980a, p. 131).

In this context, truth is not a fundamental, universally accepted, scientific truth but rather should be understood as knowledge that is deemed to be true by a given community. Interpretations of this knowledge emerge in social discourse and enable and constrain the courses of action available to members of the community. Action (conceived as the exercise of power) may reproduce or change the domain of knowledge, which, in turn, may reconfigure the power relations.

In this way, discourse is not just concerned with what we speak, but also with whom speaks it and how it is enacted. So a regime of truth concept focuses on discursive and non-discursive practices in which knowledge and power are central concerns. Discourse has three elements – a community in which the discourse emerges, institutions with knowledge and authority which delimit the discourse, and grids of intelligibility which enable particular practices to be related to each other in a specific type of discourse.

A regime of truth concept of organisational culture embodies themes from a generic definition of an organisational culture (Martin, 1992) as revealed in the patterns of interaction between content themes in an organisation and how they are enacted in formal and informal practices and cultural forms. The 'types of discourse which it accepts and makes function as true' may be thought of as content themes, which may be deliberately articulated, like corporate objectives, or may be tacit, deeply-held assumptions. The 'mechanisms and instances which enable one to distinguish true and false statements' are reflected in operating procedures and the formal and informal working practices that are a response to them. The 'techniques and procedures accorded value in the acquisition of truth' may be said to manifest themselves in cultural forms, such as rituals, stories, jargon, humour, and physical arrangements, which symbolise their value. The normalising aspects of a regime of truth and the relations of power can be seen in Foucault's references to 'the means by which each [discourse] is sanctioned' and to 'the states of those who are charged with saying what counts as true'. So a regimes of truth concept captures the normative and symbolic enactment of organisational culture and conceives that enactment in terms of 'relations of power and domination that are both a condition and consequence of the existence of culture and symbols in organization' (Knights and Willmott, 1987, p. 41).

The study of discourse (as medium and outcome of power) is a way of surfacing the implicit assumptions of cultural members. Viewing power as enacted through discourse, 'disrupting these everyday discourses, pointing out ruptures, absences and breaks, thereby revealing contradictions in the symbolic order' may open up the possibilities for cultural change (Martin, 1992, p. 160). In this perspective, a dominant regime of truth may be challenged by an emerging one as different discourses become a focus of attention for the community, or within an existing regime there may be subjugated knowledges that emerge at certain times. So, *regimes* of truth exist within a community such as an organisation, although which regime is dominant changes over time. In this way, organisational culture as regimes of truth may be said to provide a model of human behaviour, which can be used to question the *status quo* and surface taken for granted assumptions as a means of opening up the possibilities for action.

### On making a discourse function as true

Although power is exercised with specific aims and objectives in mind, the outcomes are unpredictable and may be unintentional, because of the network of force relations in which each actor is involved. A specific change intervention may be achieved when the different interests involved in conflicting regimes are stabilised, albeit temporarily, to create some space for movement. In this way, points can be reached where a dominant discourse emerges around a change intervention and becomes, for a time, either the accepted basis for organising or, at the very least, a way of arguing and acting that is not effectively undermined. The four moments of translation (Callon, 1986), discussed later, may be used to describe the process in which such stability may be accomplished.

An emerging discourse is the product of institutional framing and local enactment, and therefore an examination of local and broader rationalities is key to understanding the way such a discourse gains acceptance and is made to function as true. Continued disruption of existing discourses by an emerging one can establish a new regime of truth. Alternatively, an emerging discourse can be undermined and subjugated or overcome.

#### Power-knowledge relations – a linkage mechanism between process and context

Power-knowledge relations constitute a linkage mechanism between process and context that allows movement between a loose coupling of forms of organising and technological developments in the broader environment to an increasingly tighter coupling of the individual and technology in a specific change effort. These moves may be understood as circular movements between poles of bio-power and disciplinary power through a number of intermediate positions in which regulative methods and disciplinary techniques are fused (Foucault, 1977).

Bio-power is focused on the human body as 'the body imbued with the mechanics of life and serving as the basis of the biological processes' (Foucault, 1979, p. 139). In this sense it is concerned with human life and bodies in general, in terms of how they are supervised and regulated. Issues such as 'propagation, births and mortality, the level of health, life

expectancy and longevity, with all the conditions that can cause these to vary' (ibid.) are the concerns of bio-power. It is focused on specifying and controlling a whole population and therefore should be understood as having a global dimension.

Disciplinary power is 'centered on the body as a machine' (ibid.) and hence on its functioning and performance within an institutional setting. It is a supervisory mechanism targeted at groups and individuals, which seeks to render them docile by the calculated and meticulous control of time and space. Disciplinary power targets the body by addressing issues such as 'its disciplining, the optimization of its capabilities, the extortion of its forces, the parallel increase of its usefulness and its docility, its integration into systems of efficient and economic controls' (ibid.). It is an individualising mechanism for subjugating bodies in a local context.

The techniques of bio-power and disciplinary power are not in opposition. Rather their evolution constituted 'two poles of development linked together by a whole intermediary cluster of relations' (ibid.). Among these linkage mechanisms, Foucault focuses on the deployment of sexuality as one of the most important arrangements in which bio-power was joined with disciplinary power. The deployment of ICTs in organisations constitutes another form in which concerns to specify and discipline bodies may be fused together.

# The sociology of translation

In focusing on the implementation of information systems, specifically the formation, maintenance and transformation of heterogeneous networks in which technological change is accomplished, this research draws upon the sociology of translation (Callon, 1986). Acknowledging the Foucauldian concepts that inform the sociology of translation, Callon argues that power relationships should be understood as describing the way in which actors are 'defined, associated and simultaneously obliged to remain faithful to their alliances' (1986, p. 224). Key to this process is a system of association in which actors are linked together through identities defined for them, which they may negotiate. Such concepts make a useful contribution to an analysis which aims to reveal the dynamics of IS implementation in organisations.

Central to the use of actor-network theory is the notion of translation, and some further explanation of that concept is relevant here, by reference to the four moments of translation. These four moments involve defining a problem in terms of a proposed solution (problematization), arousing interest in the problem (interessement), consolidating alliances around a negotiated solution (enrolment), and then mobilising allies, or their representatives, for implementation (mobilisation). Translation is achieved by displacements that require discourse and the exercise of power. If successful, it directs actors towards the view that the proposed solution is the only way to solve the problem. If unsuccessful, it diverts actors away from such an obligatory passage point.

During problematization a key actor identifies a group of other actors whose identities are defined in such a way that they will traverse the obligatory point of passage. Problematization is hypothetical until the proposed roles and relationships have been tested. During interessement the actor who has proposed the solution attempts to stabilise the identities of the other actors, who may submit or decline. Various interessement devices are used to link actors to the proposed solution and weaken their links with actors who would see the problem otherwise. If successful, interessement confirms the problematization and helps to corner the entities to be enrolled.

Enrolment is a negotiated process in which stratagems and trials of strength accompany the interessements and enable them to succeed. Some actors may be enrolled without discussion, others may need to be seduced, persuaded or forced. 'To speak for others is to first silence those in whose name we speak' (Callon, 1986, p. 216). Mobilisation involves the displacement of actors and their subsequent reassembly at a certain place at a particular time. This is done by designating representatives for the actors, who displace the actors themselves, and speak for them. These representatives are translated through a series of displacements that enable a few individuals to speak for all. If successful, mobilisation results in a constraining network of relationships, but this may be challenged at any time. The key question here is 'are those who speak representative?' The delegates can be betrayed by those that they were thought to represent.

### THE RESEARCH QUESTION

Having presented the framework that will guide this study, and leaving open the possibility of drawing upon further concepts as the need arises, I now need to clarify certain aspects of the question that this research set out to address. The question is:

How is IS implementation accomplished when cultural change of an organisation is attempted, and what does this accomplishment mean for those who are touched by it?

In this context, the term IS implementation is used in a very broad sense. This adoption covers not just the stage when an information system is designed, written and installed, but includes any part of the process in which an organisation may consider the technology options available to it, develop and install an information system, and subsequently use and evaluate that system.

In this study there is a clear agenda for cultural change, and its proponents view the adoption of certain types of information technologies as a mechanism for achieving desired outcomes. The agenda arises from the UK government and is communicated to ambulance services through directives from the Department of Health. Within it, working practices for staff would change and information systems are deeply implicated in the proposed transformations. So, in this study, the attempts at cultural change are managerially framed efforts to disrupt the constituting discourses for a community so that the basis of truth is altered. Implicit in the research question, then, is a concern with exploring how information systems come to be accepted when they are implicated in such disruption.

This research examines how actors perceive the potential of ICTs, how they try to shape them during implementation and use – either to reconfigure or reinforce existing discourses – and the organisational and social consequences of such an effort. It explores the way actors' interests are aligned and stabilised in a social process in which knowledge is structured in discourse, and the extent to which such achievements are subject to challenge and transformation. So, this study addresses how existing regimes of truth shape the adoption and use of information technology in organisations, and how those regimes may be transformed in the process.

By questioning the way such shaping and transformation is accomplished, the limits of the present situation (Foucault, 1984a) are revealed, and then the possibilities for how it may be otherwise can be explored. In the sense in which I have just referred to limits and possibilities, I am engaging with Foucault's concept of *conditions of possibility* – those conditions that make certain courses of action feasible while constraining or ruling out others. Such conditions are socially constructed. In this way, then, the second part of the research question, asking what the accomplishment means for those touched by it, is asking what conditions of possibility result from it. My references elsewhere to organisational and social consequences should also be construed in this sense.

# **CHAPTER 4** Research Methodology and Setting

In the last chapter, I argued for adopting a critical perspective in this research. In that argument, the philosophical assumptions that inform my position were implied without being explicitly discussed. In this chapter, I make those assumptions explicit and describe the data collection and analysis methods I used to enact them. I show how a philosophical standpoint more than a specific research question informed my approach initially, and how and why that approach was modified in the research setting. In essence, I suggest that the detailed research question emerged during the study, rather than being articulated at the outset. Finally, I describe the research setting. This description is no more than an overview of the case, outlining the main events in the history of the LAS and providing some information about the nature and organisation of its work, the way its performance is judged, and how it has attempted to computerise relative to ambulance sector norms. This narrative is subjected to detailed analysis in the chapters that follow.

#### MY RESEARCH PHILOSOPHY

Summarising Orlikowski and Baroudi (1991, drawing on Chua, 1986), the assumptions underlying a critical research philosophy may be understood in terms of beliefs about physical and social reality, the notion of knowledge, and the relationship between theory and practice (or knowledge and the empirical world), as presented in Table 4.1. In discussing how I subscribe to these assumptions, I make reference to Klein and Myers (1999) seven principles for conducting and evaluating interpretive field research based on case studies and ethnographies. These principles – of the hermeneutic circle, contextualisation, interaction between researchers and subjects, abstraction and generalisation, dialogic reasoning, multiple interpretations, and suspicion – are useful here as a way of indicating how I conducted the research, rather than because at this stage I lay claims to my contribution. Although Klein and Myers focus on interpretive rather than critical research, how a researcher emphasises certain principles may indicate the combination of insight and critique they wish to provide, in particular, how they enact the principles of suspicion, contextualisation, dialogic reasoning, and

interaction between researchers and subjects. I aimed for insight as a basis from which to offer some critique, but I deemphasised emancipatory intent, since, as I indicated in the previous chapter, I am suspicious of such narratives (Alvesson and Deetz, 2000).

Table 4.1. Beliefs underlying a critical research philosophy

Beliefs about	Explanation
Dhariant and assign and the	
Physical and social reality:	
Ontology	A dialectical relationship between elements and the
	totality shaped by historical and contextual conditions.
Human rationality	People can act to change their material and social
	circumstances, but their capacity to enact change is
	constrained.
Social relations	Social relations are constantly undergoing change.
	Contradictions inherent in existing social relations lead
	to inequalities and conflicts, from which new social
	forms emerge.
Knowledge:	
Epistemology	Knowledge is grounded in social and historical
	practices, so conclusive evidence cannot be collected
	and interpreted to prove or disprove a theory.
Methodology	Commitment to a processual view suggests that studies
	would be longitudinal, in particular long-term
	historical studies and ethnographies.
The relationship between theory and practice:	
	The role of the researcher is to bring to consciousness
	the restrictive conditions of the <i>status quo</i> , thereby
	initiating change in the social relations and practices.
	'A theoretical framework also leads us beyond what is,
	beyond verification, to what could be' (Burawoy,
	1985, p.18).

# Beliefs about physical and social reality

I believe that reality is not just socially constructed among the actors engaged in a discourse at a particular time and place, but is also historically and culturally constituted by economic, political and societal systems of which these actors are an element. In this way, I subscribe to the fundamental principle of the hermeneutic circle between the totality and the parts, and the principle of contextualisation of field research. I believe that people can act to change their material and social conditions and to realise their unfulfilled potential, but that their capacity to act is constrained by existing sociopolitical and economic conditions that they may not always be able to perceive or penetrate. In this way, I acknowledge the principle of suspicion of participants' narratives, and in the next section, when I discuss my beliefs about knowledge, I show how I addressed it. Moreover, social relations are constantly undergoing change, although this change is often incremental and continuous, rather than discrete and discontinuous. Contradictions in social relations may privilege some voices over others and give rise to conflict, in which social relations may be transformed.

#### Beliefs about knowledge

The *regimes of truth* framework that I adopted in this study is a way of abstracting the beliefs I discuss above, and how it does so was the subject of the last chapter. In this research, I "test" the limits of such a framework, not to prove or disprove it in a conclusive sense, but to establish its usefulness, and to extend it, as findings from the research setting suggest. In this way, I use the theory to illuminate the data, and the data to extend the theory. Thus my adoption of specific theoretical concepts engages the principle of abstraction and generalisation. Moreover, I aim to make the historical intellectual basis of the research as transparent as possible, discussing the theoretical concepts that guided me initially, and how and why I was prompted to introduce further concepts as I learned more in the field. Thus the principle of dialogic reasoning is evident in this research. Furthermore, I examine contradictory and conflicting interpretations of IS implementation efforts at the LAS arising from comments made by different study participants, my observations of their working practices, and how these

efforts were described in public inquiry reports. In this way, I engage the principle of multiple interpretations.

I chose a longitudinal case study as my preferred vehicle for conducting and presenting this research. This choice seemed appropriate in view of my commitment to taking a processual approach, and my view that changes are constantly occurring so that I would need continued and long-term access to the field site to understand how social relations were shifting. Indeed, I suggest that the time I spent in the field, the extent of participant observation in which I engaged, and the detailed documentary records upon which I draw are sufficient to argue that this research is a combination of historical and empirical ethnographies (Vaughan, 1996; Klein and Myers, 1999). I discuss the basis of this claim in later sections of this chapter. I also describe how participants in the study caused me to reflect upon and modify my initial theoretical perspective and my research methods. In this way, I engaged with the principle of interaction between researcher and subjects. Moreover, as an ethnography that is critical in the ways described above, I enacted the principle of suspicion, of participants' narratives and of my own assumptions.

# Relationship between theory and practice

I believe that my role as a researcher is to reveal the contradiction and conflict I observe in social practices in a way that may generate debate and initiate change. Moreover, I believe that such critical reflection may change me, as researcher, as well as the community in which I conduct my research. I do not claim that my research should be able to demonstrate emancipatory effects, simply that I should be able to show that participants thought it was useful to have me around; that they thought discussions with me helped to clarify their own ideas. Several study participants told me that they believed I had this role, and they acted to facilitate it, as I discuss in the section on data collection. One manager, with whom I had regular discussions after project meetings, said to me:

Maybe we should have someone around all the time, going to these meetings and causing people to think about what they are doing.

Notwithstanding what I have just said, in the conclusions to this study I offer some suggestions about how things might be, but my overall aim is to stimulate discussion from which new ways of conceiving information technology and ourselves may emerge.

#### APPROACH TO DATA COLLECTION

This research project took place in two phases. I undertook the first between April and August 1998, following a presentation by the IT director of the LAS to the Project Management Specialist Group of the British Computer Society (BCS). Initially, I conducted a short study, comprising 5 unstructured interviews with the IT director and two managers of operations, and an afternoon of observation in the LAS control room. This work addressed the IS implementation effort that had taken place at the LAS following the collapse of the LASCAD system, specifically the introduction of a system called CTAK (Call Taking). This study was a preparatory one, which established my credentials as a researcher. I was interested to explore the events that the IT director described in his presentation, to discover how the LAS had negotiated the aftermath of October 1992, and to examine the BCS discourse that principles of best practice had been key to these transformation efforts (Computer Bulletin, 1997).

The second phase was a longitudinal study conducted between February 2000 and February 2001, which followed the progress of IS projects and associated organisational changes taking place at the LAS at that time. A particular focus was the implementation of a packaged application for prioritising emergency calls, hereinafter referred to as PDS (Priority Dispatch System), which I followed from the time when a manual system for prioritising calls had just been installed through to formal closure of the project by the LAS. Concurrently, I followed the progress of the POS (printers on stations) project, in which mobilisation instructions were dispatched electronically to vehicle crews waiting on ambulance stations. The 2000/01 phase was the major fieldwork effort for this doctoral research and, in addition to following current developments, it involved substantial data gathering and analysis to reconstruct the history of organisational change at the LAS since the early 1980s. In this way, ideas and conclusions from my initial study of the CTAK project were substantially revised and extended, as I incorporated findings about prior and later efforts (specifically the LASCAD, PDS and POS projects) and considered

possibilities for the future. After that empirical work finished, I made periodic visits to the LAS to discuss planned developments, the progress of recent developments, and my research findings. In this way, I was able to obtain some feedback from study participants about my findings prior to submitting this thesis.

### **Techniques** used

My empirical work involved the use of unstructured interviews; observation of daily operations, project meetings and training sessions; document review; and informal meetings and discussion. Initially, interviews and document review were the primary methods used. These methods enabled me to develop a historical and cultural context for the events I was to observe later on, and to identify particular developments on which I wished to focus during later work. From July 2000, I used observation and informal discussion as my primary methods, once my presence at the LAS seemed to be more taken-for-granted. Some of these observations were planned and formally agreed, like attending meetings and training sessions, riding out with vehicle crews, and sitting with various members of staff in the control room. Others were quite unplanned and initially just presented themselves, like talking to staff during their breaks or as I met them in and around LAS headquarters. Although I realised the benefits of the less formal methods for getting a sense of what life is like in the community, initially I did not set out to employ them. Rather, as LAS staff became less formal in the way they interacted with me, so I modified my research methods.

The methods adopted in the later phases of the study seemed to follow naturally after I spent a weekend with a group of 30-40 LAS staff at the Ambex conference – the UK national conference for ambulance services – in Harrogate. At the conference, many of the issues that claim the attention of all staff in the ambulance services were discussed, formally in the seminars and informally during the breaks and over dinner. In the informal discussions, I gained some insights into how members of the LAS staff perceive these issues. Engaging in informal discussions was also facilitated by the opportunity, when I visited LAS headquarters, to spend some time in an office occupied by three managers whose work supports front line operations. Here, I participated in conversations and *ad hoc* meetings that arose as these managers went about their work. I did not tape or disk

record such meetings, although I took notes during them and/or wrote some reflections shortly afterwards. They provided an opportunity for participants, including myself, to reflect, comment, or try out ideas about the way that change in working practices was being accomplished.

I conducted 43 unstructured interviews of 60-150 minutes duration -5 in the initial study and 38 in the later one. These meetings involved staff from different hierarchical levels and functional groups, as indicated in Table 4.2.

Table 4.2. Summary of interviews conducted

Participants involved	Number of interviews
	_
Directors (excluding IT director)	5
IT director and IT development staff	8
IT project support	3
Control room support	15
(Training, development, and management)	
Vehicle crew support	6
(Standards development and operational management)	
Quality assurance unit	3
Other participants	3
(Operational development, management information)	
Total	43

I engaged in further data collection efforts as a participant observer as follows:

- 21 project progress meetings (c. 30 hours)
- 10 user group meetings (c. 12 hours)
- 6 staff training sessions (c. 25 hours)
- 9 periods of observation in the LAS control room (c. 50 hours)
- 25 hours "riding out" with ambulance crews as they attend emergency calls.

I conducted additional observations of day to day operations around these activities, in 80 days attendance at the LAS during the period February 2000 to February 2001 and during 4 periodic visits thereafter. In general, I used an interviewing approach with staff who support front line operations, but who do not usually work either in the control room or at emergency scenes, for example, board directors and senior managers, members of the staff training unit, IT specialists, and quality assurance advisors. I used observation with front line staff, speaking with them while they did their work, and as circumstances within the control room and while attending emergency incidents around the capital permitted these conversations. Interviews were recorded and transcribed later, whereas I took notes during meetings and periods of observation. In the latter cases, I felt that a recorder might inhibit the discussion, and also, in the context of an ambulance control room or the back of an ambulance, it was impractical and an intrusion that some patients might not welcome.

I began all meetings with staff by providing some information about my research interests and myself. In interviews I encouraged participants to adopt a free format to describing their experiences of IS implementation and organisational change at the LAS, and during observations I asked staff to describe and comment on what they were doing, as operational circumstances permitted. So the issues I raised with study participants were influenced by what they said and did as well as by impressions I had gained in the field by the time I met them. On the second point, I selected several study participants because I had learned that they had specific roles in particular IS implementation efforts. My role started as one of participant-observer, but as time went on I was asked to comment on situations by a number of staff during my meetings with them. In this way, I moved along a continuum of research positions from "independent observer" to "action researcher" (Walsham and Sahay, 1999).

My review of paper and electronic documents supported the above activities in several ways. I accessed the web sites of the LAS, other UK ambulance services, and the Department of Health to help construct a picture of the institutional context for UK ambulance services. I obtained copies of service plans, annual reports, promotional literature, and media coverage of LAS activities to contribute to my understanding of how the service was responding to government initiatives in a wider sense than just in

terms of the projects on which I was focusing. Copies of internal communication videos focusing on recent developments gave me some insights into how managers communicated with staff about the changes taking place, in particular with vehicle crews who are located away from headquarters in 70 ambulance stations around London. I drew upon several documentation sources relating to the projects of particular interest to this study, including procedure manuals, project plans, service and technology strategies, meeting minutes, project evaluation reports, staff surveys, memoranda, and management information system reports. Finally, I drew upon the public inquiry reports into the collapse of the LASCAD system and the death of Nasima Begum (Page et al, 1993; Wells, 1995) and reports of a House of Commons Select Committee on Health (1995, 1996) into the performance of the LAS.

The LAS has "official" and "unofficial" web sites. The latter contains several pages on humour, an important feature of LAS life and a way of dealing with the requirements of the job. At times this humour can be quite infectious, as I discovered one day while sitting in the control room with an ambulance allocator. She had spent about an hour giving me a running commentary on her work, interspersed with funny remarks (in a Victoria Wood style) about some of the free text comments on the call details she was receiving – for example, the vehicle crew safety implications of responding to a patient who is 'seeing lions and tigers'. At one point, she discovered she had two tickets for the psychiatric patient, but the age differed by six years. Caught up in the humour of the past hour, it was an entirely reflex action on my part to say that 'the patient has aged six years while waiting for an ambulance', and I apologised immediately, hardly able to believe I had made such a potentially provocative remark. She just smiled and said ruefully 'it's true though, isn't it?'

My aim was to build a contextually sensitive (Pettigrew, 1987, 1990a) account, which considered the institutional framing, the grids of intelligibility and the local memories (Foucault, 1980a) that have shaped and been shaped by discursive practices at the LAS over the last 20 years. These sensitising concepts provided 'a general sense of reference and guidance in approaching empirical instances' (Blumer, 1954, p. 7). In this way, the Foucauldian concept of a knowledge-power relationship at the heart of a regime of truth framework informed the data collection, but I did not approach the task with

preconceived notions about what the specific ways of arguing and acting at the LAS might be. Rather I focused on what institutions, such as the Department of Health and the NHS Executive, declared about patient care and good performance and set out to discover how the LAS responded to these directives. In this way, I examined government publications, public inquiry reports, and strategy documents relating to the work of the LAS with a view to exploring the local discursive practices in which they were enacted. I speculated in advance that local memories of October 1992 would play a part in what I was to observe, but I did not approach the research setting with specific theories in mind as to what form local practices might take.

### APPROACH TO DATA ANALYSIS

A significant part of this research is a historical ethnography (Vaughan, 1996) – not a brief historical reconstruction of past change efforts to set the scene for a discussion of current ones, but a detailed examination of the negotiations in which these change efforts were accomplished. My fieldwork comprised less than 100 days in the last 20 years, and all of them were recently. Although participating as an observer in current efforts gave me an opportunity to 'test' ideas I had about previous efforts - in other words, to establish whether they were useful - I had to rely on documents and participants' memories to establish a great deal of what I have come to say. The documents are written more or less chronologically. Moreover, in interviews, study participants tended to present a chronology of events. Several participants had been with the LAS for more than 10 years, some had given evidence to public inquiries, so they were able to give detailed accounts of past events - some of which had been intense experiences for them – and also to compare them with current developments. These observations are key to explaining the approach I adopted during data analysis and how the theoretical framework that guided this study informed the analysis task and was extended during it.

# **Techniques** used

Initially, then, the data analysis techniques I used were based on proceeding chronologically (Vaughan, 1996) rather than on analysing and coding the data to bring out key themes. In this approach, I tried to identify key moments or turning points and those involved in them, and then I compared what they said and did. My rationale for adopting this approach was not initially guided by Vaughan's historical ethnography. In the main, it was intuitive – it made sense to me – but in part it was influenced by concepts from the sociology of translation (Callon, 1986).

On this basis, I searched interview transcripts, my field notes, and documentary records, highlighting key moments and the discourses that took place about them. In Vaughan's (1996) adoption of this method, she examined these moments 'decision by decision, event by event' (p. 461), searching to see if a case of organisational misconduct had occurred. In my analysis, I was concerned with how these moments had influenced the course of IS implementation at the LAS in the longer term. Compared with Vaughan, I had a less substantial documentary record upon which to draw, but I had the opportunity to observe in the field whether my ideas were useful.

I suggest that there are occasions when coding the data and aggregating statements from interviews by topic is not a useful way to proceed. It 'would extract parts of each interview from its whole ... the whole stream of actions was absolutely essential context for understanding insider definitions of the situation' (ibid.). Moreover, the roles participants had were important, or, in Callon's (1986) terms, the identities proposed for them and how these challenged their perceptions of themselves. For those I call the institutional actors – for example, representatives of government or the regional health authority – I examined their official reports, but for the subjects of the modernisation efforts I had detailed narratives from my meetings with them, for I let them speak, often at length. So, I explored different actors' perceptions of important moments and what these revealed about their ways of arguing and acting about work. A summary of these results is given in Appendix A.

# Modifying the theory

In my analysis of key moments, contradictory and conflicting interpretations of them were evident. Yet some stability had been achieved in the past so that CTAK could be installed and was achieved again during my fieldwork so that the PDS system could be introduced, so I examined how this stability had been achieved. Moreover, the different pictures I got of the LAS in 1998 and 2000 suggested that earlier moments had been more unstable than they had at first appeared. Then, by asking different questions (as in the analysis chapters of this thesis) and by drawing on my observations in the field setting, I began to introduce some themes. In this way, my field ethnography complemented my historical one. For example, different actors' interpretations of key moments highlighted their diverse views on responding to and caring for patients, performing well, and the role of information technology in supporting their work. I began to see degrees of improvisation and anxiety in their ways of arguing and acting. These themes then informed further data collection efforts, and in this way the study remained open to influences from the field data that suggested that initial theories be modified (Walsham, 1995). In particular, as I observed different practices in responding to emergency calls, I probed participants' ways of making sense of the situation, and when I noted different degrees of comfort during project meetings, training sessions or when using the system, I asked participants to explain how they had been feeling.

These questions prompted cognitive and emotional responses, in which several members of staff recalled similar experiences on past projects, notably in 1992. In this way, I did not highlight themes in my data analysis at an early stage. Indeed, it was as we approached the implementation date for the PDS system that I observed anxiety and improvised practices, and then I began to question what discipline meant in this environment and whether we could think about it in a purely cognitive way. At this stage, then, I reconsidered past efforts in light of what I learnt from current ones. I introduced concepts about emotion and improvisation in organisations, and ultimately I extended the theory that had guided me at the start of this research.

I approached the data analysis with an interpretive stance (Orlikowski and Baroudi, 1991; Walsham, 1993), reflecting my aim to identify multiple actors' interpretations of

IS implementation and related organisational change at the LAS. Moreover, such an initial stance reflected the view that we need to understand in order to be critical. My analysis focused on the discourses of participants in the change programme, examining the statements that were articulated, those that were accepted, and the practices in which such acceptance took place. I aimed to form a view of what constituted the basis of truth for this community – the discourses accepted by the regimes of truth (Foucault, 1980a) – during periods in its history. Based on this understanding, I arrived at a more critical discourse that provides insight and some critical commentary (Alvesson and Deetz, 2000) into IS-related cultural change efforts.

#### **OVERVIEW OF THE CASE**

The LAS is one of the largest ambulance services in the world. It provides an accident and emergency (A&E) service for London's 14 district health authorities and a non-emergency patient transport service (PTS) for 30 of London's 50 NHS trusts. The LAS serves a geographical area of over 620 square miles and a resident population of nearly 7 million, although the daytime population is considerably greater. Within the area covered by the LAS there are 4 airports, including Heathrow, and 17 sports stadia, including Twickenham.

The LAS was founded in 1930 and enlarged to take in other services in 1965 when the Greater London Council was established. It was managed by South (West) Thames Regional Health Authority on behalf of the NHS from 1974 until 1996, when the LAS became a self-managed trust (Page et al, 1993; LAS, 1996). During 1990, a LAS board was established. This allowed the management relationship with the regional health authority to operate at arm's length so that, prior to becoming an NHS trust, the LAS had some independence of action exercised through its own board (Hougham, 1996). This board was disbanded early in 1993 following publication of the inquiry report (Page et al, 1993) into the LASCAD project. That project, the events leading up to it, and how IS implementations have been accomplished at the LAS since 1992 are the focus of this study.

Ambulance services may be understood as organisations providing pre-hospital patient care, where patients are any who, while located within the area covered by the service, either request an ambulance or have one requested on their behalf. Emergency calls for an ambulance cannot be refused, even if patients do not appear to have serious or life-threatening conditions. So, over the last 20 years, environmental changes such as increased levels of care within the community, and societal attitudes such as heightened public expectations influenced by initiatives like the Patient's Charter (Department of Health, 1996), have put additional pressures on ambulance services. Fuelled by these changes and others, including the take-up of mobile telephones (which increase the likelihood of multiple calls being received for the same incident), call volumes have risen by over 50% in 10 years. Telephone advice initiatives, such as NHS Direct (Department of Health, 1997), have thus far done little to contain the rise in numbers of calls to the ambulance services. Currently, the LAS receives over 1 million emergency calls each year – about 1 in 4 of all calls made to the ambulance services in England and Wales.

The LAS employs nearly 3,400 staff and owns about 450 emergency response vehicles. Over 80% of the service's staff work in A&E operations, the group whose IS implementation efforts are the focus of this study. Members of the A&E group include over 2,000 vehicle crew staff responding to emergency calls from 70 ambulance stations around London, about 300 control room staff taking calls at headquarters and allocating them to vehicle crews, and smaller operational support units concerned with staff training and service development. Some vehicle crew staff are trained paramedics, currently about 35% of the full complement. Control room staff either accept and verify call details (call takers), allocate vehicle crews to calls (allocators), notify crews that they have been allocated (telephone dispatchers and radio operators), or perform a monitoring or supervisory function. Control room staff and their operational support services, such as training and staff development, comprise Central Ambulance Control (CAC) based at LAS headquarters at Waterloo. Operational support services for vehicle crews are usually based on ambulance stations together with the staff they support. The operational support services for the different arms of the A&E directorate are distinct from the non-operational (or administrative) support functions of the LAS, which are directorates in their own right, including human resources, finance, and information technology.

# Ambulance performance standards

Key measures of performance for UK ambulance services are defined in nationally-recognised standards for ambulance response times. Prior to a government-initiated review of ambulance performance standards in the UK (Chapman, 1996), these performance measures, then called ORCON (Operational Research Consultancy) standards, required that:

- call taking to mobilisation of a response vehicle should take no longer than 3 minutes,
   and
- 50% of emergency calls should receive a response within 8 minutes (ie. the crew should be at the scene within that time), and
- 95% of emergency calls should receive a response either within 14 minutes in urban areas or within 19 minutes in rural areas.

The first standard is subsumed within the other two. Hence the term ORCON standards, as it related to emergency calls, usually referred to the 8-minute and 14/19-minute response requirements (House of Commons Select Committee on Health, 1995). Only the 14/19-minute requirement was incorporated in the Patient's Charter (Department of Health, 1996). ORCON standards emphasised speed of response in a regime that treated all calls with equal priority. The 1996 review identified as a key requirement substantially reducing premature deaths from coronary heart disease, and hence modifying ORCON standards. Without deemphasising speed of response, the new standards require that emergency calls are prioritised according to the clinical needs of patients and that vehicles are dispatched based on the priority assigned to each call. In line with these recommendations, since 31 March 2001, ambulance services have been expected to meet the new ambulance performance standards of responding to:

- 75% of category A (the highest priority) calls with an appropriate (ambulance or fast response car or bike) resource within 8 minutes, and
- 95% of category B and category C (the lower priorities) calls with an ambulance resource within 14 minutes in urban areas or within 19 minutes in rural areas.

In category A cases where a fast response vehicle (one that is strategically positioned so that it can respond quickly) is dispatched, it must be backed up by an ambulance unless the control room decides that such a response is not required. That ambulance must be on the scene within 14/19 minutes of call receipt in 95% of cases. By 2003, government targets require that ambulance services respond to 90% of category A calls within 8 minutes (Chapman, 1996; Department of Health, 1999). Both the 8-minute and the 14/19-minute standards are included in *Your Guide to the NHS* (Department of Health, 2001), the current replacement for the Patient's Charter.

Although these standards have been relaxed for the LAS in view of the acute nature of social problems, assaults on staff, and traffic congestion in London, the service was required to achieve full compliance with the March 2001 targets by December 2002. In the new environment, institutions such as the Department of Health, and ultimately the UK government, seek to replace the ORCON discourse, that all calls have equal priority, with a discourse of "dispatching by priority" or "responding to patients based on clinical need". In this way, institutions frame the discourse that is enacted at the LAS, and employ the ambulance performance standards as mechanisms to compare the performance of one service with another.

### Computerisation within the LAS and other ambulance services

Ambulance services have increasingly adopted information technology in their drive to enhance performance and improve the quality of service they provide (Ambex, 2000). During the 1980s and early to mid-1990s, performance to ORCON standards became a focus of attention, particularly when the requirements of the internal market in the NHS started to emerge in 1989. In line with these standards, information systems addressed speed of response assuming all calls had equal priority. Design approaches varied in the degree of automation attempted, and the extent to which developers aimed to inscribe models of human behaviour within the information system. During this period, these developments took the form of implementing computer aided dispatch (CAD) systems that addressed some or all of the following processes to varying degrees of automation:

- call taking and gazetteer: accepting and verifying incident details including location
- *vehicle location mapping:* tracking the location of emergency vehicles
- resource allocation: determining which vehicle to send to a call
- resource mobilisation: communicating details of the incident to the appropriate resource
- *ambulance resource management:* positioning of suitably equipped and staffed vehicles to minimise response times
- *provision of management information:* enabling performance assessment and medium and long term resource management and planning.

Specific implementations of these functions would involve the use of an automated vehicle location system (AVLS), mobile data terminals, and caller line identification (CLI), depending on the degree of automation and sophistication required. These technologies will be explained as the case unfolds. The LASCAD project (1990-92) attempted to provide full automation of all of the above processes. It was part of an ambitious programme of reform undertaken by the board appointed in 1990 in an effort to improve the performance of the service, which at that time was the UK's worst performing ambulance service against ORCON standards (House of Commons Select Committee, 1995). In 1992, no ambulance service in the country had attempted to install such a sophisticated CAD system (Page et al, 1993). The LASCAD system was implemented in the early hours of 26 October. By midmorning, there were serious problems; within 36 hours the LAS had reverted to semi-manual operations; and on 4 November 1992, the system collapsed and full manual operations were resumed.

CAD systems were not designed with the intention of providing support for clinical decision making, but rather were concerned with taking and responding to emergency calls more quickly, based on up-to-date information about the position and status of suitable resources. In this sense they preserved the individuality, and hence variability, of clinical decision making vested in those that used them. However, by incorporating monitoring mechanisms, in particular tracking the locations and status of resources, they challenged the task orientation of vehicle crews, who previously had relative freedom to manage the cycle time involved from receiving an emergency call to notifying availability to attend another incident. Typically this cycle may be from 50-80

minutes, and includes the times to get to the incident, to assess the patient at the scene, to convey the patient to hospital, to comply with hospital procedures regarding handover of the patient, and to notify availability following handover at the hospital. Both ORCON standards and the new ambulance performance standards address the first element in this cycle only.

The review of ambulance performance standards in 1996 identified a requirement to respond to patients according to their clinical need, and hence to prioritise emergency calls. Thus the move, in the late 1990s, to the new standards changed the basis on which emergency responses are provided. At this time, ambulance services modified their CAD systems to incorporate call prioritisation, or priority dispatch. Two packaged priority dispatch systems have dominated the UK ambulance services market and the LAS has purchased one of them, which I refer to by the pseudonym PDS. This system was installed at the LAS in November 2000. It functions by being embedded within an existing CAD system, enabling a clinical priority to be determined and assigned to each emergency call.

Around the LASCAD and PDS implementations, a number of other technological and organisational developments have taken place at the LAS. These developments will be described as the case unfolds since they are an essential part of the story, but significant amongst these efforts and the events giving rise to or resulting from them are the following. Between 1992 and 1995, the LAS was the subject of three major public inquiries following the failure of the LASCAD system (Page et al, 1993), the death of Nasima Begum (Wells, 1995) and concerns about service performance (House of Commons Select Committee, 1995). In early 1996 the LAS opened a new control room, installed a new computer system called CTAK (Call Taking) in a partial automation strategy, and was awarded NHS trust status. In May 1997, its control room and computer system received a British Computer Society IS Management Excellence award (LAS, 1996; Times, 1997). Since 1997, significant restructuring has taken place at the LAS, both in the drive to improve its performance, and with the aim of responding to government plans for modernising the NHS. In November 2000, a trial was completed involving the use of printers on five ambulance stations to receive dispatch instructions from the LAS control room, and, following the trial, printers were installed on the remaining 65 stations early in 2001.

So, some aspects of the A&E operations of the LAS now have automated support, other areas which the LASCAD project sought to automate, including most of the resource management processes, continue to be manual activities. Response times against ORCON (and, more recently, the new ambulance performance) standards have fluctuated over the last 10 years, and institutional scrutiny of the LAS, while less universal than in 1992, is perhaps ever more intense. In March 2001, the LAS met one of its targets against the new ambulance performance standards for the first time (LAS, 2001), but its performance figures still lag those of other UK ambulance services. How we may understand these accomplishments is the subject of the next three chapters.

# **CHAPTER 5** The Rise of an Internal Market

In this analysis chapter and the two that follow, I use the regimes of truth framework outlined earlier to examine the history of IS-related cultural change efforts at the LAS over 20 years. These efforts had different rationales for change, but each may be construed as an attempt to subscribe to an institutionally framed view that the LAS needs to improve its performance. The institutional framing arises from forces such as government imperatives, sectoral and social conditions, and media influences, and so I set my account within a context of change within the health service sector and society more generally. In the regimes of truth framework, I conceive the culture of the LAS as the way it negotiates and organises around a number of cross-cutting discourses such that institutionally framed views are shaped by local knowledge during enactment.

In these analyses, I present accounts of three periods (up to 1992, 1992-96/97, 1997/98 onwards) by first examining the discourses that were circulating at the time, and so how relevant regimes of truth were constituted during the period in question. I then focus on specific IS implementation efforts that took place within each discursive context, adopting the sociology of translation to give a further dimension to the socio-technical processes in which each effort was accomplished. At the end of the first two analysis chapters, I review what we learn from the IS implementation efforts examined thus far and what questions still seem to be unanswered. These reviews are incremental in the sense that they build to a discussion and evaluation of four LAS projects from which interpretive generalisations are sought. Crucially, though, the way I present them shows the questioning I engaged in at various points during this research.

#### CHALLENGING A PUBLIC SERVICE MODEL OF ORGANISING

The rest of this chapter addresses the period in the history of the LAS that forms the backdrop to the IS implementation and organisational change efforts that are the focus of this study. It addresses the operational arrangements that were in place during the 1980s, prior to the introduction of NHS trusts, and the changes that were made at the LAS in the early 1990s, when a more market-driven orientation inspired by government was espoused

as the new standard for the health service. The LASCAD project is the focus of attention, since it was a major part of the reform programme attempted at the LAS during this period.

### The established command and control regime

During the 1980s the LAS was managed by South West Thames regional health authority on behalf of the NHS, and therefore investment in, development of, and ultimate accountability for the performance of the service rested with the regional health authority. At this time, the expertise of managers within the LAS lay in their knowledge of ambulance service operations rather than accounting-based practices. The vast majority of staff belonged to a trade union, and union officials were active and influential figures within the LAS. Little organisational development took place at the LAS during this period. Although the performance of the service was subject to ORCON standards, the spreadsheet systems being developed at the LAS to monitor performance against these standards were limited and piecemeal, so few, if any, accurate evaluations could be made. Each year, the regional health authority agreed funding for the operations of the LAS without detailed, reliable assessments of either service performance or resource utilisation.

At this time, the LAS was set up like most other ambulance services. It was led by a chief ambulance officer, and had a hierarchical, bureaucratic structure with many intermediate levels of management. The service had a 'very military' culture, to the extent that 'even the titles that we used for people at that time were very military-based, and the hierarchical structure was very similar to most armed services'. Protocols and procedures were key aspects affecting how work was carried out, and these together with the militaristic orientation, were thought to provide a 'very strong discipline'. First name terms were used by invitation only, and all of the senior managers within the service were uniformed officers. 'You didn't salute one another or anything quite as drastic as that, but ... it was quite close, quite close to that' (manager, CAC [Central Ambulance Control] development).

Popular images of what is understood by a "military culture" might suggest protocols and procedures, uniforms, equipment, and human actors linked together in a disciplinary regime, with the intention that concerted action may be taken in a contest or

struggle that has life and death outcomes. Interpreted like this, the designation "military" is as appropriate for the LAS of the 1980s as it is for the armed services. Indeed, historically, ambulance services have been based on military lines of command, since many ambulance officers were ex-military personnel (Preston and Hutchison, 2001). Within the ambulance services, such regimes have been referred to as "command and control" regimes, indicating the military discipline without evoking a connection with armaments. The discourses that formed the basis of truth for the command and control regime that existed at the LAS during this period, and those of a regime that emerged to challenge them in the early 1990s, are explored next. From my field data, I identified three key interrelated themes concerned with organisational members' attitudes about the nature of work, what constitutes good performance, and the role of information technology.

# The basis of truth within the command and control regime

Knowledge was structured in protocols and procedures, in the sense that these provided an outline framework of the steps to be followed in a given situation. However, the competent enactment of knowledge was seen as requiring experience and human judgement that could be acquired only by repeated exposure to operational situations. In this sense protocols and procedures were adapted, albeit unofficially at times, to suit the specific circumstances of each incident as assessed by those who were dealing with it. In ambulance service operations, where decisions can affect life and death outcomes, human judgement was seen as the final arbiter in deciding how to respond to patients. Expertise in the clinical, rather than the administrative, aspects of procedures was particularly highly valued and was reflected in the award of paramedic status to those members of ambulance crews who gained the necessary expertise. Considerations of operating within budget and performing to ORCON standards were not high profile issues in the service at this time, where the acquisition and use of operational knowledge in the interests of patient care were the focus of attention.

Good performance was generally denoted by rank markings worn on the uniforms. Uniforms designated difference as well as authority. In the former case, uniforms differentiated members of the service from members of the public they serve, all of

whom are potentially patients in their care. Hence the idea of custody of the public symbolised by a uniform. In the latter case, rank markings on the uniform denoted authority both within the service and at the scene of an incident. The character of the rank markings denoted the level of authority and hence the scope of command of the officer wearing them. Rank was an indicator of operational knowledge and experience, the acquisition and competent use of which was a necessary prerequisite for command. Uniforms also had to provide physical protection for the wearer in hazardous working conditions, and be adaptable to seasonal variations.

Equipment was vital to carrying out the job. It included vehicles, kit bags containing medical equipment and drugs, and communications mechanisms such as radios and telephones. Equipment was useful where it supported the execution of work, but it was a tool in the hands of humans that relied on their knowledge and judgement to achieve its effects. Equipment should provide the best possible environment for staff and patients, and thus should enhance both crew safety and patient care. The role of information technology in this regime was enacted in line with attitudes to equipment. Thus technology that supported the execution of work was seen as helpful, but where it was used to provide a surveillance mechanism or model human decision making, it would be resisted. Thus automation of administrative aspects of working practices, such as form filling, would be welcomed, but attempts to inscribe operational knowledge within a computer system as the basis for managerial control or clinical decision making, at best, would be considered risky and, at worst, would be sabotaged.

During the 1980s, most staff who joined the service spent several years working out of ambulance stations before moving into the control room. Opportunities for control room work were limited for two main reasons. First, the number of staff employed in the control room was about 15% of the number of staff employed "on the road", and second, control room work usually carried officer rank and so prior experience of ambulance service work was a necessary prerequisite for the job. Control assistants, who worked in the control room but did not hold officer rank, had very low status within the service, which was reflected in the way they were referred to as 'civilians' by both vehicle crews and officers (control room member). The control assistants were frequently bypassed when vehicle crews communicated with the control room, and so,

for the most part, they were employed on taking emergency calls from the public, since this was perceived as low status work that required little prior experience of the job. While some officers had developed negotiating skills as trade union representatives, in general rank denoted authority. A "command and control" regime pervaded the service, in which an implicit assumption was that the former implied the latter.

The quality of care that the patient received between calling for an ambulance and arriving at hospital was seen as a function of the knowledge and experience of both the control room staff who mobilised resources to the call and the ambulance crew that attended the incident. The acquisition and use of such knowledge were accorded high value by staff, who took pride in the quality of care they provided to patients. Although the seriousness of each patient's condition was assessed informally by both staff in the control room and the ambulance crew dispatched to the call, *officially* all calls had equal priority (as embodied in ORCON standards). So, in general, ambulances were dispatched to calls in the order in which the calls were received (operational staff interviews).

#### The national strike of 1989/90

At the end of 1989, a bitter national dispute about pay and working conditions took place within the ambulance services. Although this dispute was countrywide, it was particularly pronounced in London, where the cost of living is higher and the social problems dealt with by emergency services are greater than elsewhere in the UK. Many staff at the LAS went on strike or operated a policy of withholding goodwill; LAS headquarters at Waterloo was picketed; and "Green Goddesses" were seen on the streets of London as the police and the army dealt with emergency incidents normally handled by the LAS (Guardian, 1989). There was considerable public support for this strike, demonstrated by the monies collected by LAS staff, who took up pitches at a number of key sites around London, including several main line railway stations. The extent of the public contributions is evidenced by the comment of one member of staff who claims that some people earned more money while on strike than they did when working normally.

Although staff and senior management of the service were clearly divided about issues relating to the strike, a further divide was created between ambulance crews and control room staff. At that time, almost all staff in Central Ambulance Control (CAC) at Waterloo were on management pay scales, under Whitley Council conditions, whereas ambulance crews, who made up about 70% of the workforce of the LAS, were not. Thus most control room staff enjoyed a significantly better benefits package than their colleagues "on the road". Consequently, the majority of staff at LAS headquarters came into work during the strike, despite pickets outside the building, while many crews on ambulance stations took strike action. Control room staff and vehicle crew staff who did not wish to strike felt intimidated by their colleagues (operational staff interviews). At LAS headquarters, control room staff were regularly jostled by pickets and were accompanied onto the premises each day by senior managers, and occasionally by the police, while some crew staff who were against strike action took extended sick leave.

Although at times there were crews waiting on stations to receive emergency calls, senior managers enforced a policy in which control room staff were instructed to pass all calls directly to Scotland Yard rather than to ambulance stations (Daily Telegraph, 1989). This alienated staff in the control room, who were asked to bypass their colleagues, and met with a response from crews in which they bypassed the control room, by advertising the telephone numbers of their stations outside the premises so that members of the public could contact them directly. Eventually British Telecom was asked to switch calls directly to Scotland Yard so that they did not come into the LAS at all, and then 'it was a bit like a ghost town in the control room' (control room member).

This acrimonious dispute lasted several months. Early in 1990, when a pay award was agreed and the dispute ended, conflict existed among staff and between staff and managers about the nature of work and the ways it should be rewarded. Many of the staff who had taken strike action felt that colleagues who did not strike should not receive the award (control staff member). Further resentment existed amongst staff concerning the manner of collection and the subsequent distribution of the strike fund (crew staff member). Working relationships between staff suffered, while the relationship remaining after the strike between LAS staff and management was one based on mistrust (operational manager).

In this environment, attitudes hardened within the command and control regime, but in different ways, reflecting those affiliations to which members of the community felt a strong allegiance. In this way, some members of staff subscribed to trades' union discourses, which were very critical of LAS management and its perceived lack of appreciation for and investment in staff. Others felt a strong affiliation with particular functional groupings, whether as a member of the control room or the road-based staff, and whether as an officer, who would command, or as a technician, who would use various medical techniques and equipment in the course of dealing with emergency incidents. Many staff subscribed to both trades' union discourses and task specialist discourses, in some cases because they feared the consequences of not doing so.

So, divisions inherent in the hierarchical structure of the LAS became more pronounced at this time. Subjugated rationalities or knowledges (Foucault, 1980a) began to surface, disrupting the dominant militaristic discipline that had previously held the command and control regime together. Nevertheless, the emerging communities shared many of the concerns of the original regime, including the importance of patient care and the value of context-specific, operational knowledge, variously interpreted and enacted. In this situation, organisational reform based on a universalistic, management-driven, efficiency rationality would be fiercely opposed (operational manager interviews), but from a number of points of resistance and using a range of techniques, reflecting the different concerns that would be challenged by such a regime.

#### The beginnings of a professional management regime

A professional management regime should be understood in this context as one in which knowledge, skills, and experience transcend organisational and sectoral boundaries. In this sense, professional standards of best practice and human actors are linked together in a control regime intended to achieve efficiency and effectiveness of operations, where "value for money" is a central concern. Some popular truths or knowledges that shape action within a regime of this kind that began to emerge at the LAS in 1990 are explored next.

# The basis of truth within a professional management regime

Professional standards of best practice in the generic sense referred to above are evident in the fields of accountancy, law, human resource management, and information technology, amongst others. Practitioners in these fields often show more allegiance to the professional standards of their own discipline than to operational considerations within a given market sector. Indeed, such practitioners often work in many different market sectors throughout their careers. Issues of best practice of primary concern to this study may be found in concepts relating to the role of a manager, the efficient and effective use of resources, and the adoption of methods or techniques for IS development and management. These best practice issues may, then, be understood as how professional managers understand good performance, the nature of work, and what should be accomplished with information technology.

Contemporary ideas about the role of a manager emphasise the need for human and organisational skills over detailed operational knowledge. The fragmented and *ad hoc* nature of the work makes it a task that is not readily documented in protocols and procedures. The idea that being in charge is the same as being in control is rejected, in favour of a philosophy in which managers use their social and political skills to achieve outcomes. Dress codes vary across contexts, but managers' dress bears no distinguishing marks that differentiates it from the dress of those they manage or those they serve. Ideas concerned with the efficient and effective use of resources draw on principles of best practice such as budgetary control, performance assessment, cost justification, benefits evaluation, and risk management. Although all of these principles would be found in a management accounting regime many are shared with IT professionals, not least because as IT evolved and its adoption increased IT departments in organisations frequently were, and in some cases still are, managed within a finance directorate.

Methods or techniques for IS development and management address standardised practices for executing, coordinating, and controlling computerisation projects. Although which methods attract support changes over time, the late 1980s and early 1990s were a period of methodologies for systems development and project

management. In the UK, the SSADM methodology was adopted as a national standard for systems development in the public sector, supported by the PRINCE methodology for project management. Systems development methodologies such as SSADM comprise a series of stages, a set of methods or techniques, and an underlying philosophy for accomplishing systems development tasks. Theoretically at least, the methodology may be tailored to suit the needs of individual projects, although in practice such tailoring may jeopardise the technical integrity of the approach by undermining the underlying philosophy on which it is based. Issues of best practice addressed by systems development methodologies include the specification of requirements, evaluation of business and technical options, and project review. Project management methodologies such as PRINCE are more generally perceived as frameworks, since they identify areas of concern without specifying the specialist techniques involved to address them. Issues of best practice identified by such frameworks include quality assurance, change control, configuration management, and the management of risk.

The following paragraphs demonstrate how a professional management regime shaped by the above truths came into conflict with the command and control regime at the LAS during implementation of the organisational reform programme and the LASCAD system between 1990 and 1992. In this discussion, the community that enacted the professional management discourses is seen as constituted by the LAS board appointed in 1990 and the various IT specialists who worked on the LASCAD project. Again I explore themes concerning the nature of work, what constitutes good performance, and the role of information technology.

#### The command and control and professional management regimes in interaction

The creation in 1990 of an "arm's length" board for the LAS was in line with guidance from the Department of Health that regional health authorities (RHAs) should 'shed services which were not considered part of the RHA's core function' (Page et al, 1993, p. 74). This board was to be responsible for the day to day management of the service, reporting to South West Thames regional health authority, which retained 'the statutory obligation of accountability' (ibid.). The newly-appointed board included a chair, chief

executive, and directors of operations, human resources, and finance. The new chief executive was a prime mover in this attempt to prepare the LAS for a reorganisation of the NHS into a system of self-governing trusts. In the proposed arrangements, ambulance services, hospitals, and community units would negotiate their contractual responsibilities with health authorities in purchaser/provider relationships within an internal market (Department of Health, 1989).

And along came John Wilby with his much different ideas on how organisations should be set up, and there was nothing wrong with his ideas, provided you prepared people for them and helped them to cope with the changes. But to have them come into things and encourage first names, to encourage people to come out of their uniforms when they were in senior manager positions, to be so different ... it seemed very americanised ... it was a big cultural change to the London Ambulance Service (manager, CAC development)

The new senior management team undertook a radical programme of organisational and technological change within the LAS in a period of just two years. This move acknowledged a failure by management during the 1980s either 'to modernise the service in line with other services, or to advance the organisation to meet the changing requirements of society in general and the NHS in particular' (Page et al, 1993, p. 64). The new work regime instituted by the chief executive was described as:

And the new John Wilby was "we don't want officers anymore, which are under Whitley Council conditions, and protected and all that, we are the new NHS, and the new NHS is management". So he brought the new management style to the ambulance service.

We were all managers now ... the idea was that the duty manager stood behind the sectors and managed it. So for the first time you've got control assistants not only operating the radio, god forbid, but also allocating vehicles, and the duty managers was meant to stand over and watch them and run the sector that way (sector team member)

Over the next few years, there followed a number of management changes, which had the effect of creating a 'fear of failure' culture (Financial Times, 1993).

When he came in, he actually flattened out the management structure to such a degree that we weren't very well able to manage or equipped to manage, so a lot of things were able to go wrong. And also at that time, a lot of fear was brought into the organisation, so that, you know, you could see things were going wrong, but you might be too scared of what it meant to your job to say anything about it ... there were quite a few instances of wrong people in jobs, as well as the flattened-out structure and the general sort of disillusionment, so the, you know, the atmosphere was ripe for problems (manager, CAC development)

The duty managers never did stand back – they allocated, that's all they did. 'Cause that never worked, about standing back, 'cause so many things went wrong that, in the end, you just had to get in there and do it (sector team member)

The management restructuring exercise took place early in 1991, the 'effect of which was to reduce the number of senior and middle management posts in the LAS by 53 out of a total of 268' (Page et al, 1993, p. 65). The outcomes of this restructuring were keenly felt in the control room where previously the majority of staff had held management rank. A number of staff moved to other jobs in the service or decided to take early retirement during this period. 'Somewhere like 800 years of experience walked out of that room at the end of 1991' (manager, CAC). This left the control room severely depleted, not only in terms of the numbers of staff it employed, but more crucially, in the extent of the knowledge and experience that circulated within the workforce that remained.

The introduction of new uniforms and vehicles met with opposition from staff, who perceived the changes as measures introduced by senior managers with little consultation. On the other hand, in the aftermath of the strike, trades' unions were not keen for their members to contribute to parts of the reform programme, hindering a process of wider consultation. Rank markings, previously denoted by epaulettes attached to the shirts, were no longer worn, in line with a management philosophy that staff should gain respect from others by the way they do their jobs, and not by virtue of the rank they wear on their shoulders (manager, CAC development). 'When we arrived on scene, other emergency services used to ask us when the flight was taking off' (operational manager) expresses a reaction to the new dress code highlighting similarities between it and the one adopted by British Airways at the time.

The symbolic and emotional significance to LAS staff of their rank markings, their uniforms, and, to crew staff, their vehicles may be compared with the importance academics would attach to their publication records and their degree qualifications. Thus the importance of these issues in cultural terms is significant. A program of change that challenged so fundamentally cultural members' images of themselves was very likely to meet with a degree of resistance that would have far-reaching consequences.

and some of these old officers wouldn't take their epaulettes off, and he [John Wilby] came in and made them one day ... he said it to [the control room manager - CRM], "get rid of those epaulettes off of those people" ... And my old ADAO [an officer grade] ... he'd been a cartwheel [jargon for the rank marking] for all these years, and [the CRM] had to go up to him, and she said to him "will you take your epaulettes off?" and he said "no", and she had to do it for him – she took them off, off him (control staff member)

The themes of patient care and crew safety, which at times seem at odds with one another, will appear several times in this telling of the story. The new vehicles introduced in the early 1990s, which lacked a communicating door between front and rear, challenged existing interpretations of these themes, since the new design hindered communication between the driver and the attendant while the patient was being conveyed to hospital. The new work ethos, emphasising commercial practices over established operational procedures, attempted to revise the basis on which patient care was provided. Arguably patient care and crew safety are rhetorical devices employed by cultural members, which are the articulated forms of more deep-seated concerns about what the future may bring and their capabilities to cope with it. This is not to deny the significance attached to both patient care and crew safety in their own rights, but rather to suggest that they are, perhaps, most strongly invoked when "fear of failure" grips the LAS. Certainly, as John Wilby's experience shows, when crisis strikes the service those who are found to have subsumed these issues within a more commercial rhetoric may expect a harsh judgement from government, the media, and the public at large.

He sort of tried to revolutionise in a very short space of time and part of that revolution was the computerisation, and he said very early on after his appointment that he would have computerisation in within the year. ... So you could see that there were going to be

pitfalls along the way, but with very little opportunity to do anything about it because John Wilby had made his promise and there was nothing that was going to stop him (manager, CAC)

The above initiatives were an attempt by the new board and John Wilby in particular to move the service away from a "militaristic culture" to one with a more commercial orientation. Best practice ideas concerning the role of management, the skills required for the job, and the major areas of attention for managers - on issues of cost control, the efficient and effective use of resources, and performance assessment – were central themes. These initiatives have been described as moves on the part of a chief executive who had 'brilliant ideas ... but they were too sudden ... for the organisation to cope with' (manager, CAC development). They were deeply resented by most staff, who while undermining them, for example by wearing their rank markings, tended not, in a climate of mistrust and uncertainty, to confront them more aggressively. Nevertheless, growing frustration among vehicle crews and the loss of expertise from the control room were to have a telling effect on the LASCAD implementation, in which an attempt was made to deploy information technology to improve the performance of the LAS. Moreover, the strike of 1989-90, the programme of reform that followed it, and the LASCAD implementation are crucial elements in explaining how IS implementation and organisational change have taken place at the LAS since then.

#### THE LASCAD PROJECT

#### The emergence of the LASCAD discourse

The LASCAD project had its origins within a managerialist discourse of the early 1980s that the command and control functions of the LAS needed to be computerised to create greater efficiency in call taking and resource mobilisation. At that time, South West Thames regional health authority, which managed the LAS on behalf of the NHS, had few detailed statistics on which to base its funding allocations to the LAS each year. Nevertheless, a dominant discourse within the health sector was that when compared with other ambulance services the LAS was lagging behind in terms of both reputation and performance against ORCON standards. As an organisation subject to public scrutiny,

reputation and performance are key indicators of satisfaction so that these issues were also of concern to operational staff (members of the command and control regime) at the LAS, although many did not embrace computerisation as the way to resolving them. Rather, operational staff (and in particular vehicle crews) felt that improvements in working conditions, resources and staff development were the way to enhance the service offered – a view that culminated in the strike of 1989-90.

# Linking a performance discourse with technology

The first attempt to computerise the command and control functions of the LAS, which was ongoing during the 1980s, suffered from a lack of professional management expertise within the service, since at that time the only middle and senior managers at the LAS were ambulance officers with an operational focus. In this way, management of the relationship with the external system supplier was neglected, so that the system development process was protracted and poorly coordinated (team member, management information department).

In 1990, appointment by the regional health authority of a LAS board may be seen as the beginning of an attempt to problematize a techno-managerial rationality (Avgerou, 2001); in other words, to link a management-driven efficiency rationality with technology as the way to improve organisational performance. In this effort, a team of senior professional managers was put in place at the LAS to oversee the organisational reform programme in which the development of a CAD system was a central concern. In autumn 1990, the first attempt at computerisation was abandoned in favour of a more far-reaching, fully automated, innovative system, which was seen by LAS management as the key to meeting ORCON standards. This change marked the beginning of an effort to create an obligatory passage point (OPP) in the LASCAD system, and thus to enact a discourse that the LASCAD system was the way to improve the performance of the LAS. To understand the ambitious nature of LASCAD, it is appropriate to consider the type of system it was intended to replace.

## The existing manual system

The system used prior to October 1992 was based on pen and paper with a conveyor belt for transporting information around the control room. It was adopted again between November 1992 and January 1996, but with human runners to replace the conveyor belt, which had been removed during the LASCAD implementation. When a call was received, the call taker would note details on a pre-printed form – AS1 for emergency calls, AS2 for urgent transfers between doctors' surgeries and hospitals, and AS3 for hospital to hospital transfers. S/he would then use a map book to find the exact location of the incident and note the map reference coordinates on the form. When the call was complete, the call taker would drop the form onto a conveyor belt that would transport it to a central point within the control room.

At the central point, the forms would be examined by another member of staff who would decide which resource allocator should deal with dispatching the ambulance, based on a division of London into three sectors, North East, North West, and South. At this point an attempt was made to identify duplicated calls – in other words, to recognise situations where multiple calls were received for the same incident, as might happen with a traffic accident. This procedure, designed to ensure that multiple resources were not unintentionally sent to the same incident, relied on the memory and judgement of the member of staff concerned.

When the relevant allocator received the form, s/he would consult status and location details about resources maintained in an activation box, or tray, and radioed into the control room by vehicle crews. Tags showing the call sign, or identifier, for each resource marked slots in the tray. A tag facing forwards indicated that the crew was on duty; if facing backwards, the resource was unstaffed. Where resources were staffed, an empty slot in the tray indicated that the crew was "on station"; a slot containing an AS1, AS2 or AS3 facing forwards indicated a crew en route to an incident; a slot with a form facing backwards indicated a crew returning to station. Other forms used in the tray indicated, for example, a vehicle breakdown.

After identifying a suitable resource to attend the incident, the allocator noted the resource identifier on the pre-printed form. S/he then passed the form to either a telephone dispatcher who would mobilise a crew "on station", or a radio operator who would mobilise a crew that was returning to station. ORCON standards required that the entire process from receipt of the call to mobilisation of the resource should take no longer than 3 minutes. After contacting the crew, the dispatcher or radio operator would return the form to the allocator who would place it in the appropriate slot in the activation tray. This form would be updated with further key details relating to the incident (for example, police called to scene) as they became available. The form would be removed from the activation tray for filing when the crew notified their availability to attend the next incident. A small percentage of the forms were analysed each month to produce management information reports.

## Institutional framing of the LASCAD discourse

Previous accounts of the LASCAD project have argued that actions taken by the new senior management team flouted the ideas and conventions popularly associated with best practice. They demonstrate a managerial and/or technical failure (Page et al, 1993; Beynon-Davies, 1995; Hougham, 1996), in which human concerns were neglected (Wastell and Newman, 1996). While these accounts raise important issues, their presentation of an essentially flawed implementation of best practice seems only to provide a partial explanation of what happened. Certainly, the scope and timeframe for the LASCAD project seemed to ignore the experience of other services (which had taken a stepwise approach to automation) and the poor industrial relations climate following the strike of 1989-90. Moreover, the decision to opt for a bespoke development (when other services had adopted packaged solutions), the composition of the procurement team (in which the only IT member was a contract analyst), and the adherence (in the face of suppliers' concerns and widely varying quotations) to a seemingly institutionalised project budget of no more than £1.5 million all suggest that best practice concerns were subjugated – but to what? If we discard as rather naïve the view that such experienced managers were simply incompetent, we may ask to what extent best practice concerns shaped their actions, and what other rationalities were at work.

An indication of the broader influences shaping action in this context was provided earlier, when I discussed the government-sponsored initiatives at the heart of a reform programme for the NHS introduced in the late 1980s (Department of Health, 1989) and ongoing for the foreseeable future. That discussion addressed the efforts in the early 1990s to introduce market-driven practices into the NHS, albeit in a system of internal competition. Although such commercial practices share the "value for money", administrative efficiency concerns of a professional management regime, nevertheless there are contradictions. The free market ideology at the heart of government thinking at the time reflected a more fickle, consumer-driven, economic rationality when compared with the relatively stable, self-regulated, commercial interests of the disciplines described by a professional management regime.

This argument suggests two things. First, why the best practice concerns that would normally shape a professional management regime, at times received only lip service within the regime put in place at the LAS in 1990. Second, why the discourses enacted by that regime seemed to be in conflict with one another, so that whose interests were being served was unclear. In effect, the discursive practices of the LAS board were those of a much broader regime that sought not only operational efficiency at the LAS, but a complete reestablishment of the basis of ambulance service operations within the context of a market-driven NHS and associated reform of established collectives. In this way, the notions of commercial best practice enshrined in particular professional disciplines were colonised by the tenets of a more totalising, consumer-oriented, public relations discipline propagated by the so-called political "spin-doctors".

In this case, then, the roles of the regional health authority, the NHS, and the UK government of the period in establishing the LASCAD discourse cannot be overlooked. The early 1990s saw the run-up to a General Election, an economic recession, and a period of reform in the health service. The Conservative government had low ratings in the opinion polls and would have benefited from a success story. The implementation of LASCAD, originally scheduled for 8 January 1992, would have been both fitting and timely. Government-sponsored reform of the health service placed a statutory responsibility on regional health authorities to operate within cash limits, which created political pressure on overspending authorities (including South West Thames) to reduce costs. In this way,

socio-political and economic conditions fuelled, if not coerced, the LASCAD development. In such a climate, it is not hard to imagine how a system that promised significant improvements in ambulance service performance would have gained support, and also how the lowest tender that could meet the requirement and the timescale came to be accepted. That tender (in the form of a proposal from a consortium consisting of Apricot, a small software house called Systems Options, and Datatrak), how it came to be accepted by the LAS board, and what happened afterwards are the subject of the next section.

Summarising so far though, the LASCAD project was an attempt to enact a technomanagerial rationality, but one that was framed by, in conflict with, and often subjugated to a socio-economic rationality of the free market, the pursuit of individualism, and the reform of collectives that would see things otherwise. At this stage, it is worth noting that conflict and contradiction were evident within the LASCAD discourse even before the responses of the command and control regime are taken into account.

#### On making the discourse function as true

The emergence of the LASCAD discourse gave rise to a new rationality or knowledge within the LAS. The enactment of this knowledge disrupted accepted discourses within the service fracturing further a command and control regime still smarting from the recent strike, and allowing substantive subjugated rationalities to emerge, thereby reconfiguring the existing network of relations. This subsection examines the micro-practices in which such a transformation occurred.

### Arousing interest in the LASCAD discourse

The proposal presented by the Apricot consortium may be seen as a document that gave substance to an organising vision (Swanson and Ramiller, 1997) of operational efficiency enabled by technology held by the LAS chief executive. In this way, John Wilby was able to problematize the need for the service to improve its performance. Nevertheless, such problematizing was hypothetical until accepted by those actors needed to make it function as true, including the LAS board, LAS operational staff, and in the event the lead contractor

for the LASCAD project. In a move to gain such support, the chief executive and others enacted a discourse of acceptance around the Apricot/Systems Options proposal.

Their Recommendation to Purchase stated that the proposal met all system requirements (and the required delivery date) at a cost of less than £1 million, and omitted to mention knowledge that did not support their recommendation, specifically an adverse reference regarding the timeliness of work done by Systems Options. Nevertheless, team members informed Systems Options during the procurement process that the first attempt at the project failed in part because the supplier did not understand the requirement (Page et al, 1993). So, the procurement team had shown a concern for best practice, by alerting Systems Options to the complexity of the system before the latter finalised its quotation.

Action by the chief executive reinforced the discourse of acceptance. At the board meeting (where the recommendation to opt for the Systems Options solution was endorsed), a tender evaluation report prepared by one of his former colleagues from the Scottish Ambulance Service was not available. The chief executive informed board members that the review endorsed the procurement team's recommendation, and they agreed to award the contract to Systems Options before having sight of the review report. Although minutes of the meeting show no discussion of the decision to opt for a bespoke system, board members claim that this matter and the variance in suppliers' quotations were discussed at length, albeit without knowledge of the adverse reference about Systems Options (Page et al, 1993, pp. 26/27).

Finally, Apricot contributed to this discourse by not revealing until one week before the decisive board meeting that it expected Systems Options to be lead contractor – a role that the latter was less well equipped (in terms of size and resources) to undertake than Apricot. Nevertheless, board members focused on the issue of Systems Options as prime contractor and requested production of a full design specification to give them confidence that Systems Options had understood the requirement (Page et al, 1993). So Apricot was enrolled to the network in negotiations that allowed it to divest its project management responsibilities. Systems Options, on the other hand, was enrolled by a short term assignment which provided the small software house with an opportunity to learn more

about the task in hand, whilst diverting its concerns about taking on the responsibilities of lead contractor.

It seems, then, that timescale, cost, and agreeing to meet the full specification were the major criteria against which prospective suppliers were evaluated, although the checklist criteria presented to the Page inquiry team shows the first two items ranked 6<sup>th</sup> and 7<sup>th</sup> in order of importance. Moreover, it seems 'that no specific weighting was given to the extent of supplier experience in Command and Control systems' (Page et al, 1993, p. 23). Nevertheless, some consideration of how Systems Options might demonstrate that they had the necessary expertise is evident in the negotiations that took place.

If we hold to the view that best practice guidelines should be adapted to their context of use, we could make the following argument. We could say that the procurement team and the board decided that some suppliers were over-quoting in an attempt to make a substantial profit. Moreover, that the procurement team viewed references as subjective judgements rather than objective realities, and that the team and the board believed London was a special case needing a different type of system from other ambulance services. Furthermore, we could argue that the enactment of best practice at the LAS endeavoured to make the best use of available resources, including involving in the procurement process those staff who had worked on the first attempt at computerisation. We could so argue, but if we did, surely we would ask how the procurement team and the board could decide that developing a system for a special case would take less time and less money than attending to a standard one.

I suggest that an answer to this question lies in the way that significant others outside the LAS influenced the extent to which cost and timescale became significant criteria during the evaluation process. In other words, that the adaptations made to best practice guidelines were interessement devices employed to facilitate the necessary enrolments by key players acting under institutional pressures. In this way, then, the fundamental issue here is not how local practices contributed to the events of October and November 1992 – as terms of reference for the Page inquiry would have it – but rather why such practices took the form they did.

Before examining this issue further, I discuss some additional interactions among LAS managers concerning monitoring and review of the LASCAD project. Members of the operational staff were passive contributors to the LASCAD discourse at this stage – that is to say, for the most part they maintained a distance from the LASCAD development until attempts were made to parallel run the system in the live environment. Their reasons for this lack of engagement included not being invited to participate, fear of being "shot as messenger" by their managers, and allegiance – sometimes under peer group pressure – to the discourses of the trades' unions and/or their functional groupings.

Once the Apricot/Systems Options proposal was accepted and development of the LASCAD system began in earnest, further action was necessary to maintain the stability of the LASCAD discourse, even among managers, in the face of a stream of missed deadlines. The newly-appointed systems manager of the LAS (who was not directly involved with the project) undertook two additional reviews of progress. The first review, in November 1991, recommended adhering to the original implementation date of 8 January 1992, despite problems causing delays. In the event, only a decision was made in January – to implement the call taking subsystem at first, and to introduce the resource management subsystem when it became available. The second review took place in March 1992, as the board had requested four months earlier. It raised a number of concerns about work still to be done, but the report was not submitted to the board. Instead it was used as input to the chief executive's progress report of 1 April to the regional general manager. Despite an alert to significant problems and major outstanding tasks, the board and the regional health authority accepted, by default, negative assurance from the chief executive that 'there is no evidence to suggest that the full system software, when commissioned, will not prove reliable' (Page et al, 1993, p. 35). It is difficult to resist the conclusion that even John Wilby was wavering at this stage, and that those who chose to remain on the sidelines following his negative assurance about a critical system were already working on their own damage limitation strategies.

Despite expressing a range of different, often very critical, commentaries about his actions, LAS staff who experienced the LASCAD implementation argued to me that 'John Wilby was under political [meaning government-induced] pressure'. Moreover, the Page inquiry team argued that:

faced with concerted pressure from its managing RHA [regional health authority], MPs, the public, health service consumers and the media over improving performance times, it is by no means certain that the Service would have been allowed to adopt a more measured approach to introducing changes, particularly with CAD (Page et al, 1993, p. 67, my emphasis).

While LAS staff members would not have been privy to the exchanges that took place between John Wilby and his managers, we might expect that the authors of the Page report would have attempted to open this particular black box. Yet, far from addressing the nature of these broader pressures and how those involved in the procurement process and the system implementation were constrained by them, the authors are at pains to point out how the regional health authority took no part in what happened. Did it not agree, even mandate, the funds available? Did it not sanction the implementation date and the overall goals of the system? Did it exercise its power in isolation from the NHS Executive and government ministers to whom it is responsible? Might we not expect that the regional general manager (RGM) would have found John Wilby's negative assurance unacceptable in this context and have intervened in the affairs of the LAS? Rather, it seems the 'RGM believed it *important not to interfere*, having got the Board established "at arm's length" (ibid. p. 74, my emphasis). The arm was thus a long one, attached to a body that disappeared from the scene leaving a "lightning conductor" in place as a delegate for its interests (Latour, 1999b).

Vaughan (1996) argues that the combination of a "can do" culture of production and conformance with the protocols of flight readiness reviews (FRRs) at NASA (National Aeronautics and Space Administration) prevented engineers' concerns from reaching senior level decision makers on the eve of the *Challenger* launch. Although certain members of the LAS board, and John Wilby in particular, undoubtedly adopted a "can do" approach, the structural secrecy of NASA FRRs did not apply in this case. Rather, it is clear from a number of sources that government ministers were alerted, and that the RHA had sectional considerations at stake. Indeed, in 1995 a House of Commons Select Committee investigating the performance of the LAS argued:

The Page inquiry team was established, and had its terms of reference set, by the RHA which was responsible for overseeing the LAS at the time of the computer crash, and

which therefore had a vested interest in securing a report that did not focus on its own failings (1995, p. xxi).

The Committee goes on to highlight underinvestment in the LAS as one of the key failings. At much the same time, a member of the Page inquiry team observed (British Computer Society, 1995) that 'Bottomley was warned' about a crisis situation at the LAS six weeks before LASCAD was implemented – a warning she chose in writing to disregard (Guardian, 1992; Independent, 1992).

Perhaps, then, it is overly simplistic to suggest, in Callon's (1986) terms, that John Wilby was the key actor in this context, problematizing the need and seeking to enrol support for operational efficiency at the LAS. Rather, he was caught at the intersection of two powerful networks – one a community of health service institutions and government ministers infused with the concerns of bio-power, the other a *sui generis* command and control regime – a delegate for each community in the other, but without the allegiance of either one.

### Trying to enrol the command and control regime

Now, I turn to how stability of the network was subject to further challenge when the discourse began to circulate more widely and attempts were made to enrol the members of the command and control regime within the LAS. This regime included all members of A&E operations – control room staff, vehicle crews, and the operational support staff who would train their colleagues to use the new system. The story of what happened is told first in the words of three people who experienced it. At the current time, these members of staff have a total of over 60 years' experience of working for the LAS. Their experience covers work in the control room, on the road, and within CAC development departments, in both technician and officer roles. Their accounts are interwoven in a way that tries to preserve their major themes, whilst maintaining some continuity in the description of events.

These tellings of the story capture the messages I received when discussing the LASCAD implementation with many other members of the operational staff involved with it. However, I captured these three accounts on tape, whereas I heard the others during conversations with staff as they did their work, hence the latter are less detailed and

frequently were interrupted as emergency calls came through. The story covers the period from partial implementation of the LASCAD system in early 1992 up to the system collapse. During this period, the narrators undertook roles as ambulance allocator, radio operator (or dispatcher), trainer, and manager. The call taking subsystem was implemented first, followed by the more problematic introduction of the subsystem for allocating and mobilising resources across the three sectors into which London was divided at the time. The latter subsystem was introduced one sector at a time and operated in parallel running mode until the "go live" date on 26 October. Staff training was ongoing during this period.

#### **Training**

... and all the time we were trying to prepare the training the system was changing ... you couldn't keep up, *you just could not keep up*, people were learning it on the hoof ... things were changing almost minute by minute, certainly hour by hour and, most definitely, day by day, and no one ever knew.

all we'd be saying [during training] was "right, well, on the day it will do this and on the day it will do that".

## Change control

... there was no change control ... corners had been cut everywhere.

... you just said to him [software developer] "well, it would be nice if it done this or it done that", and he just did it, there and then ... but it did so many things ... that it was difficult to remember what it did do, to be honest.

#### Uncovering the design loopholes

... you'd have vehicles, like you'd have a call in SW1 and it would say Hornchurch was the nearest vehicle, which was like 30 miles away, 'cause the vehicle had been brought down to go to the fitters at the headquarters downstairs and Datatrak still worked. So it would show that vehicle up downstairs as being the nearest vehicle although it was in the workshops. Oh, it was horrendous!

but you could change the status of a vehicle yourself, manually. So you could have a vehicle that was 'red', which you couldn't use, but you could change it if you wanted it to 'green', which meant if ... you took a call in this area ... then you could send it, but it might not even be manned. It might just be an empty ambulance on a station. So there was no structure to [nothing said]. But, if you'd assigned it and sent it and it hadn't gone mobile within so many seconds, this bloody thing started spewing out exception messages, because if the wheels hadn't turned within 10 seconds it would spew out all these exceptions for it. And because there was so many of them, this paper was constantly pouring, and this thing was going "kuh, kuh, kuh" across the printer – constantly. The noise it made!

It was so difficult to keep track of, quite apart from the fact that West Ham ambulance station apparently got obliterated ... including all of its vehicles ... It never appeared on AVLS, and neither did any of the J2 vehicles for some considerable time. ... West Ham was apparently a victim of thermo-nuclear attack.

Mapping system also had some problems. Ponders End 1 [identifier for a crewed vehicle] went into the Lea Valley reservoir and stayed there for 3 weeks – we couldn't get it out.

The major problem was the exceptions, because of crews not pressing buttons or because you'd given a call to a vehicle that the system decided wasn't there ...and that's what ... as I understand it, ultimately crashed the computer completely. So while we running in tandem on [sector], we used to knock them off ... there was a certain way you were supposed to do that ... but that was often impossible because you'd given it to a vehicle it didn't believe existed. So you used to have to con the computer, and we found ways to do that.

## Increasing workload

Workload doubled on the sector ... because you were running the two systems in tandem. The radio operator's job was just horrific, you were talking and writing up on all the tickets, and you were having to update this entire computer system as well, and it was such hard work.

... it increased staffing on the desk because a role became exception rectifying.

### Confusion

really what they wanted to do was they wanted to get rid of managers as well, and what they wanted to do was have managers that really did stand back and didn't allocate because what they wanted was the call taker to allocate. So as you took the call, it would pin-point it on the map. And the map would tell you where your nearest vehicle was, and it would say "do you want to send it?", because it was meant to have status updating – and exception reporting – which would tell you where your nearest vehicle was and when it was available. But we still had duty managers allocating, and sometimes you had call takers saying "oh yeah, I'll send an ambulance on that". The duty manager on the sector didn't know whether he'd sent something on it, somebody else had sent it, or just as he thought "yeah, I'll send that vehicle 'cause it's 'green'", the call taker up here would send it and it would go 'red'. So it was a real ...

and the duty manager would have so many screens in front of him ... that you could quite easily lose track of what was happening.

You could, you could unassign calls and you could link up calls together, so you could have like 4 or 5 calls in Oxford Street, and say "yes, they're all the same call" and link them all together. But if you wasn't, if you didn't make sure that each call was the same – I mean, Oxford Street was so long, it's not uncommon to have 2 or 3 emergency calls happening in Oxford Street at the same time – you would tie up a call with another one and you wouldn't send an ambulance on it. But you just kept getting ETAs and things and you'd say "oh Christ, yeah, that's not the same call", so you could unlink it from the calls ... and that went, that went on for ages, working like that.

### Vehicle crew reactions

[vehicle crews] were very anti it and there was all sorts of mayhem going on with regards to trying not to use those data transmission terminals, especially after we had implemented it ... there was a lot of interference with aerials and all sorts ... they were pretty determined to scupper it.

they worked out very early on that all they had to do was give you slightly duff information and then you wouldn't have an up-to-date system anyway, and what the system did then was to give you lots of exception reports, and we were just inundated

by exception reports ... all of these things were just coming up by the screenload, pages and pages and pages of them.

then some, some operational staff tried to sabotage it, so they'd stick screwdrivers in the aerials and whatever.

#### Conflict

but because they [the crews] still weren't playing ball and pressing [the buttons], you didn't know what [ambulance] was going on what [call] really.

and, of course, all this was happening [changes affecting vehicle crews] when we were trying to introduce the CAD system, so again there's big conflict between management and vehicle crew staff. And we was getting abused by vehicle crew staff – "you don't bloody well know what you're doing" – and sometimes you'd sent 2 or 3 vehicles to the same call, and sometimes you hadn't even sent a vehicle to a call, because you didn't know whether you'd done it or not.

[When the director of operations on the new LAS board suggested] "Well as long as it proposes a vehicle that's within 14 minutes' running time, just send that. It doesn't matter whether it's the actually nearest, as long as it's within the 14 minutes" ... we all went utterly ballistic and ignored it, obviously, but those sort of things were going on through that period.

## Trying to stay in control

We did get on top of it for a while, we was starting to manage, as long as the person that was in charge of the resourcing side knew what vehicles you had; but crews were also swapping vehicles, they weren't staying on the same vehicle. So you'd allocate a call sign to a vehicle and then they'd come back and they'd swapped vehicles and they wouldn't tell you. But we still had our paper tickets, as a sort of a standby. So we were still using our activation files and still using the radio, but we was – it was more and more embarrassing – because we was calling vehicles up and saying "can you tell me what call you're going to?" or "can you confirm you are going on call such and such?", 'cause things would change so quickly in front of you.

#### *Taking away the paper*

And because John Wilby was so insistent on there being no paper in Control – but we was desperate to hang on to this because it was our means of knowing what we were sending vehicles on, or what vehicles we had. And one day he just, he just walked into Control and he said "get rid of that bloody paper", and he just grabbed hold of the box and walked, walked away with it ... and left those people with just no backup at all.

it worked quite well on a small scale, more things started to go wrong when we brought in another division, and more still when we brought in the last division, and then to take away paper as well ... if you've been used to paper, it's like taking a child's comforter away – it doesn't matter whether they need it or not, they feel happier with it.

and not least of the worries was about the printers themselves because we'd lose calls, they wouldn't print out, and for those who were relying more on the paper side of things than the screen, they didn't react to something they didn't get ... so we were losing calls.

## The collapse

But because we were sending so many vehicles on duplicate calls or not knowing what vehicles we were sending, we were getting more and more ETAs coming in. People kept ringing in "where's the ambulance, where's the ambulance?" "Shit, I thought I'd sent the ambulance". "No, you haven't sent the ambulance". And all these calls – the screen was, the screens were just filling up and filling up with calls and you couldn't keep on top of what you'd sent to what.

And the Datatrak was just, like, didn't know – well, I suppose it did, but it just knew what it knew. And this thing over here [the exception manning printer] was just spewing. *It was just pumping out!* I think at one stage it was just going so much it was shaking, because this thing was going backwards and forwards, backwards and forwards, constantly – the exception, exception manning or exception rectifying or what; it didn't rectify anything, but [nothing said].

And we were – I went off duty, I remember – you know, the system was slowing up or screens kept locking up, and then some people would take it on paper

because the screen had locked up, and some people would take it on the computer, and some people wanted to assign vehicles and you're saying "stop assigning vehicles, only the sector, the sector desk can assign the vehicles". And then some people would just play with the map, just to look at vehicles going round, up and down roads and [nothing said].

But it got to the stage where so many people were doing so many different things that it was starting to get slower and slower and slower, by which time I'd gone off duty – I was on late turns, and I'd gone off on duty. And you just went home and had a drink. The first thing you did when you got through the front door was have a stiff drink, and try and unwind. And it would take hours to unwind. Sometimes I didn't go to bed until about 3 o'clock in the morning [late turn finished at 11pm] because I just couldn't. Your brain was just, like, shattered – it really was.

And then, of course, obviously, everything had happened overnight because that's when it, that's when it, it crashed, eventually. (2am, I recalled, as he continued). It slowed dow... – well, I think it was about that time, because I, I remember waking up when the news was on. And that's when they said about, you know, "the London Ambulance Service has crashed" and "it's chaos, people aren't getting ambulances and people are dying and being killed and [nothing said]".

And then the next thing you saw on the news was that John Wilby had resigned – as the chief executive of the London Ambulance Service. (To which your reaction was, I asked). Oh, everybody was just, like, elated. It was like a whole burden, a whole weight, had been lifted off your shoulders, 'cause everyone in the Control had just gone back to the old paper system, just taking calls on paper, sending them to the sector. Crews were working – with the Control – and everyone was just [nothing said].

But that morning of the crash, I mean when people were just, just coming on and off duty in tears – people that came off duty were just like in floods of tears – it was awful, it really was. It was like it was a nightmare – *an absolute nightmare*. But it was different going on duty, 'cause you knew you was going in, you was going to work the old system – all the scr..., everything had been turned off. Your allocation box was there, people were taking calls on, on paper, and sector control..., or duty managers, were allocating the vehicles, you had a radio operator sitting there. Unum – *things were much, much different*. [The narrator paused for several seconds].

Uh, where are we up to? (1992, I said). I think we might have to pause for a moment – for the time being.

## Responding to the new identities

Once parallel running of the LASCAD system got underway, the stand-off was no longer sustainable between the command and control regime, on the one hand, and the network of institutional, managerial and technological interests comprising the LASCAD regime on the other. Control room and road-based staff and their trainers were then seduced, persuaded, or forced to engage with the LASCAD discourse, and, until cutover to the new system, to do so alongside their enactment of the familiar discourses of the existing operational regime.

These members of staff were required to enact new identities within the LASCAD regime. Call takers (referred to above as control assistants) would not only take details of emergency incidents from callers, but also – within certain parameters decided by senior managers and under the control of the system – would allocate ambulances to the calls they received. This move would be possible since the current resource distribution profile, rather than being held in ambulance allocators' activation boxes, would be maintained by the LASCAD system. On 26 and 27 October the parameter in force was that the nearest resource was less than 11 minutes away from the scene (Page et al, 1993, p. 51). Ambulance allocators (referred to above as duty managers or sector controllers) would make the more complex resource allocation decisions, and would no longer sit on the sectors maintaining resource utilisation details, but would stand back behind their sector teams and manage by walking about.

Radio operators' workload would reduce since voice communications with vehicle crews on the road would take place in exceptional circumstances only, replaced by mobile data terminals in vehicles for passing instructions. Similarly, telephone dispatchers would experience a reduced workload, since vehicle crews on station would receive their instructions via printers installed on station premises. Vehicle crews would adopt new methods of working, including accepting text instructions from the control room in place of voice communications, and pressing status buttons in their vehicles to tell control room

staff what they were doing – for example, on scene, en route to hospital, available. In effect, vehicle crews would subscribe to a regime that used information technology to regulate and monitor their activities, making their actions transparent to their control room colleagues.

However, continuing problems with the system, changes made "on the fly" (Page et al, 1993, p. 30), and an increased workload for staff during parallel running hindered the process of enrolling support from a reluctant, and sometimes militant, workforce. Design loopholes were uncovered, confusion and conflict broke out among staff, but thus were opportunities revealed to vent frustration, by subverting the operation of the system. Attempts at interessement by force, such as taking away an allocator's activation box, strengthened allegiances within a growing anti-LASCAD regime.

### Attempting the mobilisation

The participants' narrative reveals a stream of negotiations and trials of strength among LAS staff, their managers, and the LASCAD system. Finally, managers addressed what they could see as the points of resistance; they rearranged the control room layout on 26 October as the system went live pan-London – a move from the parallel running mode of operation in three sector teams (or divisions). In the control room, at least, managers had blocked the ways out of using the system, but they had enrolled no more than a hostage to fortune, for they had also blocked the escape routes that control room staff might have used to address the problems that occurred. The control room layout was reconfigured, the familiar team structures were disbanded, the activation boxes were removed, and the new identities were enforced. Control room staff could not find a way to manage as the less visible points of resistance came into play – vehicle crews on the road and the system itself – and so the vision became 'a nightmare'.

## Partial surrender of a performance through technology discourse

Once the LASCAD discourse began to circulate widely, the institutional and managerial interests that had led to its emergence sustained and reinforced it in acts of commission and omission until system implementation on 26 October. Then, the contradictions and

conflict within an unaligned network could no longer be contained. John Wilby's earlier announcement to the press that he would have computerisation in within a year had maintained the LASCAD project in the media spotlight, so that the events of the two days received extensive news coverage. Semi-manual operations were resumed in the afternoon of 27 October. The chief executive resigned the same day and was immediately replaced by his successor, who had been placed on standby in advance (Channel Four Television, 1996). Allegations that up to 20 patients had died while waiting for ambulances led the regional health authority to announce a public inquiry within days of implementation.

In semi-manual mode, use of the call taking subsystem continued for several more days, as did mobilisation of resources direct to station printers or mobile data terminals, but the manual systems for tracking and allocating resources were reinstated. Meanwhile, a small programming bug was at work filling memory in the file server, so that ultimately the system locked up completely a little after 2am on 4 November. Attempts to restart the system failed, at which point a full withdrawal of the system occurred and the manual operations that characterised the established operational regime were resumed. This withdrawal involved a partial surrender of the LASCAD discourse, in which the performance element and the technology element were uncoupled. The institutionally framed view that the LAS needed to improve its performance remained intact, but the discourse that this could be achieved via the LASCAD project had been overturned.

#### REVIEWING THE LASCAD PROJECT

### The emergence of subjugated knowledges

The identities proposed for LAS staff within the LASCAD regime were rejected by vehicle crews and members of the control room, but in ways that fractured the tenuous truce achieved among conflicting groups following the strike. For example, the decision to activate aerials and mobile data terminals on vehicles, replacing voice communication between control room staff and vehicle crews, deprived the latter of their capacity to "negotiate" their availability for work. Such negotiations involved, for example, crews taking unofficial break time between dealing with incidents before "calling up available", or suggesting to dispatchers that they could not be the nearest resource to an emergency

scene, say, because they were near the end of their shift and wanted to get home promptly. Although some of these negotiations were less successful than others, while their conditions of possibility existed vehicle crews felt they retained a capacity to articulate their value to the service.

The use of vehicle tracking and digital communication within the LASCAD system no longer sustained these conditions – actions that altered the balance of power between control room staff and vehicle crews. This step would have been a high risk measure at any time, but in a climate of poor industrial relations, it was very likely to meet with overt opposition, not least because subverting the automated instructions was very easy – for example, by swapping vehicles, reporting status incorrectly, or sabotaging aerials. The chaos caused by having less than 100% accurate information in the system became apparent on 26 and 27 October 1992.

Moreover, conflict among different groups of staff in the control room also began to reemerge, notably between call takers and sector staff. The duty managers, who allocated the ambulances on their sectors, were unwilling to give up their allocation boxes (or activation trays). On the one hand, there were deficiencies in the automated version of this system, which did not inspire their confidence. On the other hand, the automated version would no longer be a resource of sector staff alone, under the supervision of their duty manager; rather it would be accessible also by call takers - the least operationally experienced and lowest status members of the control room. However, the call taking group also contained some of the youngest members of the control room – some staff who grew up during the personal computer boom of the 1980s and already had a familiarity with information technology and a desire to experiment with it. In this way, the LASCAD system provided opportunities for call takers to demonstrate a new skill, albeit one that was not highly valued by the service at the time. Indeed, the call taking subsystem of LASCAD was the first element implemented and the last to be withdrawn, and then with some reluctance on the part of those concerned (manager, CAC), and only in the face of a complete system collapse on 4 November 1992.

If we hold to the view expressed elsewhere (Introna, 1997) that the LASCAD project was an attempt to introduce a disciplinary technology so as to improve performance against

ORCON standards in a way that outflanked resistance mobilised by the trades' unions, we may ask "was the project on target?" To what extent were ORCON standards a useful measure of quality of service? What truth did they purport to tell, and what rationalities did they fail to capture? We have examined two of the elements of discourse – the role of institutions and the community in which the discourse emerged – but what of the grids of intelligibility that linked these two together in a specific discourse, what Foucault (1980a) calls the *dispositifs*?

In the early 1990s, ORCON standards laid down that all emergency calls to the ambulance services had equal priority. Officially, then, a patient in cardiac arrest (who was immediately life-threatened) received the same response as a patient with a minor injury. In the former case, clinical evidence suggests that 8 minutes is the maximum response time available to prevent premature death, in the latter case experience suggests that an *emergency* response may not be required at all. This argument becomes all the more acute in the context of ambulance services being used by hoax callers, by patients without a GP, or by those with social problems of a non-emergency nature, for example, mental health problems or alcoholism.

In London social problems, crime, and traffic congestion are demonstrably greater than elsewhere in the UK. Similarly, the effects of these issues – inappropriate use of the ambulance service, dangerous working conditions for vehicle crews, and difficulties in navigating traffic at speed – are more pronounced in London. In the early 1990s, some LAS staff were employing unofficial ways of responding to emergency calls – ways designed to tackle these local problems. Vehicle crews and control room staff were already using tacit knowledge not inscribed within the LASCAD system to make clinical judgements about how to prioritise emergency incidents (operational staff meetings). So a subjugated knowledge – a local knowledge and an organising logic – was already starting to emerge.

At the time of the LASCAD project, London's special circumstances had not been acknowledged officially, although a number of stakeholders in the LASCAD project seemed to be aware of them. Arguably, LAS managers recognised them by rejecting packaged solutions used by other services. They then found themselves entrapped in a

situation where institutional pressures, poor performance, and underfunding locked them into a failing course of action. Thus, operational staff resistance to LASCAD may be understood as giving an important message about the requirements of their jobs – that a CAD system was only ever a partial answer for London – a message that became increasingly true for CAD systems installed elsewhere. Call prioritisation, or priority dispatch, is now a government-sponsored initiative, compulsory for all UK ambulance services. How a subjugated regime emerged from below to become a dominant one in the broader context is explored in later chapters.

So, following the strike of 1989-90 and the two-year period of organisational reform that followed in its wake, the command and control regime at the LAS had become fragmented along a number of dimensions. Significant among the divides that emerged at this time were those between vehicle crews and control room staff, and between call takers and sector staff within the control room. Nevertheless, fragmentations of the operational regime were organised along more than purely hierarchical and task specialist lines. Rather, these divides were cross-cut by other key discourses relating to the need for, and manner of, prioritising emergency calls; the opportunities for using information technology at the LAS; and the role of the trades' unions in the work of the service. Moreover, there remained some dominant discourses around which the operational regime was united, in particular, those which expressed concern for patient care and vehicle crew safety. This contemporaneous unity and division and how it changed over time are key themes of this research.

# On letting the subjects speak

We might conclude from this analysis that the LASCAD project was undermined for two main reasons. First, that the system was an attempt to impose information technology as a disciplinary technology (Knights and Murray, 1994; Doolin, 1998), and that in a climate of poor industrial relations this move was strongly resisted, in particular, by vehicle crews. Indeed, other authors have presented a micro-political account of LASCAD where multiple, conflicting rationalities are the essence of the story (Introna, 1997; Silva and Backhouse, 1997). Second, we could broaden the above argument to pay greater attention to the contradiction and conflict between the government's agenda of free markets and

trades' union disempowerment and the less totalising operational efficiency concerns of a professional best practice regime. We could then argue that a political agenda and a managerial agenda combined to give rise to a program of underinvestment in the LAS, with the result that a disastrous IS implementation effort undermined any support for IT innovation in this context.

Again, I suggest that this explanation is a partial one. Notwithstanding some elaboration of and challenges to past accounts of the LASCAD project, the above explanation like its predecessors is a largely cognitive one, with little to say about the intertwining of rationality and emotion so evident in the participants' narrative of the system implementation. In this way, a regimes of truth framework seems to need some further exploitation or extension when used to address what Foucault did not – when you let the subjects speak. The emotional dimension of IS implementation and organisational change at the LAS becomes increasingly important as we go on from here, and I will address it again in later chapters, when the subjects have told more of the story of the last 20 years. For now, I simply want to draw the reader's attention to the significance of the activation trays and the paper forms they hold, and to the ways that staff tried to work around the LASCAD system, particularly during the 36 hours of live running.

# **CHAPTER 6** The Route to NHS Trust Status

In this chapter, I analyse the main initiatives in which the LAS sought to recover from the events of October 1992 and establish itself as an organisation capable of managing its own affairs. I examine the changing nature of the discourses accepted by the command and control and professional management regimes at the LAS, noting how these changes were influenced by increasing activity at sectoral and national levels to establish an internal market in the UK NHS. Moreover, I describe how moves were made away from introducing a new CAD system to implementing an alternative computer system with much reduced scope. Again, the sociology of translation is used to give a further dimension to an analysis of the processes in which this work was accomplished.

### HOW REGIMES OF TRUTH WERE CONSTITUTED FOLLOWING LASCAD

When the LASCAD system collapsed, the vision of total automation for London's ambulance service was destroyed. Attempts to stabilise the LASCAD discourse had been hindered because operational staff were not enrolled to the new methods of working; these efforts were made more difficult by the aggressive timescale and the industrial relations climate; and the discourse had inherent contradictions, arising from conflict between managerial and political agendas. So operational staff attempted to reestablish a discourse that a manual mode of operations was an appropriate way to respond to emergency calls. However, deep divisions surfaced both within and outside the LAS on how to improve performance. In this way, the discourses that had sustained the command and control regime throughout the 1980s had been disrupted sufficiently to create some space for movement in which a negotiated settlement between conflicting regimes eventually became possible.

### The command and control regime – united and divided at the same time

In late 1992, staff in the control room were torn between a desire to 'get back to the way that we were [in other words, to manual operations]', and a recognition that this 'was by no means ideal because the Control was set up for computerisation' (manager, CAC).

Reverting to full manual operations was seen as problematic because conveyor belts, used to transport call details from call takers to ambulance allocators, had been removed when LASCAD was implemented. So, in recognition of the enduring need to improve response times, control room staff made a short-lived attempt to continue using the call taking subsystem of LASCAD:

What we wanted to do was to keep the call taking on screen, that's the one bit of it that no one really wanted to let go of, because that was actually quite good, apart from the difficulties there were about the calls printing out ... we did try for a little while ... but there were too many risks involved in it, so we went completely back to handwriting calls, having to ferry them about the room because we weren't set up in a way that you could get them to [the allocators], we actually had to employ people to run the calls (manager, CAC)

The impact of handwriting calls is reflected in this user comment:

.... that was a real time-consuming part of the call taking. Whereas you had had a call that was being taken on the screen, that someone else could look at while it was being taken and do something with it, you were back to writing on a ticket, and you've got to wait until the person has finished writing the ticket, got right to the end of the call, before it can be ferried across to where the decision is made about which ambulance goes.

The above extracts indicate the beginnings of an operational staff discourse about performance improvement in which computerisation had a central role. Call takers were key actors in this discourse. They constitute the first point of contact within the LAS for those requesting an ambulance and, as such, they are subject to pressures from colleagues further down the chain as well as from members of the public to deal with calls quickly. Nevertheless, printing errors – in which call details were 'lost' – were sufficient grounds to persuade them to stop using a subsystem of LASCAD that was making their work easier.

The effect of abandoning online call taking was keenly felt when the emergency telephone system was replaced during 1994 and wall displays were introduced into the control room. These displays show the number of calls waiting to get into the system, the percentage of calls connected within 5 seconds in the previous 30 minutes (a service

performance measure), and the number of call takers currently available. They replaced a less sophisticated system in which call takers could only estimate the number of calls waiting, by watching the speed of a flashing light on their control panels. The displays, visible to everyone in the room, intensify the pressure to deal with calls quickly.

Following the return to full manual operations, tensions surfaced among LAS operational staff about the feasibility of designing a CAD system for London. The fact that demand for ambulance services in London is demonstrably greater in scale than elsewhere in the UK caused many staff to believe 'that systems that might be adequate for other services would not be adequate for the LAS' (Page et al, 1993, p. 20). The range of perspectives is reflected in the following comments by operational staff:

there hasn't been a computer system built that could deal with our demand

there isn't one out there you can buy and I don't believe there's one that you can design that will be able to do it for us

well, all right, maybe, maybe it could, but I'm going to reserve judgement

and then there were those who were 'more used to computers and more trusting that something would happen that was good for us' (manager, CAC).

Such conflicting discourses were not new to the LAS, nor were they readily resolved in the aftermath of LASCAD. Commenting on staff relationships, and between control room staff and vehicle crews in particular, the Wells (1995) review states that 'parts of the LAS see themselves as separate or isolated and competing with other parts of the organisation' (p. 16). Moreover, mixed feelings existed even within the groups of control room staff and vehicle crews (operational staff meetings). A full CAD system would challenge the task orientation of vehicle crews, who were used to significant autonomy about how they responded to emergency incidents. However, the full system would also challenge the task orientation of sector staff in the control room, who derive a strong sense of identity from their knowledge of London's street map, their ability to manage resources intuitively using a paper system, and the small team environment in which they work. So, while the discourse accepted by the command and control regime overall was that the technology was faulty, and hence too risky to use, some members of staff had more deep-seated

reasons for subscribing to this view. These reasons included loss of status or power (to monitor or control certain work processes), cultural assumptions (concerning personal identity and self-esteem), and fear of failing to cope with the demands of the new environment. In this way, then, the command and control regime should be seen as fragmented and united at the same time.

### The Page report

The inquiry report (Page et al, 1993) into the LASCAD collapse marked the beginning of an effort to shape a space for movement starting to appear within the discourses of the command and control regime. The inquiry team argued for a programme of investment in the LAS and a slower pace of change, whilst acknowledging a need for service improvements. The senior management team should make a major investment 'in the workforce ... the fleet and the estate' (p. 64). An IT director should be recruited who would 'have overall responsibility for all IT and communications planning and implementation' (p. 63), including delivery of a new CAD system. This system would be the outcome of 'a complex multi-supplier, systems integration project' (p. 63), which 'will take perhaps four years to develop and implement fully' (p. 7) and should have 'total ownership by management and staff, both within CAC and the ambulance crews' (p. 8). Staff should be consulted by management and see other evidence of managers' 'commitment to, and appreciation of' them (p. 9). External bodies, including community health councils, potential successor health authorities, other ambulance services, the media, and the public should find that LAS management adopts 'an open approach to regular meetings ... with the genuine intention of addressing issues raised' (p. 10).

The Page report was cited to me many times when operational staff articulated their concerns about the LASCAD development. Although it presents a programming error as the "technical" reason for abandoning the system completely, the inquiry team did not perceive technical deficiencies as the major issue. Probing its recommendations more closely, indications of the regime of truth operating within the new management team at the LAS begin to emerge. The suggestion is that LASCAD failed because staff perceptions about technologically-assisted organisational change had not been

addressed, and so staff ownership of the new methods of working was very lacking. The new management regime, which included Don Page from the inquiry team, subscribed to the view that managers need to use their social and political skills to achieve outcomes.

### The discursive practices of the new management regime

In the months following publication of the Page report, the LAS board was disbanded, the regional health authority assumed direct responsibility for the LAS, the service was restructured into four operating divisions, and a new senior management team was recruited. The new management arrangements became fully effective in April 1994, when the Thames health authorities were reorganised into two regions, North Thames and South Thames, with the latter taking on responsibility for the LAS.

Initially, the new senior management team focused on developing a strategy to tackle underinvestment in the organisational and technical infrastructures of the LAS. Its business plan (LAS, 1993; 1994a) included provision for additional staff recruitment, increased paramedic training, greater consultation with staff, purchase of replacement vehicles, and clearance of the backlog of complaints. The technology strategy (LAS, 1994b) addressed rewiring the headquarters building and replacing the emergency telephone system. The regional health authority made an additional £14.8 million funding available to the LAS to enable these plans, conditional on improved performance against ORCON standards. So the new managers slowed the pace of change when compared with the period 1990-1992, but increasingly during 1994 it became clear that the required service improvements would not be achieved.

### The discourses of the external lobby

External groups, including government bodies, community health councils, other ambulance services, the media and the public engaged in a range of discourses reflecting perspectives critical of the LAS. These actors subscribed to the view that the LAS was not moving quickly enough to implement the recommendations in the Page report. Indeed, some were very sceptical that the LAS in its then current form was capable of

implementing them (minutes of evidence to House of Commons Select Committee on Health, 1995). The external lobby voiced criticism in several ways, from calling for better performance by the LAS to suggesting that the service be broken up and amalgamated with other authorities (board director interview). Their interests also may be seen as wideranging, from a desire to see the LAS achieve its performance targets to a desire to see the disempowerment of such a militant body once and for all.

While the LAS was taken back under the direct control of South Thames regional health authority, other ambulance services were applying for NHS trust status. By spring 1994 a majority had achieved this goal, while those that were still directly managed had well advanced plans to gain independence. Ambulance service applicants for trust status had to show that they were organisationally sound, financially secure, and able to provide a quality service, in which performance to ORCON standards supported as appropriate by a CAD system was a key measure (board director interview).

### Opening up the space for movement between regimes

### The death of Nasima Begum

In June 1994 the media spotlight fell again upon the LAS. Against a backdrop of the declared intention of a House of Commons Select Committee to conduct an autumn inquiry into LAS performance, Nasima Begum, an eleven year old schoolgirl, died of complications from an existing kidney condition following a 53-minute wait for an ambulance. Efforts to create a workable control room structure to support manual operations had proved unsuccessful, in an environment that was becoming increasingly unsuitable not only because conveyor belts had been removed but also because noise and overcrowding intensified as staff numbers increased and call volumes rose. The futility of this approach was brought sharply home to staff with the death of Nasima Begum, which forced a rejection of accepted methods of working and crystallised the need for change:

.... and just when we thought we were getting on top of things, we discovered we were not really; there are some pretty awful things possible that could go wrong and did go wrong (manager, CAC)

When tapes of the five telephone calls made by the Begum family to the control room were made public, they were widely criticised for the insensitive approach of control room operators and the inadequate information they provided regarding possible wait times. An internal LAS inquiry resulted in disciplinary action against one operator and retraining for other staff.

# The "London effect"

In the discursive practices of operational staff, the impact of the "London effect", the belief that 'we're different, we're special' (operational staff meetings), is crucial. Comments earlier in this section highlight the rhetoric they used to describe the "London effect", and the ways they were unable to enact it using either a completely manual system or an implementation, however selective, of LASCAD. This suggests that the task for LAS management of enrolling staff support for a new computer system required an approach that preserved the rhetoric whilst providing an alternative method of enactment. The death of Nasima Begum opened up further a space in which such an accomplishment could take place. In particular, staff in the control room started to move towards the belief that adding more people was not, of itself, a legitimate option for dealing with London's special problems. Nevertheless, the route to computerisation was slow and winding, with some intense negotiations about what should be automated and how it should be accomplished.

### Government intervention following the death

In October 1994, the Secretary of State announced a public inquiry into the death of Nasima Begum, headed by William Wells, chairman of South Thames regional health authority. The Wells inquiry into the events leading to the death was to run alongside a Select Committee inquiry into the future of the LAS. Findings of the Wells inquiry were published first in January 1995. Whilst acknowledging an unusually high demand on 19 June 1994, Wells found 'continuing management weakness, lack of sufficient staff training, well above average absence for sickness and other reasons, inappropriate staff distribution and shift changeover times and virtually a complete lack of modern

technology' (report foreword). A number of recommendations were made to address these weaknesses and additional funding was agreed to enable them. The review team expressed its commitment to taking the LAS 'to a financial position where it can secure a significant improvement in performance standards and become a viable applicant for NHS trust status' (Wells, 1995, p. 27).

Criticism of the LAS reemerged in June (House of Commons Select Committee, 1995). While endorsing the Wells recommendation that the LAS seek trust status, the Committee was concerned that 'it may not be practicable to achieve this by April 1996' (p. lxvi). It criticised the management of the LAS at a number of levels, and also the Page report and ORCON standards. It claimed that the 'recent history of the LAS has provided an object lesson in how not to manage a public service' (p. xxi).

Contrasting the style of John Wilby with the styles of those who preceded and followed him:

One was ... tough, assertive and insensitive ... The other was ... passivity and reluctance to take hard decisions ... The former led to industrial relations and operational disaster. The latter has perpetuated the fundamental problems of the service, and therefore its massive under-performance (p. xxi).

Commenting on the Page report, it called it the 'biggest missed opportunity over the past 10 years' (p. xxi) and continued:

The terms of reference ... were extremely narrow ... concentrated almost exclusively on the procurement and operation of the CAD system ... thus led to the production of a report which explained the catastrophe of autumn 1992 largely in terms of the faulty execution of a computer contract ... [and] dealt only superficially with the more general failings of the LAS ... [which] were those of ineffective management, under-investment, industrial relations problems, a complete inability to target resources to match demand, and an ensuing attitude of negativity at all levels. That attitude, a deep-seated 'can't do' approach, has even now not altogether been dissipated (p. xxi).

Commenting on the management of the service:

The fact that these problems, including the fundamental ones of rostering and management information, remained substantially untackled two and a half years after the computer crash, is an indictment of the management of the LAS, of the RHA, and of the NHS Executive and the Ministers who were responsible for overseeing that management. The delay in grasping the nettle of necessary change ... may well have led to lives being lost. It is difficult to resist the conclusion that the computer crash and the spectacular collapse of Mr Wilby's reform programme, led to a complete failure of nerve on the part of those who were responsible for the LAS, and that it took the public outrage generated by Nasima Begum's death to push those concerned into finally taking action (pp. xxi and xxii).

On the issue of procuring a new computer system, the Select Committee urged the LAS to 'consider very seriously the possibility of purchasing an "off the shelf" CAD system' (p. l). Whilst critical of the proposed five-year timeframe to introduce a new computer system, their comment was substantially moderated by the following:

We support the efforts that are now being made to improve the technical infrastructure of the LAS ... We wish Mr Tighe and his team well in the task before them, which as he himself has put it is that of transforming "the worst equipped and worst performer of all the UK services" into "the leader in its service to the public" (p. xlviii).

ORCON standards, the Committee argued, were flawed because of the undue prominence given to the 14/19-minute standard (for which there is no clinical argument) at the expense of the 8-minute one (which is clinically supported). They also questioned the distinction between urban and rural response times.

Commenting on the report, Tom Sackville, junior minister for health, said:

At a time when general morale is improving, and relationships between management and staff are probably better than ever, it is unhelpful to shake the confidence of staff and the public by dwelling on past problems (Department of Health, 1995).

#### The moves towards NHS trust status

Following publication of the Wells report, work on its recommendations commenced at the LAS. These changes addressed what Wells identified as inadequate staff distribution and a lack of modern technology, and the Select Committee referred to as fundamental problems of rostering and management information.

Developments affecting vehicle crews included the introduction of new shift rosters, a redistribution of staff among stations, and the institution of standby arrangements (in which crews wait in their vehicles for emergency calls). These changes aimed to ensure adequate cover when shifts were changing over, to provide a better alignment between staff location and patient demand, and to improve response times. They were introduced in May 1995, after lengthy and at times acrimonious discussions between LAS managers and trades' union representatives (House of Commons Select Committee on Health, 1995). Crew response times were modelled to highlight the existing problems to the 2,000 operational staff. A one-off payment was made to staff whose work location changed, while other measures adopted to enrol support for the changes included updates to vehicles, changes to uniforms, and provision of appropriate protective footwear (board director interview).

In CAC, manual operations continued during 1995, but some restructuring took place to relieve issues with ambulance allocation. The number of sectors into which London is divided for control room purposes was increased from five to seven, reducing the number of vehicles that individual allocators had to manage. Control superintendent – a "trouble-shooter" role – was introduced so that problem situations could be identified and dealt with quickly (LAS, 1995).

Work on creation of a sound technical infrastructure continued during 1995. This approach was criticised by some members of staff and external observers, both of whom felt that a new CAD system was necessary to achieve the required service improvements. During 1995, new radio masts and aerials were installed to support the increased number of sectors in the control room, hand portable radios were introduced for vehicle crews, the non-emergency telephone system was replaced, and a new ambulance control room was built.

Work began in April 1995 on the in-house development of a call taking system for the control room. The technological change enacted at this time took place in a discrete and self-supporting area that was analysed and dealt with in isolation from other influences.

The call taking system and this approach to it, called the Golden Circle, will be discussed in the next section. Broadly speaking, though, the idea was to exert control over the area where a change was proposed by drawing a golden circle around it, and working within that circle to achieve change while resisting the effects of external influences. The belief was that the diverse interests represented in the 1992 implementation, including vehicle crews, government, purchasers, the media, and others interfered with the smooth running of the project. So the approach taken this time curtailed that involvement. Although external bodies were not allowed to interfere with the nature or manner of delivery of the change, contact was maintained with the regional health authority via weekly project progress meetings with its chairman, which lasted until the service achieved trust status. The LAS also had frequent ministerial visits to monitor operations. Indeed, the number of reputations that, according to the Select Committee, stood to be lost if the LAS failed to achieve trust status made sure that those deemed to be responsible took an interest.

The new system, called CTAK (Call Taking), was due for implementation by September 1995 (Wells, 1995), when the LAS applied for NHS trust status. In the event, CTAK was introduced during January and February 1996, as the decision to grant independence was announced. So the LAS became a NHS trust on 1 April 1996 – the last ambulance service in England to do so – and it has continued to operate in that way since. A mandatory requirement on organisations achieving trust status is that the job of chief executive is advertised nationally. As a consequence, Martin Gorham, who became chief executive following the collapse of LASCAD, lost his job to Michael Honey, a former chief executive of Gloucestershire County Council. Gorham, who had been criticised by the Select Committee for 'passivity and reluctance to take hard decisions' (1995, p. xxi), was expected by many staff to retain his post (Channel Four Television, 1996):

I was under the same impression as everyone else – it was just a formality, he was going for his interview, and we all assumed he was going to be confirmed in the position (control room commander)

Everything was going smoothly, technology was improving, we were getting the best of everything coming in, and to suddenly leave like that was a disappointment and personally I feel gutted (telephone dispatcher)

I think a lot must have gone on behind the scenes that we don't know about (radio operator)

I was very, very personally upset that Martin didn't get the job ... I thought that the team he had put together ... had come on such enormous leaps and bounds, which has been illustrated by the performance of the service, particularly in the last six months ... and the thing that probably galled me more than anything was that having performed and done the business for the service, and taken it to the brink of being the best ambulance service in the country, I wasn't sure what else the bloke could have done to have delivered and to have retained the job that I know he wanted (executive director, Personnel and Control)

Following the introduction of CTAK, LAS performance against ORCON standards rose progressively for several months. By the last quarter of 1996, performance against the 8-minute standard had risen to 36% from an average of 16% during 1995, while performance against the 14-minute standard had risen to 91% from an average of 74% during 1995 (House of Commons Select Committee on Health, 1996). Thus, the four years to December 1996 were a period of moderate change within the LAS, in which the organisational and technological developments that took place were deemed a necessary and sufficient condition for the LAS to be awarded NHS trust status.

#### THE CTAK PROJECT

## The Wells report as a problematization

Wells, in his joint role as chairman of the regional health authority and chairman of the public inquiry into the death of Nasima Begum, initiated a discourse that became, for a time, the accepted basis for action at the LAS. In this dual role, Wells had authority to propose change, access to resources to facilitate change, and an interest in the outcome that induced his commitment to its success, and he drew upon these sources of power to establish and gain acceptance for a trust status discourse. He used public outrage following

the death of Nasima Begum to force LAS management and staff to speed up the pace of change and to persuade the government to make additional funding of £15 million available to enable this process. By couching his recommendations in terms of trust status, which few observers would contradict as a desirable objective for the LAS however unattainable they thought it might be, he was able to create the impression of unity of purpose in pursuit of a common beneficial goal. Finally, by publishing his findings in January 1995, five months before the Select Committee, he was able to set the scene for change on a decisive but largely positive note, whilst indicating weaknesses in the LAS that the Select Committee would criticise.

Recommendations made by Wells strengthened and extended those in the Page report. He addressed the need to match resources to demand (by changing shift rosters and crew distribution patterns), to improve internal and external communications, to maintain staff training and vehicle modernisation programmes, to develop a CAD system, and to have a national review of ORCON standards. By setting 'a tight timetable for the implementation of its recommendations' (report foreword) and by identifying numerous intermediate deliverables and review points, the Wells report focused attention in the LAS on restoring public confidence. In so doing, Wells neutralised criticism from the external lobby and defined an OPP in trust status as the way to improving the performance of the LAS.

In this way, Wells identified not only a crucial goal for the LAS, but within an established internal market in the UK NHS, arguably the only possible goal if the LAS was to continue as an organisational entity in its own right. In recommending a trust status goal, and by fixing a date for its attainment, he presented a solution to the need for service improvements and also addressed the issue of how the LAS would be managed when the regional health authorities were abolished in April 1996. If the LAS had not become an NHS trust, special arrangements would need to have been made to manage it, such as breaking it up and amalgamating the constituent parts with other authorities (board director interview). By raising an issue about the future management of the LAS, Wells was able to gain acceptance for his proposal because other options, seemingly available to accomplish the task, were very unattractive to members of the service. How substantial these options were can be no more than a matter for speculation, but in light of the industrial relations history of the LAS, it seems reasonable to suggest that they might have presented as many

problems as they did attractions for any who undertook them. Thus Wells presented a problematization that was difficult to contradict, to the extent that the Select Committee also endorsed a trust status goal for the LAS, although they were concerned about an April 1996 implementation date.

## How information technology was implicated in the trust status discourse

Part of the problematization presented by Wells was a definition of identities for key actors required for establishing the trust status discourse within the LAS. In this way, he linked the interests of the regional health authority with identities proposed for LAS senior managers, in which service improvements were a necessary condition to accomplish the proposed goal. Each of these actors had some room for manoeuvre while their identities were stabilised, but when the Select Committee reported in June 1995 it gave the IT director more room than others.

The service improvements to match resources to demand, which were a key part of the identities proposed for other senior managers, have been discussed already, so this section focuses on how information technology was implicated in the discourse. In this sense, the OPP was concerned with implementing a call taking system in September 1995, which would enable the necessary improvements in performance against ORCON standards to qualify for trust status in April 1996. In this way, although the objective of developing a full CAD system by 1997 was endorsed in the Wells report, implementing the full system was not part of the OPP, since the goal was to achieve trust status beforehand. Thus the Wells report did not address how, in light of continually rising call volumes, satisfactory performance as a trust would be maintained if a full CAD system was not installed during 1997. The post-1996 developments are discussed in the next chapter. For now, though, I focus on how the IT director defined, enrolled and mobilised support for earlier technological developments after negotiating his own identity, or more specifically, the definition of the technology he was required to implement.

# Negotiating the definition of technology

During 1994 and 1995, the IT director, in collaboration with a few members of the senior management team, used the power of an ailing IT infrastructure to slow the pace of change to enable him to 'have something that I knew I could deliver' (IT director interview). It was well-recognised among this group that this move would 'be seen as stalling' (LAS, 1994b), yet Wells built on and formalised this approach, and then the Select Committee, in contrast to its comments on other management initiatives, reinforced this course of action.

The IT director's strategy for dealing with external bodies by portraying the LAS as 'an organisation working hard to succeed and making significant progress' proved successful again on the issue of procuring a new computer system. This time the Select Committee urged him to consider purchasing a packaged CAD system but did not insist, despite the successful experiences of other services and its insistence on many other things. So the IT director pursued a bespoke development approach. Thus he employed existing infrastructural weaknesses as an interessement device to divert attention away from a full packaged CAD system towards a system with reduced scope (call taking only) built inhouse on a sound IT infrastructure. In this way he negotiated his identity, whilst setting the scene for development of the CTAK system in which he became a key actor.

#### The Golden Circle

Improvements to IT infrastructure were accepted by operational staff as necessary safety measures to ensure a satisfactory level of service, but this rationale was insufficient to enrol support for the changes in working practices that would be required when elements of a CAD system were introduced. So the IT director employed the Golden Circle approach to build a network of interests around the CTAK system. This approach involved managing change by partitioning activities, so as to isolate areas directly involved in a change from other influences within and outside the LAS (LAS, 1994b; 1994c). The argument was that those outside the Circle were not affected by the change, hence should not interfere with it. The Circle was drawn around the 300 staff in CAC, identified as those with a legitimate interest in development of a call taking system. People outside the Golden Circle, including vehicle crews, were not aware of the implementation date for

the new system. The first the crews knew of it was when they observed that calls were being handled more quickly by the control room (IT director interview). This approach built on existing support within the control room for a call taking system and sought to persuade this group that such a system could be implemented successfully.

Using rhetoric concerning how the LAS had failed before with both a bespoke development and a packaged solution, the IT director says that he was able to introduce prototyping techniques. This terminology is interesting in the way it suggests that prototyping, like bespoke development or packaged implementation, is a strategy rather than a technique for systems development. By proposing an approach in which the LAS would write their own software in-house, the IT director was clearly showing a preference for a bespoke strategy. However, by emphasising the techniques, he was able to create the impression that the approach was one the LAS had not tried – and equally importantly had not failed with – before, although bespoke software was a major, and not unproblematic, aspect of the LASCAD project. Nevertheless, the techniques gave control room staff an identity – as an actively involved user group – within the development process, so the IT director had some grounds for his claim that the approach was different. In emphasising the techniques, he achieved two objectives. He allayed fears that the LAS would fail again with information technology, while simultaneously preserving the rhetoric that 'we're different, we're special', hence that the packaged solutions adopted by other services were inappropriate for the LAS.

In the space for movement opened up between regimes the Golden Circle was created, which isolated staff in CAC from external influences that might see things otherwise. These members of staff were not aware of either the Golden Circle terminology or the related policy of partitioning until implementation of the CTAK system in 1996 (meetings with CAC staff). Yet the approach was laid out in the technology strategy written in late 1994. So control room staff were seduced into an alliance, the rules of engagement in which became apparent to them only over time. Nevertheless, these members of staff were aware that something was taking place in a shared space, which was substantially different from the opposing regimes that characterised the LASCAD implementation. In populating a space with an evolving form and no name, CAC staff perceived what was happening to be the *active involvement of a user group*, and this became embedded within LAS discourse as

their preferred approach to systems development. A user view on what took place when changes to the prototype were required, describes it thus:

We'd sit in our little huddles in the corner [outside the shared space] saying "what do you think we should do ... what shall we say, and ... how will we handle this?", never quite sure what sort of reception you were gonna get. And we'd come away from those meetings [inside the shared space] sometimes and say "hey, you know, we really can say what it is that we want – we can tell them we're gonna have to have it, and then we get it – this is good"

Responding to my comment that the Golden Circle excluded significant others, and especially the vehicle crews, the IT director described it thus:

It was, rather, a means of defence on one part and a means of captivating and motivating the important and affected players on the other part. It was never intended to disempower but rather empower those who felt so hopelessly ignored in the CAD crash of before. It was about doing justice to those who paid a heavy price during the CAD collapse and ensuring their views were dominant on the grounds that others would be unaffected. It was about team spirit, togetherness, and a sense of identity. It was often almost palpably tangible but sometimes gossamer like. It was real, it was false, it was for use, it served no purpose, it hindered, it facilitated, it empowered, it excluded, it included, it marginalised, it promoted strength, it promoted willpower, but most of all, it worked!!!!! [exclamation marks in the original]

## Figure 6.1. The IT director's description of the Golden Circle

In working to gain acceptance for the CTAK development, the IT director adopted an 'infiltration' approach with users (IT director interview). Key individuals were identified who liaised between the technology department and the control room. These individuals were trusted by "staff side" to protect its interests, whilst being considered supportive of the proposed changes by "management side". Deals made with both sides by these individuals were instrumental in enrolling and mobilising support for technological change. The IT director described one such member of staff as:

a great lump of glue that brought all the interests together, because at that time [second half 1995] some people thought that they could talk to us and some people thought they couldn't, but they all thought they could talk to [member of staff].

The staff member, who described the role as cementing relationships, commented:

we made a pact with one another ... in trying to get the trust of the people in Control that we would not let anything happen that would be detrimental, so there were a lot of instances where we had to say "stop" ... we had to be sure that things that were allowed to go wrong last time couldn't go wrong this time ... we had to do a lot of work on helping people to believe that we wouldn't let us go down that route again – never again!

Within the Golden Circle, four different solutions were evaluated, prototypes of two of these were demonstrated to the user group, and then one was developed and built in joint consultation. The scope of CTAK and the degree of automation attempted were considerably less far-reaching than for LASCAD. Indeed, CTAK comprised just one of the six elements of a full CAD system described earlier. In effect, the aim was to replace the existing manual system of recording call details on slips of paper, and using human runners to transport the slips around the control room, with online data entry and related enquiry and printing facilities. An online gazetteer replaced the manual method of using a map book to determine a grid reference for the allocator. Whilst this system allows allocators to view call details as call takers are recording them, the paper-based resource management system for tracking, allocating, and dispatching ambulances endured.

As the project continued, different user requirements were addressed by inviting contributions from representatives of those interests (user group member interviews). These representatives spoke on behalf of the 300 staff in the control room and negotiated the final solution so that, ultimately, resources could be mobilised in readiness for implementation. Staff who were enthusiastic about computerisation were seconded to the user group, and:

we made sure we threw in some sceptics as well, because if you could convince them, then that would do a lot of convincing of other people ... we could use them to spread the right sort of word ... they'd hear this person talking about such and such ... people

would say "blimey, if he's saying it's all right, it must be OK ... because you can never please him" (user group member)

The IT director recognised stages during the period 1994/95, which he describes as 'phases of domination' (British Computer Society, 1997; IT director interview) – not at all unlike the periods leading up to the four moments of translation which inform my analysis. He identified the first period as one where the users were centre-stage. In this period their statement of need was over-specified in an attempt to maintain the *status quo*. This period lasted until publication of the Wells report. The second period was one of proposing technical solutions which would address a subset of the specified need, until a discrete area of activity was isolated to be the focus of attention within the Golden Circle. The third period was one where a view of the efficiency benefits predominated and hence a "value for money" discourse was invoked, while the fourth period marked the attainment of user support for the proposed solution with the emergence of the view that 'this is good enough'.

Here we see a gradual merging of the interests of the operational regime and the new management regime. In the first phase, operational staff concerns about losing control of their working practices predominated. On the one hand, over-specifying the need may be seen as resistance to "technology as a disciplinary mechanism", in an approach which sought to prove that technology cannot do everything humans can do. On the other hand, these tactics created space for operational staff to explore the possibilities for their preferred view of "technology as equipment" in the hands of those that use it. Could technology be deployed like the pens and paper they had used for so long? What were their capabilities to mobilise technology as they did these other artefacts? What might act against such mobilisation? In the second phase, publication of the inquiry report into the death of Nasima Begum created a situation in which IT developers could establish their credentials, by proposing alternative technical solutions to the issues raised. By inviting user involvement, IT staff were able to legitimise the project, as well as to acquire the knowledge of working practices they needed to design the system. In proposing solutions to a subset of the specified need using hardware and software with which they were very familiar, IT developers set the scene for later stages of the project where professional management interests predominated. During the later stages, managers drew on their

knowledge of risk management, benefits evaluation, and cost justification. In particular, by starting a discourse about risk management, managers were able to merge the interests of both regimes, neither of which wanted another disaster and public inquiry at the LAS.

This analysis shows how the interests of a diverse group of staff in CAC were translated and stabilised, and how those who were sceptical were included and focused upon in a tactic that acted against the formation of alliances with any who saw things otherwise. The Golden Circle approach and accompanying prototyping techniques resulted in an aligned network of interests around the CTAK system. Actors were translated towards this OPP through the use of power exercised in discourse. In stabilising the identities of control room staff, two considerations were crucial – their fear of failure and their conflicting need to enhance self-esteem. In the first case, staff used the powerful image of a computer disaster on New Year's Eve to delay implementation of the new system from December 1995 to January 1996:

... put yourself in the place of those people working on a strange system with the call rate rising as it does through December and reaching its peak on New Year's Eve ... why would we want to do this to them? (user/IT liaison group member)

In the second case, despite their view that 'we're different, we're special', staff were conscious of how far behind the performance of other services the LAS had fallen:

... people were not out to sabotage trying to make it work ... people wanted to be not looked down upon ... not just by the public at large and the press particularly, but by other ambulance services. When we were at that stage [implementation], other ambulance services were moving on to their second computer system ... and there's us still fumbling around with pens and paper. ... we didn't want to be the ones who are bad at doing things or so behind at doing things, so there was a lot of self-respect in there as well (user group member)

Whatever the rhetoric about the "London effect", it seems clear that part of the identity of control room staff was that traversing the OPP would not only improve the performance of the LAS, but also would restore their sense of achievement and with it their self-esteem.

#### REVIEWING THE CTAK PROJECT

The above analysis emphasises the use of power exercised in discourse to achieve translation. During the CTAK project, the IT director uses persuasive rhetoric – concerning weaknesses in infrastructure and approaches to systems development – to enrol support from LAS staff, the Select Committee, and other external bodies. He translates the Select Committee's contention, that he purchase a packaged CAD system, into a bespoke development of a call taking system, and does so while the LAS is under considerable pressure to improve its performance in line with other services, many of which are using packaged CAD systems. Moreover, he persuades the user group of the merits of a bespoke development strategy, although this is a strategy that the LAS has tried and been unsuccessful with before, even if the introduction this time of prototyping techniques is a new tactic. In this analysis, then, the IT director emerges as a powerful actor who, despite sometimes protracted negotiations with others, manages to align them with his preferred strategy for IS development.

Nevertheless, a relational concept of power informs the analysis. Action within the Golden Circle is seen as a negotiated process of systems development involving deals, pacts, and trials of strength, which encourages more user input than had been the case during the LASCAD development. So, although some user requirements are challenged by IT staff, and other requests are keenly contested within the Circle, the sense of a joint if not unproblematic venture rather than the pitched battle of the LASCAD project, prevails in the argument. Furthermore, members of the user group use persuasive rhetoric, both with their colleagues, to enrol the support of those sceptical about the project, and in their dealings with IT staff, to negotiate requirements and to delay implementation of the system until January 1996.

This analysis draws attention to the partitioning aspect of the Golden Circle, and to its covert nature during the early days of the CTAK project. Yet, the overall sense in the account is that, while power relations within the Golden Circle were asymmetrical, they were not essentially repressive (Foucault, 1980a). In making this claim, I need to address some key issues. Why was covert action thought necessary? How covert was such action, when uniform tells you so much about the wearer's role at the LAS? In this

way, even without being aware of the contents of the technology strategy, was it not possible for members of the Golden Circle to establish by looking around at meetings which broad functions were represented? If members of the user group felt that others should be involved, did they not have a capacity to act, as when they argued that implementation of the CTAK system should be delayed? Did those who were excluded have a capacity to intervene, if they felt a need to do so?

By way of addressing these issues I argue that, whether they called it the involvement of a user group or a means of managing change by partitioning activities, members of the Golden Circle were aware that the shared space was "made up" – that it was fabricated. Furthermore, whether they acknowledged it explicitly or implicitly, everyone knew who was included and who was not. In this way, all subscribed in some manner to the view that vehicle crews, and the various external bodies mentioned earlier, did not need to be involved directly in development of a call taking system to be used in the LAS control room. Nevertheless, members of the Circle were aware that the exclusion was not total, nor in some cases did they desire it so. In the day to day running of the LAS, staff in the control room must work with the vehicle crews, and therefore they considered the requirements of this relationship when developing the CTAK system. Moreover, they knew that the Select Committee and government ministers could have intervened in LAS affairs, if they felt that its approach to IS implementation was not an appropriate way to spend public funds. Equally, inclusion in the Circle was not unproblematic. The approach encouraged more user input than had been the case previously at the LAS, nevertheless systems development efforts within the Circle were fragile events that needed constant attention to maintain the stability of the group.

In this way, the Golden Circle did not endow its creator with control, nor did it deprive the user group of autonomy. The IT director was at times overtaken by what he had created. When he says that the development process 'was very time consuming and wearing, to say the least' (Computer Bulletin, 1997, p. 23), he shows some of the surprise he felt. He did not expect a system that, in its initial implementation, comprised three data capture screens (one for each type of call) with related enquiry and printing facilities to take nine months to implement, but 'we had to move at a pace that everyone could cope with, no matter what their ability ... [which] meant explaining over and over

what we were doing' (ibid.). Members of the user group were also surprised by the extent of their autonomy, as in their view that 'we really can say what it is that we want'.

The Golden Circle emerges as something that made action possible, despite certain fears experienced by its members – fear that sabotage might occur again, as alleged about the LASCAD implementation; fear, also, of another disaster, with all the media attention and public scrutiny that followed in the wake of LASCAD. Indeed, for many, a fear of experiencing fear again, the fear that gripped staff in the control room as they lost their sense of organisation or structure when trying to use the LASCAD system.

Now, a paragraph I included in my analysis of the CTAK project starts to come alive. It is the IT director's response to reading an early draft of this chapter, in which he felt I developed a rather limited view of the Golden Circle. In this rendering, we learn of the history of the Golden Circle, and get a sense of what it means to say that it was both exclusive and inclusive, both mysterious and rational, both constructed and real. I refer the reader to the IT director's words, in Figure 6.1, now that I have tried to give a greater sense of how I have come to understand them.

In this discussion, then, the Golden Circle emerges as a way of arguing and acting that made argument and action possible. Latour's (1999b) word for such an idea is a factish, although he seems resistant to the notion that social scientists can arrive at such a position from a Foucauldian informed discourse about power-knowledge relations. Nevertheless, with a little bit of prompting from *Pandora's Hope*, I seem to have managed that translation.

## Factishes, making-do and translation drift

Factish is a neologism indicating a combination of fact and fetish. It is a type of action that does not force us to choose between real knowledge (facts) and powerful beliefs (fetishes), but rather to focus on ways of arguing and acting that are always fabricated. In such a view there are neither amoral manipulators who take in naïve believers, nor apolitical moralists who argue for participation by all. Equally though, Latour would

resist saying that there is a combination of the moralist and the politician in all of us, if this were to suggest that these elements can be retrieved independently rather than being entangled, inseparable, and shaped with the same clay. The concept of a factish, then, is one example of Latour's (1999a) efforts to develop a vocabulary for actor-network theory that eschews distinctions such as power and knowledge, or politics and morality, that come to us *ex ante* loaded with meaning.

A factish is constructed, it is what holds people together, but this attachment does not decrease autonomy, rather it fosters it. In this way, we are always a little surprised, or overtaken, by what we do. That which acts through us is also surprised by what we do, 'by the chance to mutate, to change, and to bifurcate, the chance that I and the circumstances surrounding me offer to that which has been invited, recovered, welcomed' (Latour, 1999b, p. 281). A factish 'protects humans against inhumanity ... [it is] the thing that, when removed, turns them into monsters, animals, things' (ibid. p. 286).

When the Golden Circle is conceived as a factish, the rules of engagement in it are neither wholly mysterious nor entirely rational. Rather they are worked out as the project progresses, in a 'making-do, accomplished along with others in an event, with the specific opportunities provided by the circumstances' (p. 288). The need for constant attention, with unforeseen consequences, to a fragile moral order and an unstable social one is emphasised. Action within the Golden Circle involves an ability to grasp opportunities provided in the moment. After translation, a drift or slippage in the actors' original goals will be observed, in which they are surprised by what they have created.

A reading of the CTAK project in terms of making-do and translation drift suggests that, following the death of Nasima Begum, and arguably even before, the IT director was trying to find a way of arguing and acting that would make IS implementation possible at the LAS. He realised that '[u]sers' confidence was rock bottom, so [he] decided to start with some relatively safe but important [infrastructure] projects' (Computer Bulletin, 1997, p.23). In this context, his realisation that infrastructure projects were 'relatively safe' was arguably far more telling that his view that they are

'important'. Fear seems more significant in this move than the implementation of sound management practice. Similarly, the death itself may be seen as giving rise to a number of makings-do that grasped the circumstances of the moment, in which previously accepted methods of working were rejected. In this way, the IT director's discourse with the user group about IS development strategies and techniques, whether in the vocabulary of prototyping or "something the LAS has not tried before", may be seen as one that helped to allay their mutual fears about sabotage and failure. Indeed, the CTAK system addressed a need – to provide more efficient and effective support for call taking – that was accepted at the LAS as far back as 1992. Thus the challenge for the IT director following the withdrawal of LASCAD was to find an approach to IS implementation that built on this need without jeopardising the initiative by, at the same time, introducing some of the more controversial elements of a CAD system.

While much of the attention in this discussion has focused on discourses in which the IT director of the LAS was a key actor, similar concepts may be used to describe discourses in a broader community. In the context of the UK NHS, William Wells may be seen as someone who found a way of arguing and acting that made organisational change possible at the LAS. Following the death of Nasima Begum in June 1994, he argued that the service should aim to achieve NHS trust status. While undoubtedly some observers felt that the LAS could not achieve this goal, in the context of an established internal market, there was an absence of voices raised in contradiction to this proposal. In his joint role as chairman of the public inquiry and chairman of the regional health authority, Wells was able to support his proposal with additional government funding worth £15 million. In this way, he grasped opportunities provided by the changing environment of the UK NHS, at a time when members of the LAS found their existing factish – of improved performance using manual methods of working – to be wanting.

## An emerging emotional dimension

The analysis, then, emphasises the way various stratagems employed by key actors, including the use of persuasive rhetoric, helped to create and maintain network allegiances. This discussion interprets the political dimension of these actions, as an opportunistic effort to address a fear of IS implementation within the organisation. In

this context, such fear existed following the implementation of the LASCAD system, in which it is alleged that 20 people died in 36 hours following protracted waits for an ambulance (Guardian, 1992; Independent, 1992, but see Page et al, 1993 for a counter to these allegations). When the case is examined in terms of the concept of a factish, and a vocabulary of making-do, the improvised and unanticipated nature of the change efforts is emphasised. Key actors are seen to grasp opportunities presented in the moment to engage support for IS implementation at the LAS. The themes of fear and improvisation in organisations emerge from the analysis rather than being buried in the argument.

Drawing on the Foucauldian arguments that inform the sociology of translation, the Golden Circle may be seen as a regime of truth (Foucault, 1980a). In this view of activity, members of the community draw on knowledge that is both institutionally framed and locally informed, and enact it in a negotiated process in which some members obtain the right to speak for all. In the case of the LAS, various members of the Golden Circle drew on knowledge of best practice for IS development and management, and on standards of good performance for ambulance services, and enacted this knowledge in a way that was sensitive to local conditions. In particular, they were sensitive to the history of IS implementation at the LAS, and to issues of managing ambulance service operations in London. In this way, the Golden Circle provided a framework or model for IS development and management, in which certain ways of arguing were accepted by its members, and were enacted by them in a way that addressed a dominant mood within the community. Following the collapse of LASCAD, the dominant mood was fear, in particular fear of failure and fear of sabotage.

Drawing on Latour's arguments about the nature of a factish, the Golden Circle was a way of arguing and acting that made IS implementation possible at the LAS. It protected its members, as well as allowing them to accomplish things together. Here, Latour's (1999b) arguments about the protective nature of a factish provide a way for starting to conceptualise an emotional dimension to what was happening. So, I emphasise how mood, as an attunement with the situation and a medium within which activities take place (Ciborra, 2001) influenced the way that actors performed. Key

actors within the user group approached this period of IS development in an anxious mood, fuelled by their experiences during the LASCAD project. The IT director was anxious too, given the stakes involved, but he sought to combat this mood, to drive it away (Ciborra, 2001, citing Heidegger, 1995), by grasping opportunities as they arose, and by presenting what he was doing in a persuasive way to internal and external audiences.

In the mood in which they approached systems development, members of the Golden Circle sought to provide automated support for a limited number of control room activities, which in turn limited the number of people who were thought to be directly involved. The rules of engagement in the Golden Circle were negotiated as the project progressed, as it became clearer who needed to be involved and who did not. In seeking to prevent interference by those who were not seen as directly involved, the Golden Circle became a protection against fear (Latour, 1999b), but by attending to their structure, members of the Circle found that their capacity to act increased (Weick, 1993b). In this way, systems development activity within the Golden Circle was action in which there was time available, there were resources at hand, and there was a solution to the problem that had to be addressed. In other words, members of the Circle acted in a way that seems to be influenced by most of the attributes that fear does not have – they improvised. The CTAK system emerges from the process as something built by the group in interaction, rather than being, in a more traditional view of IS development, the product of a structured sequence of activities, such as feasibility, requirements analysis, system design and development, implementation.

Writers on improvisation argue that what takes place becomes 'visible only after the fact' (Weick, 1993a, p. 348), so that action that 'looks extemporaneous ... [then] turns out to be highly competent behaviour' (Ciborra, 1999b, pp. 136/7). In this way, it may be argued that what took place within the Golden Circle was broadly in line with a prototyping approach to IS development – an approach considered by many to be a highly competent way to manage the development process. However, the IT director (Computer Bulletin, p. 23) presents what occurred as the implementation of a decision taken *ex ante* ('we chose prototyping'), whereas the argument of this section is that such a rationalisation only became possible *post facto*. The latter argument explains why

members of the user group felt uncertain about how to handle requests for changes to the prototype, and concerned about how these requests would be received by IT staff, while at the same time they felt able to make such requests. If a decision to adopt prototyping had been agreed in advance, it seems unlikely that key members of the group would have experienced the combination of uncertainty and empowerment that took place within the Golden Circle. Rather the degrees of both experiences would probably have been reduced, since a greater degree of certainty about how to act during prototyping might have suggested that a greater licence to act should be taken for granted.

#### **REVISITING LASCAD**

If we now revisit the LASCAD project, we can make some further observations about the emotional medium in which that project took place, and the way that the LASCAD system challenged the activation box method of arguing and acting about resource management. The activation boxes are factishes for control room staff – call takers are not allowed to touch them and dispatchers can only do so under the supervision of their sector controller, or resource allocator. These boxes may be compared with the sacred stone or saligram which protected Jagannath's high caste family and could not be touched by the pariahs (Latour, 1999b). In attempting to remove them, John Wilby – as Jagannath – took on the role of modern iconoclast, but '[i]nstead of freeing the pariahs from their abject condition, [he] destroys his own humanity, and that of his [relatives], along with the humanity of those he believed he was liberating' (ibid., p.271).

All of the operational staff knew that these boxes were a "mere stone", a 'child's comforter', just 'bloody paper', but somehow the humanity of the LAS depended on their undisturbed presence (ibid.) – a presence that the CTAK system worked around but the LASCAD system did not. In this way, when the subjects speak about 26 and 27 October 1992 they reveal a dimension to this tragedy that is about more than poor industrial relations and resistance to a disciplinary technology. Without their activation boxes it is as if control room staff are surrounded by a fire with nowhere to run to, and the only tool available to them – the LASCAD system – was one that fanned the flames rather than allowing users to burn their way through them (Weick, 1993b).

Having said that the activation boxes were factishes for control room staff, vehicle crews accepted them. Indeed, since 1992 the crews' attunements with this method of resource management have been one of the most compelling reasons for retaining the activation boxes. Central to this enduring acceptance is the issue of granularity of work monitoring (Bowker and Star, 1999) – the level at which the activation box method allows the work of vehicle crews to be scrutinised. Once a radio or telephone dispatcher has mobilised a vehicle crew to an emergency incident, there is no further automatic time stamping of work until the crew is given the next call. In this way, the times the crew arrives on scene, gets to hospital, completes the handover of the patient, and subsequently calls up "green" (available) at the hospital are recorded after the event on a patient report form (PRF) completed by the crew. The PRFs are then processed by a batch system to determine the response times against ORCON standards. Thus, the PRF 'is a work of fiction – some of them could be up for the Booker prize' (manager, CAC).

In this way, crews have scope to negotiate their availability for work. How they are feeling about the demands of the job at any given time is extremely significant in such negotiations, and many things affect these feelings. So, if crews have just dealt with a couple of "crap calls" (their term for abuse of the service), or there is a poor industrial relations climate, cycle times will lengthen. Crews will take time out at the hospital before calling up available. How they construct the PRF in these circumstances varies:

It has been suggested to me that some staff deliberately record a time that takes their response outside ORCON ... because they are pissed off with the LAS ... [Others] usually don't change the response time. They are more likely to change the time on scene – there's no way of estimating how long that might be (service development officer).

So, vehicle crews experience a combination of cognitive and emotional dissonance (Morris and Feldman, 1996; Abraham, 1998), in which their actions and the emotions they display differ from how they perceive and feel. In general, a concern for patient care means that crews respond quickly and caringly during each call cycle up to the point when the patient is handed over at hospital, but how long they wait at hospital before reporting "green" is very variable. Compelling among the possible scenarios for

constructing the PRF to account for "lost" time is the one where crews reach patients within the ORCON standard of 8 or 14 minutes and then report that they did not in order to express anger or frustration with their managers. In this way, they remain authentic to their feelings about patient care, but fake it in the performance figures of the LAS, which may then attract public criticism of their managers (Ashforth and Tomiuk, 2000).

Of course, crews are aware that as they take a break at hospitals other calls are coming into the control room that need emergency responses, but their ambivalence to their work situations manifests itself in vacillation (Pratt and Doucet, 2000). Crews know that staff in the control room will give them an official break when they can. Equally, control room staff know that crews take unofficial breaks, even though the activation box method of resource management does not allow them to know precisely when this is happening. So, vehicle crews may be seen to engage in splitting (Sincoff, 1990), where they alternate between a concern for patients at some points and a lack of concern at others. The dimensions of splitting are both rational and emotional. If a crew has handed over the patient assigned to their care, they have completed a job satisfactorily; the patients who are now calling in are not their patients yet. Nevertheless, as they take a break at hospitals crews listen to their radios, and if they hear a general broadcast about a major incident – such as the Paddington rail crash – they offer up immediately. Indeed, 'they moan like hell if you don't send them' (manager, CAC) because attending such incidents is for many the "real work" of the ambulance service.

The emotional-rational dimensions described above formed a backdrop to the LASCAD implementation. The LASCAD system changed the level of granularity of work monitoring, because the system attempted to "know" what vehicle crews were doing at all times. Crew staff could no longer negotiate their availability for work – they could not judge when they could take a break nor could they construct their PRFs accordingly. The system was tracking their locations, and they were required to press buttons in their vehicles to say what they were doing, and all the while the system was time stamping their work. In some cases, their feelings and their responses to them changed from ambivalence and vacillation to ones of negativity and sabotage (Pratt and Doucet,

2000). Moreover, sector staff in the control room could not make do – could not improvise – without their activation boxes. During the LASCAD implementation, rather than using a combination of paper, experience, and "gut feel" to tell them what crews were doing, sector staff had a computer system that badly mimicked their prior improvised activity (Ciborra, 1999b).

However, the LASCAD system provided new possibilities for some call takers – opportunities to allocate ambulances if they were located less than 11 minutes drive from the scene. Call takers embraced this attempt to replace a paper factish with a technical one until it became apparent that the system and this way of organising around it presented serious problems. For the LASCAD implementation did not just redistribute responsibility for ambulance allocation; it no longer maintained the boundaries – the sectors or divisions – within which each allocator and vehicle crew worked. Members of the control room were now working pan-London, allocating ambulances in areas they did not know, and drawing as if on a pool of resources rather than on the specific ones allocated to each sector. They could neither fully gauge the implications of their decisions nor adequately grasp the resource utilisation pattern across the 620 square miles of London served by the LAS. Since time from scene, as determined by the system, was now the criterion affecting allocation decisions, crews were sometimes asked to respond a long way from their home station, which was not welcomed near end of shift. Emotions ran very high for 36 hours; then the activation boxes were reinstated. Call takers continued to use the system for a few more days – simply to record call details online, which the sectors could then print and deposit in their boxes – but from 4 November 1992 even the paper forms were being handwritten once more.

Channel Four Television (1996) showed the activation boxes being moved into the new control room during the CTAK implementation. Moving the boxes was described as 'the most tense moment of the night', a time when one of the busiest ambulance services in the world was 'out of action'. The commander (or senior operations officer) in charge of the control room on that night carried the boxes to their new locations. I wondered what would have happened if he had dropped one of them, and the image of a priest dropping a chalice full of consecrated communion hosts flashed into my mind. Of course, one could argue that the hosts are "mere bread", but that is not the discourse of a

Roman Catholic mass, and history has shown us the intensity of feeling within that community about its ways of arguing and acting.

# **CHAPTER 7** The Emergence of Priority Dispatch

In my analysis of the period to 1992, I argued that the operational regime at the LAS and a coalition of institutional, managerial and technological interests came into conflict, and that the operational regime survived, albeit in a more loosely aligned network than had been the case during the 1980s. Analysis of the period 1992-1996 shows certain members of the operational regime, specifically staff in the control room, working with members of the new management regime to achieve some first steps in computerising the A&E operations of the LAS. In the latter period, the Golden Circle emerged as a shared space in which such negotiations were accomplished. In 1996, as the LAS implemented the CTAK system and achieved NHS trust status, a national review of ORCON standards was in progress. The results of that review gave rise to a new regime of truth within the ambulance services, which changed the basis on which their performance is measured.

The new regime was the move within the ambulance services to call prioritisation, or priority dispatch, and this chapter includes an analysis of how that move was enacted at the LAS and a new computer system was implemented in November 2000. The emergence of priority dispatch, in combination with changing local conditions, interrupted the goal of implementing a full CAD system at the LAS in 1997. At the time of writing, full implementation of a CAD system has still to be achieved by the LAS, and its performance continues to fall short of the new national standards. This chapter, then, examines how goals were interrupted, detours were taken, and shifts in meaning occurred to arrive at where the LAS is today.

#### HOW REGIMES OF TRUTH WERE CONSTITUTED DURING 1997/98

#### A new discourse of modernisation

At sectoral and national levels, the period from 1997 to date has seen a stream of official publications and ministerial speeches outlining plans for modernising the NHS. The 1997 White Paper, *The New NHS: Modern, Dependable* (Department of Health, 1997), set the scene, outlining the new Labour government's plan to abolish the internal market in the UK NHS. The aim is that in 'a ten year programme to renew and improve

the NHS through evolutionary change ... the internal market will be replaced by a system ... called "integrated care", based on partnership and driven by performance' (chapter 1, pp. 1/2). The government's argument is that the internal market focused resources on administering competition rather than attending to patients' needs. It emphasises five key themes – working together rather than competing, preventing as well as treating ill health, decentralising responsibility for operational management, the need for quality and efficiency to go hand in hand, and the crucial role of information technology. The plan is called 'a "third way" of running the NHS ... [neither] the model from the late 1970s nor the model from the early 1990s' (ibid. chapter 2, p. 1).

In the third way model, local service agreements will reflect national standards of quality and performance developed by a National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE). These standards will be delivered locally through a system of clinical governance, in which NHS trusts are required to quality assure their clinical decisions, and will be monitored by joint mechanisms of a new national commission, a national performance assessment framework, and an annual national survey of patients. The new ambulance performance standards (Chapman, 1996) are an example of these national standards. They reflect the requirements of the national performance assessment framework for coronary heart disease (Department of Health, 2000a), in which the aim is to achieve a 40% reduction in deaths from heart disease and stroke in the under 75s by 2010. In London this means that survival rates (still alive one year later) for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest patients under 75 must be improved from 2% currently to about 15%.

In line with this changing view of what it means for NHS organisations to be responsive, call prioritisation, or priority dispatch, became an increasingly significant requirement on ambulance services during the late 1990s. It involves allocating one of three priorities (A, B or C) to an emergency call based on a clinical assessment of the patient's condition, and changes the basis on which ambulance services operate and their performance is measured. First, call takers need a mechanism to enable them to prioritise the emergency calls they receive. Second, the need to consider 'an appropriate' rather than just 'an ambulance' response for category A calls means that other types of vehicle, including rapid response motor cars and bikes, have been

introduced across ambulance services. These vehicles are strategically located and used, with the aim of providing a response to life-threatened patients within 8 minutes. These responders provide basic medical assistance, while awaiting the arrival of an ambulance to convey the patient to hospital. Third, allocators must now make more complex resource management decisions, not only because of the range of vehicle types available, but more crucially, because these vehicles must be dispatched based on the clinical needs of patients. During peak periods when vehicle utilisation is very high, deciding how to allocate the last few available resources becomes a much more dynamic process.

Information systems were seen as 'essential to the proposed changes' (Chapman, 1996, p. 6). They provide the mechanism by which call takers prioritise emergency calls. So, in the late 1990s ambulance services began to introduce priority dispatch systems. Through a structured series of question and answer protocols and embedded rules, these systems guide call takers through a process that suggests a clinical determinant indicating the severity of a patient's condition. Thus they enable the priority of each call to be assessed so that vehicles can be dispatched to patients according to the priorities assigned, and in this way, they provide support for clinical decision making. The emergence of priority dispatch has been accompanied by the introduction within ambulance services of local quality assurance units, which monitor compliance with the new discipline.

Although the determinant attached to each medical condition is determined at organisational level, ambulance services have limited freedom to decide on the category of response provided for each complaint. Indeed, in some cases the priority category is mandated at national level, as in the government imperative that suspected cardiac arrests receive a category A response (Department of Health, 2000a). In this way, a deviation from the discipline can have serious consequences for the ambulance service and the control room staff concerned, who will be accountable for the outcomes of such action. This eventuality may be seen as giving rise to a situation in which the suggested determinant is accepted uncritically, rather than risk the consequences of overriding it. Thus the embedding of clinical guidelines within information systems introduces a measure of standardisation into the processes of call taking and resource mobilisation.

However, it may also be seen as changing the nature of work in an ambulance control room, in which conformance with the discipline may be emphasised over individual human judgement of the clinical priorities.

The priority dispatch initiative is part of a changing institutional context in which efforts are being made at sectoral and national levels to move ambulance services away from their traditional organisational model to a new model with very different characteristics (Nicholl and Turner, 2000). The traditional model reflects ambulance services as hierarchical, uniformed, operationally-focused emergency care organisations functioning under locally informed medical direction and driven by protocols. The emerging model is one that emphasises a health service organisation whose role is to address a wide range of medical conditions, some of which may be non-urgent. Managers of these organisations would have professional management training and experience of health service management in a broad sense, and staff would be medically educated to national and local standards as appropriate to the job functions they perform. This new regime of truth in a sectoral and national context presents opportunities for local regimes to be reconfigured. Key interests in this reconfiguration, evident at the start of my empirical work at the LAS during spring and summer 1998, are discussed next.

## Concerns about performance

The performance of the LAS against ORCON standards was dropping. In summer 1998, some performance figures in the year to date were as follows (LAS Web site, week ending 12 July 1998; LAS News, 1998b):

3 weeks) (fin	irst 2 weeks) (	w/e 12/7)	
			50% 95%
	8% 50	8% 50% 4	8% 50% 41%

The shortfalls since April were a particular concern given the directive from the Department of Health, effective 1 April, to start timing against ORCON standards only when key details had been logged (LAS News, 1998a, 1998b), rather than as soon as the call was answered in the control room. The key details were the caller's telephone number, the incident location, and the nature of the chief complaint. The new ambulance performance standards were not yet in force nationally, but since the recent performance of the LAS was dropping against the existing standards, senior managers were becoming increasingly concerned about the shortfall to be made up before the new, and more demanding, standards took effect in March 2001.

# Information technology – the extant and the goals

By summer 1998, some enhancements had been made to the existing computer system, CTAK, to provide greater manoeuvrability around the screens and to indicate the nearest ambulance stations and hospitals to an emergency scene. However, there was still no automated support for tracking where resources were and what they were doing, or for dispatching them to an incident. So CTAK continued to address call taking activity only, an area of work in CAC where there had always been support for computerisation, to the extent that an attempt was made to retain the call taking subsystem of LASCAD in 1992.

Although CTAK was introduced as part of a 'survival strategy' (LAS, 1994b), changing priorities nationally and locally now meant that it would have to be updated to interface with a sophisticated software package for call prioritisation. Implementing the vital interface was planned for March 2000 and would test the robustness to change of the CTAK system. Work was in progress to automate tracking, allocation, and mobilisation of vehicles – major outstanding CAD tasks – with implementation scheduled to occur during 1998 and 1999. In interviews with the IT director in the second quarter of 1998, the following schedule of changes and benefits was identified.

Calling line identity (CLI) was due for implementation in October 1998. For most calls, this system would automatically present a caller's address on the CTAK data entry screen based on the telephone number from which the call was made. Addresses are made

available by agreement with the public telecommunications operator. In this way, calls connected by major land line operators would receive a faster response than previously, since the call taker would only have to confirm the caller's address rather than enter it, so that resource allocation could begin within a few seconds of call connection. Call response time was expected to improve by about 40 seconds. Working methods for vehicle crews would not change.

An automated vehicle location system (AVLS) was scheduled for implementation by the end of 1998. This would give details of the nearest resources to a call in a priority order based on availability. Tracking of resources would be achieved automatically via aerials fitted to the vehicles, which during trials had been giving a correct location on average 95% of the time. Vehicle crews would no longer be required to radio in their positions, replacing one half of the radio link between crews and the control room. An AVLS when integrated with the CTAK and radio systems would allow vehicles to be linked with the calls they were attending, automating the entire process of call taking, vehicle tracking, and resource allocation.

Trials of mobile data terminals in vehicles were planned for the end of March 1999. This feature would replace the other half of the radio link, since the terminals would act as the means of communicating dispatch instructions from the control room to crews that were mobile. Using mobile data terminals, then, the process of resource mobilisation would be automated. Mobile data was expected to reduce the time for information exchanges between the control room and vehicle crews to about 3 seconds (from 40 to 60 seconds), but would go against the Golden Circle approach adopted so far that system changes would not impact on working methods for crew staff. AVLS and mobile data were highly contentious aspects of the original LASCAD system, which were sabotaged by some vehicle crews, as described earlier.

An implementation schedule for call prioritisation, or priority dispatch, had also been determined. A phased development was planned, with manual operations starting in 1999, and a computerised software package due for implementation by March 2000 (LAS, 1998b). This system would change priorities in the control room, providing call takers with a means of determining the urgency of a call. At the time, the balance of power in the

control room was with the allocators who made subjective judgements about the priority of calls and the mobilisation needs of each, while call takers simply recorded information received from callers.

## The pace of change – views from the front line

Reactions to the pace of change within the service reveal some contradictions and paradoxes. Senior management had given a powerful message to staff about its expectations of the required pace of change when the LAS achieved trust status. The chairman of the LAS, in conjunction with the selection panel, gave the job of chief executive to Michael Honey in favour of the incumbent, Martin Gorham, who had been criticised by the Select Committee (1995, pg. xxi) for 'passivity and reluctance to take hard decisions'. Staff reactions to that unexpected turn of events, notably those of control room members, were described earlier. By 1998, members of staff in CAC were telling managers that the pace of technological change was not fast enough:

we have a very long list of requests for change ... some of those changes ... will be part of the next version, but some ... are two years old; people have been asking for things for that long and that means people lose faith a little bit ... some of those things would really help people to be better at what they do (user group member)

Whilst there was a strong body of support for technological change in the control room, delays to an AVLS and mobile data – from the original implementation date of 1997 (Wells, 1995) – meant that vehicle crews' responses to these technologies had hardly been tested since the LASCAD implementation. Even though an AVLS system would not require crews to take any action, they could find that control room staff, who would have automated tracking support for vehicles, challenged their availability more frequently. Direct crew involvement would have to be achieved to enable the use of mobile data terminals in vehicles to receive dispatch instructions.

Nevertheless, trials of an AVLS in a parallel running mode with the existing manual system had received a generally favourable response (IT director interview; CAC staff meetings) both in the control room and among the crew staff on whose vehicles it had been tested. Support rested in the trial finding that resource allocations suggested by the

computer system matched human decision making in the vast majority of cases. Still, the north east London crews had been chosen for the trial because they were perceived as 'friendly' to technology (IT director interview) and 20 enhancements to the system were requested by evaluators (LAS, 1998a).

Notwithstanding continued concerns about vehicle crews' reactions to the introduction of technology within their own working practices, there was evidence that, while being outside the IT implementation process, they had become interested in what control room staff were doing and why and how it was done. This phenomenon had become apparent during post-proficiency refresher courses for crew staff, which revealed some of the discourses that circulate within ambulance stations in the absence of information to the contrary about IT developments at the LAS. One such discourse involved speculation about the purpose of aerials left on the vehicles after the LASCAD implementation:

so when we start talking about what's coming soon which is AVLS ... they look at you a bit funny and say "well, haven't you got that already" and we haven't, but it's just that's what they think (refresher course team member)

When implementations of an AVLS and mobile data were attempted, they would take the LAS closer to the issues that led to the collapse of 1992 than it had been since. It would be a key event. If handled well it could be a crucial element in improving the reputation of the service and in healing the rift between CAC and vehicle crews. If not, it would surface old tensions among staff and between staff and management because:

there are some little Hitlers down there [in the control room] who would be very happy to say "you're lying" [reference to control staff challenging crews about availability] (manager, CAC support)

The apparent caution with which senior managers were grasping these particular nettles of change suggested that they were well aware of the issues at stake. Nevertheless, as the service drew nearer to the concerns that tore it apart in 1992, indications were that key actors felt it was in better shape to manage them this time. The IT director was optimistic:

I understand there will be problems, but ... I think it's achievable ... It's all about handling people really, isn't it?

#### **Industrial relations**

On the organisational changes in progress, industrial action had been narrowly averted in 1996 when standby on the roads was introduced (Channel Four Television, 1996). This initiative continued to be a very contentious issue, because of physical danger, abuse from road users, and the need for breaks. Each May, operational arrangements are reviewed with the unions. In 1998, further changes to shift rosters were proposed. So far, these proposals had not been implemented, owing to resistance from vehicle crews (manager, operational development). However, the management position on standby had changed, to being one of considering it as a 'hole-filling exercise', so long as ambulance stations could be resited in the drive to minimise response times. This position was a long-term strategy, which would involve a considerable investment in the estate, with perhaps up to 50% of stations changing location (estate director).

So, crew members had experienced changes to their shift patterns, they were required to standby on the streets waiting for emergency calls, and many had been allocated to new ambulance stations. Although the new computer system had improved overall response times, they had experienced no say in its design and soon, with the introduction of an AVLS, it would be able to monitor their whereabouts without any cooperation required on their part. One perspective might say that, given the requirements on LAS management to match resources to demand and hence improve performance, coupled with the allegations that some crew members sabotaged the LASCAD implementation, minimising the influence of the crews on future developments was a rational, if exclusionary, response. On the other hand, the Select Committee praised 'the fine work done by a majority of dedicated staff within the LAS', arguing that the new rostering arrangements and the early installation of a computer system would 'be welcomed by the majority of zealous staff, who have no wish to see their hard-earned reputations tarnished by a minority' (1995, p. liv).

Either way, the crews had aimed but they had not fired. They had held ballots, threatened industrial action, slowed the implementation of changes to shift patterns and crew distribution, but change had moved on relentlessly, if slowly. There was recognition amongst staff that they 'have been ill-served by management and by some of their own

colleagues and representatives' (House of Commons Select Committee on Health, 1995, pg. liv) in the past. Nevertheless, although moves were being made 'to construct a new relationship between management and staff', staff had been advised that the price of that relationship was to 'make the operations of the LAS more transparent ... [to] improve efficiency and in consequence morale' (ibid.).

Managers and staff were exchanging views via mechanisms such as post-proficiency refresher courses (manager, CAC development), staff letters in LAS News (the in-house magazine), and through union representatives. Meanwhile, staff were exchanging views amongst themselves by peer group pressure (Channel Four Television, 1996) and the moves 'by UNISON to appoint more forward-looking union representatives' (House of Commons Select Committee on Health, 1995, pg. lv). Letters in LAS News indicated the discourses that were taking place between management and staff:

In the April/May 1998 edition, a paramedic wrote:

I have read with ever increasing incredulity the answers given by senior management to points raised by operational staff.

Frontline crews are not entitled to a car parking space regardless of their finishing time! I would be interested to know which other London-based organisation has such total disregard for their staff's safety ... Uniforms are not being issued and when they are they don't fit properly ...

With regard to patient care ... [a divisional director's] comment (February issue) that "The change to vehicle-based drugs will mean that whenever a paramedic is working on duty, a supply of drugs will always be available" is at best a fantasy. ... I would like to know if it will be you standing in a coroner's court trying to explain why there were no drugs or equipment available ...

It's not all bad, though. Management have at last decided to trial stab vests and maybe they will be issued sometime in the next five years ...

As everyone knows we are now in the throws of having our working pattern totally disrupted again. Yes, ... we do know that providing a 24-hour emergency service

to a city like ours is not easy but the police and LFB [London Fire Brigade] do it and they do not treat their staff like our service does.

It was with great humour that I read ... that we now have someone who is leading the work for our bid to gain the Investors in People award. God forbid anyone from this award speaking to frontline crews – with morale as low as it is the LAS would not stand a chance. Then again, we as frontline crews know exactly what management think of us, don't we? It was broadcast across national television!

# The director of operations replied:

Your letter addresses a number of issues that have been raised in recent months and rather than trying to reply to each, I would like to discuss your concerns in person.

In the June 1998 edition, the paramedic wrote:

Further to my letter in the last issue, I had a meeting with [the director of operations]. It was very interesting and informative to have management's view of things ... As good as his word, within three weeks I had a written reply ... It is good to see that [the director of operations] and one or two other managers are trying to introduce a new style of proactive, not reactive, management.

#### The pace of change – how managers saw it

There was a managerialist discourse in circulation that improvements to date had been achieved by technology, but that fundamentally some people had not changed, in particular, the vehicle crews; that 'to move on, people need to change' (manager, operational development). Composition of the body of operational staff had altered significantly since 1992, with several hundred new vehicle crew staff in post (ibid.) – about 20% of the entire complement. Yet, there was a sense among managers that this influx of new staff, with no ingrained culture, had impacted in a limited way on attitudes and behaviours of operational staff overall. Among the changes in attitudes perceived by managers were recognition by staff of the improving nature of staffmanagement relations, the slow but increasingly positive attitudes of staff to the introduction of information technology, and peer group pressure among staff to 'do it

properly because I'm suffering' (IT director interview). These attitudinal changes complemented earlier changes in behaviour which originated from the days of John Wilby, and included acceptance of less formality in both dress code – with senior managers coming out of uniform – and forms of address – involving the use of first name terms (manager, CAC).

In other words, managers subscribed to the view that there were changes to the more visible aspects of LAS culture (Schein, 1992), but these changes were superficial and not universally accepted. In effect, they saw the nature of the changes that had taken place as a move from a manifestation of culture in which there was apparent consensus among cultural members to a position where different manifestations of the culture could be seen clearly to exist (cf. Meyerson and Martin, 1987). In this way, the crisis within the LAS revealed by the death of Nasima Begum was the catalyst creating a receptive political environment for a cultural shift (Pettigrew, 1990b); the influx of new staff enabled that shift to happen more readily than otherwise – yet the people had not really changed. Visible behaviours had changed, attitudes had changed in as much as staff were increasingly less afraid to voice concerns to both managers and their peers, but basic assumptions, which in a managerialist discourse are the essence of culture (Schein, 1992), were perhaps as ingrained as ever. So, in the rationalistic discourses of their management education, facilitating technological, organisational and personal identity factors had allowed a performance discourse to prevail for a time, but there was evidence of some weakening of it. However, in the more emotional discourses of their lived experiences, despite their best efforts, IS implementation and organisational change had not become irreversible within the LAS, and managers were surprised, and often frustrated, by the relentless demands of attending to a constantly changing collective (Latour, 1999b).

#### The future for the Golden Circle

Pervasive in the discursive practices described to me at an early stage in this research was the view that management best practice and information technology are neutral, rather than artefacts mobilised by actors so that both are changed in the process. So, for example, at first the IT director described the CTAK project as one in which staff and management had confidence, owing to adoption of a tried and tested technology, and a small-scale, low-risk,

phased approach to system development, which allowed significant opportunities for user input via prototyping methods. Later, he described subjective judgements, such as adapting PRINCE (Projects in a Controlled Environment) to be 'documentation light'; the informal communications mechanisms that he and others used to enrol support for CTAK; and the way that as staff engaged with and modified the prototypes, they in turn felt less threatened by technology. Nevertheless, at this stage, interviewees gave little emphasis to the intense negotiations that had taken place within the Golden Circle, focusing instead on the sense of achievement they had felt both when CTAK was implemented and later when the control room and CTAK received a British Computer Society award.

Finally, then, the IT director raised the question of whether the Golden Circle could be enlarged to include all LAS operational staff, or if it was now beginning to outlive its usefulness and approach its death. This was a compelling question at the end of my first period of empirical work. Indeed, the LAS approach to AVLS aimed to preserve the Golden Circle approach because:

The secret is not to ask them [the crews] to do anything. ... What we've done is we've decided not to go outside the Circle. ... It's because of the Circle that we looked at AVLS in this way, because nobody else does it like this. ... [Other services] will track the vehicles simply to get which is the closest to a particular incident [rather than using AVLS to track them throughout the response cycle]. They ask their crews to press a button to say they've arrived, and now they're leaving, and now they've arrived at hospital, and now they're moving off from hospital ... it's a specific action. Now they asked for that in 1992 here, and crews just went [he tapped the table 6 times], so the system fell over. But that's more the culture of this service than others.

But they're not stupid ... and when we went for the trial of pure AVLS to do this [the proposed method] in north east London a couple of months back, they knew what we were doing and how it had come about. So, you know, we're sometimes kidding each other, about what we can kid each other over (IT director)

#### HOW REGIMES OF TRUTH WERE CONSTITUTED DURING 2000

### The priority dispatch initiative

At the start of 2000, there was just over a year to go before the new ambulance performance standards became effective. A number of ambulance services had installed a computerised priority dispatch system (PDS), and several of these trusts were already getting close to or regularly meeting the new standards. Indeed, at the UK National Conference for Ambulance Services (Ambex, 2000), the Health Minister said 'I cannot but pick out Staffordshire Ambulance Service' in this regard, while declaring that 13 (out of 32) ambulance trusts yet to achieve their targets would be expected to show considerable progress by March 2001. At the conference, the new chairman of the LAS, who had taken up his post in October 1999, questioned the Minister about how much she believed could be achieved by triaging (prioritising emergency calls) over the telephone, rather than when a medical examination is performed. She suggested that 'there are a number of days you get through on a wing and a prayer', but she held fast to the aims of call prioritisation, and then dispatching resources based on the priority assigned to each call, so that those in the greatest need receive the fastest responses. Responding to a question from a senior executive at the East Anglian Ambulance Service, the Minister said:

any notion that we are prepared to lower the standards - no.

The issues raised with the Minister reflect concerns within the ambulance services about the efficacy of the new regime as well as the demands of meeting 'a far tougher standard' (IT director). Although priority dispatch effectively requires that fewer calls receive a response within 8 minutes, the new standard is perceived as more demanding than ORCON because the latter allowed *any* 50% of calls reached in 8 minutes to be counted. In this way, the ORCON regime created pressure to dispatch resources as quickly as possible to each call regardless of how urgent it seemed, while deemphasising the implications of having no resources available when, say, a "suspended" patient – one who has stopped breathing – was reported. Under a priority dispatch regime, services must reach 75% (by 2003, 90%) of category A calls in 8 minutes. These calls may be only 20% of their work, but they occur all of the time. In this way, services have to manage their resources much more

dynamically than before to ensure that their vehicle responses match a changing profile of call priorities in the control room. In the above scenario, this would mean diverting an ambulance on its way to a lower priority call to respond to the "suspended" patient.

For these reasons, services are employing "first responders" – typically, paramedics in cars or on motorbikes, but in the Leicester Square vicinity a former international BMX champion on a pedal bike – to provide a first line of response to category A calls. As long as these responders reach the scene within 8 minutes, the service is deemed to have met its 8-minute target. However, an ambulance must still be sent, since the patient will invariably need to be conveyed to hospital. In a priority dispatch regime, that ambulance should provide a better response to a category A patient than to those who are category B or C – in other words, despite the first response, the ambulance should arrive within 14 minutes of call receipt in 95% of cases.

In this context, a development of the LAS chairman's question to the Health Minister becomes compelling. How much can we tell about the urgency of a patient's need over the telephone? Substance abusers frequently present symptoms which when described to a call taker by a member of the public indicate a category A response, whereas a patient who falls off, for example, a building site, and sustains a serious and very painful back injury, may not. In these cases, the patients would need a medical examination before it was possible to gauge the seriousness of their conditions. For example, the first could have lost consciousness under the influence of the substance, but might recover naturally without any emergency intervention required. The second patient requires emergency intervention, but generally would not be life-threatened, hence would not receive a category A response. The issue I am raising here is not one about the ethics of substance abuse, although clearly such matters come into play as responses are provided, rather I am suggesting that call prioritisation, however expertly informed, might not pick up urgency of need in the above cases. Hence, it can give rise to consequences that few, if any, involved intend. In this way, there are issues for all of us when we make a call to the ambulance service, but few of us are aware of the extent of them.

A further comment from the Ambex 2000 conference is interesting in this regard. The chief executive of Staffordshire Ambulance Service argued that staff should dispatch an

ambulance as quickly as possible and worry about the priority later. Members of the audience were well aware that Staffordshire had been responding to over 80% of *all* calls within 8 minutes for some time, and therefore had not only been exceeding the new 8-minute target before it took effect, but exceeding the then current ORCON 8-minute target by over 60%. Nevertheless, few of the chief executives and trust board directors in the hall were sanguine enough to attempt a post-dispatch prioritisation strategy in their own services, lest they failed to respond to the majority of life-threatened cases within 8 minutes. Indeed, the chief executive of the Essex service, an advisor to the Department of Health, argued that prioritisation is essential *when the call is received*, especially for the larger services like Essex and London – the latter has about 9 times the call volume of Staffordshire. Still, it is interesting to note that the service that is out-performing all others, including the 50% that are smaller than it, is one that has chosen not to *dispatch* by priority.

# **Negotiating performance targets**

Between mid-1998 and early 2000, the performance of the LAS against ORCON standards had continued to decline. At the end of March 2000, overall performance figures for the service in the preceding three years were as follows:

Period	8-minute performance	14-minute performance
1997/98	37%	91%
1998/99	39%	87%
1999/00	34%	84%

So, by April 2001, the service was unlikely to meet even the existing 8-minute and 14-minute performance standards of 50% and 95% respectively, far less the new ones of 75% (for category A calls) and 95% (for category B and C calls). Thus, in spring 2000, under the leadership of a new chairman and a new (then acting) chief executive, the LAS agreed a revised timeframe with its commissioners for compliance with the new standards. In this

way, full compliance was not expected until December 2002, but interim targets were set (LAS News, 2000). The March 2001 interim targets required that:

- 55% of category A calls receive an appropriate response within 8 minutes, and
- 92% of category A calls receive an ambulance response within 14 minutes, and
- 95% of category B and C calls receive an ambulance response within 19 minutes.

The 8-minute response target for category A calls would rise to 65% in March 2002, and to 75% by December 2002 when full compliance with the new standards was required.

# Information technology – the goals and the interruptions

Between the two stages of my empirical work, several changes to the schedule of IT development projects occurred:

July 1998 the Trust Board sat down and seriously prioritised its work, and took out — certainly — AVLS, and it took out Calling Line Identity [CLI] and some other things ... but we continued with the manual priority dispatch system, which meant a lot of changes within our computer system. And [a year later] we brought back on to the table Calling Line Identity as a means of boosting the performance of the control room. ... So we took a bit of a risk around — well we didn't take a risk really — we knew it could impact the year 2000 programme, but we decided that, as long as it didn't do so in a detrimental sense, that we would pursue that one initiative [CLI], because it was more compact than trying to deal with AVLS for instance, which was more uncertain. And that went live last July very successfully, and we're very pleased with it — it's brilliant, in fact (IT director)

So the IT director argued that, owing to the work involved in ensuring year 2000 compliance, CLI was implemented 9 months later than planned. Moreover, he stated that work on an AVLS and mobile data would be resumed in August 2000, with a revised implementation date for both projects of April 2002. These projects had been scheduled to happen during 1998 and 1999. Instead changing priorities meant that, with the exception of a trial of AVLS in January 1998, vehicle crews had not at this time been involved in IS-related change since the LASCAD implementation in 1992. As a precursor to these two projects, the IT director proposed that printers should be installed on ambulance stations to

receive details of emergency calls from the control room, replacing the pen and paper method then in use.

Regarding call prioritisation, a manual (card-based) priority dispatch system (PDS) had been installed in the control room in November 1999, but implementation of the computerised version had been delayed from the original date of March 2000. In the event, the automated version of PDS was implemented in November 2000. Both the PDS implementation and the printers on stations (POS) project are discussed later in this chapter.

# The pace of change – views from the front line

In the two years since my initial study, staff in CAC had become increasingly frustrated with the pace of technological change at the LAS. Comments from them indicate a perception that the IT department sanctions the *operational* requirements and priorities that will be addressed by information systems, that IT implementation should happen more quickly within the service, and that its current technology is out of date, as in:

the tail is wagging the dog (control room member)

The millennium was the excuse last year, I can't remember what it was the year before (user group member)

I take it you've been to the museum on the ground floor [reference to the LAS control room] (manager, CAC).

From their 1998 position in which CAC staff were tending to 'lose faith a little bit' because their requests for change were two years old, there was now a very marked perception that the IT department was unresponsive to the operational needs of the service.

During summer 2000, I spent about 25 hours talking to vehicle crews in their mess rooms and riding out with them to attend emergency calls. While their major concerns were abuse of the service by callers, assaults on staff by members of the public, and a failure by their own management to communicate with and support them, they did express some views on information technology. These views include:

I'm all for technology as long as management aren't trying to use it to check up on us

How can technology help us? I don't see the need

I've no objection to technology as long as it helps me to do my job better.

Such views were not overtly hostile, although there was some suspicion of managers' motives for introducing information technology, and a questioning of whether my study had any relevance for their work. Nevertheless, crews were prepared to talk with me and to have me ride out with them. Moreover, when I asked questions about how they did their job I received detailed answers, a demonstration of the contents of a kit bag, and a running commentary on what was happening as we watched hospital staff make a failed attempt to resuscitate a patient. Views on the role of information technology also varied between stations, as the above comments from three different ones indicate. Some operational staff suggested that 'every station has a different culture', and hence a different response to issues arising. Others argued that technology is not the major concern, rather it is a pawn in a struggle between staff and management about working conditions, performance measurement, and forms of reward:

It's all about power relationships ... it's not the printers that's the issue, it's all the undercurrents (manager, POS project).

### **Industrial relations**

During 1998/99, relationships between staff and management at the LAS deteriorated further. Vehicle crews voted 91% against new rostering arrangements, as performance against ORCON standards continued to decline. The first line supervisor role at ambulance stations, called operational shift manager (OSM), was disbanded, even though the successor role of team leader was not yet in place. Commenting on these events a few months after taking up his post, the new LAS chairman said:

If you were a landing Martian, and that's a little bit what I am, you'd have to say "What on *earth* made you do that? How *could* you – in a situation where already relationships are very bad and you have just lost a ballot on the new rostering system, which you thought you maybe had a chance of winning? ... You are clearly out of touch with your

own grass roots. How can you persist in a policy of removing what little remains ... of your first line supervision?" ... So we have ... an organisation where the top and the bottom are disconnected – where there is deep distrust between the top and the bottom – and the people we have just pointed to in the middle are caught in the middle because nobody trusts them.

In this industrial relations climate, IT projects had focused exclusively on requirements that would mean no change to working practices for vehicle crews. Although the AVLS trial had been generally well received, especially in the control room, some warning bells had been sounded about the extent to which performance is contested among different actors:

We did have some incidents that we would have preferred not to have had with crews, and we did discover that our performance was quite possibly not what we think it is, because AVLS says it's something else. ... No up-front, overt resistance to "Hey, I'm not gonna do that ... I'm not driving that vehicle" ... but an increase in incidents of damage to equipment. ... And also in terms of performance, you know, finding out that what crews actually write down – they say are times of activities – actually we have some difficulty correlating what the system is saying they were actually doing. ... Lots of incidents in the control room where the crews felt they were being trapped [because where they said they were and where AVLS was plotting them was different] ... Those are issues that will come back. It was an early taster that the issues of the past are not truly gone – we've still got a lot to do (board director)

# The new management discourses

By February 2000, the LAS had a new chairman in post and had appointed their director of operations as chief executive in an acting capacity. The chairman's theme of reinstating first line supervision for ambulance crews was a pervasive discourse within the organisation at all levels, and was mentioned many times in my interviews with staff. For those on the front line, the team leader role provided an opportunity for recognition of their efforts and promotion. For senior managers it was seen as a 'very powerful' mechanism for gaining:

direct access to 150 staff that you can influence, that you can get feedback from ... in an organised way ... It is and remains I think one of the biggest opportunities to change this organisation (chief executive).

In a move generally welcomed by those on the front line, the new chairman reinforced the need for senior managers to maintain regular contact with vehicle crews:

They never, ever, see anyone from here, and I have now instituted a little system whereby my secretary keeps track of how often each of [the senior managers] go out on an ambulance, because they need to be out there, and be seen.

Middle managers, in some cases, did not welcome directors' attempts to get closer to the front line. They saw it as the latest form of a discourse in which senior colleagues were undercutting their authority. The senior colleagues, on the other hand, were concerned that many in the middle management group let the rank on their shoulders do their talking for them, and in this way failed to gain the respect of their staff. Middle managers were seen as the most static part of the organisation, a part that had remained largely rooted in a command and control culture, despite the changing composition of the workforce and, more generally, a changing operating context for ambulance services.

Reflecting on some of the more rationalistic discourses that were evident within the organisation in 1998, the acting chief executive said:

I think that in theory the injection of a whole host of new staff in recent years, in theory, should have made a difference. The issue is who's influenced who, I suppose

The need for change within the LAS was pervasive in management discourses and this message was delivered to staff in a series of meetings about a service improvement strategy held during August 2000. The LAS Improvement Programme is a major organisational change effort, which requires additional government funding of about £40 million over four years and will be ongoing at the LAS until 2005/06. Although I make no attempt in this study to address all of its initiatives, its major themes should be understood as how managers in consultation with about 1,000 staff have defined what it means for the LAS to modernise. The modernisation message is that there is a need to improve support for

staff, a need to improve performance, a need to get the best out of technology – overall, a need to demonstrate results in response to government funding received.

We can't be in a position of negotiating with staff what they will and won't do all the time – I'm exaggerating for effect (chief executive to staff at LAS Improvement Programme meeting)

In all of this, there was a generally optimistic view among managers that the LAS was now in better shape to extend its use of information technology, even into areas where working practices for vehicle crews would be affected. The IT director was encouraged by the favourable response to installing e-mail on ambulance stations, the follow-up requests for office products, and the way staff had trained themselves to use the new software. Nevertheless, somewhat more cautiously than his colleagues, he observed:

So I think these things taken together says the world is a different place out there, that they are prepared to do things that formerly they were not ... but is it different enough?

### The future for the Golden Circle

Before moving on to discuss how the PDS and POS projects were accomplished, it is appropriate to consider what future there seemed to be for the Golden Circle in early 2000. Views expressed by CAC staff, members of the IT department, and vehicle crews suggested that the demise of the Golden Circle rather than its continuance was the more likely outcome. In CAC, the view that the IT department was unresponsive to operational needs meant that the Golden Circle, as a space in which control room staff, their trainers, and IT staff worked together, was recalled as a symbol of the past. The discourse concerning the "London effect" was now that 'we are lagging behind other services' (meetings with CAC staff). Members of the IT department saw the nature of the PDS and POS projects as different from CTAK, so that an alternative approach would be required. On the one hand:

Priority dispatch is of course a system that is a product that you integrate into something. So in terms of what it is and what it does, and how it looks and how it feels and how you drive it and so on ... aren't actually under our control. It is "well, this is

what it looks like and this is what you get". Our activity is successfully integrating that and making it part of our system. The users don't exercise any form of choice in this ... It's an issue ... It could bring a quite different reaction (IT director)

On the other hand, the POS project involved a different audience from CTAK, both control room staff *and* vehicle crews, and hence the Circle for this project – if such a concept were relevant at all – would have to be drawn in a different way. How vehicle crews might respond to such a project seemed to depend on the prevailing industrial relations climate. The last time an attempt to mobilise the combined audience had been attempted was in 1992. Since then, the pace of technological change at the LAS had slowed considerably, and had been focused on control room operations, most notably on the working practices of call takers. So, the context for the POS and PDS projects was the same in some ways but compellingly different in other ways from the contexts for the LASCAD and CTAK projects.

### CALL PRIORITISATION AND THE PRIORITY DISPATCH PROJECT

Throughout the analysis, I have been using the terms call prioritisation and priority dispatch as though they are interchangeable – subsuming nuances in the terminology, while at the same time continuing to use both terms. Although this has been a conscious decision on my part in the writing up so that I may examine something that happened during the PDS implementation, it happened more unwittingly among members of the implementation team. In this way, some implications of the meanings of both terms in the technological environment of the LAS became apparent only when user testing of PDS commenced.

The term call prioritisation tends to focus attention on the need for call takers to follow a procedure in which a priority is assigned to each emergency call received based on the clinical needs of the patient. Priority dispatch is a more inclusive term, since it suggests both that calls must be prioritised and that vehicles must be dispatched to calls according to the priorities assigned (rather than treating all calls with equal priority). In this way, priority dispatch addresses the work of all staff in an ambulance control room – be they call takers, resource allocators or dispatchers. Moreover, vehicles (including fast response cars and bikes) and not just ambulances are involved for category A calls.

Finally, the constantly changing profile of call priorities in an ambulance control room affects the work of vehicle crews, since an ambulance may be dispatched to a call and then diverted if a second higher priority call comes through while it is en route to the first scene.

Although these considerations were understood at the start of the PDS project, what was not fully appreciated was that the embedding of PDS within CTAK might change the way information was recorded by call takers and then passed to allocators and dispatchers, and ultimately to vehicle crews. This change could in turn adversely affect both patient care and vehicle crew safety in dealing with the incident. In other words, although only call takers would use the new software – to prioritise calls – its capacity to act extended into the dispatch process, and in unanticipated as well as preconceived ways. The unanticipated outcomes were acknowledged explicitly when the user testing team saw the combined information system for the first time during user acceptance. The implicit assumption at the start of the project that allocators and crews needed to react to the outcomes of an automated call prioritisation process were challenged when the team found that technology could act to change the dispatch process without the cooperation of allocators or crews. Thus the nuances in meaning between the terms call prioritisation and priority dispatch become important as we go on to examine the PDS project.

# The problematization

In London in 1992 there were traces of the need to reconsider ORCON standards, as some LAS staff informally responded to calls on a priority basis in ways that were very variable, were often more emotional than rational, and were sometimes based on poor quality information about emergency incidents. Indeed, the Wells (1995) report into the death in London of Nasima Begum, following a 53-minute wait for an ambulance, reveals a number of such concerns. Both the Wells report and the report of a House of Commons Select Committee (1995) into LAS performance called for a national review of ORCON standards. Thus they attributed problems at the LAS to wider causes than the failed attempt at total automation in 1992, and judged that these problems might

increasingly affect other ambulance services, despite their greater degree of automation. The review of ORCON standards in 1996 was a response to these findings.

The new ambulance performance standards acknowledge that meeting target response times is less about total automation of call taking, vehicle allocation and mobilisation in the interest of speeding them up (as framed by ORCON standards), and more about targeting responses based on the clinical needs of patients. Nevertheless, the new reality in the ambulance services contains elements of both concerns. Calls must be prioritised, and a greater percentage of the most serious ones must receive an emergency response within 8 minutes. The priority dispatch systems, which ambulance services have purchased to address the clinical need requirement, operate by being embedded within existing CAD systems, which address speed of response. This embedding creates 'a tension between two systems with different goals' (consultant, PDS supplier). The goal of a CAD system is to minimise response time assuming all calls have equal priority, while the goal of a priority dispatch system is to make a considered assessment of patient need so that responses can be prioritised. This argument suggests that implementation of the combined information system requires a careful balancing act. The tensions that surfaced around the LAS embedding of PDS within CTAK in one such act are the focus of this section.

### How the implementation was negotiated

### The opening position

The project plan presented by the project manager to the project initiation meeting for the PDS implementation shows the project starting at the beginning of March 2000, with a "go live" date of 16 October 2000. The business case for the PDS implementation was approved in April 2000, and the project initiation document (outlining the project organisation, products or deliverables, and project control mechanisms) was authorised two months later. Nevertheless, the project initiation meeting at which technical, user, and service interests are represented in the formal start-up to a project (in the PRINCE framework for project management adopted by the LAS), did not take place until 16 August 2000. With only two months then left to go

before the "go live" date, it is clear in this scenario that the IT director's view that the 'users don't exercise any form of choice in this' was being enacted by some members of the meeting at least.

On the user front, however, these constraints were not accepted without challenge. Throughout August, PDS "briefing sessions" occurred. These meetings took place from 7am to 8am, at the start of the early morning shift, and involved the user manager for PDS, who I shall call Brian<sup>2</sup>, any control room staff who wished to attend and could be released from duty to do so, and myself as observer. The user manager stated that the purpose of the meetings was:

to show you the product [a demonstration version of PDS, available from the supplier], to give you an indication of what to expect, and to take some feedback from you.

Nevertheless, he made no guarantees that any requirements identified would be acted upon by the IT department, simply that he would ask Desmond, the IT developer who was integrating PDS and CTAK, if they could be actioned. Of the 350 members of staff who work in the control room, nearly 60 chose and were able to attend these meetings. Staff representatives fed back to those who did not, or could not, come. Commenting to me after the meetings, Brian said:

Desmond doesn't think staff should be involved in this. He thinks managers should decide and staff should do what they are told ... He would be very happy if I just came and told him all of the requirements, in line with how he thinks decisions about these things should be made. ... He's happy to talk to me about the system, but he refuses to come to meetings like that ... We'll have to see what he says is possible ... All roads lead to Desmond ... It's a big risk because he could get run down by a bus.

# Enrolling the operational staff in Central Ambulance Control (CAC)

In the PDS implementation, arousing the interest of staff focused on gaining their acceptance for a technology that would introduce increased levels of discipline into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> All names in this account are disguised

working practices. At a broad level, PDS would structure their conversations with callers and would determine the order in which resources should be dispatched. At a detailed level, PDS aimed for precision when data values were recorded. For example, it accepted numerical values for age (in years or months or via an age band), but unlike CTAK it did not accept A-adult, B-baby, C-child or E-elderly, if the caller could not or – as with calls from the Police – did not provide the approximate age of the patient. Perversely, in the latter cases, PDS lost some of the richness in the data, since the only value it would then accept was "unknown". An issue for managers was one of how, without giving rise to an overt staff-management conflict, they could contain the desires of some control room staff to customise the product to suit their preferred and individualised ways of working.

Briefing staff was a tactic employed to address this issue – one that involved them having a voice only to the point that a system requirement would be identified at these meetings if staff could compellingly show that service would suffer if the requirement was not met. In this move, managers were recalling the lengthy negotiations that had taken place within the Golden Circle during the CTAK project, and the effects of the many changes made to the LASCAD system 'on the fly' (Page et al, 1993). In the PDS implementation, they felt they did not have the time available for the CTAK project, nor did they wish to see the disastrous outcomes achieved in 1992.

Gaining acceptance for PDS at a broad level proved not to be problematic, since call takers had been using a card-based version of the system alongside CTAK for nearly 9 months. Indeed, a number of staff who came to the briefing meetings were in favour of a more standardised approach to the work of the LAS. Furthermore, many members of staff were keen to move to a Windows operating environment, and PDS, as a Windows based application, was seen as a first step in this direction. In this way, peer group pressure helped to enrol support for the project, so:

The interesting thing about that meeting was that many of the issues raised by staff were also answered by staff. I just sit there and let them get on with it (Brian).

In effect, the Golden Circle drawn around all staff in CAC during the CTAK project was being narrowed during the PDS implementation to include only a group of

operational and IT managers, who determined requirements in meetings convened among themselves. In particular, these managers decided, under medical direction, how parameters within PDS would be set to assign clinical determinants – indicating the severity of different patient complaints – to the categories A, B and C within the new ambulance performance standards. Moreover, they intended to enforce these assignments during system use through the work of the quality assurance unit – a discipline that the PDS system in its automated or manual versions does not enforce.

A majority of control room staff accepted in a broad sense this attribution of identities, not only because many call takers did not want to make subjective judgements about call priorities, but also because most allocators and dispatchers saw PDS as guiding their work not structuring it. Nevertheless, control room staff also thought that IT managers had too influential a role in deciding which, if any, detailed requirements would be incorporated – a belief that the briefing sessions tended to reinforce. It was less apparent at the meetings that operational managers also wanted to see a more disciplined approach to working, both broadly and deeply within the operational staff group. Notwithstanding some agreement about objectives among IT and operational managers, achieving an alignment of their interests was not straightforward, as discussed next.

### The identities of IT and operational managers

At the project initiation meeting, the logistics of the PDS implementation were discussed. These logistics had technical, user, and overall service dimensions. A user testing and training environment had to be set up, so that user acceptance of the system could be given and the 350 control room staff could be trained to use PDS in combination with CTAK. A crucial issue in implementing these arrangements was one of maintaining adequate cover in the control room while members of staff were taken out for training purposes. The training manager favoured conducting training at Waterloo, and was supported by other CAC operational managers, who argued that this approach would minimise the time that staff were away from the control room. The IT managers favoured using the LAS training facilities at Bow, about an hour's journey away, rather than having to convert a meeting room at headquarters. Moreover, CAC

managers favoured a phased implementation of PDS, in which staff could use CTAK only if they had not yet been trained, or CTAK and PDS when they had been trained. IT managers argued that the work involved in a phased implementation would delay other projects in the pipeline.

The feasibility of the proposed "go live" date on 16 October was also discussed. CAC managers were concerned that, in a "big bang" implementation, this date would not allow everyone in the control room to be trained – a move they felt was necessary so that all staff would be familiar with the implications of call prioritisation and not just the call takers invoking it. Delays to the "go live" date would bring the LAS very close to the "winter pressures" period – their busiest time in the run-up to Christmas and New Year – when implementation of a new system would not be desirable. In the discussions about these issues, Desmond informed the meeting that:

We have been delivered the product as a CAD developer. There is a CAD integration role and a contract role. We have to make our system work in a way that is acceptable to [the supplier]. Then we have to liaise with [the supplier] as an end user and give our acceptance of their system. ... What we have got, we can at best do a conditional acceptance on because there are bugs in the PDS system – you can have a boy of 13 who is 6 months pregnant. ... [The supplier] won't supply the dongles without acceptance of their system by the LAS. ... It might take them a week to send the dongles. When we have them, then we can [and he went on to mention configuration issues and linking to database servers].

The above comments were Desmond's explanation of the work he was doing, the dependencies between tasks, and hence how technical acceptance would be accomplished by 12 September. Nevertheless, user acceptance testing then had to be completed within 5 days – two of which occurred at a weekend – if he was to start installing the software *at Bow* on 17 September, in a further 1.5 weeks effort. Once the software was installed, there was less than 3 weeks to complete training of instructors, who would then train the quality assurance advisors and 180 call takers. The remaining control room staff would, according to the plan, be trained in the last 2 weeks of October, following the "go live" date on 16<sup>th</sup>, so that all implementation tasks would be complete before the winter pressures period started.

In this iteration of the plan, operational interests were subsumed within those of the IT department. The late time at which the project initiation meeting was convened left less scope for negotiating the tasks to be carried out in the final few weeks leading up to 16 October – the user tasks, primarily – than it did for earlier ones, many of which were complete or in progress. The identity of IT managers attending the meeting - Desmond and Graham, the IT director - was one of assuming that once Desmond had tested the system, user acceptance would be a formality. Yet Desmond's orientation was informed by an engineering approach to IS implementation, and hence showed little tolerance for the way humans intervene in operational situations. For example, it transpired later that the case of the pregnant boy was one arrived at by changing the nature of a patient's chief complaint during the taking of a single call. Although callers may change their minds in this way, to arrive at the case about which Desmond was concerned this would have to happen and then the caller would have to assert and the call taker record without question that a male patient was pregnant. While one can imagine the newspaper headlines if the LAS was found to be running a system which accepted that adolescent males can conceive, one also has to consider whether the human actors in such a system would behave as Desmond did when testing it.

I am not suggesting here that this case, however unlikely to occur, should be overlooked, just that it reflects a particular style of engineering-informed testing, and that Desmond's way of arguing at the meeting revealed that he thought acceptance of the system should rest primarily, if not exclusively, in a technical assessment. User acceptance testing was more likely to reflect a more human-centred and intuitive way of dealing with operational situations, but also a different set of cases that would merit attention. IT managers' language blocked IT-operational collaboration and understanding. Bow, they assumed, would be used for training, a phased implementation would delay other projects, negotiating with the supplier was a role for a technical specialist, and we all know what dongles are and how they can act to delay IS implementation efforts.

Eventually, the senior user manager present asked 'what is a dongle?', to which the service director added 'I'm glad you asked that'. Desmond informed them that 'it's like a sort of electronic key. It stops people making pirate copies of the software'. The

managers then had two apparent choices — either to replay the last several minutes' conversation in their heads to try and understand what Desmond was doing and the significance of the dongles, now that they knew what they were, or to ask further questions to make sure they had understood. They chose the former, and they may well have understood, but in similar situations other operational managers do not, and when they ask questions of Desmond and Graham:

It didn't get me anywhere

The terminology used by IT is not very understandable to the user group at large

It's one of three things. Either they don't think it is necessary to discuss it with you, or they are not prepared to discuss it with you to let you comment on what they are doing, or they know there is an issue and they are going to make damn sure you don't find out about it.

Since neither Desmond nor Graham was project manager for PDS, we may ask what part do project managers have to play in the negotiations about IS implementations at the LAS? I suggest that the answer to this question is to document outcomes. Project managers are drawn from a team called the Project Support Office (PSO), which falls under the remit of the IT director. Members of the PSO have lower rank than Desmond — who is widely acknowledged as Graham's second-in-command — and typically they also have lower rank than many of the user managers who contribute to IS projects. Not only, then, has an LAS project manager to coordinate a team whose members have conflicting priorities, but also to deal with situations where most, if not all, members of the project team have the seniority to undercut his/her authority. In this way, project managers are more like project management administrators — they prepare project documentation, including project plans, under the guidance of team members, they coordinate diaries so that meetings can take place, but they administer the project, as PRINCE-knowledgeable personal assistants to a team of managers.

# How operational interests rose to the surface

Following on from the project initiation meeting, CAC operational managers made further attempts to negotiate the approach. They were unsuccessful on the issue of a phased implementation. Desmond maintained his position that 'that will not be possible'. One CAC manager had queried this stance, and 'Desmond said we can't have it. There's not enough room on the server' to run two versions of the live system. The issue was then closed. This manager suggested that Desmond and Graham have technical knowledge that enables them to say "no" and no one can question it:

This is the power they have in the organisation, and I'm sure that sometimes they abuse that power.

Moreover, operational managers accepted that certain tasks had to be done in the order and in the timeframe that the IT department advised, suggesting that 'we can test 24 hours a day' (Brian) to get the user acceptance testing completed. However, they held to the view that training should be done at Waterloo. Moreover, when the system was handed over to them for acceptance testing, they argued that the way that CTAK and PDS had been integrated was inappropriate in some cases, but also, and crucially, introduced increased levels of risk in other cases.

In the first scenario, there were calls where PDS was not required because no clinical questions needed to be asked, nor any clinical advice given. These cases included ETAs (calls requesting an estimated time of arrival for the crew), RVPs (calls from the Police advising a rendezvous point for the crew, as during a bomb scare) and cancelled calls. In the second scenario, printing a ticket for the allocators' activation boxes took place once the call details had been completed in CTAK, as in the existing system. However, in the existing system, when the patient was in cardiac arrest or in labour, the call taker had the option to finish the call in CTAK and then refer to the PDS card set to give CPR (cardio-pulmonary resuscitation) instructions or to provide telephone advice during the birth. In this way, printing the ticket was not delayed while the instructions were given, and so the allocator had a marker for his/her activation box to indicate which crew was assigned to the call. Although this was an intuitive and unofficial way of working, it

was also one that addressed the limitations of manual processes at the LAS for allocating and dispatching resources. The integrated system aimed to support the official way of working – that instructions had to be given before the call was completed in CTAK – but this meant that allocators could spend 20 minutes or more without tickets for their activation boxes. In this way, they would have nothing but their memories to rely on about which crews had been allocated to these calls. The potential for resource management to break down was evident.

The above scenarios demonstrate how the embedding of structured conversations within CTAK was not uniform for all calls – a way of arguing and acting that call takers invoked intuitively when using the card-based version of PDS because they understood what the prioritisation procedures meant in the technological environment of the LAS. Attempts, then, to create a uniform interface for all calls when CTAK and PDS were integrated proved unsustainable once user acceptance testing commenced.

# Anxiety about the PDS implementation

In negotiations about the training venue and the issues arising from the way PDS had been embedded within CTAK, the "go live" was postponed until 15 November, taking the implementation date very close to the "winter pressures" period of December to early January. Moreover, training of allocators and dispatchers was postponed until after winter pressures. The training venue was agreed as Waterloo, and preparations were put in hand to convert a meeting room for training purposes. Two instructors were available to train the 180 call takers in groups of 6 staff per 4-hour session. As training commenced in the second week of October, modifications to the system were still in progress. These changes involved providing a facility to exit PDS in cases where clinical questions did not need to be asked, and to print a partial ticket for allocators in the middle of long calls where, for example, CPR or childbirth instructions had to be given. During the training sessions, instructors described the nature of the changes being made, and how the system would operate on the "go live" date. Furthermore, opportunities would be available for those who were trained early on to refresh their training closer to the implementation date, by practising in the training room when it was not in use for scheduled training sessions.

In this situation, anxiety heightened. If implementation did not occur before the end of November, the project would have to be postponed for two months, and this would seriously jeopardise LAS chances of meeting its interim target against the new ambulance performance standards in March 2001. Staff who had been involved in the LASCAD project started to recall the events leading up to October 1992. In particular, they remembered:

and all the time we were trying to prepare the training the system was changing all we'd be saying was "right, well, on the day it will do this and on the day it will do that".

Then they discovered the implications of a further issue that had arisen during user acceptance testing. PDS would now capture as part of the structured conversations some data that had been recorded in an informal way within CTAK, as free text comments on the call taking screen. However, PDS would record these data in logs not previously accessed by allocators and dispatchers, whereas CTAK printed them on the tickets for the allocators' activation boxes. These messages (the answers to key questions) might contain information of a critical clinical or crew safety nature - for example, assailant still on scene – so allocators and dispatchers had to know what they said, so that they could inform the crews. Patient care and crew safety were at risk. If this requirement was not addressed, CAC staff argued, 1992 might happen again. Crews would reject the new system, patients would be at risk, and public outrage would follow. Moreover, industrial action could not be ruled out (user group meeting). Allocators and dispatchers had to be given access to the logs, and then they would require a short training session to show them how to use them – their training could not be deferred until January, at least not all of it. So, although only call takers would use PDS – for call prioritisation – nevertheless it would act to affect all operational staff involved in priority dispatch, and in ways that had not been anticipated beforehand.

596 answers to key questions were examined in a process in which quality assurance staff assessed the clinical and crew safety issues involved, and decided which phrases had to be highlighted in the logs so that crews could be informed. Arrangements were made for a 20-30 minutes training session for allocators and dispatchers. The

implementation date was postponed until 22 November – in effect a 'drop dead date' (senior operational manager), which made further delays unacceptable. Moreover, two CAC managers who had played a key role in the project were now going to be on leave when PDS went live. When issues arose, negotiations took place between IT and operational staff, and solutions were developed in an emergent process of IS development rather than a formal one of enacting a plan prepared in advance. As the implementation date slipped back, and the buffer before winter pressures was used up, anxiety among staff was evident in meetings. Staff talked about operational risk as they examined 596 phrases, modified training sessions when system changes were made, and called progress meetings to check outcomes. In this case, risk may be seen as a set of discourses for managing the process (Power, 2002), discourses that staff enacted to attend to their fears that 1992 might happen again. This time the Golden Circle was not protecting them, but their talk of risk as they worked out around the clock what priority dispatch meant in their environment. With less than a week to go, they tried to say "stop" as they had done in 1995, but if they delayed beyond 22 November, a key representative from the PDS supplier would not be in the country. Had they worked through all the scenarios? Was it reasonable to think they could? Had all known risks been minimised? Would it all go pear-shaped – again?

# Mobilising resources for implementation

Senior managers decided that implementation would go ahead on 22 November as planned. The supplier was confident about the PDS product – a product licensed to over 2,500 users worldwide. Staff had been using a card-based version of the product for nearly a year. Extra staff would be on shift during the first few days of live running, and managers and quality assurance advisors (QAAs) would be on hand in the control room.

Tension was palpable in the call taking area on the day that PDS was installed. When call takers tried to invoke the system at 9am as planned, it would not start up. A modification was made to the system configuration to enable operations to start at 10.40am. The delay heightened anxiety, causing some to speculate that the LAS was again trying to use a system that could not deal with its call volume. The more established members of the service seemed to be experiencing the most anxiety, but

then many of them had experienced 1992. Call takers were asking for one another's help with the new system, members of the user acceptance team were in the control room to answer queries arising, and representatives from the supplier were also present. In a part of the room where there is usually extremely limited interaction among staff about work and how to accomplish it, the interactions were intense on that day. Interestingly, some of the younger and less operationally experienced members of staff were advising their senior colleagues about what they needed to do in the new environment of automation. On the sectors there was anxiety about using the logs, because this process was thought more time-consuming (because of the need to change screens) than retrieving the crew safety and critical clinical information from the printed ticket in the activation box.

Some in the room said 'it's much better'. Many said 'I think it will be OK, when we get used to it'. A few said 'it's just like last time – we're all here in the thick of it, but there's no sign of any of them [the senior managers]'. The managers and QAAs drafted in to walk about the control room watched for the first sign that help was needed or that communications might be breaking down. Based on my past experience of IS projects and what I had observed on this one, I did not feel that something disastrous was going to happen, yet I could not help being affected by a mood among some that it just might. It seemed that they felt they were in a goldfish bowl, and that the world was looking in, waiting to pounce if they made a mistake. If things did go wrong, then aspects of this project might not stand up well against the simplistic critique of a rationalistic discourse of best practice in IS implementation. However, without trying to suggest that this was a "perfect" IS implementation, I argue that it is such discourses that should be critiqued for the partial explanations they provide.

Overall, the system was implemented without any major disasters. Some disruption to the service was experienced during the first two weekends of operations, in which a build-up of calls made it necessary to divert some of the backlog to the incident room of the Metropolitan Police at New Scotland Yard (Computer Weekly, 2000; Sunday Telegraph, 2000). A union representative made it clear to the press that staff had tried to delay the implementation.

### After the mobilisation

In a meeting with the PDS supplier, their consultant representative argued that 'CTAK is about response time, PDS is about patient need, the combined system reflects the priorities of the service [the LAS]'. Members of the LAS enact these priorities in ways that reflect contradictory and conflicting interpretations of the issues raised by the new performance standards. For example, the declared objective of a recent strategic planning exercise is to turn the LAS 'into a highly professional and cost effective pre-hospital care organisation'. This objective is embodied in several organisational developments, including the introduction of PDS to support dispatching by priority or responding to patients based on clinical need. However, the working practices of staff and the local language they employ reveal the gaps between institutionally framed knowledge and the discursive practices of the community in which it is enacted.

For example, my observations of working practices revealed the diversity of responses to an automated call prioritisation process as follows. Some members of staff comply readily with the protocols inscribed within PDS. Reasons include finding them easy to use, believing that they facilitate work in the control room, and accepting that this method of working is the norm and will be enforced by the quality assurance unit, whose role is to monitor compliance with the new regime. Others feel stressed by the new procedures, and a few are antagonistic toward the quality assurance advisors (QAAs). A small group questions more fundamentally the legitimacy of call prioritisation, suggesting that it lengthens the process of responding to calls and that the LAS does not have the resources to deal with this outcome.

At times, control room staff bypass or override aspects of the disciplinary mechanisms, adopting them as guidelines only. On these occasions, staff draw on their own knowledge and experience to compensate for perceived anomalies in either the structure of the protocols or the priorities assigned to calls. For example, call takers who are mothers often feel well placed to give childbirth instructions over the telephone. When I spoke with them, they said that they feel the standardised dialogues intrude on what they want to say. One call taker said:

Sometimes there are other things I want to say [based on her own experiences], but I can't [because she feels she should follow the standard dialogue].

Another questioned some of the vocabulary of the dialogues, saying:

I've had five kids and "trimester" means nothing to me.

So she asks a caller how many months pregnant she is, rather than asking which trimester her pregnancy is in. In this way, call takers' experiences and philosophical standpoints come into play in the way that responses are provided.

Some patterns have started to emerge as to which protocols and which clinical priorities staff members find inappropriate, and QAAs follow up these cases and issue revised instructions periodically. So, as far as working practices are concerned, the reasons why staff comply or do not comply with a disciplined approach to responding to emergency calls do not give rise to any clearly articulated regime of truth, such as might be held by a particular community. Rather the reasons for compliance and non-compliance seem to depend on each individual's knowledge and experience of the job and of life, the extent to which s/he feels able to negotiate with QAAs about the suitability of certain mechanisms, and the individual's degree of comfort with using the system. Clearly each of these aspects may change over time, but, in the months following implementation of PDS, the network of relationships was both diffuse and unstable.

Focusing on the local language used to describe the nature of work, evidence emerges of uncertainty in the broader context and a confused pattern of local manifestations. The institutionally framed theme describing the LAS as a 'pre-hospital care organisation' is at odds with some members' visions of the organisation as an ambulance service dealing with 'real emergencies' which require a response 'on blue lights and sirens'. This is a reference to what is called 'red work'. Others articulate a broader interpretation of the role of the service to include 'white work', which involves transferring patients from doctors' surgeries to hospital and from hospital to hospital. Members of staff engaged in 'white work' suggest that they are 'conveying the patients who are really sick'. This is a reference to ways in which the ambulance service is abused by a significant number of callers who do not, in clinical terms, require an

emergency response. This abuse has continued despite the introduction of initiatives such as NHS Direct, which provides an alternative route for non-emergency callers. Members of staff who focus on abuse of the service suggest that in responding to inappropriate calls they are 'doing the work of social services' and therefore that the boundaries between the roles of the LAS and other public services are blurred, uncertain, or contradictory. Thus local language employed by members of the operational regime reflects more than a differentiated group of 'red workers' and 'white workers'. Rather it suggests a community in which changes in socio-political and economic conditions have given rise to uncertainty about fundamental aspects of the nature of the service provided by the LAS.

The objective to turn the LAS 'into a highly professional and cost effective pre-hospital care organisation' may be said to reflect a desired alignment of interests, whereas the current network is one in which contradictions prevail. Competing tensions arising from the pervasive presence of 'the ORCON disease' (explained as responding to all patients with the same type of response) and the need to move to a prioritised system of responses according to patients' clinical needs have given rise to further fragmentation of the operational regime. The process of moving from one regime of truth to another may be said to have started, but the manner of achieving this goal by disrupting everyday discourses is adding some contradictory and conflicting dimensions to the existing network of social relations.

### How anxiety sustains the status quo

In the negotiations that took place around the PDS project, three issues are compelling. First, CAC operational managers accepted a very situated approach to IS implementation more readily than the IT staff who had, in effect, taught it to them. So user managers produced justifications to support the positions they adopted in meetings (in general, written ones, as the IT department had requested in the past), which aimed to make their requests understandable to IT developers. Yet IT managers presented much terser and, in general, oral arguments, and when the user group tried to understand, by questioning these arguments, the descriptions they received were the *inorder-to* elements of the work stripped of the *because-of* motives (Ciborra, 1999b) that

would have given them meaning. In this way, IT staff did not present analysis or design specifications for the PDS project to CAC, nor did they engage, as with CTAK, in a prototyping approach to seek views on how the interface might operate. Yet CAC managers documented in detail the issues they perceived with the integration of CTAK and PDS.

In the PDS implementation, the project manager and a user manager prepared a business case and a project initiation document, but the detailed working of the interface between CTAK and PDS was documented within the program code as it was written. In presenting neither a paper image nor a development prototype to CAC, IT staff enacted the assumption that integrating CTAK and PDS was a technical exercise, which proved ill-founded when user acceptance testing commenced. Second, then, the IT director's view that the 'users don't exercise any form of choice in this' could not be sustained in the later stages of the project, and so attempts to make a boundary between what is technical and what is operational proved inappropriate:

[Desmond and Graham] used to come and talk to us a lot, but this week's events show how out of date their knowledge [of user working practices] has become (manager, CAC)

It's easier to say what you want when you have something to look at, rather than just trying to imagine it. When you can see it, you can say "I don't like that, but it would be better if we could have it this way" (user group member).

Third, 'all roads lead to Desmond' (Brian), and 'everyone knows it's a problem, but no one does anything about it' (IT project manager). In other words, the limited IT resource available for the PDS implementation was both a constraint on that effort and an outcome of previous efforts. Moreover, it was a constraint that user managers appeared to accept, and Desmond and Graham reinforced in action. Desmond is *the* IT resource dedicated to supporting the CTAK system. He developed it, he and Graham worked with users within the Golden Circle approach, and he was the *de facto* choice to integrate CTAK with PDS. When Desmond is on leave, Graham – in addition to his work as IT director, director for the LAS fleet and estate, and trust board secretary – supports the CTAK system, telephoning Desmond as necessary to discuss issues

arising. Occasionally, Desmond engages the help of another IT developer, but then only to make a minor change to CTAK under his guidance, and once the change is made permission to access CTAK is withdrawn from the other developer (member, IT project support). Moreover, as the LAS goes forward to develop AVLS, mobile data and any related systems, Desmond again will undertake this work. Indeed, Desmond was the IT developer involved in the printers on stations (POS) project discussed later in this chapter.

Operational managers, however frustrated they become during negotiations with IT staff, accept the way of arguing and acting about IS development that Graham and Desmond have established – a way that is situated for both groups, but where the degree of transparency available to users was reduced during the PDS project. Many argue that IT should have no budget, that the budget should be held by the operations directorate, and that operational managers should decide how and to whom resources for IS implementation should be allocated. Yet few moves have been made to adopt this approach so far. Although CAC managers played a key role in the decision to acquire a packaged application for priority dispatch and hence to enlist an external supplier in addition to Desmond, this was not a move in which their allegiance to Desmond and Graham started to founder. Rather, it was one that all acknowledged was necessary because a proposal to write bespoke software in-house for priority dispatch would have been unlikely to meet the most fundamental criteria of feasibility. In effect, it would be like trying to make a business case for writing a bespoke system for word processing rather than purchasing a package from one of the office products suppliers.

Again, anxiety about IS implementation infuses the discursive practices in which it is enacted. Operational members of staff accept that Desmond and Graham have accomplished with technology what others who came to the LAS could not. Memories of 1992 still loom large in the minds of many at the LAS, and they surfaced again during the PDS project. Throughout 2000, operational managers suggested to me that the LAS needs to acquire a packaged CAD system, as other ambulance services have done, and as the Select Committee urged the LAS to do in 1995. Yet, more than 7 years on, the LAS continues to pursue an incremental and bespoke approach to developing the

outstanding elements of a CAD system – a way of arguing and acting about information technology established by Graham and Desmond.

# THE PRINTERS ON STATIONS (POS) PROJECT

### The problematization

The printers on stations (POS) project was first raised during April 2000 and like the other projects I have discussed it was framed by a performance improvement discourse. At a preliminary meeting of IT and operational managers, Graham presented a proposal in which he argued that a saving of more than one minute could be made on response times to emergency calls if printers were installed on ambulance stations to receive dispatch instructions from the LAS control room. The time saving would be made because it would no longer be necessary for dispatchers to read call details over the telephone to a member of the responding crew, who would write them down and then read them back to check accuracy. In some cases this procedure took more than two minutes, if road names or patient names were unusual and had to be spelt, or if other circumstances relating to the call, for example how to gain access, needed further explanation. Such a saving, then, had the potential to bring many more LAS responses within the 8 and 14-minute ambulance performance targets, particularly since statistics suggested that over 80% of emergency responses were made by station-based crews rather than crews on the road returning from another incident. Nevertheless, mindful of the need for the control room to be sure that a crew was on its way to an emergency scene, crews receiving printed dispatch instructions had to wait on station until the control room phoned to confirm receipt. In this confirmation "handshake" with the control room, only the reference or CAD number of the call, the initials of the conversation participants, and the time would be exchanged.

At the preliminary meeting, one of the operational managers said:

I have a lot of concerns about this, all related to staff ... We have had trouble with this in the past and unfortunately we still have the same [trades' union] convenors in place ... We still have a lot of people who remember 1992.

There was a consensus at the meeting that saving time on responses was very desirable, but that vehicle crews would be sceptical of a move to introduce information technology in any form into their working practices. Anticipating their responses, Graham said:

They will say "well, this is what you are telling us, but what is going on behind the scenes".

The POS project would be the first test of vehicle crew responses to information technology since 1992 – the first steps outside the Golden Circle – and there was anxiety among managers from day one about whether crews would accept this move and what the outcomes might be.

# Interessement and the actors needed to accomplish it

Graham's proposal involved conducting a trial over three months on five of the 70 ambulance stations, evaluating results during and after the trial period, and then making a decision on whether to retain and extend this way of working by installing printers on all stations. The proposed stations for the trial were clustered in the West sector – an area where resolving industrial relations issues in the past had proved less problematic than in some other areas – and to make the development sizeable enough to claim the attention of a particular group of managers and staff. In this way, it was an attempt to build social relations among a discrete group of staff, not unlike the Golden Circle approach adopted for the CTAK project, although the Circle for the POS project now included vehicle crews. Moreover, it was an attempt to isolate a particular group of staff so that issues arising could be contained.

A strategic group, a working group, and an implementation group were set up for the project. The identity of the strategic group was conceived as one in which they would sanction the membership of the other two groups and determine the principles of the project, the operational priorities to be addressed, and the means of evaluating outcomes (terms of reference, POS project). The working group would undertake the consultation process with staff; agree the print design; develop new working procedures, a training plan, and a staff feedback mechanism; and evaluate outcomes from the trial. The

implementation group would conduct the training and oversee the implementation of the system at local sites. Trades' union representatives or their convenor were members of each group. Desmond would make the necessary changes to the CTAK system and act as the IT development representative on the groups, while a member of the project support office would undertake a project management role. Operational managers and trainers, both from CAC and crew operations, sat on groups according to their role in the project as strategic, tactical, or implementation-oriented, and help was enlisted from other LAS departments, in particular the management information section and the press and public affairs office. The former would be involved in establishing what difference the new method of working was having on service response times, the latter would help to develop and implement a communications strategy for publicising the project internally and externally.

# The process of enrolment

Members of the above groups engaged in a range of activities to enrol support for the project. Consultation meetings were held with station representatives to establish staff reactions to the proposal and identify areas of risk. The trades' unions agreed to support the project on a trial basis. Local managers and trades' union representatives briefed other staff, and a mechanism was instituted whereby participants in the trial could provide feedback in a log book or in a comments box on the printed tickets. Laminated posters, guidelines, and pocket guides were prepared and distributed to all participating stations and relevant staff within CAC. Staff bulletins publicised the project, and an article was prepared for the in-house magazine. A senior operational manager undertook a detailed risk analysis. Among the issues arising was how to deal with situations where printed tickets were sent to a station and there was no crew there to receive them. This situation could arise at shift changeover because crews arriving early for their shift will sometimes "jump up" to take a call for a crew going off duty, allowing the latter to get away promptly. So, when control room staff try to mobilise the early arrivers at the start of their shift they find they are not on station. Other issues arising concerned how to deal with "out of paper" or "toner low" situations, printer jams or other malfunctions,

sabotage, no dispatcher available to make the confirmation "handshake", errors during data transmission, and data protection issues.

In the approaches identified to deal with these situations, no assumption was made that crews would try to remedy perceived problems with the technology, and they were asked not to do this if it would delay their response to a call. So crews were instructed to revert to the established dispatch procedure when problems with the printers arose, while local managers would address the issues arising, calling in technical support as required. Nevertheless, part of the familiarisation programme for vehicle crews involved a presentation on how to deal with printer problems, while the familiarisation programme for control room staff involved demonstrating how to invoke and use the new procedure for sending dispatch instructions to ambulance stations.

The detailed scenarios worked through by project group members can be illustrated by reference to a working group meeting at which participants discussed what colour paper should be used in the printers and how changes to call details should be highlighted after printed instructions had been sent to a station. Members of the group were concerned that call details would go astray if they were not printed on coloured paper, but they also wanted a colour that could not be confused with colours adopted for other forms used within the service. They also considered what would happen if the coloured paper was used for other purposes, and an instruction was prepared advising staff of the specific role of the plain blue paper selected. The discussions about how to highlight changes to call details focused on whether these should be italicised or underlined in red on the amended ticket used by the dispatcher to advise the crew. These changes can occur after the printed instructions have been sent to a station, because often the caller is still on the line giving further information while the crew is being mobilised. If further critical information is revealed while the crew is on its way to the scene, the resource allocator will underline the changes in red and advise the radio operator to contact the crew and brief them of the changes. At this meeting, an italicised style was chosen to flag the changes to the allocator, who would then underline the critical ones that the radio dispatcher needed to transmit.

At the second meeting of the strategic group on 4 July, participants were advised that the trades' union convenor had resigned and might no longer be involved in the project. Industrial relations issues had been gathering force in the background. Although they were concerned with staff-management relations in a broad sense and specifically with requests from staff representatives for more trades' union convenors — who had decreased in number over the years while staff numbers had increased — nevertheless they touched on the POS project. This is the backcloth against which the process of managing risk at the LAS may be understood. Groups involved in specific projects try to guard against the possibility that they have left a loophole in procedures, in training, or in the system design that will allow information technology to be mobilised in an industrial relations dispute about wider issues.

### **Mobilising for implementation**

By mid-August, with just a few days to go before implementation of POS on the 21<sup>st</sup>, some vehicle crews on the West sector were in an angry mood and members of the project team were concerned about what might happen when the printers went live:

I've been told by three people on three different stations that they are not going to use them [the printers] until they get a convenor (operational member, working group)

There's someone down at [ambulance station] who's intent on stirring things up because of [the convenor's] resignation. They're saying if [the convenor] doesn't get support from management, then they're not going to support this ... We're going to have an officer on every station on Monday morning ... It's not the printers that's the issue, it's all the undercurrents' (operational manager, strategic group).

The project was implemented on August 21, 2000 as planned. Officers were present on each station to oversee the implementation while the first few calls were taken. There were some instances where crews refused to use the printers, and officers addressed the industrial relations issues involved as these instances arose. When the officers left to attend to their other duties, there were a few incidents:

It started off well, then there were a few glitches ... there were a few occasions of them turning the printers off ... There were a few occasions where the call did not print out ... if they'd pressed the reset button, then it wasn't set up correctly. ... They said until they'd heard from [the convenor] that everything was OK, then they weren't going to support it' (operational member, POS project board).

This implementation, then, revealed a small number of vehicle crew staff adopting similar tactics to those employed during the LASCAD implementation, but on a significantly lesser scale than experienced in 1992 and without the disastrous outcomes that occurred at that time. In separate, concurrent negotiations between trades' union representatives and managers, the convenor was reinstated and then staff began to focus on the differences the printers made to their working practices and the responses they provided.

## The discourses arising during the trial

In the discourses arising among vehicle crew staff, two issues predominated. The first had a theme of crew safety, the second a theme of patient care. In the first case, crews were concerned when they received incomplete call details, as occurs when the caller is still on the line at the time they are mobilised. The printed instructions might then give them no more than an address to go to, and so, for example, details of a patient's chief complaint would be missing. So some crews would sit in their cabs at an emergency scene until the diagnosis was transmitted by radio from the control room, lest the patient had, for example, been a victim of assault and the assailant was still on scene. In these situations, the address of the incident and crews' past experiences in attending calls at such addresses would come into play in the responses they made. Moreover, the amount of traffic "on the air" at the time would influence how long it took to advise the diagnosis, and hence the response time achieved to such calls.

In the second case, some crews felt that the telephone "handshake" with the control room delayed responses to patients. They wanted to pick up the printed instructions and get on their way immediately, "booking mobile" from their cabs. Such a move would add to radio traffic on bands that were often very congested as it was, and mobile

telephones were not part of the equipment issued to vehicle crews. Moreover, control room staff and managers were concerned that resource management might break down in these circumstances since they would not know which crew, if any, was responding to a call until they got a message from them. Memories of what happened in 1992 when voice communications were phased out are relevant in this discourse.

Within CAC, control room staff and managers welcomed the move to sending dispatch instructions via a printer. It was faster for sector staff, it avoided having to spell out unusual names, the printed instructions contained all known information at the time they were sent, and further details were transmitted by radio once they were known. Moreover, such a move meant that dispatchers could avoid conversations with some crews who would try to negotiate their availability for work, for example, by suggesting that they could not be the nearest resource to an emergency scene.

### The end of trial discourses

At the end of the trial in November 2000, statistics available from the management information section revealed that, over the 3 months' trial period, overall performance achieved by all West sector stations was much the same, regardless of whether or not they were involved in the trial. In other words, even though the five stations involved in the trial had responded to calls faster when crews were dispatched by printer, the response times they achieved when dispatched to one call while returning from another one, in which instructions were transmitted by radio, had got longer. Indeed, the response times the five stations achieved on radio dispatches were now much worse than on all other West sector stations and worse than they had been on the trial stations before the trial began. The management information officer could offer no explanation for these outcomes, although he suggested that they be investigated. Operational managers decided that they had some further work to do on staff communications before they attempted to install printers on the remaining 65 stations.

In the event, a discourse concerning the performance improvements that could accrue from a POS approach was established following the results of the trial. In this discourse, paying more attention to staff concerns was emphasised and a number of suggestions were made about how implementation teams might be set up to achieve more staff involvement. Recommendations were also made about the urgency of advising crews of diagnoses, including using a separate radio channel, and about the need to reconsider dispensing with a telephone "handshake" in the longer term. So, a decision was made to install printers on all ambulance stations during the first few months of 2001.

At the end of March 2001, the LAS met one of its response time targets for the first time – its interim target of responding to 55% of category A calls within 8 minutes – but its performance against the 14-minute standard dropped further. What installing printers on stations may have contributed to the 8-minute achievement, and how other concurrent developments may have affected performance is not in my view something that can be factored out. Nevertheless, the outcome needs stating, and other developments need to be mentioned. These developments included the PDS implementation, discussed earlier, the introduction of team leaders for vehicle crews in a move which aimed to improve communications within the service, and implementation of a fast response desk in the LAS control room. In the last of these developments, rather than individual allocators managing fast responders and ambulances within their sector, fast response units from two adjacent sectors with known "hotspots" for category A calls have been combined, and these allocations are now managed from a separate desk in the control room. In this way, the new desk manages aims to make more efficient use of fast responders.

### **POSTSCRIPT**

Implementations of team leaders and the fast response desk were underway when I completed my detailed fieldwork early in 2001. Since then, the first steps towards introducing an AVLS have been taken. A computerised mapping system now makes it possible for allocators to track the position of vehicles, but as yet they have no automated support for linking these vehicles to the calls they are attending, so that resource management is still carried out via the allocators' activation trays. Plans to automate the link between the call taking and mapping systems and to introduce mobile data terminals on all vehicles were priorities for 2002, but by summer 2002 it became clear that this goal would not be achieved (manager, CAC). At that time, mobile data terminals had been introduced in the fast response cars, but not yet on bikes or in

ambulances. Since AVLS and mobile data were originally seen as key to achieving full compliance with the new performance standards by December 2002 (ibid.), discussions were in progress about how the LAS would now attempt to meet the targets. So, incremental moves continue to be made at the LAS in the drive to improve its performance. Adopting the Churchillian rhetoric used by the chairman in his 2000/01 annual statement:

This is not the end. This is not even the beginning of the end. But it is, perhaps, the end of the beginning.

# **CHAPTER 8** Discussion

The last three chapters examined the history of IS-related cultural change efforts at the LAS. In this chapter, I reflect on what we learn from the case about the issues raised by the research question. That question was:

How is IS implementation accomplished when cultural change of an organisation is attempted, and what does this accomplishment mean for those who are touched by it?

The attempts at cultural change were efforts to disrupt the constituting discourses for a community so that the basis of truth is altered, as in Foucault's (1977) history of how we moved from corporal punishment for criminals to a prison system. Implicit in the Foucauldian perspective adopted for this research is the view that the outcomes of a change effort are unpredictable and may be unintentional, since a prison system was by no means the aim of penal reform two centuries ago. In the discussions that follow I introduce further concepts or unpack existing ones to reflect on the achievements of this research. First, though, I comment on how theory and fieldwork informed each other.

#### ON A THEORY-FIELDWORK INTERACTION

A discourse of modernising the NHS has been circulating in various forms for more than 20 years, and as with modernisation discourses to which many institutions subscribe, it addresses efficiency of operations, quality of service, and the benefits for staff and consumers of adopting advanced technologies. A regimes of truth concept focuses on how in such a discourse techniques of bio-power and disciplinary power become fused together giving rise over time to shifts in organising regimes from control-centred to self-disciplinary. This concept incorporates a way of examining how we argue and act and a mechanism for linking between the different levels at which a discourse is conceived and enacted. So, using this concept, the way that government finances, regulates, and monitors the performance of the NHS may be given an increasingly localised focus in terms of specific change efforts within the ambulance services in which the discourse of modernisation is being enacted. Closing the circle, the disciplinary mechanisms employed to categorise particular groups within this

discourse are implemented in the name of patient care and therefore these local efforts may be understood as accomplishments in which a particular service discharges its responsibility to foster the health of the nation.

# On theory guiding fieldwork

A regimes of truth concept was the theory with which I started. In this view, bio-power circulates in the arrangement in which government through the various arms of the NHS addresses the health needs of the population. The funding bodies, the patients' charters, various performance standards, and other regulatory methods constitute grids of intelligibility, or *dispositifs*, which aim to address patient care by matching resources to demand in systems of categorisation, measurement, and normalisation. The specific aim to reduce premature deaths from coronary heart disease is an example of particular importance in the ambulance services sector. This goal involves a regulatory mechanism with four main aspects. Calls to the ambulance services are categorised based on clinical need, targets are set for emergency response times to each category of call, the performance of the services against target is continually measured, and funding for subsequent periods of operation is based on an evaluation of previous performance. The norms of performance for ambulance services, effective since March 2001, are enshrined in the new ambulance performance standards, and the implementation of information systems was seen as 'essential to the proposed changes' (Chapman, 1996).

Disciplinary power operates at the level of individuals and groups. Implementation of the PDS system at the LAS involved the introduction of a disciplinary mechanism within working practices designed to optimise staff members' individual performances with the aim of improving the overall performance of the service. It aimed to standardise the process of call taking so that the priority assigned to each call is a function of the call taker's compliance with the discipline rather than a function of his or her individual judgement of the clinical priorities. Furthermore, by limiting the dialogue with the caller to a predetermined exchange of questions, answers and instructions, it aimed to provide a response to patients in the fastest time possible according to their needs.

Moreover, call takers are monitored by a call taking superintendent and a quality assurance unit. The superintendent has access to full details for each call in the system and to management information about the set-up and functioning of the call taking operation. This information includes summary details of each call in progress, including the duration, so that the superintendent is alerted to potential problems as they arise. The quality assurance unit evaluates about 1% of the 60,000 emergency calls received by the LAS each month. Members of the unit can listen in unobserved to calls as they are taking place, or after the event by playing back tapes of the calls received. Call takers receive an evaluation record and compliance rating which feeds into their periodic assessments for upgrade. Compliance reports summarising the ratings for each call taker and for each team (or watch) are circulated to managers. The ratings by watch are published on the staff noticeboard. Thus call takers are subjected to a disciplining mechanism and subjectified by it in the sense that, by reflecting on their evaluations and addressing the issues raised, they participate in their own monitoring.

The wall displays in the control room are a further disciplinary mechanism. Call takers respond to these displays in various ways, but they all watch them. Indeed, watching them is not only compulsive, but, owing to their positioning, almost unavoidable. At peak times the pressures they exert on staff are usually accompanied by a drop in compliance ratings, as call takers attempt to answer calls more quickly and in so doing skip over certain aspects of the call taking protocols.

#### On fieldwork informing theory

The above observations indicated at the start of my fieldwork that I had chosen a useful theoretical abstraction, but that is all it is – a theory and an abstraction. To become more useful, it needs some life breathed into it and a way of remembering the experience. The LAS gave it life, in the remainder of this thesis I try to remember the experience to make it more useful. For now, I include an account of lived experience that gives an indication of how my field data "tested" the limits of the cognitive argument I have just presented, suggesting that it failed to capture emotion in the organisation.

The LAS can be an intensive and stressful environment in which to work, but it has another aspect, which is engaging for those who work in it – they feel they have the capacity to make a difference. Earlier, I presented an account of the way that PDS was implemented. Five and a half weeks later, that system would have its most strenuous test, during the busiest shift of the year – the night shift on New Years' Eve/Day – which I observed as we entered 2001. On New Years' Eve, the LAS brings its fallback control room at Bow into operation to share the workload with the main control room at Waterloo. I was told beforehand that at about 10 minutes past midnight the screens will go red as calls flood in and then, best efforts notwithstanding, there would be at least a two hours' wait for an ambulance. They did and there was. I observed the build-up from about 9.30pm on New Years' Eve, through the shift changeovers at 11pm that night and at 7am on New Years' Day, but for all the tension and stress as staff waited to see what would happen this year, there are other things I remember.

A sweepstake was in operation, which added an extra dimension to the interest in the wall displays in the control room. Staff had placed bets on how long after midnight it would be before they had taken 1,000 calls. By watching the queue of calls waiting, members of staff were able to gauge their chances of winning the 'pot'. In the event, the 1000<sup>th</sup> call was answered at 2.16am – only moderately busy by New Years' Eve standards, although for most of that time there were about 50 calls waiting in the system to be connected. This interest in their call volume was a pervasive phenomenon that night. Staff arriving for the morning shift came into the mess room or the smoking room between 6.30am and 7am and asked "what was the CAD at midnight?" meaning "how many calls did we take yesterday?" Part of how they construct their identities is as members of one of the largest ambulance services in the world and certainly one that deals with far more calls than any other ambulance service in England. This construction of who they are may be rooted in the old regime of speedy response to address a high call volume rather than the new order of priority dispatch, but identity in terms of size and number of responses made is a distinguishing trait in which they take pride.

At about 5am I had gone over to Bow with one of the QAAs to bring back any members of staff who found it more convenient to go home from Waterloo. People were very

pleased with how operations had gone that night. The crews, they were saying, were in exceptionally good humour, they had been flooded with calls around Edgware and Hendon, and on the telephone advice lines, but they are always flooded somewhere on New Years' Eve. On the way back, one of the call takers was asked to sing. As we drove through the deserted streets of the East End, which a few hours earlier had been so busy, she sang *Lean on Me*. When she had finished, everyone clapped. It had been a good night, and that song said something about why they do the job and the difference they try to make.

#### ON HOW IS IMPLEMENTATION IS ACCOMPLISHED

Increasingly during the analysis of this case, I introduced improvisation as a way of conceptualising how key players argued and acted, and anxiety as an emotional medium in which these discourses took place. In general, a Foucauldian framework is not the model of choice for researchers examining intuitive working practices or emotion (see Wasserman et al, 2000 for an exception), except perhaps to indicate how such responses constitute a resistance to disciplinary power (Knights and McCabe, 1998). This case suggests that power is not essentially repressive (Foucault, 1980a) and hence that prevailing views of discipline and improvisation are too polarised about which is desirable and which is not. Moreover, the medium in which both practices take place is not purely cognitive.

## Negotiating a balance between discipline and improvisation in IS implementation

Others have argued that staff shunned participation in the LASCAD project in an attempt to protect their tacit knowledge, and thereby thwart management attempts to inscribe that knowledge within the LASCAD system to create a universal, disciplinary gaze on them (see Introna, 1997). I argue that the LAS operational staff was not, and still is not, a homogeneous group. Control room staff, based at headquarters, have always been more readily and more frequently "gazed upon" by managers than their colleagues on the road. Moreover, a combination of discipline and improvisation is evident in their working practices. Indeed, prior to the LASCAD implementation, the

militaristic command and control regime was thought to provide a very strong discipline, yet the nature of emergency work on the front line is such that improvisation is common (Weick, 1998).

So, I suggest that the many changes made to the LASCAD system 'on the fly' (Page et al, 1993) were an uncoordinated attempt by control room staff during testing to modify the system so that it provided some support for their improvised practices rather than trying to replace them completely. Nevertheless, it did so through the use of multiple windows with a variety of navigation paths between them, and by offering a more diverse set of options to individuals than they had used, or in some cases even been aware of, before. Moreover, the voice communications in which members of staff routinely dealt with exception conditions and changing circumstances were replaced by electronic data transfer.

While such ways of working are now commonplace, in 1992 they were not, particularly at the LAS. Staff and designers tried, albeit at a late stage in the project, to address the need to support discipline and improvisation, and created an information system that poorly mimicked the way that work was accomplished in the LAS environment. Negotiating a balance between when to discipline and when to allow scope for intuition and how that support should look and feel was ineffectively achieved. So the form of the system that emerged was too alien, when compared with established methods of working at the time, and too demanding to use in the time-pressured environment of an ambulance control room (Weick, 1998). In endeavouring to reconstitute the basis of truth for the LAS, the LASCAD system became a repository for data that had no truth at all. So staff reverted to older ideas and away from an innovation that might have brought considerable benefits in other circumstances. Moreover, if we accept that there are degrees of both discipline and improvisation, and that working practices combine some measure of each, then each of the projects I have examined was an attempt to negotiate this balance.

During the CTAK project, the Golden Circle approach provided a way for staff to design a system that supported their working practices in a way that seemed more natural to them, and more workable in their environment. Screen designs adopted a non-

graphical, form-filling approach, which very closely matched the previous paper-based method. Nevertheless, some tracking mechanisms were inscribed in the technology, which prompted allocators and dispatchers to deal with calls quickly, and identified for the call taking superintendent when a long call was in progress. The aim was to speed up call taking activity so that resources could be dispatched more rapidly to improve performance against ORCON standards. Still, the system felt like 'something that ... helped us do what we did in the same way that we had always done it' (user manager view). So, even though automated support was introduced, doing work seemed substantially the same despite some structuring of a discrete area. This project, then, suggests that the disciplining that occurred when the CTAK system was introduced was not seen as repressive, but as a way of responding to the response time pressures under which staff work, without cleansing (Ciborra, 1999b) their practices of those intuitive responses they considered necessary.

Ten years on from the LASCAD implementation, the growth in home computing, Internet usage, and Windows based applications are significant changes in society that suggest why the look and feel of a sophisticated, multiple windows application such as PDS would be less alien to LAS staff than in 1992. Now, though, there are tensions involved in making a considered assessment of patient need while continuing to respond rapidly. Indeed, the working environment is much more intensive than it was in 1992, since rising call volumes and increasingly demanding performance targets for UK ambulance services mean that the time available to respond continues to decrease.

PDS is a packaged application, which required a greater degree of compromise about how members of staff carry out their work than was necessary when CTAK was developed as a bespoke system. The PDS protocols provide a disciplinary structure within which to make a patient assessment, and they indicate to each call taker how long it is taking, but they also attempt to pre-generate as many details as possible to keep the time taken to a minimum. So pressures to perform are one reason why the discipline came to be accepted. Another is the peer group pressure within the control room for the LAS to upgrade its information systems so that at least a part of its call taking system is a Windows based application. How control room staff think of themselves, and how they wish to be perceived by other services — who have their

Windows based CAD systems on display at the Ambex conference every year – was significant in gaining acceptance for PDS. Moreover, it shows how the forms of an information system that a particular group will accept vary over time.

During the POS project, some first steps were taken to introduce technology into the working practices of vehicle crews. The printed dispatch instructions and confirmatory telephone "handshake" crews now have with the control room may be seen as moves that reduce their capacity to negotiate about mobilisation. Control room staff and managers argue about the merits of such a discipline because faster responses can be achieved and time is not spent assuring some crews that they are the nearest resource to a scene. Many crews accept these arguments. Moreover, some crews suggest dispensing with the telephone "handshake" and notifying the control room via radios in their cabs that they are on their way to a scene. Such a move might not only improve their on scene response times, but also give them a few more minutes to provide treatment on arrival, particularly for life-threatened patients to whom such minutes are crucial. However, until a crew booked mobile, control room staff would not know if anybody were responding to the call. At this stage, an assumption that all crews will discipline themselves to respond to the paper instructions is perceived by managers as too great a risk.

## Moving within a mood of anxiety during IS implementation and use

Anxiety is a response to a perceived danger or threat (Harlos and Pinder, 2000). In this way, anxiety can come into play in IS implementation and use if organising around the new system is perceived to be in some way threatening. Weick (1993b) discusses structuring for resilience in the face of danger or threat. In his account of the Mann Gulch disaster, he suggests that the process of structuring (the way frameworks and meanings constitute one another) was very unstable so that people were unable to negotiate strangeness with the result that their anxiety turned to panic. A loss of organisation reduced their capacity to act, so that structures and actions destroyed rather than constituted one another.

Arguing that the most resilient way of structuring may be one that is simultaneously constitutive and destructive, Weick offers two scenarios, which deal with a loss of organisation and a decline in meaning. First, when an existing structure is threatened, individuals try to work out what the new world means for them, which may lead them to rebuild their social ties in line with new meanings. Alternatively, when people are puzzled about what they are trying to do so that meanings are unclear, they focus on clarifying social relations, and as these become clearer the world is less puzzling to them and their capacity to act tends to increase. In each case, an existing way of structuring is being destroyed but a new one is being built. In a Foucauldian perspective, Weick's references to ways of structuring may be understood as ways of conceptualising emerging regimes of truth at the LAS during different IS implementation efforts. The forms of structuring he identifies were evident either individually or in combination in the projects I examined.

An unstable form of structuring was evident during the LASCAD implementation. Although allocators' tools – their activation boxes – had been taken away, they had not dropped them (Weick, 1996) either cognitively or emotionally, and so they were unable to mobilise the LASCAD system to enact a form of structuring that was simultaneously constitutive and destructive. Moreover, when the system went live, the area-based teams were broken up and the control room layout was rearranged (Page et al, 1993), so staff had no obvious fallback position when working together in the new environment of automation started to break down. In this scenario, rather than actions creating structures (or frameworks or knowledges), which shaped further actions in which an idea was converted into reality, both the capacity to act and the system that was needed to shape that action collapsed together. A loss of identity, which could not be rebuilt by falling back on manual arrangements, set panic free in the control room, with the result that an idea was converted into something monstrous. Since fear has an especially long half-life (Harlos and Pinder, 2000), anxiety surfaced again as actors approached the CTAK, PDS and POS implementations. However, in these later efforts, they moved within their mood by adopting more resilient forms of structuring.

During the CTAK project, stable social ties were established between control room staff and IT developers within the Golden Circle. Unlike LASCAD, the CTAK development made no attempt to automate the process of resource management, and in this way reaffirmed the task orientations of both resource allocators and vehicle crews. In attending to their structure - to who needed to be involved in the CTAK project and who did not, and to what participants' contributions might be - control room staff clarified social relations. This move helped them to negotiate the strangeness of IS development resulting from their limited involvement in the LASCAD project. Notwithstanding some intense negotiations among members, they developed a stable regime of truth within the Golden Circle in which what it meant to use information technology to respond more quickly to emergency calls gradually became clearer and their anxiety about it reduced. Although the CTAK development preserved much of the existing regime of truth within the control room, the accepted meanings, or basis of truth, within the LAS was renegotiated to the extent that some standardisation and monitoring of call taking activity through automation was introduced. Moreover, when problems with the CTAK system occur during live running, falling back to the previous regime with its manual mechanisms and techniques is straightforward. Some anxiety may be experienced as calls take longer to answer, but the identities that shape action remain intact, and so panic is avoided.

During the PDS project, the information system came already inscribed with meanings, in the form of clinical determinants associated with medical conditions and embedded within a packaged application. A gradual transition to the new form of automated support eased anxiety about its introduction. These moves included the use of a card-based version of the system at first, the meetings in which the meanings of clinical determinants and how they should be assigned to priority categories were worked out, and ultimately user acceptance testing of the new system. Anxiety heightened at various times during the project, but a discourse of managing risk was a way of moving within this mood, in which actors worked through the new meanings so that the social ties needed to support them could be developed and a new regime of truth established.

In the POS implementation, staff brought to bear on the project all they had learned from past projects. They examined risk scenarios, identified what it would mean to operations if these events occurred, and then worked out ways to address them. They aimed to build on the West sector the sort of social ties among staff and information technology that had been accomplished within the Golden Circle during the CTAK

project. Finally, by having managers present on each station on the day that POS was implemented, the discipline was enforced. Again, many of the discourses constituting a regime of truth for vehicle crews were preserved, but some standardisation has now been introduced into the mobilisation process.

An examination of the POS project seems to reveal most about the mood of the LAS during IS implementation. Then, it becomes more possible to see why control room and IT staff acted as they did on other projects. Vehicle crews have the conflicting objectives of doing a dangerous job and providing patient care, and they are less well equipped to deal with this conflict than other public servants that face danger in a public custody role, such as the police force. In this way, if they feel threatened, say, because they believe control room staff have not provided enough information about an incident, they will retaliate, and information technology is a tool they will mobilise to do so. So, when members of IS project groups at the LAS talk about managing risk, this discourse is a way of talking about fear – fear that a small and militant group of vehicle crew staff will undermine these efforts as a way of arguing about working conditions, about who they are, and about how they should be treated.

Staff involved in IS implementation efforts at the LAS remember that in 1992 when vehicle crew responses came into play there seemed to be no way out from the disaster that followed. This is why 596 phrases were examined during the PDS implementation to determine their crew safety and critical clinical implications, why the Golden Circle avoided changing working practices for crews, and why call takers go to great lengths to record everything callers tell them just in case it is important. In this way, I have seen call takers type NFDA (no further details available) 2 or even 3 times into a single call record to indicate to sector staff, and ultimately to vehicle crews, that they have no more information; that this is absolutely all they got from the caller. So, vital context for understanding the mood of LAS staff and the way they act within it is how they construct the identity of vehicle crews and their capacity to act.

# The constraints on IS implementation

Support for IS implementation at the LAS is gaining momentum, but there exists a network of constraining forces on this process, which cross-cuts the organisation so that its use of information technology is lagging global, national, and even sectoral norms to a considerable degree. The discourses about IS implementation at the LAS have not established for all the value of using information technology in their work. So the translations are not compatible and integrated (they lack convergence), and even where there is some convergence, as in the Golden Circle, they seem to have limited potential to withstand challenge and shape further action (they are reversible). The main points of resistance to convergence and irreversibility in the network of interests around IS implementation, and hence to the institutionalisation of information technology within a regime of truth accepted by all at the LAS, arise from:

# The limited use of resources for IS implementation

In effect, there is only one person to undertake development and support of critical applications at the LAS. Moreover, the service has limited experience with the process of employing external expertise for IS implementation, particularly since 1992. While external resources could help to smooth the peaks and troughs of workload, the LAS does not seem ready yet to employ such resources to work on critical applications, which suggests that a move in the short term to a packaged CAD system is unlikely. Anxiety that external resources could not achieve what internal ones have accomplished sustains and reinforces this position.

## The segmented enactments of professional practice

The project support office (PSO), IT staff, and the user group enact discrete practices relating to IS implementation. Members of the PSO are knowledgeable about PRINCE, the IT developer for critical applications is knowledgeable about system software and communications technologies, and the user group is knowledgeable about operations. However, these areas interpenetrate during IS implementation, and communication among different groups at the LAS is sometimes hindered by rather strict divisions about what is administrative, what is technical, and what is operational. There is little

evidence of support for a role that might attempt to bridge the gaps among groups. In particular, the language of IT staff and the administrative (rather than managerial) status of project managers acts against knowledge sharing among groups.

## Institutional scrutiny

Government bodies, the press, and ultimately the public, whose interests the others claim to represent, have a number of ways of evaluating the performance of the LAS, either directly on the streets and over the telephone, or indirectly through records of ambulance service performance published by the Department of Health. Institutional scrutiny – in its implementation and in its effects – is pervasive within discursive practices at the LAS. On the one hand, managers are under pressure to improve performance, on the other hand, they know the consequences of attempting this move using a method that is not accepted by the workforce. Institutions exert pressure for improved performance, yet they have criticised the LAS for being too assertive or too passive in its past efforts to achieve this goal. Operational managers argue that the social choices they are now making are not ones of managerial imperative control (Zuboff, 1988), which mobilise the panoptic forces of information technology, but ones that will enable them to provide a better service to patients while valuing their staff and attending to their safety. All at the LAS are subjects of scrutiny, but only some are subjectified. Information technology is mobilised by a small group of staff on the front line to argue about working conditions in a general sense and the role of the trades' union in LAS affairs, yet many see potential for information technology to assist with aspects of work.

The issues raised above show only a partial implementation of the practices that have led to the institutionalisation of information technology elsewhere (Avgerou, 2000). But it also shows the presence of an ambiguous element, one that has institutionalising aspects and yet which appears to act in this context as a significant constraining force – public scrutiny, and the correlative of that force, the power of a trades' union discourse. Managers still have a delicate balancing act to perform – not just in the extent to which they attempt to institute discipline within working practices, but also to find the point

between assertion and passivity that the institutions decided had eluded John Wilby and Martin Gorham.

The result has been an incremental implementation of information technology in which competing tensions continue to surface. On the one hand, there are concerns among operational staff that the pace of technological change is too slow, that the IT department sanctions the operational as well as the technical requirements and priorities addressed by ICTs, and hence that IT staff are not responding to the needs of the service. Nevertheless, many operational staff subscribe to the discourse that 'we're different, we're special', and in this way they reinforce an IT strategy that favours bespoke development, despite the additional effort required. At the LAS, many actors mobilise the significance of context in diverse ways so that negotiations about IS implementation can be highly contested and lengthy events. In these negotiations, a concern with sectoral and national contexts, and hence with the similarities among ambulance services, can be subsumed within a focus on local issues in which powerful minority groups can marginalise the majority.

## On how IS implementation is accomplished – final remarks

To summarise so far, I have argued that IS implementation is accomplished by negotiating a balance between when to discipline and when to support improvised working methods. The case suggests that neither practice is essentially repressive or liberating, but that as the time available for responses decreases the extent to which a disciplinary technology may be accepted increases. Following Foucault (1977), one can argue that this acceptance comes about because subjects find the new way of working in some way therapeutic, and that such therapy is needed because of institutional pressures to perform. Still, local memories also influence the extent to which a discipline is accepted (Foucault, 1980a). In this case, these memories heightened anxiety about what was being attempted, and in moving within this mood actors structured for resilience, which limited the extent to which information technology, disciplinary or otherwise, was introduced. So their ways of arguing and acting about IS implementation were cognitive-emotional ways, in which a thinking/feeling guided actors' moves and cultural change was at most partially achieved.

Findings from this case may be interpreted as describing an interaction between forces giving momentum to and forces constraining IS implementation. An organisation's history is key to understanding this interaction – in this case, the national strike, the LASCAD project, and the subsequent public inquiries. Particular tensions in the interaction in this case arise about whether information technology should be used to provide technical control or support operational flexibility, about how making speedy responses can endanger crew safety, and about how patient care, and in particular responding by priority, is constrained by resource availability. The issues raised are important ones, but the outcome of negotiating them is unsatisfactory to most members of the LAS in that the service still seems to be gaining less benefits from adopting ICTs than other UK ambulance services.

At the time of finishing my fieldwork, there was a more hopeful mood at the LAS about what could now be accomplished with information technology. Perhaps, though, it is not until the outstanding elements of LASCAD – AVLS and mobile data – are implemented and accepted that the LAS will emerge from the shadow cast over it for so long. To accomplish this move, organisational innovation as well as ICT innovation is required to address those concerns that sustain divisions among staff. Thus far, information technology has largely been exploited in those areas of the LAS where it was felt that there would be sufficient peer group pressure to enrol support for it. Next, as I reflect on the organisational and social consequences of these efforts, I examine the conditions of possibility for extending that exploitation.

## THE CONSEQUENCES OF MODERNISATION EFFORTS

## On how regimes of truth have formed and reformed

The discourses of modernisation within the NHS may be seen as operating at a number of interacting levels. The institutionally framed view that the NHS, ambulance services, and the LAS in particular must improve their performances is deeply embedded and has been sustained and reinforced since 1989 when the internal market was first posited. Since that time too, developments in hardware, software, and communication technologies have seen ICTs become an ever more pervasive part of all our lives.

Unsurprisingly, then, the discourses of modernisation in the health sector have given an increasingly central role to information technology.

At an organisational level, efforts by the LAS to improve its performance have involved two interacting processes of organisational and technological developments since 1989. These developments may be seen as embodying the joint themes from the government's message about changing the culture of the NHS and taking advantage of the potential of information technology to improve organisational effectiveness. In these processes, the established command and control regime of the 1980s has started to splinter, and parts of the new operational form are now organised around information technology, while other parts are not. In the IS implementation efforts, various regimes of truth have prevailed at certain times. In a given time period, each such manifestation may be seen as involving an attempt to link a specific discourse about performance improvement with a particular deployment of information technology.

Understanding these episodes required a further level of analysis at organisational actor level, on how different interest groups were engaged or marginalised in attempts to make the organisational and technical dimensions of a particular change effort so closely interrelated as to mutually define one another. In this analysis, some divisions among LAS operational staff were evident after the strike of 1989/90. The LASCAD implementation fractured the tenuous truce achieved when the dispute ended. Moreover, a professional management regime began to emerge at the LAS at that time. The need to shift from a purely operational focus became an organisational imperative in the run-up to NHS trust status in 1996. The LAS aimed to develop a more business-like orientation when it became a trust, and efforts to achieve that goal were accompanied by an influx of non-uniformed staff into the support functions of the LAS, in particular, into finance, information technology, human resources, communications, and operational development. These members of staff, many of whom are senior managers and directors, have a distinctly different work orientation from the uniformed operational staff.

I described the framing discourses for these two groups at the start of the analysis, and then addressed how they joined forces at times, as key actors found ways to work together by subscribing to specific discourses about the performance improvements that could be achieved by particular technological and organisational change initiatives. The different orientations of the two groups is a significant cultural divide within this community, one that is acknowledged by all of them in different ways, yet when they talk about the culture of the LAS invariably it is the operational staff culture to which they refer. In fact, a member of the uniformed group suggested to me that the non-uniformed staff is the 'non-culture' part of the organisation. Yet these divisions are simplistic, the boundaries are penetrable, and neither group is a homogeneous one.

Indeed, it is simplistic even to say that in addition to a uniformed and non-uniformed distinction, there are further divisions between CAC and vehicle crews, between different functional groups in the control room, between staff and managers, between newcomers and "old hands", between "red" (emergency) workers and "white" (non-urgent) workers. Such an argument would suggest that the LAS is a relatively stable culture, differentiated along clearly identifiable lines, but the lines are not so clear because issues arising cut across them. So, when discourses relating to call prioritisation, how to use information technology, and the role of the trades' unions in the work of the service, amongst others, are taken into account, the cultural patterns emerge as very fragmented. Notwithstanding all of this, attempts are being made at management level to identify unifying discourses, and the LAS Improvement Programme, mentioned earlier, is an initiative to enact them. So there are forces at work to create a more integrated community.

In summary, then, much of the original basis of truth for the command and control regime remains true today and it is still the dominant regime, but it is more fragmented and more permeable than it seemed to be in the past, which creates opportunities for cultural change. Thus far, the changes have involved a reorganisation of the work of discrete groups within strict boundaries. In particular, they preserve a resource management process in which call takers, sector teams (allocators and dispatchers), and vehicle crews hand off work to each other so that calls become "blackboxed" to them once the handover is made. In these moves, what has been addressed is what the government's targets measure – the on scene arrival time of 8 or 14 minutes.

However, the call cycle time – from taking a call to a crew calling up "green" – is typically 50-80 minutes, excluding major incidents, such as a train crash. Innovation needs to be implemented throughout the call cycle to address how patients are treated at the scene and during conveyance to hospital, and what happens at the hospital during and after handover of patients. New equipment, new procedures, and new ways of organising seem to be called for, and they would need to be supported by changes within the control room. How the LAS attempts to do this through its Improvement Programme could be the subject of another doctoral thesis. At this stage, though, staff support for the programme suggests that there is an opportunity for the service to consider how organisational innovation and ICT innovation might start to transgress existing limits (Foucault, 1984a) rather than sustaining them.

#### On outcomes achieved by the LAS

Following the collapse of the LASCAD system, IS projects at the LAS have addressed call taking activity as a central concern. Increasingly, these developments have formalised the structure of conversations with callers, so that now the clinical priority of a patient's need is determined using rules inscribed within the computer system, and then resources can be dispatched based on the priority assigned to each call. These IS implementation efforts have contradictory outcomes for patients, for staff, and for the service as a whole.

First, call prioritisation aims to provide patients with vehicle responses targeted to their clinical needs, and as such a service improvement, but callers receive standardised, conversational responses from call takers, which can seem impersonal and dilatory, heightening patient anxiety. Moreover, while LAS response times against the 8-minute standard continue to improve, its 14-minute performance has declined in recent years. The emphasis in the new standards on providing the fastest responses to category A cases suggests that this target is focused upon at the expense of category B and C cases.

Second, in formalising the dialogues of call takers, while sector teams, and the vehicle crews they allocate and mobilise to emergency scenes, retain more discretion over their responses, information technology sustains and reinforces existing images of who does

the more important work in the service. Nevertheless, since call takers are now involved in assigning priorities to calls, information technology also disturbs the balance of power in the control room, so that sector teams may have to reallocate vehicles to calls, if a call taker signals that a higher priority call has been received. Moreover, call prioritisation systems provide an opportunity for call takers to exercise clinical judgement, since they have scope to override the priority determined by the system or to manipulate answers to questions to affect the priority allocated, albeit that in general they would breach working procedures in doing so.

Third, while focusing the deployment of information technology on call taking activity, the LAS has found it necessary to deploy additional people and vehicle resources in other areas of its operations in the drive to meet the new ambulance performance standards. Computer systems enable vital information to be obtained quickly from the caller, but the time to allocate and mobilise resources to incidents, which is included in the 8 and 14-minute cycles, has until recently largely been addressed by modifying manual modes of operation. On the one hand, these initiatives have resulted in a greater resource mix, of cars and bikes, as well as ambulances and a helicopter, being deployed in an effort to meet response times. On the other hand, managing a more varied resource mix increases the work involved in resource allocation and mobilisation, if only because when cars and bikes are deployed, an ambulance must be sent as well. Further work arises if vehicles have to be reallocated as higher priority calls come through. These resource-based initiatives can then, in the context of a requirement to prioritise responses according to patient need, increase the time it takes to respond to lower priority calls.

In this way, there is an inherent tension in the new ambulance performance standards between speed of response on the one hand and responding based on clinical need on the other. This tension becomes more difficult for the LAS to manage while opportunities to deploy information technology remain underexploited. Nevertheless, the tension in the new standards is one that affects all ambulance services. Indeed, I discussed in a previous chapter how Staffordshire Ambulance Service, whose performance was praised by the Health Minister (Ambex, 2000), deals with it by deferring a consideration of call priority. Moreover, as category A cases are focused

upon, a drop in the response times to category B and C cases is evident in the latest available annual performance figures for several ambulance services, as discussed next.

# On outcomes achieved by other ambulance services

I close this chapter, then, with some wider comment on the consequences of a modernisation discourse within the ambulance services. In this discussion, I focus on the trends evident in outcomes achieved by all English services against the government's targets and make some comment on how their performance is measured.

The following table summarises the latest available (Department of Health web site, 2002) yearly performance figures for ambulance services:

Table 8.1. Summary of ambulance service performance figures 1999-2002

	99/00	00/01	01/02
a. No of services operating to the new performance standards	20	31	32
b. No of (a) achieving the category A 8-minute standard	1	3	14
c. No of (a) achieving the Category B/C 14/19-minute standard	12	13	16
d. No of (a) where category A performance declined from the previous year	*	1	1
e. No of (d) where performance declined by more than 5 percentage points	*	0	0
f. No of (d) where category A performance declined in 2 successive years	*	*	0
g. No of (a) where category B/C performance declined from previous year	*	11	13
h. No of (g) where performance declined by more than 5 percentage points	*	0	3
i. No of (g) where category B/C performance declined in 2 successive years	*	*	3
* Indicates no performance figures available			

The results in Table 8.1 show a mixed performance against government targets. Against the category A target, each ambulance service tends to improve its performance year on year, an increasing number are reaching the 75% target, nevertheless in 2001/02 only 14 (of 32) achieved it. Category B/C responses are more variable. Performance fluctuates year on year, with 40% of services showing a drop in performance in 2001/02, and 10%

of cases showing a significant drop of more than 5 percentage points. Moreover, 10% of services have a declining category B/C performance over 2 years, and only 50% of services are yet achieving the 95% target. The current trend, then, seems to be for ambulance services to focus resources on meeting the 8-minute standard, with the result that category B and C patients in some areas are experiencing a less prompt service. Clearly, one compelling issue is how this performance is affecting clinical outcomes, but while hospitals and ambulance services continue to report their performance separately there is no way of comparing patient outcomes according to wait times for an ambulance. However, one can question the extent to which comparing ambulance services using the current standards of performance gives rise to meaningful results, as discussed next.

Although the national service framework for coronary heart disease (Department of Health, 2000a) requires that suspected cardiac arrests receive a category A response, not all patient conditions are specified as clearly. Services have some scope for deciding how they allocate other patient complaints to the call categories A, B and C, which affects the response targets they are required to meet. Moreover, services vary in the degree of accuracy with which their systems record response times to emergency calls. For example, some services require ambulance crews to press a button in their cabs when they arrive at an emergency scene so that their computer systems can record the time precisely. Others require crews to fill out a paper form, which may not be completed until the patient is handed over at the hospital up to one hour later, when the arrival time may not be remembered so precisely. When the clock starts ticking is also variable. A Department of Health (1998) directive requires that this is when the caller's telephone number, the incident location and the chief complaint have been logged by the call taker, but not all services time this process so precisely. Moreover, some services use Caller Line Identity (CLI) to identify automatically the caller's address, which may be the incident location, so the time between call connection and the start of timing is variable, and this time is not reflected in current performance figures even though patient outcomes depend on it.

So efforts 'to make the service the same wherever you are' is a discourse of an ideal type, the more so when we consider how the clinical skills of ambulance crews may

vary, and how geographical area affects the time needed to make an emergency journey. This argument is not to suggest that we should accept a postcode or some other form of "lottery" for the ambulance service, but that a focus on national standards may be stifling local innovation and change which might find other ways of improving the service. Indeed, the history of the microcomputer, the Internet, and several strategic information systems has shown us how local innovations can radically change the way that people and communities work.

In summary, then, although themes of cultural change and ICT innovation are articulated in the messages from health service managers and government ministers, they are still firmly rooted in an instrumental discourse that would see these processes as directly linked with organisational performance. Moreover, that performance is measured in terms of a narrow response time target that seems meaningless to many required achieving it. So the government's rationale for modernising the NHS is one that reinforces an identity of ambulance workers that they would reject – that their value should be measured in terms of their capability to provide speedy transport rather than contribute to clinical outcomes.

Although recent moves within the ambulance services endeavour to differentiate between categories of patient so that those in the greatest need get the fastest responses, three major problems with targets are evident in these developments. First, the emphasis in the new standards on providing the most rapid responses to category A cases means that this target is focused upon at the expense of category B and C cases, some of whom now receive a slower and hence (on a response time measure) a worse service. Second, national targets deny autonomy locally. Only one service claims to reject the telephone prioritisation message, but Staffordshire achieved autonomy by exceeding the targets without accepting the message. Surely we should now ask if there are ways of improving the service without focusing on response time targets. Third, target outcomes are constructed. Ambulance services time their responses in different ways, some of which are more open to construction than others. Moreover, when scrutiny is intense and targets seem meaningless how the construction is achieved may be open to abuse. Indeed, in a recent poll of health service managers (Radio Four, 2002b), 1 in 12 admitted to 'massaging their figures'. Although this poll was not specifically targeted at

ambulance services, it reveals that the truths NHS performance figures purport to tell are not accepted by all within the service, far less that they constitute an objective truth that all of us should accept.

# **CHAPTER 9** Conclusions

Whether one subscribes to the view that we are now in an age of high modernity (Giddens, 1991), a postmodern era (Clegg, 1990), or that we have never been modern at all (Latour, 1993), organisations still lay claims, in their promotional literature and elsewhere, to being modern. Relative to other nations, the UK is one where many organisations would make this claim, but just as modernisation programmes deriving benefits from ICTs are unevenly experienced across the world, so they are within nations. Many UK organisations are still trying to modernise, and this discourse is perhaps nowhere more prevalent than within the health sector. Literature published by the Department of Health is replete with references to modernising the NHS and government ministers and health service managers reinforce these messages.

This research has examined these modernisation initiatives, in which cultural change of the NHS is being attempted and ICTs are deeply implicated in the efforts to change working practices with a view to making the service more responsive to contemporary public demands. This study has focused on the ambulance services, and specifically the LAS, and explored how IS implementation is being accomplished and the resulting conditions of possibility (Foucault, 1980a) for staff, patients, and the service as a whole. My conclusions from this study make contributions to theory, to practice, and to research methodology. Moreover, they contribute to a current debate about the future for ambulance services and what it may mean for all of us. Overall, my aim was to produce interpretive generalisations (Walsham, 1995) about IS implementation, which may inform other research settings, and some critical commentary about the organisational and social consequences of a globalising discourse of modernisation.

#### SUMMARY OF CHAPTERS

I adopted a regimes of truth (Foucault, 1980a) framework with which to conceptualise the culture of the LAS, and concepts from actor-network theory to focus on the negotiations in which information technology was a key actor. In this way, I argued that both organisational culture and information systems implementation are processes, and that institutions with knowledge and authority frame and delimit the discourses in which they are enacted. So this study examined the interaction between two processes and the extent to which they reconstitute one another when an IS implementation effort is framed in a way that would challenge truths accepted by cultural members.

The analysis chapters trace the detailed unfolding of modernisation efforts at the LAS over a 20-year period dating from the early 1980s. These efforts are set within the changing institutional context for the UK NHS over the same period. In this way, the chapters are not just an examination of the main events and initiatives that took place at the LAS, disengaged from the broader context that would give them meaning. Changes in government policy and societal attitudes are also considered, as are the moves that other ambulance services made to respond to these changes. The focus is on IS-related cultural change efforts, and specifically on the introduction of information technology within the core accident and emergency (A&E) operations of the LAS, nevertheless complementary developments within the organisation are considered where they provide further elucidating context for the focal efforts.

Many of the events and initiatives examined were historically reconstructed from study participants' memories and documentation sources. In some longitudinal case studies, such a reconstruction might form a relatively minor, if necessary, part of the case analysis. Often, participants' memories and documentation sources do not permit a more detailed consideration. Neither circumstance applies in this case. Bringing history centre-stage is crucial to understanding the action, and, in view of what that history involves, participants have neither forgotten it nor have those who commented on events at the time failed to leave us a record of them. I examine what the records, specifically the public inquiry reports, have to say. These records let the institutional voices speak, and their logic is a rationalistic one in which government departments, professional management practices, ambulance performance standards, and information technology are the guardians of the public interest. Study participants accepted these accounts both as descriptions of what happened and as framing their subsequent actions, but, as my fieldwork progressed and I observed their working practices, they added further dimensions to them.

When LAS staff enact government initiatives, directives from the Department of Health, and recommendations of public inquiry reports the messiness of organisational life is revealed – the ambiguity, the contradictions, and the negotiations in which work is accomplished. Institutionally framed knowledge is reshaped in action, and in turn these discursive practices may reshape the relations between institutions and local communities. The instrumental logic of government publications in terms of implementing best practice, managing organisational culture, and information technology producing organisational effectiveness is revealed as perfunctory when local memories are given due consideration.

What such memories mean to people, when part of them are three public inquiries into their performance and the attendant media criticism, became apparent during the course of my empirical work, as we approached the implementation dates for the PDS and POS systems. Some ways of arguing and acting that might otherwise have seemed exclusionary, mysterious or irrational had rational dimensions in light of the events of October 1992 and those that followed it. Other enactments seemed less (or more) significant in light of what had gone before. But these ways of arguing and acting also had emotional dimensions. In this analysis, rationality and emotionality are not two poles with a gulf between them, anymore than are discipline and improvisation. Rather, thinking is always brushed with emotion (Fineman, 2000) and feeling does not occur in a vacuum devoid of a rational dimension. Moreover, neither discipline nor improvisation is essentially repressive or liberating. Our ways of arguing and acting are cognitive-emotional ways, in which a thinking/feeling guides our actions.

Overall, I suggest that the theory with which I started was a useful abstraction for considering ways of arguing and acting that emerge within a community, but that I unpacked it during fieldwork as I encountered the particular discursive practices of the LAS community. In this way, I introduced further concepts to explore the limits of disciplining and the medium in which this occurs. In these moves, I exploit Foucault's work for emotionality, addressing an area of research that has received limited attention to date (Fineman, 2000). I suggest that introducing speaking subjects is a way of accessing their emotions, one that Foucault chose not to exploit.

I do not suggest that I have introduced new concepts, rather that I have found a way of extending some existing ones, in much the same way that I extended the works of Callon (1986) and Latour (1999b) to introduce emotion and improvisation into the discussion in the first instance. Summarising my theoretical argument, if knowledge and power (as a capacity to act) are mutually constitutive, and we always act within a mood (Ciborra, 2001), then a purely rational knowledge cannot exist. Our knowledge is always emotionally laden, brushed finely or strongly with the moods of those who create it and those who draw upon it.

On insights about IS implementation and its organisational and social consequences, I argue that the case may be seen on a number of interconnected levels. At one level, it is about discipline and improvisation in working practices and the extent to which IS implementation has attempted to support them. At another level, it is about distinctions among LAS staff – distinctions constituted not only by functional specialism (such as IT or operational, control room staff or vehicle crews), but also by issues arising, in particular the role of information technology in the work of the service. Discourses about issues cross-cut discourses about functional specialism so that IS implementation is giving rise to new regimes of truth which tend to fragment existing ones in some ways while sustaining them in others. In these moves, some former truths about working practices emerge as more deeply embedded than others. A true discourse for a call taker now involves using information technology to inform the call prioritisation process, but the true discourses about managing resources are still based on an activation box method in which sector teams and vehicle crews retain most of their discretion about what constitutes being responsive. Those aspects of working practices that remain largely unchanged are those that proved most controversial when LASCAD was implemented.

However, these analyses are incomplete without setting this case in the context of a nationally regulated but regionally organised ambulance service, the contradictions of doing a job with a "patient care" ethos in which you may be physically assaulted, and desires by ambulance workers to be valued for their medical skills as well as rapid responses. At this level, institutions and the public call for better performance by the ambulance service, but abuse of the service and the narrow way good performance is

defined would give ambulance workers an identity – as social workers or cab drivers – that they reject. So in this case the contested nature of ambulance workers' professional identity constrains IS implementation in which patient care is measured by a response time target.

Moreover, institutional scrutiny of the LAS since 1992, especially press coverage of its activities, contributes to the organisation's very incremental and anxious approach to IS implementation. In this approach, a full CAD system has yet to be introduced, ten years after it was first attempted. The limited use of resources for IS implementation and the way that this constraint is sustained and reinforced by existing boundaries among administrative, technical, and operational work, and a mood about who can be trusted to do what, are both manifestations of the effects of scrutiny and contributors to the performance outcomes that have made it so intense. In this way, the LAS has been slower to exploit information technology than other UK services, notably the larger metropolitan services such as West Midlands, Manchester, and Merseyside, whose information systems were on exhibition to delegates at the Ambex 2000 conference. Nevertheless, what all UK services seem to be focusing upon is what is measured by the government's standards.

Putting these arguments together, IS implementation is not having a homogenising effect on an organisational culture, rather it is fragmenting it. Moreover, a general desire among organisational members to improve performance is enacted within a professional identity that constrains IS implementation as currently conceived. So IS-related cultural changes efforts are only partially fusing together a unifying aim to improve the health of the population with the needs of specific groups to find meaning in their work. In this setting, then, information technology can be mobilised to argue about something else – about working conditions, about conflicts among staff, or about the role of the service. How it is used can help to improve the performance of the LAS or it can be the match that sets a fire alight.

The history of the LAS, social problems in London, the high cost of living in or near the capital, and other specifics of providing a public service in London may make the struggle between forces enabling and forces constraining cultural change more intense

at the LAS than other ambulance services. Yet, there is evidence that these services also are experiencing some contradictory outcomes. Some responses are now faster, others are slower, yet the change in clinical outcomes for patients overall cannot be established and indeed the efficacy of triaging over the telephone is questioned. Modernisation efforts in the NHS seek to regulate, standardise, and measure, but in measuring they create divisions, they segregate and hierarchise, ultimately they distribute subjects around a norm (Foucault, 1979). What these distinctions mean should be an active concern of all of us. The risk if we forget this is that the public services on which we rely may not be there when we need them, or at least not in the form in which we might want them.

#### CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE RESEARCH

This research is informed by the view that social relations are constantly changing, that conflict is endemic within them, and that these relations are contextually constituted so that an organisation's history and the socio-political systems of which it is a part enable and constrain the interactions. This way of expressing a critical perspective was influenced by my readings of existing literature; more compellingly, though, since I adopt it to study IS implementation, it was formed and sustained initially by my 17 years' experience as an IS practitioner. Through my teaching and my membership of a special interest group of the British Computer Society, I became familiar with past IS implementation projects at the LAS, and I questioned the extent to which published accounts of these efforts captured the richness of IS implementation as I had experienced it. So this research is concerned with elaborating theory and informing practice, but not in a way that would advise practitioners about best practice, or would suggest a deterministic or contingency theory about how IS implementation is accomplished. Rather the aim was to prompt reflection and stimulate debate, in which change might be initiated.

#### Theoretical contribution

Given the above rationale, in reviewing the literature of technological change I gave scant attention to normative work. Much of this work is theoretically weak, which limits its contribution to practice as well as to theory development. Crucially, given its aims to inform practice, it does not capture intellectually or empirically the complexities of practitioner experience. Practitioners, particularly managers, may continue to read it, but more, I suggest, to stay in touch with the latest fashions in ICT innovation than because the advice given seems imaginative or appropriate in the particular settings in which they work. My key argument here is that theory is not a luxury in our field. Writing about the latest ICT innovations does not absolve us from the need to present a strong theoretical basis for our work; rather if we do not, our writings are anecdotal.

Explanatory work may draw upon a number of theoretical bases, from deterministic or contingency theories that would establish cause and effect relationships between variables to more interpretive ones that would understand IS implementation within a social context that cannot be reduced to a set of factors. In this study, I am sympathetic to an interpretive approach as a necessary first step to achieving the insight on which an informed critical commentary would be based. Most of the work I have reviewed and drawn upon in this thesis combines varying degrees of insight and critique, and concepts from Foucault, which guided the research, and from Weick, which emerged when reflecting on its achievements, illustrate this point.

Foucauldian informed research can, and sometimes does, present a pessimistic view of our present and our future. Although Foucault (1980a) argues that power is not essentially repressive, researchers have often adopted Foucauldian concepts to focus on the repressive nature of disciplinary mechanisms. What many see in his work on prisons, asylums and sexuality is a way of arguing that managers, organisations or institutions are trying to make us accept something undesirable – a form of control in which how we act is transparent to others and framed by them. Resistance, then, is an escape route (Knights and McCabe, 1998) from something we do not (implicitly, should not) want to encounter. Moreover, some argue, in a Foucauldian perspective the transgressions available in which things might be otherwise involve no more than

exchanging one "disciplinary power" network for another (Laughlin, 1995). Hope is abandoned to the view that history will repeat itself (ibid.).

Weick's work and much research informed by it is generally perceived as more optimistic for us. Weick adopts an allegorical way of arguing, his critique is subtle and artful, and his technique for exploring contradiction in organisational life is one of his trademarks (Van Maanen, 1995). Yet he sees engaging possibilities for us – how we might structure for resilience (Weick, 1993b), what a focus on improvisation might contribute to organisational design and analysis (Weick, 1993a, 1998), and why dropping our tools will help us to mutate without forgetting where we came from (Weick, 1996). Weick's work provides a promising set of theoretical concepts for analysing detailed working practices in organisations, but it is less concerned with how such activities are linked dynamically with their political, economic and broader social contexts.

If we are attuned with the above perceptions, and to some degree I was when I started this research, then moving from a Foucauldian perspective to a Weickian one may seem to involve discontinuity of some kind, but such a view may also indicate a reluctance to modernise our paradigms. If we accept that what may guide research at one stage can seem to constrain it at another, shifts in perspective become possible, but I argue that we do not need to disconnect from the past to make them. Rather we just need to remain open to the direction we will take, instead of attempting to orchestrate it. The moves we make may be incremental and continuous, as I believe they were in this research, in which we unpack what we started with without being sure of what it will look like when we have finished.

I was not so sanguine about making these moves when I started to make them. Having picked up some tools with which to begin this research, I tended to use them in much the same way that researchers whose work I found persuasive in the first place seemed to do. I began to let go of mine when I read *Pandora's Hope* (Latour, 1999b), but not because I accepted Latour's comments about a Foucauldian knowledge-power relationship, but because I wanted to challenge them. As I drew on my field data to make my argument I began to see that I could go only so far with my challenge, but I

also began to feel better able to make sense of the data than I had before. A contribution started to emerge. I mutated without forgetting where I had come from. In a Weickian sense, I dropped my tools.

# A factish for the IS community?

Latour's (1999b) restatement of his philosophical position adopts many of the concepts and ideas from early statements of actor-network theory. Nevertheless he takes a strong stand against arguments about the amorality of actor-network theory, while at the same time introducing some new ideas. Consonant with this position, when he uses the original concepts in *Pandora's Hope*, for example the concepts that describe the sociology of translation, they are expressed in a language that differs sharply from the earlier version (Callon, 1986; Latour, 1987). The references to power relationships, and to the related writings of Foucault and Machiavelli, have disappeared, except where such arguments are critiqued, and the vocabulary that is used is more subtle – drift or slippage as alternatives to displacement. In moving on, and in arguing that ANT is a method and not a theory (Latour, 1999a), Latour urges us to extend ANT, which may take us in a number of directions that we may not anticipate in advance.

Among the new additions in *Pandora's Hope* are the concept of a factish, and a vocabulary of making-do and surprise, which I adopted in this research in my discussion of the CTAK project. I posed some questions about whether the Golden Circle was an exclusive and covert approach to IS development, and in answering them, I drew on this vocabulary to emphasise the efforts that were made to address anxiety about IS implementation within the organisation. I do not suggest that this argument either overcomes or bypasses an analysis informed by a sociology of translation (Callon, 1986) and a knowledge-power relationship (Foucault, 1980a). Rather, these accounts seem to complement one another. In this way, I translated the ideas of two major proponents of actor-network theory to arrive at anxiety and improvisation – or moods and modes of arguing and acting – which may be a different place altogether. Latour's (1999b) nonmodern way of arguing invited me to improvise, so I took the opportunity 'to mutate, to change, and to bifurcate' (p. 281) as well as I am able to do, with what I had to hand, and in the mood in which *Pandora's Hope* left me.

Although the words improvisation and mood already mean something to all of us, they mix up politics and morality in a much more messy way that is implied by "power exercised in discourse" (Callon, 1986) or, for that matter, the institutional narratives of "adherence to best practice". Despite academics' claims that power is not essentially repressive (Foucault, 1980a), and practitioners' lived experiences that best practice guidelines are not a panacea, there are still widespread views that power is a negative concept, and ongoing claims that best practice guidelines are being followed. Perhaps, then, talking about improvisation and emotion in organisations represents a way of bringing academic and practitioner communities together – a factish for all those who are interested in the implementation and use of information systems in organisations. If so, then this factish needs more attention than it has received to date. In this view, I suggest that the conclusions I arrived at in this research have been indicated by other longitudinal studies even if the authors chose to take their argument in a different direction. I comment on two that are very well known.

## Extending existing work

In her research on organisational transformation over time at Zeta Corporation, Orlikowski (1996) draws on Weick's work on improvisation to argue that experimentation with Lotus Notes among a group of customer service staff gave rise to innovation and learning within the organisation. Yet Lin and Cornford (2000) argue that the result of this emergent change was to produce a work process that was effective and appreciated by staff, as described by Orlikowski, but increasingly control-oriented in a Foucauldian sense. I suggest that the Zeta case shows that improvisation and discipline coexist in working practices, that neither is essentially liberating or repressive, and that an information system can change over time the balance between them acceptable to the workforce.

In other words, concepts from both Weick and Foucault may be used to analyse the Zeta case, but not in two disjoint analyses, rather in a continuous one where a succession of gradual moves are made that adapt previous variations. Moreover, drawing on this study in later work, Orlikowski (2000) argues that emotional as well as cognitive attachments are implicated in the outcomes achieved when the same type of technology is

introduced in different settings. Although she does not explore the emotional dimension to any significant degree, this finding is of interest to the current study, since ambulance services have tended to adopt the same types of technology with substantively different outcomes.

Coming at this argument from another direction, in one of the relatively few empirical studies that engages the Foucauldian view that power is not essentially repressive, Zuboff (1988) argues that how we mobilise the panoptic possibilities of information technology is a matter of social choice. She talks of unleashing 'the autonomous informating effects' (p. 217) of information technology, in which organisations can move from a system of managerial imperative control to one of collaborative coworkers. One does not have to accept all of Zuboff's arguments about the informated organisation to see that in this scenario the social choices that organisations make may involve some combination of discipline and experimentation in working practices that may change over time. Although Zuboff is optimistic about what informating might mean for us, she does not suggest that it would be universally accepted, either by managers or by workers. Human responsiveness, she argues, is about feeling, perceiving and behaving, in which 'feelings are the body's version of a situation' (p. 423).

Extending a Foucauldian knowledge-power relationship, then, I suggest that memories shape our emotions and that memories are a form of knowledge, so that we move within our emotions in practices where retrospect or memory is important. Improvisation and discipline are two such practices, and since neither is essentially liberating or repressive, either might be a way of trying to drive an emotion away – in the LAS case, a mood of anxiety that at times intensified to fear. Moreover the experiences we have, particularly when they are intense, create memories, which shape the way we approach later encounters with a similar situation. How we have learned – the experiences we have had – can then affect the extent to which we see improvisation or discipline (or other ways of conceiving discursive practices) as liberating or repressive, and in turn the outcomes we achieve.

So, studies by Zuboff and Orlikowski suggested to me that some eclecticism in the way we draw from theory might enrich the insights gained. Moreover, I pursued the issues

that they or other authors raised about their work, and in exploring emotion I contributed to an area that receives limited attention in the IS field. Indeed, Orlikowski's later paper, where she mentions emotional attachments, was published in an organisation studies journal, and she notes that one of her reviewers prompted her to consider their importance in people's use of technologies. More of us in the IS field might be thus prompted. If we were, then we would surely address another area that receives limited attention in IS research – the way that actors, and not just action, are constituted. Professional identity, organisational culture and national culture are neglected in our field, and even where IS researchers do engage with them they are often viewed as states rather than processes shifting in relation to information technology.

IS researchers may be reluctant to engage with existing work in other disciplines on identity, culture and related concerns lest they be labelled second-rate organisational and social theorists, yet many would accept that we do not have a strong body of knowledge in our field. I suggest that we do not have an option about whether we develop one, just some choices to make about how we do it, in which engaging with work in other disciplines is one route.

Overall, then, IS research needs to have a strong theoretical basis. How we select the theories we will use in our research is as significant a move as how we frame the context of the study, and indeed the two are interrelated. Just as moving the time-space boundaries of context can give rise to an analysis that explains seemingly incompetent behaviour as rational (Avgerou and Madon, 2002), so analysing the complexity of human responsiveness may be enriched if we move the boundaries of our favoured theoretical positions once in a while. We need to make more of the tools we already have, but to make them lighter so that we may modernise our paradigms (Weick, 1996).

#### **Practical contribution**

#### Frameworks for IS implementation and management

This research suggests that frameworks or models for IS implementation and management should attend to emotional as well as cognitive aspects, and also their interrelationship. First, they should address the moods in which actors approach the task of systems implementation. Second, they need to consider the way that, in moving within a mood, actors may engage in varying degrees of improvised activity. Finally, they should not underestimate the attention that is needed to ways of arguing and acting to create and maintain the stability of a group involved in an IS implementation effort. The Golden Circle approach adopted during the CTAK project established a regime of truth within the LAS community that addressed these aspects, as summarised below.

During the CTAK project, IS development was a largely improvised activity, and this was a response to an anxious mood among the actors involved. The IT director's performance was informed by his past experience, and guided by his knowledge of best practice, but it also benefited significantly from his skills as a rhetorician. His use of rhetoric may be seen as an attempt to find words for what he wanted to do that were not already loaded with negative meaning at the LAS, not unlike Latour's (1999a) hopes for the vocabulary of actor-network theory. Initially, the IT director acted in a 'relatively safe' way, implementing infrastructure projects (Computer Bulletin, 1997). However, he was forced to justify his volitional and irrevocable actions publicly to the Select Committee, such justifications serving to commit him further to a course of creative coping (Weick, 1993a, 1998) within the Golden Circle. In this approach, he created opportunities for members of the user group to contribute to the process, and in this way, the CTAK system emerged as something built by the group in interaction, rather than being the product of a formalised approach to IS implementation.

However, the Golden Circle approach was seen as time-consuming and wearing by IT staff (Computer Bulletin, 1997). So during the PDS implementation, the approach was one in which no changes were made to the package unless there was a compelling case that performance would suffer otherwise. In this way, the user group discussions were

chaired by a user manager and IT staff liaised with him afterwards. In part, they felt that this approach was justified during a packaged implementation in which minimal changes were conceived, but it also demonstrates why full participation is often viewed as an ideal type. During the PDS project, a greater licence to act was taken for granted by the user group, that is, they felt more certain about how and why they should comment, but their opportunities for doing so were more limited. So a different way of enacting participation was employed during the PDS implementation; one that aimed to discipline users' contributions. In practice, there was anxiety about introducing PDS, and this mood was evident in the control room on the day the system was installed and during meetings beforehand. Yet, there were also desires to be seen as a more modern and responsive organisation, in which PDS came to be accepted despite the more disciplinary mechanisms that accompanied its introduction.

So mood and mode of arguing and acting constituted each other during these IS implementation efforts in such a way that anxiety was reduced in the moves that were made. A regimes of truth framework in which modes of arguing and acting are conceived as cognitive-emotional, and neither discipline nor improvisation is seen as essentially liberating or repressive, can then form the basis of a model for IS implementation and management. Existing frameworks, whether based on a lifecycle or an evolutionary model, and whether informed by an engineering approach or a sociotechnical one, neglect or underplay one or more of the considerations raised by this research.

Overall, then, during IS implementation technical artefacts, in the form of hardware, software, or a packaged application, are embellished so that an information system emerges as an accomplishment of implementation efforts that provide some degree of support, planned and emergent, for improvised and disciplined performances. The degree of support provided for each activity is negotiated in an emotional medium in which institutional pressures and local memories come into play. In this interaction, the time available for users of the system to act, and their past experiences and accomplishments with information systems are key issues arising. Moreover, these issues need to be addressed as ongoing concerns during system use. So, IS implementation in organisations is a delicate balancing act that requires constant

attention to subtly shifting cognitive-emotional ways of arguing and acting framed by institutions.

# Implications for information systems teaching and research practice

The IS implementation efforts described in this case reflect a range of different achievements in improvised performances. In particular, the actions of the IT director during the CTAK project may be seen as a very effective performance. While such an account of making-do is considered highly reputable in certain branches of research, the normative literature read by managers shows less tolerance for a rendering of improvised responses to specific circumstances. Rather, much of that literature, and trade journals in particular, seek to explain what takes place in terms of adherence to best practice, underplaying the *ad hoc* element of action, as in an account of the CTAK project published in *Computer Bulletin* (1997). That account is 'based partly on recent presentations by [the IT director of the LAS] to the BCS [British Computer Society] London Medical and Project Management specialist groups' (p. 24), and the words of the IT director are cited throughout. Paradoxically, then, even when practitioners give a very competent improvised performance, they are unlikely to acknowledge it as such.

The notion of improvisation in organisations has implications for how we teach, how we do research, and how we write about what we do. Many managers are educated via professional courses to understand their actions in terms of normative discourses, so it is hardly surprising that they present rationalistic accounts of their achievements, even when their experience suggests otherwise. It was only when I challenged the IT director – when I influenced his mood – by presenting what he considered to be a limited view of the Golden Circle, that I prompted him to give the much richer description of it discussed earlier. This suggests a need to give more attention to the improvisation literature in management education. While improvisation, never mind the moods to which it might be a response, remains largely a concept that people in organisations use to describe jazz or theatre, but not their own work, we may be neglecting a way of arguing and acting that could enrich both teaching and practice.

Furthermore, if all activity involves some degree of improvisation (Weick, 1998), then writing is an improvised performance. With this argument in mind, academic journal editors and reviewers might act so as to create possibilities for a greater number of papers that adopt a tentative and open-ended style – a style that seems to characterise improvised activity. Moreover, in our writing we might demonstrate how initial theory was modified during the research, rather than presenting the entire theoretical framework up front as though it was all known in advance.

## Relevance of this research to other settings

I suggest that conceiving IS implementation as a process accomplished in an emotional medium is not specific to this case. Although emotionality has received limited attention in IS research, it has developed into a subdiscipline in other fields (Fineman, 2000). In this case, I have described the emotion as a mood – an affective phenomenon that can be short-lived or very enduring (Harlos and Pinder, 2000), a way of being in the world that can change, although we are never without a mood (Ciborra, 2001). Mood is both an emotional medium in which we act (ibid.), and an outcome of activity (Fineman, 2000).

So, although anxiety will not always be the mood in which IS implementation is accomplished, there will be a mood and it may explain much about why participants in IS projects act as they do. Moreover, anxiety during IS implementation may be more common than the IS literature suggests. Institutional pressures to perform were at the heart of what occurred at the LAS in 1992. Many people in organisations work under such pressures and their actions do not need to have life and death outcomes for them to feel anxious. From an IS implementation perspective, what is interesting is how their emotion is implicated in the moves they make and the outcomes they achieve. Furthermore, if their mood is not one of anxiety, but, say, resentment, excitement, or boredom, we may then ask how these different moods arise and how IS implementation is accomplished within them.

Perhaps the most difficult aspect of paying attention to mood is that we may not always be aware of our moods or what gives rise to them. Ciborra (2001), drawing on Heidegger (1995), suggests that we may study moods by examining the way we move within them –

in the way we seek to drive them away. In this way, then, IS researchers might consider emotional rather than purely cognitive explanations for the moves they observe in the field. Moreover, given a propensity in many societies to present a rational explanation for what they think and do, researchers need to engage in more suspicion of their own and others' narratives. How reasonable is it to suggest that when we walk through the door of the workplace we become entirely rational beings, when in so many other settings – in the home, in places of leisure, with friends – we very evidently express emotions and feel able to do so?

# Further research agendas

Further research might explore the ideas I present in this chapter. For example, it might examine the relationship between moods, modes of arguing and acting, and models for IS development and management in different settings. These settings might include other ambulance services in the UK and in different national contexts, other settings where critical systems are implemented, for example air traffic control, and contrasting settings, where the information systems being implemented are not perceived as critical or where the framing discourse is not one of performance improvement. Organisations' past experiences with IS implementation and use would provide further dimensions of similarity or contrast to be explored.

Such research might reveal how IS implementation is accomplished when moods other than anxiety, for example excitement, hope, tedium or gloom, prevail. These studies might draw upon the existing body of literature in organisational theory on emotion in the workplace, and from related work in psychology and sociology (for an overview and some references, see Fineman, 2000). These ideas would complement existing perspectives in IS research which, in general, view systems development as a cognitive process.

## Methodological contribution

In chapter 4, I described the longitudinal case study presented here as a critical study combining a historical ethnography and an empirical one. Since critical research is still on the whole theoretical (Alvesson and Deetz, 2000), and there is an absence of critical methods as such, it makes a contribution to critical research methodology in the following ways.

It demonstrates how aspects of interpretive methods might be emphasised to accomplish critique – for example, the principles of suspicion and dialogic reasoning (Klein and Myers, 1999) – and how these questioning techniques may be presented during writing up to demonstrate the convincingness of the research (Golden-Biddle and Locke, 1993). For example, I provide descriptions of my interactions with study participants in formal and informal settings and how I employed suspicion of their narratives, for example about the Golden Circle, and they influenced me to employ dialogical reasoning about the extent to which IS implementation and use are cognitive processes.

I argue for proceeding chronologically (Vaughan, 1996) in research that is historically contextualised, as critical research would claim to be (Orlikowski and Baroudi, 1991). In such situations, I suggest that coding the data and aggregating statements from interviews by topic may not be a useful way to proceed because vital context is lost. By detailing study participants' language, actions, and feelings about their work, my own approaches to data collection and analysis, and how and why I modified my methods over time, I aim to demonstrate the authenticity of my work. In other words, I aim to show that I was in the field and that I tried to be genuine to the experience (Golden-Biddle and Locke, 1993.).

I adopt an unorthodox approach to presenting my work by introducing theoretical concepts as I need them, but since initial theories were modified I think it is important to reveal the moves in which such modifications took place. So I aim to show readers how I made sense of the data while leaving room for others to make their sense of them. Moreover, as I introduce further concepts I extend some dominant views expressed in existing literature or explore lacunae in established ways of arguing. In many of these moves, I aim to differentiate my findings and my way of presenting them to show the distinctiveness of my contribution and ultimately the plausibility of my research (ibid.).

Extending the spirit in which I challenged study participants and they challenged me, I hope also to challenge readers to reexamine their assumptions. In particular, to question

their assumptions about improvisation and discipline and the extent to which they are achievable and appropriate, about peripheral cases and the value in studying them, and about why we should consider the effects of globalising discourses within communities as well as between communities across the world. In these moves, I attend to the criticality dimension (ibid.).

Despite the Foucauldian concepts that inform this research, I do not adopt Foucault's "strong textualist" position (Rorty, 1982, cited in Golden-Biddle and Locke, 1993) in which I disappear from view along with my intentions for this work. Rather, I adopt many of the strategies described by Golden-Biddle and Locke (1993) to appeal to readers concerning the authenticity, plausibility and criticality of my work. I wish to create a space in which readers can interpret my findings according to their personal and intellectual experiences, but I also want to make as transparent as possible how I arrived at mine. Since I do not conform to normative standards for writing up my research – for example, presenting a full theoretical framework up front (Klein and Myers, 1999) – I ground my contribution to research methods in a different set of criteria, which seem more useful for the critical ethnography I have conducted.

#### ON THE FUTURE FOR AMBULANCE SERVICES

Finally, I contribute to a debate about the future for ambulance services (Nicholl et al, 2001). My aim is not to emancipate a particular group by outlining a better direction for them, but to generate some discussion about where we may be going with current modernisation efforts within the UK ambulance services and how we are attempting to get there.

In this account, institutions such as the UK government, the Department of Health and the media shape discursive practices within the ambulance services, in ways that mandate performance improvements while constraining how they occur owing to the manner of their scrutiny. On the one hand, then, these institutions are promoting the use of information technology to achieve desired change in the NHS (for example, Chapman, 1996), in response to a mood of the general public in which improved levels of service are being demanded. On the other hand, the way that ambulance services are

regulated and monitored means that institutional scrutiny focuses on examining their achievements against performance targets. So cultural change and IS implementation have been conceived largely instrumentally in terms of responding to a goal that is relatively unproblematic to measure but not meaningful to many. A key issue, then, in the debate about the future for ambulance services is how their performance should be monitored.

Most would argue that patient outcomes are crucial, but hospitals do not share this information with ambulance services. Moreover, outcomes depend not just on speed of response but on the medical skills of staff at the scene and on the way to hospital. Since 1996, ambulance services have been required to have a paramedic on every vehicle (Nicholl et al, 2001), but some services have not reached this target. Still, though, the measure of value that government ministers emphasise is the one that requires more responses in 8 minutes – one that would seem to see the ambulance service as the health care arm of the emergency services rather than the emergency arm of the health service.

The new standards do, however, attempt to prioritise responses according to patient need. Issues then arising are the extent to which it is possible to triage over the telephone, the way that the number of 14-minute responses is dropping in a number of services, and the absence of information about whether clinical outcomes for patients are improving overall. Priority dispatch is intended to provide a better service for all of us, but it has received less attention in the media than changes in general practice and the hospital system. Patients call for a better health service, but how many are aware of the implications of a priority based system of emergency responses, and of what they need to learn so that they can, in the words of the Health Minister, help themselves?

This research, then, reveals three major tensions in the modernisation efforts examined – tensions between:

- The government's declared plans for cultural change in the NHS and the uneven modernisation and contradictory outcomes accomplished in their local enactments
- The rationalistic discourses of management education and clinical training and the rational-emotional discourses of managers' and staff members' lived experiences

• Patient demands for a better health service and what is provided in reply and patient responsibilities within that.

## The conditions of possibility now arising

At this stage, we may ask a genealogical question, that is, how did we get to the present (Foucault, 1977)? Genealogical questioning seeks a historical understanding, prompted not by an interest in the past and a wish to explain it, but by a desire to understand and respond to the present. It revisits past events in light of the current situation to invite consideration of the future. Genealogical questioning in this case is of the form:

How did ambulance services get to be a community whose value is measured in terms of its capability to respond in 8 minutes, and how is information technology implicated in the moves in which we have arrived at our present?

If we then pursue this question to consider how things might be otherwise, we may ask, extending Weick (1996):

Is a reluctance to drop one's tools in these circumstances an indication that justification, trust and identity need more consideration if the future is not to seem meaningless? Whose survival is threatened, and what constitutes safe pre-hospital patient care? What role is there then for the tools of information technology?

In 1992 there were traces of what was to come in the ambulance services – early evidence that responding to emergency calls was about more than speed of response. More than ten years on, it is perceived as being about speed of response and urgency of need. I suggest that the diversity of medical conditions, the difficulties of differentiating among them (triaging) on the telephone, and the clinical need to respond to some conditions very quickly has contributed to the way that 8 minutes has become institutionalised as a measure of value. Information systems have made it possible to respond more quickly and to triage more effectively, but as yet these systems are not sophisticated enough to pick out, reliably and safely, calls requiring different levels of response (Nicholl et al, 2001). In this way, further developments are needed to establish trust in these systems if the response time is to be increased from 14/19 minutes for

those conditions that are perceived as not so serious or reduced to, say, 5 minutes for life-threatened cases.

The moves in which we have arrived at dispatching by priority have changed the nature of work in an ambulance service control room. The practices of call taking, allocating and dispatching are being conceived in a different way, and skills in using the tools of information technology are becoming increasingly important in the new work regimes. The meaning of work – what it means to be responsive – is changing, but the tools of information technology are not yet part of the identities of all those required to use them. The extent to which managers are trusted by staff, and the ways they justify changing, will influence the extent to which ambulance workers come to accept the modernisation message – that the new tools are meaningful artefacts that define them, that they should pick them up because they are lighter.

Moreover, some of the existing identities may be preserved in the new environment. Certain conditions do not have such a pressing need for a fast response. If we could triage more effectively, then more work might be classified as not so urgent, and more workers might engage in "white", rather than "red", work. Furthermore, as part of justifying the changes, managers could act to provide the tools for which vehicle crews are asking – better equipment, more publicity about abuse of the service, prosecutions against those that assault them, and to be acknowledged as more than "glorified porters". An earlier chapter indicates how a paramedic and the director of operations at the LAS engaged in such a discourse at a time of poor industrial relations, and an alignment of interests was accomplished. Social problems and assaults on staff may be more pronounced in London than elsewhere, and a public accountability model that would change working practices may be more contentious at the LAS than other ambulance services, and together they may account for much about the performance of the LAS. Nevertheless, abuse of the service and of staff is becoming increasingly frequent in other parts of the UK and the way of measuring accountability is also contested in other services. Moreover, many of these services are struggling to meet the new standards. In these developments, the case of the LAS is not as peripheral as it may at first appear. We may draw implications from it, just as when government responded

to two public inquiries – which specifically examined the performance of the LAS – by initiating a national review of ORCON standards.

Modernisation efforts may be accepted because they embody desirable goals – to be seen as abreast of the latest developments in a field, as adopting contemporary technologies, and as being responsive to the world in which we live. Alternatively, they may challenge existing ways of organising and established ideas of providing a service. Both such manifestations are evident in current modernisation programmes within the UK NHS, but the difficulties with implementing these programmes does not reduce to a straight conflict between those advocating new ways of being responsive and those wishing to retain existing ways. Being modern is narrowly conceived in terms of performance targets so that innovation and change means getting faster. Moreover, the targets are defined in such a way that they are disjoint from the patient outcome context that the institutions claim they serve. The in-order-to elements of modernisation are being addressed, but a link with the because-of motives (Ciborra, 1999b) that would give them meaning has not been established. Not only does such disjunction act to constrain local innovations that might give rise to cultural change, but also, against these homogenising measures of performance supported by ICTs, outcomes achieved indicate that parts of the service are getting worse.

Modernisation is a globalising discourse in which the use of ICTs is deeply implicated. However, in the UK ambulance services those advocating modernisation and those who need to accept and enact it are at most loosely aligned and the way that current ICTs are being adopted creates limited scope to fuse these interests together. Perhaps, though, a different type of fusion should be attempted. Rather than just trying to make conversations with callers so fine-grained that a patient's condition can be determined over the telephone, the potential of ICTs to connect different communities should be exploited. If ambulance services knew more from hospitals about the outcomes achieved by their patients, the need for innovation and change might seem more compelling and so ICTs would achieve more than supporting targetmania.

In all of this, it may be some time before staff, managers or patients have reason to accept that using information systems to triage over the telephone is safe and reliable. In

the meantime, we all have a responsibility to debate the modernisation programme that is being introduced within the UK ambulance services. If some response times are lengthened, does this mean that care for those patients affected will suffer, or could a move to more "white work" mean that they get a different type of service – one that is more attuned with their particular conditions? Should response time targets be at the heart of measuring ambulance service performance, and, if not, how else could we judge quality of service? Is it possible to measure all of the caring work of the ambulance services by a target, and, if not, will those things not measured in this way receive less attention, or will some targets be perceived as less important than are others? These issues need debating, among staff, among managers, among ministers, and among patients. I have raised them, I have presented some reasons for debating them, but I do not have the answers. These answers are for all of us to provide, for wherever we are in the world, and whatever we do in life, we all are potential patients of the ambulance services.

# REFERENCES

ABRAHAM, R. (1998). Emotional dissonance in organizations: antecedents, consequences, and moderators. *Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs*, **124**, 229-246.

ALLAIRE, Y. and FIRSIROTU, M. (1984). Theories of Organizational Culture. *Organization Studies*, **5(3)**, 193-226.

ALVESSON, M. (1993). *Cultural Perspectives on Organizations*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.

ALVESSON, M. and BERG, P. (1992). *Corporate Culture and Organizational Symbolism*. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.

ALVESSON, M. and DEETZ, S. (1996). Critical theory and postmodernism approaches to organization studies. In *Handbook of Organization Studies* (CLEGG, S., HARDY, C. and NORD, W., Eds.), Sage Publications, London.

ALVESSON, M. and DEETZ, S. (2000). *Doing Critical Management Research*. Sage, London.

ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H. (1992a). *Critical Management Studies*. Sage, London.

ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H. (1992b). On the idea of emancipation in management and organization studies. *Academy of Management Review*, **17(3)**, 432-464.

ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H. (1995). Strategic management as domination and emancipation: from planning and process to communication and praxis. In *Advances in Strategic Management* (STUBBART, C. and SHRIVASTAVA, P., Eds.), Volume 11, JAI Press, Greenwich.

ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H. (1996). *Making Sense of Management: A Critical Analysis*. Sage, London.

AMBEX (2000). Ambulance Services Association UK National Conference, Harrogate, 1-3 July.

ARGYRIS, C. (1990). *Overcoming Organizational Defences: Facilitating Organizational Learning*. Allyn and Bacon, Massachusetts.

ARGYRIS, C. and SCHON, D. (1978). *Organizational Learning*. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts.

ARGYRIS, C. and SCHON, D. (1996). *Organizational Learning II: A Theory of Action Perspective*. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts.

ARRINGTON, C. and PUXTY, A. (1991). Accounting, interests and rationality: a communicative relation. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, **2(1)**, 31-58.

ASHFORTH, B. and TOMIUK, M. (2000). Emotional labour and authenticity: views from service agents. In *Emotion in Organizations* (FINEMAN, S., Ed.), Second edition, Sage, London.

AVGEROU, C. (2000). IT and organizational change: an institutionalist perspective. *Information Technology and People*, **13(4)**, 234-262.

AVGEROU, C. (2001). The significance of context in information systems and organizational change. *Information Systems Journal*, **11**, 43-63.

AVGEROU, C. (2002). *Information Systems and Global Diversity*. Oxford University Press, Oxford.

AVGEROU, C. and MADON, S. (2002). Framing IS studies. Paper number 112. Working Paper Series, Department of Information Systems, London School of Economics.

AVISON, D. and MYERS, M. (1995). Information systems and anthropology: an anthropological perspective on IT and organizational culture. *Information Technology and People*, **8(3)**, 43-56.

BALL, K. and WILSON, D. (2000). Power, control and computer-based performance monitoring: repertoires, resistance and subjectivities. *Organization Studies*, **21(3)**, 539-565.

BARLEY, S. (1983). Semiotics and the study of occupational and organizational cultures. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **28**, 393-413.

BARNEY, J. (1986). Organizational culture: can it be a source of sustainable competitive advantage? *Academy of Management Review*, **11(3)**, 656-665.

BARTUNEK, J. and MOCH, M. (1991). Multiple constituencies and the quality of working life: intervention at FoodCom. In *Reframing Organizational Culture* (FROST, P., MOORE, L., LOUIS, M., LUNDBERG, C. and MARTIN, J., Eds.), Sage, Newbury Park, California.

BEATH, C. and ORLIKOWSKI, W. (1994). The contradictory structure of systems development methodologies: deconstructing the IS-user relationship in *Information Engineering*. *Information Systems Research*, **5**, 350-377.

BELL, E. (1990). The bicultural life experience of career-oriented black women. *Journal of Organizational Behaviour*, **11**, 459-478.

BERNSTEIN, R (Ed.) (1985). Habermas and Modernity. Polity Press, Cambridge.

BEYNON-DAVIES, P. (1995). Information systems 'failure': the case of the London Ambulance Service's Computer Aided Despatch project. *European Journal of Information Systems*, **4**, 171-184.

BIJKER, W. (1992). The social construction of fluorescent lighting, or how an artifact was invented in its diffusion stage. In *Shaping Technology/Building Society* (BIJKER, W. and LAW, J., Eds.), MIT Press, Massachusetts.

BIJKER, W. (1993). Do not despair: there is life after constructivism. *Science, Technology and Human Values*, **18(1)**, 113-138.

BIJKER, W. (1995). *Of Bicycles, Bakelites and Bulbs: Towards a Theory of Sociotechnical Change*. MIT Press, Massachusetts.

BIJKER, W., HUGHES, T. and PINCH, T. (Eds.) (1987). *The Social Construction of Technological Systems*. MIT Press, Massachusetts.

BLOOMFIELD, B., COOMBS, R., OWEN, J. and TAYLOR, P. (1997). Doctors as managers: constructing systems and users in the National Health Service. In *Information Technology and Organizations* (BLOOMFIELD, B., COOMBS, R., KNIGHTS, D. and LITTLER, D., Eds.), Oxford University Press, Oxford.

BLOOMFIELD, B. and VURDUBAKIS, T. (1994). Boundary disputes: negotiating the boundary between the technical and the social in the development of IT systems. *Information Technology and People*, **7(1)**, 9-24.

BLUMER, H. (1954). What is wrong with social theory? *American Sociological Review*, **19(1)**, 3-10.

BOLAND, R. and HOFFMAN, R. (1983). Humor in a machine shop: an interpretation of symbolic action. In *Organizational Symbolism* (PONDY, L., FROST, P., MORGAN, G. and DANDRIDGE, T., Eds.), JAI Press, Greenwich.

BOLAND, R. and SCHULTZE, U. (1996). From work to activity: technology and the narrative of progress. In *Proceedings of the IFIP WG8.2 Working Conference on Information Technology and Changes in Organizational Work* (ORLIKOWSKI, W., WALSHAM, G., JONES, M. and DeGROSS, J., Eds.), Chapman and Hall, London.

BOWKER, G. and STAR, S. (1999). *Sorting Things Out: Classification and its Consequences*. MIT Press, Massachusetts.

BRIGHAM, M. and CORBETT, M. (1997). E-mail, power and the constitution of organisational reality. *New Technology, Work and Employment*, **12(1)**, 25-35.

BRITISH COMPUTER SOCIETY (1995). Project Management Specialist Group Meeting. LAS Inquiry. A presentation by Paul Williams, inquiry team member and senior computer audit partner, BDO Binder Hamlyn, 17 January.

BRITISH COMPUTER SOCIETY (1997). Project Management Specialist Group Meeting. LAS Revisited. A presentation by Ian Tighe, Executive Director, Information Technology, London Ambulance Service, 16 September.

BROADBENT, J. and LAUGHLIN, R. (1994). Moving towards an accounting that will be enabling: accounting, Habermas and issues of gender. In *Proceedings from the 4<sup>th</sup> Interdisciplinary Perspectives in Accounting Conference*, Manchester, 1.3.1-1.3.18.

BROADBENT, J., LAUGHLIN, R. and READ, S. (1991). Recent financial and administrative changes in the NHS: a critical theory analysis. *Critical Perspectives on Accounting*, **2**, 1-29.

BROWN, A. and STARKEY, K. (2000). Organizational identity and learning: a psychodynamic perspective. *Academy of Management Review*, **25(1)**, 102-120.

BURAWOY, M. (1985). The Politics of Production. Verso Press, London.

BURRELL, G. (1988). Modernism, postmodernism and organizational analysis 2: the contribution of Michel Foucault. *Organization Studies*, **9(2)**, 221-235.

BURRELL, G. (1994). Modernism, postmodernism and organizational analysis 4: the contribution of Jurgen Habermas. *Organization Studies*, **15(1)**, 1-19.

BURRELL, G. (1998). Modernism, postmodernism and organization theory: the contribution of Michel Foucault. In *Foucault, Management and Organization Theory* (McKINLEY, A. and STARKEY, K., Eds.), Sage, London.

BURRELL, G. and MORGAN, G. (1979). *Sociological Paradigms and Organizational Analysis*. Heinemann, London.

CALAS, M. and SMIRCICH, L. (1987). Post-culture: is the organizational culture literature dominant but dead? Paper prepared for the Third International Conference on Organizational Symbolism and Corporate Culture, Milan, June.

CALAS, M. and SMIRCICH, L. (1991). Voicing seduction to silence leadership. *Organization Studies*, **12**, 567-602.

CALAS, M. and SMIRCICH, L. (1999). Past postmodernism? Reflections and tentative directions. *Academy of Management Review*, **24(4)**, 649-671.

CALLON, M. (1986). Some elements of a sociology of translation: domestication of the scallops and the fishermen of St. Brieuc Bay. In *Power, Action and Belief: A New Sociology of Knowledge?* (LAW, J., Ed.), Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

CALLON, M. (1991). Techno-economic networks and irreversibility. In *A Sociology of Monsters: Essays on Power, Technology and Domination* (LAW, J., Ed.), Routledge, London.

CALLON, M. and LATOUR, B. (1992). Don't throw the baby out with the Bath School! A reply to Collins and Yearley. In *Science as Practice and Culture* (PICKERING, A., Ed.), University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

CECEZ-KECMANOVIC, D. (2001). Critical information systems research: a Habermasian approach. In *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> European Conference on Information Systems* (SMITHSON, S., GRICAR, J., PODLOGAR, M. and AVGERINOU, S., Eds.), Moderna Organizacija, Kranj, Slovenia.

CERUZZI, P. (1999). Inventing personal computing. In *The Social Shaping of Technology* (MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J., Eds.) 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Open University Press, Buckingham.

CHAN, A. (2000). Redirecting critique in postmodern organization studies: the perspective of Foucault. *Organization Studies*, **21(6)**, 1059-1075.

CHANNEL FOUR TELEVISION (1996). Documentary series, Red Base One Four.

CHAPMAN, R. (1996). *Review of Ambulance Performance Standards*, Department of Health, London, July.

CHECKLAND, P. (1999). Soft Systems Methodology: A 30-year Retrospective. Wiley, Chichester.

CHUA, W. (1986). Radical developments in accounting thought. *The Accounting Review*, **61**, 601-632.

CIBORRA, C. (1994). The grassroots of IT and strategy. In *Strategic Information Systems: A European Perspective* (CIBORRA, C. and JELASSI, T., Ed.), Wiley, Chichester.

CIBORRA, C. (1996). The platform organization: recombining strategies, structures and surprises. *Organization Science*, **7(2)**, 103-118.

CIBORRA, C. (1999a). Notes on improvisation and time in organizations. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, **9**, 77-94.

CIBORRA, C. (1999b). A theory of information systems based on improvisation. In *Rethinking Management Information Systems* (CURRIE, W. and GALLIERS, R., Eds.), Oxford University Press, Oxford.

CIBORRA, C. (2001). In the mood for knowledge: A new study of improvisation. Paper presented to the Social Study of Information Technology Workshop, London School of Economics, 19-20 March.

CLARK, B. (1972). The organizational saga in higher education. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **17**, 178-184.

CLEGG, S. (1990). *Modern Organizations: Organization Studies in the Postmodern World*. Sage, London.

COCKBURN, C. (1983). *Brothers: Male Dominance and Technological Change*. Pluto Press, London.

COLLINS, H. and YEARLEY, S. (1992). Epistemological chicken. In *Science as Practice and Culture* (PICKERING, A., Ed.), University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

COMPUTER BULLETIN (1997). 999 Rescue, October.

COMPUTER WEEKLY (2000). New system in 999 chaos, 7 December.

COOMBS, R., KNIGHTS, D. and WILLMOTT, H. (1992). Culture, control and competition: towards a conceptual framework for the study of information technology in organizations. *Organization Studies*, **13(1)**, 51-72.

COOPER, R. and BURRELL, G. (1988). Modernism, postmodernism and organizational analysis: an introduction. *Organization Studies*, **9(1)**, 91-112.

COX, T. (1994). *Cultural Diversity in Organizations: Theory, Research and Practice*. Berrett-Koehler, San Francisco.

CROZIER, M. (1964). *The Bureaucratic Phenomenon*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

CZARNIAWSKA-JOERGES, B. (1992). Exploring Complex Organizations: A Cultural Perspective. Sage, Newbury Park, California.

DAILY TELEGRAPH (1989). Control staff walkout over suspended 999 crews, 30 November, 2.

DEAL, T. and KENNEDY, A. (1982). *Corporate Cultures: The Rites and Rituals of Corporate Life*. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts.

DEETZ, S. (1992). Disciplinary power in the modern corporation. In *Critical Management Studies* (ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H., Eds.), Sage Publications, London.

DEETZ, S. (1996). Describing differences in approaches to organization science: rethinking Burrell and Morgan and their legacy. *Organization Science*, **7(2)**, 191-207.

DEMING, W. (1986). *Out of the Crisis*. MIT Centre for Advanced Engineering Study, Cambridge, Massachusetts.

DENISON, D. (1990). Corporate Culture and Organizational Effectiveness. Wiley, New York.

DENISON, D. and MISHRA, A. (1995). Toward a theory of organizational culture and effectiveness. *Organization Science*, **6(2)**, 204-223.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (1989). Working for Patients. HMSO, London.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (1995). Press Release. Tom Sackville comments on Health Select Committee's report of the London Ambulance Service, London, 21 June.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (1996). The Patient's Charter, London, November.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (1997). *The New NHS: Modern, Dependable.* HMSO, London, December.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (1998). *Measuring when the clock starts and stops*, MISC 98(23), London.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (1999). *Modernisation of Ambulance Services* (HSC 1999/091), London, April.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (2000a). *National Service Framework for Coronary Heart Disease* (HSC 2000/012), London, April.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (2000b). *The NHS Plan: A Plan for Investment, A Plan for Reform*. HMSO, London.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH (2001). Your Guide to the NHS, London, September.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND SOCIAL SECURITY (1983). Report of the NHS Management Inquiry, London.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH WEB SITE (2002). Statistics Division entries. <a href="http://www.doh.gov.uk/public/sb013.htm">http://www.doh.gov.uk/public/sb013.htm</a>. Accessed October 2002.

DERRIDA, J. (1973). Speech and Phenomena. Northwestern University Press, Evanston, Illinois.

DOOLIN, W. (1998). Information technology as disciplinary technology: being critical in interpretive research on information systems. *Journal of Information Technology*, **13**, 301-11.

DREYFUS, H. and RABINOW, P. (1982). *Michel Foucault: Beyond Structuralism and Hermeneutics*. Harvester Wheatsheaf, Hemel Hempstead.

DUBE, L. and ROBEY, D. (1999). Software stories: three cultural perspectives on the organizational practices of software development. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, **9**, 223-259.

EHN, P. and SANDBERG, A. (1983). A local union influence on technology and work organization: some results from the DEMOS project. In *Systems Design For, With and By the Users* (BRIEFS, U., CIBORRA, C. and SCHNEIDER, L., Eds.), North-Holland, Amsterdam.

EMERY, F. and TRIST, E. (1960). Socio-technical systems. In *Management Science Models and Techniques*, Volume 2 (CHURCHMAN, C. and VERHULST, M., Eds.), Pergamon, Oxford.

FELDMAN, S. (1991). The meanings of ambiguity: learning from stories and metaphors. In *Reframing Organizational Culture* (FROST, P., MOORE, L., LOUIS, M., LUNDBERG, C. and MARTIN, J., Eds.), Sage, Newbury Park, California.

FINANCIAL TIMES (1993). When failure followed failure, 26 February, 10.

FINEMAN, S. (Ed.) (2000). Emotion in Organizations. Sage, London.

FIOL, C. (1991). Managing culture as a competitive resource: an identity-based view of sustainable competitive advantage. *Journal of Management*, **17(1)**, 191-211.

FITZGERALD, T. (1988). Can change in organizational culture really be managed? *Organizational Dynamics*, Autumn, 5-15.

FLYVBJERG, B. (1998). Empowering civil society: Habermas, Foucault and the question of conflict. In *Cities for Citizens* (DOUGLASS, M. and FRIEDMANN, J., Eds.), Wiley, New York.

FORESTER, J. (1992). Critical ethnography: on fieldwork in a Habermasian way. In *Critical Management Studies* (ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H., Eds.), Sage Publications, London.

FOUCAULT, M. (1972). The Archaeology of Knowledge. Harper, New York.

FOUCAULT, M. (1973a). *The Order of Things*. Vintage Books, New York.

FOUCAULT, M. (1973b). Madness and Civilisation. Vintage Books, New York.

FOUCAULT, M. (1975). *The Birth of the Clinic*. Vintage Books, New York.

FOUCAULT, M. (1977). Discipline and Punish. Penguin, Harmondsworth.

FOUCAULT, M. (1979). *The History of Sexuality, Volume 1: An Introduction*. Penguin, Harmondsworth.

FOUCAULT, M. (1980a). Truth and power. In *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings* 1972-1977 (GORDON, C., Ed.), Harvester Press, Brighton, Sussex.

FOUCAULT, M. (1980b). Two lectures. In *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings* 1972-1977 (GORDON, C., Ed.), Harvester Press, Brighton, Sussex.

FOUCAULT, M. (1980c). *Power/Knowledge: Selected Interviews and Other Writings* 1972-1977 (GORDON, C., Ed.), Harvester Press, Brighton, Sussex.

FOUCAULT, M. (1982). The subject and power. In *Michel Foucault: Beyond Structuralism and Hermeneutics* (DREYFUS, H. and RABINOW, P., Eds.), Harvester Wheatsheaf, Hemel Hempstead.

FOUCAULT, M. (1984a). What is Enlightenment? In *The Foucault Reader* (RABINOW, P., Ed.), Pantheon Books, New York.

FOUCAULT, M. (1984b). On the genealogy of ethics: an overview of work in progress. In *The Foucault Reader* (RABINOW, P., Ed.), Pantheon Books, New York.

FOUCAULT, M. (1991). Governmentality. In *The Foucault Effect: Studies in Governmentality* (BURCHELL, G., GORDON, C. and MILLER, P., Ed.), Harvester Wheatsheaf, London.

FRANZ, C. and ROBEY, R. (1984). An investigation of user-led system design: rational and political perspectives. *Communications of the ACM*, **27(12)**, 1202-1209.

GALLIERS, R., MINGERS, J. and JACKSON, M. (1997). Organization theory and systems thinking: the benefits of partnership. *Organization*, **4(2)**, 269-278.

GEERTZ, C. (1973). The Interpretation of Cultures. Basic Books, New York.

GIDDENS, A. (1979). Central Problems in Social Theory. MacMillan, London.

GIDDENS, A. (1984). *The Constitution of Society: Outline of the Theory of Structuration*. Polity Press, Cambridge.

GIDDENS, A. (1991). *Modernity and Self-Identity: Self and Society in the Late Modern Age.* Polity Press, Cambridge.

GOLDEN-BIDDLE, K. and LOCKE, K. (1993). Appealing work: an investigation of how ethnographic texts convince. *Organization Science*, **4(4)**, 595-616.

GOODENOUGH, W. (1971). *Culture, Language and Society*. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts.

GREGORY, K. (1983). Native-view paradigms: multiple cultures and culture conflicts in organizations. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **28**, 359-376.

GREEN, S. and MURPHY, C. (1996). Twin peaks: rationalist and cultural perspectives on executive support systems. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, **6(3)**, 175-189.

GRINT, K. and WOOLGAR, S. (1997). *The Machine at Work: Technology, Work and Organization*. Polity Press, Cambridge.

GRUGULIS, I., DUNDON, A. and WILKINSON, A. (2000). Cultural control and the 'culture manager': employment practices in a consultancy. *Work, Employment and Society*, **14(1)**, 97-116.

GUARDIAN (1989). Army needed 'to aid police', 8 November, 1.

GUARDIAN (1992). Ambulance chief resigns, 29 October, 1.

HABERMAS, J. (1972). Knowledge and Human Interests. Heinemann, London.

HABERMAS, J. (1979). Communication and the Evolution of Society. Heinemann, London.

HABERMAS, J. (1984). *The Theory of Communicative Action: Volume 1: Reason and the Rationalization of Society.* Heinemann, London.

HABERMAS, J. (1987). *The Theory of Communicative Action: Volume 2: The Critique of Functionalist Reason.* Polity Press, Cambridge.

HAMMER, M. and CHAMPY, J. (1993). *Reengineering the Corporation: A Manifesto for Business Revolution*. Nicholas Brealey, London.

HAMPDEN-TURNER, C. and TROMPENAARS, A. (1993). *The Seven Cultures of Capitalism*. Currency Doubleday, New York.

HARAWAY, D. (1999). Modest\_Witness@Second\_Millennium. In *The Social Shaping of Technology* (MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J., Eds.) 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Open University Press, Buckingham.

HARBERS, H. (1995). Book review: 'We Have Never Been Modern' by Bruno Latour. *Science, Technology and Human Values*, **20(2)**, 270-275.

HARLOS, K. and PINDER, C. (2000). Emotion and injustice in the workplace. In *Emotion in Organizations* (FINEMAN, S., Ed.), Second edition, Sage, London.

HARVEY, L. (1997). A genealogical exploration of gendered genres in IT cultures. *Information Systems Journal*, **7**, 153-172.

HEDBERG, B. (1980). Using computerized information systems to design better organizations and jobs. In *The Human Side of Information Processing* (BJORN-ANDERSEN, N., Ed.), North-Holland, Amsterdam.

HEIDEGGER, M. (1962). Being and Time. Blackwell, Oxford.

HEIDEGGER, M. (1995). *The Basic Problems of Phenomenology*. Indiana University Press, Indiana.

HELD, D. (1980). Introduction to Critical Theory: Horkheimer to Habermas. Hutchinson, London.

HIRSCHHEIM, R. and KLEIN, H. (1994). Realizing emancipatory principles in information systems development: the case for ETHICS. *MIS Quarterly*, **18(1)**, 83-109.

HIRSCHHEIM, R., KLEIN, H. and LYYTINEN, K. (1996). Exploring the intellectual structures of information systems development: a social action theoretic analysis. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, **6(1/2)**, 1-64.

HIRSCHHEIM, R. and NEWMAN, M. (1991). Symbolism and information systems development: myth, metaphor and magic. *Information Systems Research*, **2(1)**, 29-62.

HOFMANN, J. (1999). Writers, texts and writing acts: gendered user images in word processing software. In *The Social Shaping of Technology* (MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J., Eds.) 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Open University Press, Buckingham.

HOFSTEDE, G. (1980). Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values. Sage, London.

HOFSTEDE, G. (1991). Cultures and Organizations. McGraw-Hill, New York.

HOUGHAM, M. (1996). London Ambulance Service computer-aided despatch system. *International Journal of Project Management*, **14(2)**, 103-110.

HOUSE OF COMMONS SELECT COMMITTEE ON HEALTH (1995). Second Report on London's Ambulance Service, June.

HOUSE OF COMMONS SELECT COMMITTEE ON HEALTH (1996). First Report on the London Ambulance Service: Comments on Recent Performance, December.

HULL, R. (1999). Actor network and conduct: the discipline and practices of knowledge management. *Organization*, **6(3)**, 405-428.

INDEPENDENT (1992). Software failure 'may be behind ambulance crisis', 30 October, 2.

INTRONA, L. (1997). Management, Information and Power. MacMillan Press, London.

IVES, B. and LEARMONTH, G. (1984). The information system as a competitive weapon. *Communications of the ACM*, **27(12)**, 1193-1201.

JACKSON, M. (1985). Social systems theory and practice: the need for a critical approach. *International Journal of General Systems*, **10**, 135-151.

JACKSON, M. (1992). An integrated programme for critical thinking in information systems research. *Information Systems Journal*, **2**, 83-95.

JACQUES, R. (1996). *Manufacturing the Employee: Management Knowledge from the* 19<sup>th</sup> to the 21<sup>st</sup> Centuries. Sage, London.

JAGGAR, A. (1983). *Feminist Politics and Human Nature*. Rowman and Allanheld, Totowa, New Jersey.

JANSON, M., CECEZ-KECMANOVIC, D. and BROWN, A. (2001). Information systems for the support of a participatory ethos: a study in communicative action. In *Proceedings of an International Workshop on (Re-) Defining Critical Research in Information Systems* (ADAM, A., HOWCROFT, D., RICHARDSON, H. and ROBINSON, B., Eds.), University of Salford, UK.

JEFFCUTT, P. (1993). From interpretation to representation. In *Postmodernism and Organizations* (HASSARD, J. and PARKER, M., Eds.), Sage, London.

KAARST-BROWN, M. and ROBEY, D. (1999). More on myth, magic and metaphor: cultural insights into the management of information technology in organizations. *Information Technology and People*, **12(2)**, 192-217.

KANTER, R. (1977). Men and Women of the Corporation. Basic Books, New York.

KANTER, R. (1984). The Change Masters. Allen and Unwin, London.

KEEN, P. (1981). Information systems and organisational change. *Communications of the ACM*, **24(1)**, 24-33.

KEESING, R. (1974). Theories of culture. *Annual Review of Anthropology*, **3**, 73-97.

KENDALL, J. and KENDALL, K. (1993). Metaphors and methodologies: living beyond the systems machine. *MIS Quarterly*, June, 149-171.

KENDALL, G. and WICKHAM, G. (1999). Using Foucault's Methods. Sage, London.

KILDUFF, M. (1993). Deconstructing *Organizations*. *Academy of Management Review*, **18**, 13-31.

KLEIN, H. and MYERS, M. (1999). A set of principles for conducting and evaluating interpretive field studies in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, **23(1)**, 67-93.

KLINE, R. and PINCH, T. (1999). The social construction of technology. In *The Social Shaping of Technology* (MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J., Eds.) 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Open University Press, Buckingham.

KLING, R. and IACONO, S. (1984). The control of information systems development after implementation. *Communications of the ACM*, **27(12)**, 1218-1226.

KLING, R. and IACONO, S. (1989). The institutional character of computerized information systems. *Office: Technology and People*, **5(1)**, 7-28.

KNIGHTS, D. (1992). Changing spaces: the disruptive impact of a new epistemological location for the study of management. *Academy of Management Review*, **17(3)**, 514-536.

KNIGHTS, D. and McCABE, D. (1998). When "Life is but a Dream": obliterating politics through business process engineering? *Human Relations*, **51(6)**, 761-798.

KNIGHTS, D. and MORGAN, G. (1991). Corporate strategy, organizations and subjectivity: a critique. *Organization Studies*, **12(2)**, 251-273.

KNIGHTS, D. and MURRAY, F. (1994). *Managers Divided: Organisation Politics and Information Technology Management*. Wiley, Chichester.

KNIGHTS D., MURRAY, F. and WILLMOTT, H. (1997). Networking as knowledge work: a study of strategic inter-organizational development in the financial services industry. In *Information Technology and Organizations* (BLOOMFIELD, B., COOMBS, R., KNIGHTS, D. and LITTLER, D., Eds.), Oxford University Press, Oxford.

KNIGHTS D., NOBLE, F. and WILLMOTT, H. (1997). 'We should be total slaves to the business': aligning information technology and strategy – issues and evidence. In *Information Technology and Organizations* (BLOOMFIELD, B., COOMBS, R., KNIGHTS, D. and LITTLER, D., Eds.), Oxford University Press, Oxford.

KNIGHTS, D. and WILLMOTT, H. (1987). Organizational culture as management strategy: a critique and illustration from the financial services industry. *International Studies of Management and Organization*, **XVII(3)**, 40-63.

KNIGHTS, D. and WILLMOTT, H. (1995). Culture and control in a life insurance company. *Studies in Cultures, Organizations and Society*, **1**, 29-46.

KOTTER, J. and HESKETT, J. (1992). *Corporate Culture and Performance*. Free Press, New York.

KREFTING, L. and FROST, P. (1985). Untangling webs, surfing waves, and wildcatting: a multiple-metaphor perspective on managing organizational culture. In *Organizational Culture* (FROST, P., MOORE, L., LOUIS, M., LUNDBERG, C. and MARTIN, J., Eds.), Sage, Newbury Park.

KUNDA, G. (1992). Engineering Culture: Control and Commitment in a High-Tech Corporation. Temple University Press, Philadelphia.

KUNDA, G. (1995). Engineering culture: control and commitment in a high-tech corporation. *Organization Science*, **6(2)**, 228-230.

KYNG, M. (1998). Users and computers: a contextual approach to design of computer artifacts. *Scandinavian Journal of Information Systems*, **10(1&2)**, 7-44.

KYNG, M. and MATHIASSEN, L. (1982). Systems development and trade union activities. In *Information Society, for richer, for poorer* (BJORN-ANDERSEN, N., Ed.), North-Holland, Amsterdam.

LAS (1993). Corporate Plan 1993/4-96.

LAS (1994a). Corporate Plan 1994/5.

LAS (1994b). Technology Strategy, September.

LAS (1994c). The Golden Circle: Rules of Engagement.

LAS (1995). Report to South Thames Regional Health Authority on LAS Performance, June.

LAS (1996). Business Plan 1996/97.

LAS (1997). Annual Report 1996/97.

LAS (1998a). AVLS Trial Report.

LAS (1998b). Service Plan 1998/99.

LAS (2001). Annual Report 2000/01.

LAS NEWS (1998a). All ambulance services to time ORCON in the same way, March, 3.

LAS NEWS (1998b). Response times up last year as new ORCON figures soar, April/May, 2.

LAS NEWS (2000). New targets set for ORCON, August/September, 3.

LAS WEB SITE. <a href="https://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk">https://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk</a>. Accessed as indicated in the text.

LATOUR, B. (1987). Science in Action. Open University Press, Milton Keynes.

LATOUR, B. (1991). Technology is society made durable. In *A Sociology of Monsters: Essays on Power, Technology and Domination* (LAW, J., Ed.), Routledge, London.

LATOUR, B. (1993). *We Have Never Been Modern*. Harvester Wheatsheaf, Hemel Hempstead.

LATOUR, B. (1996). *Aramis, or the Love of Technology*. Harvard University Press, Massachusetts.

LATOUR, B. (1999a). On recalling ANT. In *Actor Network Theory and After* (LAW, J. and HASSARD, J., Eds.), Blackwell, Oxford.

LATOUR, B. (1999b). *Pandora's Hope*. Harvard University Press, Massachusetts.

LAUGHLIN, R. (1987). Accounting systems in organizational contexts: a case for critical theory. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, **12(5)**, 479-502.

LAUGHLIN, R. (1995). Empirical research in accounting: alternative approaches and a case for "middle-range" thinking. *Accounting, Auditing and Accountability Journal*, **8(1)**, 63-87.

LAW, J. (Ed.) (1986a). *Power, Action and Belief: A New Sociology of Knowledge?* Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

LAW, J. (1986b). Editor's introduction: power/knowledge and the dissolution of the sociology of knowledge. In *Power, Action and Belief: A New Sociology of Knowledge?* (LAW, J., Ed.), Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

LAW, J. (1991a). Introduction: monsters, machines and sociotechnical relations. In *A Sociology of Monsters: Essays on Power, Technology and Domination* (LAW, J., Ed.), Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

LAW, J. (1991b). Power, discretion and strategy. In *A Sociology of Monsters: Essays on Power, Technology and Domination* (LAW, J., Ed.), Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

LAW, J. (1999). After ANT: complexity, naming and topology. In *Actor Network Theory and After* (LAW, J. and HASSARD, J., Eds.), Blackwell, Oxford.

LAW, J. and CALLON, M. (1992). The life and death of an aircraft: a network analysis of technical change. In *Shaping Technology/Building Society: Studies in Sociotechnical Change* (BIJKER, W. and LAW, J., Eds.), MIT Press, Massachusetts.

LEE, Z. and LEE, J. (2000). An ERP implementation case study from a knowledge transfer perspective. *Journal of Information Technology*, **15**, 281-288.

LEVI-STRAUSS, C. (1963). Structural Anthropology. Basic Books, New York.

LEVI-STRAUSS, C. (1966). The Savage Mind. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

LIN, A. and CORNFORD, A. (2000). Sociotechnical perspectives on emergence phenomena. In *The New Sociotech: Graffiti on the Long Wall* (COAKES, E., LLOYD-JONES, R. and WILLIS, D., Eds.), Springer-Verlag, London.

LINSTEAD, S. and GRAFTON-SMALL, R. (1992). On reading organizational culture. *Organization Studies*, **13(3)**, 331-355.

LUCAS, R. (1987). Political-cultural analysis of organizations. *Academy of Management Review*, **12**, 144-156.

LUKES, S. (1974). Power: A Radical View. MacMillan, London.

LYOTARD, J. (1984). *The Postmodern Condition: A Report on Knowledge*. Manchester University Press, Manchester.

LYYTINEN, K. (1992). Information systems and critical theory. In *Critical Management Studies* (ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H., Eds.), Sage Publications, London.

LYYTINEN, K. and HIRSCHHEIM, R. (1988). Information systems as rational discourse: an application of Habermas' theory of communicative action. *Scandinavian Journal of Management*, **4(1/2)**, 19-30.

LYYTINEN, K. and KLEIN, H. (1985). Critical theory of Jurgen Habermas as a basis for a theory of information systems. In *Research Methods in Information Systems* (MUMFORD, E., HIRSCHHEIM, R., FITZGERALD, G. and WOOD-HARPER, T., Eds.), North-Holland, Amsterdam.

MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J. (Eds.) (1985). *The Social Shaping of Technology*. Open University Press, Milton Keynes.

MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J. (Eds.) (1999). *The Social Shaping of Technology*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Open University Press, Buckingham.

MADON, S. (1993). Computer-based information systems for development planning: managing human resources. *European Journal of Information Systems*, **2**, 49-55.

MADON, S. and WALSHAM, G. (1995). Decentralised information systems for development planning in India: context/process interaction. *Information Infrastructure and Policy*, **4**, 163-179.

MARKUS, M. L. (1983). Power, politics and MIS implementation. *Communications of the ACM*, **26(6)**, 430-445.

MARKUS, M. L. and BJORN-ANDERSEN, N. (1987). Power over users: its exercise by systems professionals. *Communications of the ACM*, **30(6)**, 498-504.

MARKUS, M. L. and PFEFFER, J. (1983). Power and the design and implementation of accounting and control systems. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, **8(2/3)**, 205-218.

MARTIN, J. (1990). Deconstructing organizational taboos: the suppression of gender conflict in organizations. *Organization Science*, **11**, 339-359.

MARTIN, J. (1992). Cultures in Organizations. Oxford University Press, New York.

MARTIN, J. (1994). The organization of exclusion: institutionalization of sex inequality, gendered faculty jobs and gendered knowledge in organizational theory and research. *Organization*, **1(2)**, 401-431.

MARTIN, J., ANTERASIAN, C. and SIEHL, C. (1988). Externally espoused values and the legitimation of financial performance. Working paper, Graduate School of Business, Stanford University, Palo Alto, California.

MARTIN, J. and FROST, P. (1996). The organizational culture war games: a struggle for intellectual dominance. In *Handbook of Organization Studies* (CLEGG, S., HARDY, C. and NORD, W., Eds.), Sage Publications, London.

MARTIN, J. and KNOPOFF, K. (1997). The gendered implications of apparently gender-neutral theory: re-reading Weber. In *Women's Studies and Business Ethics* (LARSON, A. and FREEMAN, R., Eds.), Oxford University Press, New York.

MARTIN, J. and SIEHL, C. (1983). Organizational cultures and counter-culture: an uneasy symbiosis. *Organizational Dynamics*, 52-64.

McDONALD, P. (1991). The Los Angeles Olympic Organizing Committee: developing organizational culture in the short run. In *Reframing Organizational Culture* (FROST, P., MOORE, L., LOUIS, M., LUNDBERG, C. and MARTIN, J., Eds.), Sage, Newbury Park, California.

McFARLAN, F. (1984). Information technology changes the way you compete. *Harvard Business Review*, May/June, **62(3)**, 98-103.

McGRATH, K. (2000). The LASCAD project: a failed implementation or a way of understanding the present? *Journal of Intelligent Systems*, **10(5/6)**, 509-537.

McGRATH, K. (2001). The Golden Circle: a case study of organizational change at the London Ambulance Service. In *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> European Conference on Information Systems* (SMITHSON, S., GRICAR, J., PODLOGAR, M. and AVGERINOU, S., Eds.), Moderna Organizacija, Kranj, Slovenia.

McGRATH, K. and SMITHSON, S. (2001). Organisational culture as a regime of truth: a critical perspective. In *Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> UKAIS Conference* (ROBERTS, M., MOULTON, M., HAND, S. and ADAMS, C., Eds.), Zeus Press, Manchester.

MEYERSON, D. (1991). "Normal" ambiguity? A glimpse of an occupational culture. In *Reframing Organizational Culture* (FROST, P., MOORE, L., LOUIS, M., LUNDBERG, C. and MARTIN, J., Eds.), Sage, Newbury Park, California.

MEYERSON, D. and MARTIN, J. (1987). Cultural change: an integration of three different views. *Journal of Management Studies*, **24(6)**, 623-647.

MILLS, T., BOYLSTEIN, C. and LOREAN, S. (2001). 'Doing' organizational culture in the Saturn Corporation. *Organization Studies*, **22(1)**, 117-143.

MINGERS, J. (1992). Technical, practical and critical OR – past, present and future? In *Critical Management Studies* (ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H., Eds.), Sage, London.

MINTZBERG, H. (1978). Patterns in strategy formation. *Management Science*, **24(9)**, 934-948.

MINTZBERG, H. and McHUGH, A. (1985). Strategy formation in an adhocracy. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **30(2)**, 160-197.

MITROFF, I. (1983). Stakeholders of the Organizational Mind. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.

MOL, A. and BERG, M. (Eds.) (1998). *Differences in Medicine: Unravelling Practices, Techniques and Bodies*. Duke University Press, Durham, North Carolina.

MORGAN, G. (1986). Images of Organization. Sage, California.

MORGAN, G. and STURDY, A. (2000). *Beyond Organizational Change: Structure, Discourse and Power in UK Financial Services*. MacMillan, London.

MORIEUX, Y. and SUTHERLAND, E. (1988). The interaction between the use of information technology and organizational culture. *Behaviour and Information Technology*, **7(2)**, 205-213.

MORRIS, J. and FELDMAN, D. (1996). The impact of emotional dissonance on psychological well-being: the importance of role internalisation as a mediating variable. *Management Research News*, **19(8)**, 19-28.

MUMBY, D. and PUTNAM, L. (1992). The politics of emotion: a feminist reading of bounded rationality. *Academy of Management Review*, **17**, 465-486.

MUMFORD, E. (1995). Effective Systems Design and Requirements Analysis: The ETHICS Approach. MacMillan, Basingstoke.

MUMFORD, E. (1999). Routinisation, re-engineering and socio-technical design: changing ideas on the organisation of work. In *Rethinking Management Information Systems* (CURRIE, W. and GALLIERS, R., Eds.), Oxford University Press, Oxford.

MUMFORD, E. (2000). Socio-technical design: an unfulfilled promise or a future opportunity. In *Organizational and Social Perspectives on Information Technology* (BASKERVILLE, R., STAGE, J. and DeGROSS, J., Eds.), Kluwer, London.

MUMFORD, E. and WEIR, M. (1979). *Computer Systems in Work Design – The ETHICS Method.* Associated Business Press, London.

MYERS, M. and YOUNG, L. (1997). Hidden agendas, power and managerial assumptions in information systems development: an ethnographic study. *Information Technology and People*, **10(3)**, 224-240.

NGWENYAMA, O. (1991). The critical social theory approach to information systems: problems and challenges. In *Information Systems Research: Contemporary Approaches and Emergent Traditions* (NISSEN, H., KLEIN, H. and HIRSCHHEIM, R., Eds.), North-Holland, Amsterdam.

NGWENYAMA, O. and LEE, A. (1997). Communication richness in electronic mail: critical social theory and the contextuality of meaning. *MIS Quarterly*, **21(2)**, 145-167.

NICHOLL, J. and TURNER, J. (2000). Strategic development of ambulance services to 2010 emerging concepts. Presentation to the Ambex 2000 UK National Conference for Ambulance Services, Harrogate, 1-3 July.

NICHOLL, J., TURNER, J. and MARTIN, D. (2001). *The Future of Ambulance Services in the United Kingdom: A Strategic Review of Options for the Future of Ambulance Services*. Ambulance Service Association, London, June.

NICHOLSON, B. and SAHAY, S. (2001). Some political and cultural issues in the globalisation of software development: case experience from Britain and India. *Information and Organization*, **11**, 25-43.

ORLIKOWSKI, W. (1991). Integrated information environment or matrix of control? The contradictory implications of information technology. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, **1(1)**, 9-42.

ORLIKOWSKI, W. (1996). Improvising organizational transformation over time: a situated change perspective. *Information Systems Research*, **7(1)**, 63-92.

ORLIKOWSKI, W. (2000). Using technology and constituting structures: a practice lens for studying technology in organizations. *Organization Science*, **11(4)**, 404-428.

ORLIKOWSKI, W. and BAROUDI, J. (1991). Studying information technology in organizations: Research approaches and assumptions. *Information Systems Research*, **2(1)**, 1-28.

OUCHI, W. (1981). *Theory Z: How American Business Can Meet the Japanese Challenge*. Addison-Wesley, Massachusetts.

PAGE, D., WILLIAMS, P. and BOYD, D. (1993). *Report of the Inquiry into the London Ambulance Service*. South West Thames Regional Health Authority, 25 February.

PARKER, M. (2000). Organizational Culture and Identity. Sage, London.

PASCALE, R. and ATHOS, A. (1982). *The Art of Japanese Management*. Penguin, Harmondsworth.

PETERS, T. and WATERMAN, R., (1982). *In Search of Excellence*. Harper and Row, New York.

PETTIGREW, A. (1973). *The Politics of Organisational Decision Making*. Tavistock, London.

PETTIGREW, A. (1979). On studying organizational cultures. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **24**, 570-581.

PETTIGREW, A. (1987). Context and action in the transformation of the firm. *Journal of Management*, **24(6)**, 649-670.

PETTIGREW, A. (1990a). Longitudinal field research on change: theory and practice. *Organization Science*, **1(3)**, 267-291.

PETTIGREW, A. (1990b). Is corporate culture manageable? In *Managing Organizations* (WILSON, D. and ROSENFELD, R., Eds.), McGraw-Hill, Maidenhead.

PLISKIN, N., ROMM, T., LEE, A. and WEBER, Y. (1993). Presumed versus actual organizational culture: managerial implications for implementation of information systems. *The Computer Journal*, **36(2)**, 143-152.

PONDY, L., FROST, P., MORGAN, G. and DANDRIDGE, T. (Eds.) (1983). Organizational Symbolism. JAI Press, Greenwich.

PORTER, M. (1980). Competitive Strategy. Free Press, New York.

PORTER, M. and MILLAR, V. (1985). How information gives you competitive advantage. *Harvard Business Review*, **63(4)**, 149-160.

POWELL, W. and DiMAGGIO, P. (Eds.) (1991). *The New Institutionalism in Organizational Analysis*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

POWER, M. (2002). The invention of operational risk. Paper presented in the I-Studio 5 Seminar Series, London School of Economics, 30 May.

POWER, M. and LAUGHLIN, R. (1992). Critical theory and accounting. In *Critical Management Studies* (ALVESSON, M. and WILLMOTT, H., Eds.), Sage Publications, London.

PRATT, M. and DOUCET, L. (2000). Ambivalent feelings in organizational relationships. In *Emotion in Organizations* (FINEMAN, S., Ed.), Second edition, Sage, London.

PRESTON, H. and HUTCHISON, J. (2001). Science or art: performance turnaround in emergency service system status planning. In *Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> UKAIS Conference* (ROBERTS, M., MOULTON, M., HAND, S. and ADAMS, C., Eds.), Zeus Press, Manchester.

RACKOFF, N., WISEMAN, C. and ULLRICH, W. (1985). Information systems for competitive advantage: implementation of a planning process. *MIS Quarterly*, December, 285-294.

RADIO FOUR (2002a). Emergency, July 15.

RADIO FOUR (2002b). Today Programme, October 7.

REED, M. (1990). From paradigms to images: the paradigm warrior turns post-modernist guru. *Personnel Review*, **19(3)**, 35-40.

REED, M. (1996a). From the cage to the gaze?: the dynamics of organizational control in high modernity. Unpublished manuscript presented at European Management and Organizations in Transition Workshop, Manchester Business School, Manchester, UK.

REED, M. (1997). In praise of duality and dualism: rethinking agency and structure in organizational analysis. *Organization Studies*, **18(1)**, 21-42.

RILEY, P. (1983). A structurationist account of political culture. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **28**, 414-437.

ROBEY, D. and AZEVEDO, A. (1994). Cultural analysis of the organizational consequences of information technology. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, **4(1)**, 23-37.

ROMM, T., PLISKIN, N., WEBER, Y. and LEE, A. (1991). Identifying organizational culture clash in MIS implementation: when is it worth the effort? *Information and Management*, **21**, 99-109.

RORTY, R. (1982). *The Consequences of Pragmatism*. University of Minnesota Press, Minnesota.

ROSEN, M. (1985). Breakfast at Spiro's: dramaturgy and dominance. *Journal of Management*, **11(2)**, 31-48.

SAHAY, S. and WALSHAM, G. (1997). Social structure and managerial agency in India. *Organization Studies*, **18(3)**, 415-444.

SAREN, M. and BROWNLIE, D. (1999). Introduction to the Marketing stream. In *Proceedings of the 1<sup>st</sup> Critical Management Studies Conference* (WILLMOTT, H. and GRUGULIS, I., Eds.), University of Manchester Institute of Science and Technology, UK.

SCHEIN, E. (1985). Organizational Culture and Leadership. Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.

SCHEIN, E. (1992). Coming to a new awareness of organizational culture. In *Human Resource Strategies* (SALAMAN, G., Ed.), Sage.

SCHOLZ, C. (1990). The symbolic value of computerized information systems. In *Symbols and Artifacts: Views of the Corporate Landscape* (GAGLIARDI, P., Ed.), Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.

SCOTT, S. and WALSHAM, G. (1998). Shifting boundaries and new technologies: a case study in the UK banking sector. In *Proceedings of the 19<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Information Systems* (HIRSCHHEIM, R., NEWMAN, M. and DeGROSS, J., Eds.), ACM, Baltimore.

SEKARAN, U. (1986). Mapping bank employees' perceptions of organizational stimuli in two countries. *Journal of Management*, **12**, 19-30.

SELZNICK, P. (1957). Leadership in Administration. Row Peterson, Evanston.

SEWELL, G. and WILKINSON, B. (1992). Someone to watch over me: surveillance, discipline and the just-in-time labour process. *Sociology*, **26**, 271-289.

SIEHL, C. and MARTIN, J. (1990). Organizational culture: a key to financial performance. In *Organizational Culture and Climate* (SCHNEIDER, B., Ed.).

SILVA, L. and BACKHOUSE, J. (1997). Becoming part of the furniture: the institutionalization of information systems. In *Information Systems and Qualitative Research* (LEE, A., LIEBENAU, J. and DeGROSS, J., Eds.), Chapman and Hall, London.

SINCOFF, J. (1990). The psychological characteristics of ambivalent people. *Clinical Psychology Review*, **10**, 43-68.

SMIRCICH, L. (1983a). Concepts of culture and organizational analysis. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **28(3)**, 339-358.

SMIRCICH, L. (1983b). Organizations as shared meanings. In *Organizational Symbolism* (PONDY, L., FROST, P., MORGAN, G. and DANDRIDGE, T., Eds.), JAI Press, Greenwich.

SMIRCICH, L. and CALAS, M. (1987). Organizational culture: a critical assessment. In *Handbook of Organizational Communication* (JABLIN, F., PUTNAM, L., ROBERTS, K. and PORTER, L., Eds.), Sage, Newbury Park, California.

SMITH, K. and SIMMONS, V. (1983). A Rumpelstiltskin organization: metaphors on metaphors in field research. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **28**, 377-392.

STABLEIN, R. and NORD, W. (1985). Practical and emancipatory interests in organizational symbolism: a review and evaluation. *Journal of Management*, **11(2)**, 13-28.

STAR, S. (1991). Power, technologies and the phenomenology of conventions: on being allergic to onions. In *A Sociology of Monsters: Essays on Power, Technology and Domination* (LAW, J. Ed.), Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.

STRUM, S. and LATOUR, B. (1999). Redefining the social link: from baboons to humans. In *The Social Shaping of Technology* (MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J., Eds.) 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Open University Press, Buckingham.

SUCHMAN, L. (1999). Working relations of technology production and use. In *The Social Shaping of Technology* (MacKENZIE, D. and WAJCMAN, J., Eds.) 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition, Open University Press, Buckingham.

SUNDAY TELEGRAPH (2000). Ambulance computers blamed for 999 chaos, 3 December, 3.

SWANSON, B. AND RAMILLER, N. (1997). The organizing vision in information systems innovation. *Organization Science*, **8(5)**, 458-474.

TIMES (1997). Life-savers taste success after the years of tears, 21 May.

TOWNLEY, B. (1993). Foucault, power/knowledge, and its relevance for human resource management. *Academy of Management Review*, **18**, 518-545.

TRIST, E., HIGGINS, G., MURRAY, H. and POLLOCK, A. (1963). *Organizational Choice: Capabilities of Groups at the Coalface under Changing Technologies*. Tavistock, London.

TSOUKAS, H. (1991). The missing link: a transformational view of metaphors in organizational science. *Academy of Management Review*, **16**, 566-585.

TSOUKAS, H. (1993). Analogical reasoning and knowledge generation in organization theory. *Organization Studies*, **14**, 323-346.

TUSHMAN, M. and O'REILLY, C. (1996). *Staying on Top: Managing Strategic Innovation and Change for Long-Term Success*. Harvard Business School Press, Boston.

UNIVERSITY OF SALFORD (2001). An International Workshop on (Re-) Defining Critical Research in Information Systems, Salford, UK.

VAN MAANEN, J. (1991). The Smile Factory: work at Disneyland. In *Reframing Organizational Culture* (FROST, P., MOORE, L., LOUIS, M., LUNDBERG, C. and MARTIN, J., Eds.), Sage, Newbury Park, California.

VAN MAANEN, J. (1995). Style as theory. Organization Science, 6(1), 133-143.

VAUGHAN, D. (1996). *The Challenger Launch Decision: Risky Technology, Culture, and Deviance at NASA*. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

VITALE, M. (1986). The growing risks of information systems success. *MIS Quarterly*, **10(4)**, 327-334.

WALSHAM, G. (1991). Organizational metaphors and information systems research. *European Journal of Information Systems*, **1(2)**, 83-94.

WALSHAM, G. (1993). *Interpreting Information Systems in Organizations*. Wiley, Chichester.

WALSHAM, G. (1995). Interpretive case studies in IS research: nature and method. *European Journal of Information Systems*, **4**, 74-81.

WALSHAM, G. (1997). Actor-network theory and IS research: current status and future prospects. In *Information Systems and Qualitative Research* (LEE, A., LIEBENAU, J. and DeGROSS, J., Eds.), Chapman and Hall, London.

WALSHAM, G. (2001). *Making a World of Difference: IT in a Global Context*. Wiley, Chichester.

WALSHAM, G. and SAHAY, S. (1999). GIS for district-level administration in India: problems and opportunities. *MIS Quarterly*, **23(1)**, 39-66.

WASSERMAN, V., RAFAELI, A. and KLUGER, A. (2000). Aesthetic symbols as emotional cues. In *Emotion in Organizations* (FINEMAN, S., Ed.), Second edition, Sage, London.

WASTELL, D. (1996). The fetish of technique: methodology as a social defence. *Information Systems Journal*, **6**, 25-40.

WASTELL, D. (1999). Learning dysfunctions in information systems development: overcoming the social defences with transitional objects. *MIS Quarterly*, **23(4)**, 581-600.

WASTELL, D. and NEWMAN, M. (1996). Information systems design, stress and organisational change in the ambulance services: a tale of two cities. *Accounting, Management and Information Technologies*, **6(4)**, 283-300.

WEICK, K. (1979). *The Social Psychology of Organizing*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Edition. Addison-Wesley, Reading, Massachusetts (first edition, 1969).

WEICK, K. (1990). The vulnerable system: an analysis of the Tenerife air disaster. *Journal of Management*, **16(3)**, 571-593.

WEICK, K. (1993a). Organization redesign as improvisation. In *Organizational Change* and *Redesign* (HUBER, G. and GLICK, W., Eds.), Oxford University Press, New York.

WEICK, K. (1993b). The collapse of sensemaking in organizations: the Mann Gulch disaster. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **38(4)**, 628-652.

WEICK, K. (1995). Sensemaking in Organizations. Sage, Thousand Oaks, California.

WEICK, K. (1996). Drop your tools: an allegory for organizational studies. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **41**, 301-313.

WEICK, K. (1998). Improvisation as a mindset for organizational analysis. *Organization Science*, **9(5)**, 543-555.

WELLS, W. (1995). Report on the London Ambulance Service following the death of Nasima Begum. South Thames Regional Health Authority, January.

WESTRUP, C. (1996). The play of information systems development: drama and ritual in the development of a nursing information system. *Information Technology and People*, **9**, 24-42.

WHITLEY, E. (1999). Understanding participation in entrepreneurial organizations: some hermeneutic readings. *Journal of Information Technology*, **14**, 193-202.

WILKINS, A. and OUCHI, W. (1983). Efficient cultures: exploring the relationship between culture and organizational performance. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, **28**, 468-481.

WILLMOTT, H. (1990). Beyond paradigmatic closure in organizational enquiry. In *The Theory and Philosophy of Organizations* (HASSARD, J. and PYM, D., Eds.), Routledge, London.

WILLMOTT, H. (1993). Strength is ignorance; slavery is freedom: managing culture in modern organizations. *Journal of Management Studies*, **30(4)**, 515-552.

WINNER, L. (1993). Upon opening the black box and finding it empty: social constructivism and the philosophy of technology. *Science, Technology and Human Values*, **18(3)**, 362-378.

WOODWARD, J. (1965). *Industrial Organization: Theory and Practice*. Oxford University Press, London.

YOUNG, E. (1989). On the naming of the rose: interests and multiple meanings as elements of organizational culture. *Organization Studies*, **10(2)**, 187-206.

ZUBOFF, S. (1988). In the Age of the Smart Machine. Basic Books, New York.

# **APPENDIX A** Key moments and the discourses about them

Key moment	How people perceived the moment	Ways of arguing and acting about work
National strike (1989/90)	A management-worker conflict Earning more than when working normally Being intimidated by striking colleagues A ghost town in the control room	Recruit professional managers Provide better pay and working conditions Discipline staff
LASCAD implementation (October 1992)	Floods of tears Sabotage Failure Public outrage	Restore the activation trays Hold on to the call taking system Replace the chief executive Hold a public inquiry
When LASCAD locked up (November 1992)	Technology too risky Having to let go of the call taking system Winning the battle	Go back to manual methods Use human runners instead of conveyor belts
The Page report (February 1993)	Criticism A way forward	Recruit a new senior management team Implement a new CAD system by 1997 Give a voice to staff
Death of Nasima Begum (June 1994)	Manual methods will not do Resources are in the wrong places	Develop a computer system Hold another public inquiry Break up the LAS
The Wells report (January 1995)	An attempt at reconciliation An unachievable proposal	The LAS should aim for trust status Develop a computer system - for call taking first Have a national review of ORCON standards

Key moment	How people perceived the moment	Ways of arguing and acting about work
Select Committee inquiry report (June 1995)	More criticism Acknowledging unacceptable performance	Reinforcing the trust status goal Reinforcing the call to review ORCON standards
CTAK implementation (January and February 1996)	A triumph A relief Achieved by a Golden Circle	A user group approach to IS development A time-consuming and wearing approach Progress towards a full CAD system
A modification to CTAK (late 1996)	IT taking the initiative The start of the rot	Managers and IT making decisions Users losing control
Deferring AVLS and mobile data (July 1998)	The past re-emerging The millennium as an excuse	Pro-active management User requests for change being subjugated
Management reorganisation (late 1999 to early 2000)	Consequences of declining performance and a lost ballot Another new regime, but for how long?	Performance improvement taking too long Senior managers disconnected from front line Call prioritisation must be accomplished
Printers on stations trials (August-November 2000)	It's much faster It's not going to work Technology as a way of arguing about something else	Provide step by step operating instructions Involving the crews Going outside the Golden Circle Managers on stations enforcing implementation
PDS implementation (November 2000)	Remembering 1992 Much better OK when we get used to it It's more time-consuming for us	Risk as a discourse for managing the process Responding to a "drop dead" date Take it more slowly Trying to say "stop"